

Bain, Kym A. (2020) *The immunopathogenesis of Alopecia Areata*. PhD thesis.

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/83631/

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given



The Immunopathogenesis of Alopecia Areata

Kym Antoinette Bain BSc Hons, MSc

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Institute of Infection, Immunity and Inflammation College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences University of Glasgow

September 2020

Abstract

Alopecia areata (AA) is an organ specific polygenic autoimmune disease that causes patchy hair loss which can develop to affect the entire scalp and body. The inflammatory response driving AA is considered to be dominated by NKG2D⁺ CD8 T cells, however the immune mechanisms driving hair loss are not sufficiently understood. Current treatments for AA, which include immunosuppressants, are often ineffective especially for severe AA. JAK inhibitors are useful for promoting hair regrowth, however they may be associated with side effects and disease relapse following treatment cessation.

Extensive immune profiling of peripheral blood and lesional AA skin was conducted to identify novel mechanisms of disease pathogenesis. Multiplex cytokine analysis indicated that AA is associated with a distinct type 17 and type 2 cytokine signature, characterised by increased circulating levels of IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-21, IL-23, IL-31, IL-33 and IL-17E/-25. The frequency of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells are increased in AA circulation, supporting the involvement of a Th17 response in AA pathogenesis. Stratification of the AA cohort revealed that changes in the frequency of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cell populations are related to individuals with mild disease. Atopy is common in AA cohorts, however stratification indicated that the increase in circulating type 17 and type 2 cytokines are enriched in both atopic and non-atopic cohorts. We also observed an increase in the frequency of circulating transitional B cells, but this phenotype is specifically related to atopic AA individuals. Global transcriptomic analysis of AA skin from individuals with stable disease indicated enrichment of a macrophage signature characterised by expression of CD163, CD209 and CD206. Macrophages are known to be important for normal hair growth. Thus, it is proposed that the follicular inflammatory environment disrupts the homeostatic functions of macrophages, and that macrophages contribute to mechanisms maintaining hair loss.

This study provides novel observations indicating distinct systemic and tissue immune signatures, and indicates how features of the immune response are related to specific disease pathotypes. This study also implicates macrophages as pathogenic mediators of AA, and suggests that modulation of macrophage activity represents a novel therapeutic strategy for AA.

Table of Contents

Li	st of F	igures	6
Ac	know	ledgements	8
Αι	ithor's	Declaration	10
Ab	brevi	ations	11
1 General introduction			14
•	1 1	Alonacia aroata	і 1л
	1.1		
	1.2	What causes alopecia areata?	15
	1.3	The immune system	
	1.3.1	L T cells	
	1.3.2	2 B cells	23
	1.3.5	8 Peripheral tolerance	24
	1.3.4	innate immune cells	26
	1.4	The hair follicle	28
	1.4.1	The hair follicle cycle	29
	1.4.2	2 Hair follicle immune privilege	32
	1.4.3	3 Hair follicle interactions with the immune system	33
	1.5	Immunopathogenesis of AA	36
	1.5.1	Presentation and histopathology of AA	36
	1.5.2	2 Model of immune privilege collapse	37
	1.5.3	3 NKG2D ⁺ CD8 T cells are essential for AA pathogenesis	37
	1.5.4	CD4 T cells in AA	39
	1.5.5	5 Cytokines in AA	41
	1.5.6	5 The involvement of other immune cells	43
	1.5.7	7 Comorbidities	45
	1.6	Current treatment strategies for AA	46
	1.7	Hypothesis and aims	48
2	Mat	erials and methods	50
	2.1	NHS ethical approval process	
	 		го го
	2.2 221	Collection of clinical data	50
	2.2. <u>-</u> 2 2	Sample collection and processing	
	2.5		
	2.4	Flow cytometry	54
	2.4.1	Curfore staining and acquiring of calls	54
	2.4.2	2 Surface staining and acquiring of cells	
	2.5	RNA sequencing	57
	2.5.1	RNA extraction and library preparation	57
	2.5.2	2 Data processing, alignment and quality control	58
	2.5.3	3 Differential expression analysis	58
	2.5.4	Gene set enrichment and Cibersort analysis	59
	2.5.5	5 Comparison of patchy and severe data sets	59

2.6	Measurement of inflammatory proteins	59
2.6.	2 ELISA	60
2.7	Histology	61
2.7.	1 Immunohistochemistry	61
2.8	Subset linear regression	62
2.9	Statistical analysis	62
3 The comorb	e systemic cytokine signature of AA patients, and the associa	ation with 63
3.1	Introduction	63
3.2	Participant characteristics	64
3.3	Pro-inflammatory and type-17 cytokines are increased in AA	65
3.4	Type-2 associated cytokines are increased in AA	68
3.5	Cytokine concentration and disease severity	70
3.6	Cytokines and the relationship with psychological distress	73
3.6.	1 Depression and anxiety are common in individuals with AA	73
3.6.	2 Levels of IL-22 and IL-17E positively predict depression score	/5
3.7	Discussion	77
3.7.	2 AA and depression	82
3.7.	3 Conclusion	84
4 Cel	lular and molecular mechanisms associated with AA pathoge	enesis 85
4.1	Introduction	85
4.2	Participant characteristics	87
4.3	Design and optimisation of flow cytometry panels	88
4.4	Circulating T cell subsets	90
4.4.	1 CD8 ⁺ T cells	90
4.4.		
4.5	Circulating B cells	
4.6	Circulating natural killer cells	
4.7	Circulating dendritic cells	
4.8	Markers of intestinal inflammation	116
4.9	Discussion	
4.9.	2 AA and intestinal-associated markers	
4.9.	3 Conclusion	
5 The	e relationship between distinct features of the peripheral	
immunc	ophenotype and clinical parameters	134
5.1	Introduction	134
E 2	Participant characteristics	134

	5.3	Processing of data for comparative and subset regression analysis	; 13 6
	5.4 clinical	Relationship between frequencies of circulating CD4 T cells, cytok parameters	ines and 137
	5.5 param	Relationship between frequencies of circulating B cells, cytokines eters	and clinical 143
	5.6 clinical	Relationship between frequencies of circulating CD8 T cells, cytok parameters	ines and 150
	5.7 5.7.1	Discussion	152 159
6 sł	lder tin sam	tification and validation of enriched transcriptomic signat ples	ures in AA 162
	6.1	Introduction	162
	6.2	Participant characteristics	163
	6.3	RNA sequencing quality control	
	6.4	Differential expression analysis	
	6.5	Hypergeometric gene set enrichment analysis (HGSEA)	168
	6.6	Identification of an enriched macrophage signature in specific AA	samples.172
	6.7	Dysregulation of hair cycling genes	174
	6.8	Abundance of immune cell types in AA and HC skin	175
	6.9	Macrophages are in close proximity to HFs	
	6.10	Comparison of AP and AT transcriptomes	
	6.11	Discussion	
	6.11	1 Dysregulated genes and pathways associated with AA	
	6.11 6.11	 The potential involvement of macrophages in AA pathology Conclusion 	
7	Gen	eral discussion	
	7.1	Final conclusions	
8	Refe	erences	

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 CD4 T helper cell differentiation	20
Figure 1.2 The hair follicle	29
Figure 1.3 The hair follicle growth cycle	30
Figure 1.4 Molecules regulating stem cell activation	31
Figure 1.5 Immune interactions with the HF	35
Figure 1.6 CD8 T cell mechanisms driving hair loss	39
Figure 2.1 Ethical approval process	50
Figure 3.1 Inflammatory and type 1 cytokine levels.	67
Figure 3.2 Type-17 associated cytokine levels.	68
Figure 3.3 Type-2 associated and interleukin-10 cytokine levels	69
Figure 3.4 Circulating cytokine levels in atopic and non-atopic AA patients	70
Figure 3.5 Type-17 associated cytokine levels and disease severity.	72
Figure 3.6 Type-2 associated cytokine levels and disease severity.	73
Figure 3.7 Depression scores of AA patients	74
Figure 3.8 Anxiety scores of AA patients	75
Figure 3.9 Significant cytokine predictors of depression score	76
Figure 4.1 Overview of the immune cells subsets identified in peripheral blood	89
Figure 4.2 Identification of CD8 ⁺ T cells	91
Figure 4.3 Comparison of total circulating peripheral blood mononuclear cells	
between HC and AA cohorts.	97
Figure 4.4 Comparison of circulating CD8 ⁺ T cell subsets between HC and AA	. –
cohorts	93
Figure 4.5 Comparison of circulating effector and memory CD8 ⁺ T cell subsets	
between HC and AA cohorts.	94
Figure 4.6 Comparison of circulating NKG2D ⁺ CD8 T cell subsets between HC and	nd
AA cohorts	95
Figure 4.7 Comparison of circulating CLA ⁺ and CCR9 ⁺ CD8 T cell subsets betwee	en
HC and AA cohorts.	96
Figure 4.8 Identification of CD4 ⁺ T cells	97
Figure 4.9 Comparison of circulating CD4 ⁺ T cell and specific T-helper subsets	
between HC and AA cohorts.	99
Figure 4.10 Comparison of circulating skin and gut homing CCR6+ CD4 T cell	
subsets between HC and AA cohorts	00
Figure 4.11 Comparison of CD38 ⁺ CCR7 ⁻ CD4 T cells between HC and AA cohorts	5.
	01
Figure 4.12 Identification of B cells 1	02
Figure 4.13 Comparison of circulating B cell subsets between HC and AA cohort	ts.
	04
Figure 4.14 Comparison of IgM memory and IgM non-memory B cell subsets	
between HC and AA cohorts 1	05
Figure 4.15 Comparison of naive, class-switched and un-switched B cell subsets	S
between HC and AA cohorts	07
Figure 4.16 Comparison of naive, class-switched and un-switched B cell subsets	s
between HC and AA cohorts	08
Figure 4.17 Identification of natural killer cell populations	09
Figure 4.18 Comparison of natural killer cells and NKT cells between HC and A	Α
cohorts	10
Figure 4.19 Comparison of NK cell subsets between HC and AA cohorts 1	11

Figure 4.20 Identification of dendritic cells	113
Figure 4.21 Comparison of cDC subsets between HC and AA cohorts	114
Figure 4.22 Comparison of pDCs and CD16 ⁺ myeloid subsets between HC and A	Α
cohorts	115
Figure 4.23 Levels of peripheral zonulin and TTG IgA, and faecal calprotectin	117
Figure 5.1 Comparison of CD4 T cell subsets between HCs and AA cohorts	
stratified by extent of hair loss	138
Figure 5.2 Significant CD4 T cell predictors of AP1 status	139
Figure 5.3 Comparison of CD4 T cell subsets between HCs and AA cohorts	
stratified by treatment	141
Figure 5.4 Comparison of CD4 T cell subsets between HCs and AP1 cohorts	
stratified by IL steroid treatment	142
Figure 5.5 Comparison of B cell subsets between HCs and AA cohorts stratified	l bv
extent of hair loss	144
Figure 5.6 Comparison of B cell subsets between HCs and AA cohorts stratified	l bv
history of atopy	146
Figure 5.7 Significant B cell predictors of atopy and non-atopy	147
Figure 5.8 Comparison of B cell subsets between HCs and AA cohorts stratified	l by
treatment	149
Figure 5.9 Comparison of CD8 T cell subsets between HCs and AA cohorts	
stratified by extent of hair loss	151
Figure 6.1 Quality control plots for bulk RNA sequencing data set	166
Figure 6.2 Differential expression analysis of RNA sequencing data	167
Figure 6.3 Enrichment analysis of significantly upregulated genes in AA compa	red
to HC skin.	169
Figure 6.4 Enrichment analysis of significantly down regulated genes in AA	
compared to HCs.	171
Figure 6.5 Expression levels of macrophage associated genes in AA and HC skir	ו
	173
Figure 6.6 Expression levels of hair follicle cycling genes and stress-induced	
ligand in AA and HC skin	175
Figure 6.7 Relative proportions of CIBERSORT immune cell signatures in AA and	d
HC samples	176
Figure 6.8 Immunohistochemistry staining of CD68 in AA skin	178
Figure 6.9 Immunohistochemistry staining of CD68 and CD3 in AA skin	179
Figure 6.10 Differential expression analysis of skin from people with AP and AT	Г
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	181
Figure 7.1 Atopic B cell mechanisms and AA	194
Figure 7.2 Proposed immune mechanisms driving active and stable AA	197

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my supervisors Simon and Annika. Simon, thank you for literally keeping your door open, for enduring my lists and providing advice and guidance whenever I needed it. My confidence has massively grown from all of the support you have provided throughout my time in the lab. Thank you Annika for your encouragement throughout my PhD, for providing your expertise, infectious enthusiasm and hosting me when I visited Gothenburg; you even trusted me with your bike! Thank you to lain, Georgia and Stefan for being so supportive and giving the best advice that helped me navigate through a PhD.

To the Millings, I am SO grateful to have been surrounded by the best bunch of people for the last four years. Thank you for never taking life too seriously and for always over-sharing. A special thank you has to go to my PhD partners. Anna, thank you for all of the glorious food, for the pigeon walks, and for being such a supportive friend. Thank you Hannah for providing the LOUDEST laughs, endless prosecco and for providing your bioinformatics skills over many Zooms. Thank you Verena (aka Virkon) for always providing an excuse to go the pub and for the spinning seal. Alberto, thank you for all of your help, and for our morning chats before the noisy ones arrived. Allan, thank you for all of the excellent bible classes, and for your scientific and life advice. Thank you to all of the other Mowlings for all of your help and all the laughs! I wouldn't have gotten through my admin' PhD without you all.

There are a whole bunch of people that made my PhD project possible. A huge thank you to Susan and Fiona for running the research clinic for the last four years. Fiona, I cannot thank you enough for the endless emails you have sent to make sure I had samples to collect every Monday. Thank you Diane for your time and advice; you are a flow guru. Thank you to Kostas, Rodanthi and Caroline for all of your time and help with my samples. Thank you Umer for being a mathematical wizard, and thank you John for being so patient when explaining informatics. Thank you Julia, Maryam and Lisa for all of your help when I visited Gothenburg for the RNA seq experiment. Thank you to Medical Research Scotland, AstraZeneca and Alopecia UK for providing support and funding my project. Finally, a big thank you to ALL of the volunteers who have donated bits of their body; I literally wouldn't have gotten here without you.

Thank you to my beautiful friends, I am so lucky to have every single one of you. Caitlin, thank you for going through it all with me, I think it's finally time we get a real job! Thank you to my family who have been there from the beginning. An extra special thanks goes to my parents for always believing in me and making me take a break when I needed it most.

Last but not least, a special thank you to Bruce. Thank you for putting up with me whilst writing a thesis during lockdown. Thank you for always keeping me grounded, for being my biggest fan, but most of all for supporting me to pursue my passions.

Author's Declaration

I declare that, except where reference is made to the contribution of others, this thesis is the result of my own work and has not been submitted for any other degree at the University of Glasgow or any other institution.

Signature:

Printed name: Kym Bain

Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Meaning
AA	Alopecia areata
ACTH	Adrenocorticotropic hormone
AD	Atopic dermatitis
AGA	Androgenetic alopecia
AIRE	Autoimmune regulator
aMSH	Alpha-melanocyte stimulating hormone
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AS	Ankylosing spondylitis
AP1	<50% scalp hair loss
AP2	>50% scalp hair loss
AT	Alopecia totalis
AU	Alopecia universalis
BCR	B cell receptor
BM	Bone marrow
BMP	Bone morphogenetic protein
CD	Crohn's disease
cDC	Conventional dendritic cell
CeD	Coeliac disease
CGRP	Calcitonin gene-related peptide
CLA	Cutaneous lymphocyte antigen
CRH	Corticotrophin-releasing hormone
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4
CVE	Cross validation error
DCP	Diphenylcyclopropenone
DE	Differential expression
DP	Double positive CXCR3 ⁺ CCR6 ⁺ CD4 T cells
DTH	Delayed-type hypersensitivity
eCRF	Electronic case report form
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FasL	Fas ligand
FGF-5	Fibroblast growth factor 5
FLG	Filaggrin
FMO	Fluorescent minus one
GO	Gene ontology
GWAS	Genome wide association study
H&E	Haematoxylin and eosin

HADS	Hospital anxiety and depression score
НС	Healthy control
HF	Hair follicle
HFSC	Hair follicle stem cells
HGSEA	Hypergeometric gene set enrichment analysis
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
IDO	Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase
ΙFNγ	Interferon gamma
lg	Immunoglobulin
IGF1	Insulin like growth factor 1
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IL	Interleukin
ILC	Innate lymphoid cell
IP	Immune privilege
IRAS	Integrated research application
KIRs	Killer cell immunoglobulin like receptor
LC	Langerhans cell
LH	Lithium heparin
MAIT	Mucosal associated invariant T cell
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
MICA	MHC Class I polypeptide-related sequence A
MIF	Macrophage inhibitory factor
NK	Natural killer cells
NKG2D	Natural killer group 2D receptor
OD	Optical density
OSM	Oncostatin M
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCA	Principal component analysis
pDC	Plasmacytoid dendritic cell
PRR	pathogen recognition receptor
PsA	Psoriatic arthritis
PsO	Psoriasis
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
RCT	Randomised controlled trial
REC	Research ethics committee
RT	Room temperature
R&D	Research & development
CALT	Severity of alopecia tool
SALI	
SCID	Severe combined immunodeficiency
SCID SLE	Severe combined immunodeficiency Systemic lupus erythematosus
SCID SLE SNP	Severe combined immunodeficiency Systemic lupus erythematosus Single nucleotide polymorphism

Tbet	T-box transcription factor
тсм	Central memory T cell
TCR	T cell receptor
Teff	Effector T cell
TEM	Effector memory T cell
TGFB	Transforming growth factor beta
Th	T helper
TLR	Toll-like receptor
Treg	Regulatory T cell
TRM	Resident memory T cell
TTG	Tissue transglutaminase
UC	Ulcerative colitis
ULBP	UL16 binding protein
VDJ	Variable diversity joining
VIP	Vasoactive intestinal peptide
WIHG	Wound induced hair regrowth

1 General introduction

1.1 Alopecia areata

Alopecia areata (AA) is an organ-specific autoimmune disease that causes hair loss. AA typically develops as circular patches of hair loss on the scalp that can spontaneously regrow, or can be associated with multiple episodes of relapsingremitting hair loss. Between 14-25% of AA cases deteriorate to affect the entire scalp (alopecia totalis) and/or body (alopecia universalis), which often results in irreversible hair loss (Tosti et al., 2006; Gip et al., 1969).

AA is associated with a lifetime risk of 2% (Mirzoyev et al., 2014) and an incidence of 0.1-0.2% (Safavi et al., 1995; Benigno et al., 2020), making it one of the most common autoimmune diseases. Some studies indicate AA to be more common in females (Lundin et al., 2014), but this is believed to be an artefact of under-reporting of male cases. AA typically develops in adulthood, but can also affect children where the disease is more likely to become severe (Tosti et al., 2006). AA has been reported to be more common in African-Americans, however the disease is not typically associated with a particular ethnic background (Miteva & Villasante, 2015).

Despite being very common, AA has not received as much research interest as other autoimmune diseases. This lack of interest mainly stems from the 'cosmetic' label associated with AA, and an initial lack of robust evidence to indicate that AA is an autoimmune disease. However, in the last decades, AA research has gained momentum largely due to findings of genetic and clinical studies that strongly implicate the immune system (Petukhova et al., 2010; Xing et al., 2014; Jagielska et al., 2012). There is also an appreciation of comorbidities, both inflammatory and psychological (Lee et al., 2013), associated with AA that significantly impact quality of life, and therefore strongly support further research to understand the immune-mechanisms driving AA.

1.2 What causes alopecia areata?

Environmental triggers

A proportion of individuals with AA describe a 'trigger' that precedes onset of hair loss. Viral infection or vaccination have been associated with AA onset. Cytomegalovirus DNA was detected in AA skin (Skinner et al., 1995), but subsequent studies did not find a connection between this infection and occurrence of AA (Tosti et al., 1996). Epstein Barr virus infection has also been reported to precede hair loss in a small proportion of patients but a potential causative relationship hasn't been explored (Rodriguez & Duvic, 2008). AA episodes appear to be most common during winter months (Putterman & Castelo-Soccio, 2018), and it is suspected that seasonal fluctuations in hair loss patterns may be associated with viral emergence. Hair loss onset has also been associated with specific vaccines, including Japanese encephalitis (Chu et al., 2016) and hepatitis B vaccines (Wise et al., 1997). However, studies testing the effect of a recombinant hepatitis B vaccine in a mouse model of AA did not indicate an increased incidence of hair loss (Sundberg et al., 2009).

Psychological stress is one of the most common 'triggers' that affected individuals link to their onset of hair loss. A stress-related experience has been reported to precede AA in approximately 9.8% and 9.5% of adults and children, respectively (Kakourou et al., 2007; Tan et al., 2002). However, the link between AA onset and stress remains elusive because other studies have not identified a significant association (Brajac et al., 2003; van der Steen P et al., 1992). Nevertheless, a collection of studies provide evidence that suggest a connection from a biological perspective. In scalp skin from AA patients, the levels of corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) are elevated (Kim et al., 2006), and preliminary evidence indicates that CRH type 2 beta receptor expression is upregulated in AA skin (Katsarou-Katsari et al., 2001). CRH is upregulated in response to stress and drives adrenocorticotrophin hormone (ACTH) secretion which causes release of glucocorticoids (Brunson et al., 2001). CRH receptors are also upregulated in psoriasis lesions, and their expression correlates with disease severity (Cemil et al., 2012). It therefore seems plausible that stress-induced factors may contribute to induction of AA despite the current lack of definitive

evidence. The direct effects of stress and hormonal fluctuations on hair follicle physiology will be discussed in section 1.4.1.

AA patients anecdotally describe mild intestinal discomfort and occasionally report intestinal inflammation as a trigger for hair loss. At present, there are a selection of studies which indicate interesting observations, but no evidence indicates a direct link between the intestine and AA (Borde & Åstrand, 2018). Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) was reported to occur at an incidence of 2% in a study examining comorbidities in 3568 AA patients (Huang & Qureshi, 2013a), however a systematic meta-analysis did not identify a significant association between AA and IBD (Lee et al., 2019). Interestingly, two AA patients with severe hair loss experienced hair regrowth following a feacal microbial transplant that was delivered to treat recurrent *C.difficile* infection (Rebello et al., 2017). This observation suggests a role for the microbiota in mechanisms driving hair loss. A recent study analysing the faecal microbiome of 25 AA patients did not identify a significant change in microbial diversity in comparison to the healthy samples, however the authors reported changes in the abundance of specific classes of bacteria (Juhasz et al., 2020). Further investigation is required to determine the potential relationship between AA, the intestine and the microbiome.

It is important to highlight that many individuals who develop hair loss caused by AA do not recall a specific trigger. Furthermore, whilst there are many studies describing associations between AA onset and 'potential' triggers, there are still no proven environmental factors that are directly linked to mechanisms driving hair loss.

Genetic predisposition

Multiple published studies have indicated a link between AA development and a positive family history. In adults, incidence rates associated with a family history of AA range between 0-8.6%, whereas the incidence relating to childhood onset is between 10-51.6% (Miteva & Villasante, 2015). Other studies have highlighted clear twin concordance (Scerri & Pace, 1992; Rodriguez et al., 2010), and more recently, it was reported that a positive family history is associated with more severe AA and earlier disease onset (Wang et al., 2018). Whilst these studies

indicate that increased susceptibility to AA is associated with a positive family history, the incidence is not predictable and therefore indicates involvement of environmental factors.

Involvement of the immune system

Initial genetic studies in AA cohorts clearly implicated the immune system, highlighting the association between AA and human leukocyte antigens (HLA), including HLA-DQB1, HLA-DRB1, HLA-A, HLA-B and MICA (Barahmani et al., 2006; Colombe et al., 1999; Andrade et al., 1999). In 2010, the first genome wide association study (GWAS) in AA was conducted. This supported the association between AA and HLA genes, but also highlighted novel associations with loci containing genes involved in the adaptive immune system (CTLA4, IL-2/-21, IL2RA, EOS) (Petukhova et al., 2010). Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) is an inhibitory receptor important for tolerogenic responses, specifically related to regulatory T cell function (Wing et al., 2008). The transcription factor, Eos, is also vital for Treg function (Pan et al., 2009). Whereas IL-2/-21 and the IL-2 receptor (IL-2RA) are important for driving proliferation and survival of both effector T cells and Tregs (Liao et al., 2011; Chinen et al., 2016). Additionally, Petukhova et al (2010) identified novel associations between the loci containing the UL-16 binding protein (ULBP) gene cluster and AA. ULBP proteins are related to MHC class I molecules that bind to receptors expressed by natural killer cells and CD8 T cells to drive cytotoxic responses (Eagle et al., 2009).

In addition, GWAS studies also implicated genes related to the hair follicle. STX7, syntaxin 17, was significantly associated with AA (Petukhova et al., 2010), a protein which has been associated with greying hair in horses (Pielberg et al., 2008). The relationship with STX7 is compelling in the context of AA pathogenesis because grey hair does not seem to be affected (Jia et al., 2014). Another interesting genetic link with AA is PRDX5, which codes for an antioxidant enzyme involved in clearance of peroxides within cells (Perkins et al., 2015). Previous studies have reported dysregulation in levels of antioxidant enzymes in AA scalp (Akar et al., 2002), and its expression is increased in the context of other autoimmune diseases, including multiple sclerosis (Holley et al., 2007). Importantly, many of these immunological genetic loci have also been associated with other autoimmune diseases, including rheumatoid arthritis (RA), type 1 diabetes (T1D) and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (Petukhova et al., 2010; Betz et al., 2015). Collectively, these findings demonstrated that the genetic risk profile of AA is characteristic of a polygenic organ specific autoimmune disease. These findings provided the rationale for functional studies which indicated AA as a T-cell mediated autoimmune disease. Prior to sections describing the immune-mechanisms involved in AA pathogenesis, an introduction to the immune system and hair follicle biology is provided.

1.3 The immune system

The immune system is often described as being composed of two layers, the innate and adaptive systems. The innate immune system is the first line of defense. It responds quickly by recognising conserved sequences common to pathogens, and is responsible for activating the adaptive immune system. Once alerted, the adaptive immune system is able to specifically respond by differentiating and tailoring a response to eliminate a pathogen and confer lasting protection.

1.3.1 T cells

T cells are lymphocytes that develop in the thymus. They develop form bonemarrow progenitors and are a critical component of the adaptive immune system. Before leaving the thymus as naïve cells, T cells go through a number of developmental check points. First, T-cell receptor gene rearrangement takes place to produce unique $\gamma \delta$ or $\alpha\beta$ surface receptors with random specificities (Hedrick et al., 1984). Conventional $\alpha\beta$ T cells will then become double positive (DP, CD4⁺ CD8⁺) thymocytes. DP T cells are then tested for their ability to recognise MHC-self peptide complexes presented by specialised medullary thymic epithelial cells (Anderson & Takahama, 2012). This process of presenting tissue specific antigen is controlled by the expression of the autoimmune regulator (AIRE) gene (Yano et al., 2008). Thymocytes which weakly recognise MHC-self antigen complexes are positively selected, whereas cells with strong affinity for MHC-self-antigen complexes are deleted (negative selection). Thymocytes which survive subsequently differentiate into single positive T cells, expressing CD4 or CD8. Some T cells with intermediate affinity for MHC-self peptide complexes will survive and become regulatory T cells (Tregs). Positive and negative selection of lymphocytes underpins central tolerance, and is fundamental for preventing autoreactive lymphocytes escaping the thymus. However, central tolerance mechanisms cannot remove all autoreactive lymphocytes, and therefore peripheral tolerance mechanisms are also essential. Peripheral tolerance mechanisms are described in section 1.3.3.

T cells exit the thymus as naïve cells and circulate between peripheral blood and secondary lymphoid organs. Human naïve T cells express CD45RA and the chemokine receptor, CCR7, which facilitates entry into lymph nodes (Sallusto et al., 1999; Michie et al., 1992). Activation of a naïve T cell requires a T cell to be presented with its cognate antigen, by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) on the surface of a dendritic cell in a lymph node (Langenkamp et al., 2000). Successful activation requires a second signal that involves engagement of costimulatory molecules that are adjacent to the TCR-MHC complex. Essential co-stimulation involves CD28 on the T cell interacting with CD80/86 on the APC (Mueller et al., 1989; Clark & Ledbetter, 1994), and may also involve CD40L and ICOSL binding to CD40 and ICOS, respectively.

Upon activation, T cells differentiate to become effector T cells, proliferate, and migrate to tissues by downregulating CCR7 (Sallusto et al., 1999). A proportion of differentiated T cells become CD45RO⁺ central (TCM) or effector memory (TEM) cells. TCMs and TEMs recirculate to provide surveillance against future encounters against the same antigenic challenge. TCM cells retain expression of CCR7 and circulate between blood and lymph nodes, whereas TEM cells downregulate CCR7 expression to facilitate circulation between blood and tissues (Sallusto et al., 1999). Memory T cells can also permanently reside in tissue to provide rapid response to antigenic challenge; resident memory T cells (TRM) (Gebhardt et al., 2009).

CD4 T cells

CD4⁺ T cells, referred to as T-helper (Th) cells, mediate their effector functions by secretion of cytokines to modulate the activity of other immune cells. CD4 T cells are activated when their T-cell receptor (TCR) recognises an MHCII- exogenous antigen complex presented by dendritic cells (Grakoui et al., 1999). CD4 T cells are categorised into different subsets based on the type of response they drive, which is dictated by cytokines released by the presenting DC and surrounding environment (Mosmann & Sad, 1996). Th cell differentiation is summarized in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1 CD4 T helper cell differentiation

CD4 T helper cells differentiate from naïve T cells following recognition of antigen presented by dendritic cells. Th1 cells require IL-12 and IFN γ , which drives Tbet expression and production of type-1 cytokines. Th2 cells require IL-4, which drives GATA3 expression and production of type-2 cytokines. Th17 cells require IL-6 and TGF-B, in addition to IL-23 for maintenance, which drives ROR γ t expression and type-17 cytokines. Created with Biorender.com.

Th1 cells are involved in driving responses against intracellular pathogens and successful priming requires IL-12 secretion from the presenting DC (Macatonia et al., 1995). Th1 cell differentiation requires expression of the T-box transcription factor (T-bet) which drives production of the signature Th1 effector cytokine, interferon γ (IFN γ) (Szabo et al., 2000). Th1 cells also express the chemokine receptor CXCR3 which is important for migration to effector sites (Yamamoto et al., 2000). IFN γ directly activates in excess of 200 genes involved in inflammatory immune responses (Bhat et al., 2018) but its most characterised effector functions are involved in the enhancement of macrophage phagocytic activity to kill bacteria, upregulation of molecules important for antigen processing and presentation, and for driving cytotoxic responses (Steimle et al., 1994; Decker et al., 2002; Schroder et al., 2004). Th1 cells are also an important

source of IL-2 which is important for development of robust CD8 T cell memory responses (Williams et al., 2006) and for suppressor function of regulatory T cells (Chinen et al., 2016).

Th2 cells are crucial for clearance of extracellular parasites, and are implicated in the pathogenesis of allergic responses (Robinson et al., 2010). IL-4 production from T cells and type-2 effector cells is reported to be involved in Th2 differentiation (Piehler et al., 2011; Ballesteros-Tato et al., 2016). However, it has been shown in mice that IL-4 is not required for Th2 differentiation (van Panhuys et al., 2008). Thus, the exact mechanisms required for Th2 differentiation require further investigation. Th2 cells express the transcription factor, GATA3, which drives expression of the signature Th2 cytokines, IL-13, IL-4 and IL-5 (Yamashita et al., 2004). Th2 cells can also produce IL-31, a cytokine which is upregulated in skin lesions from patients with eczema (Neis et al., 2006). Th2 cells are potentiated by the release of the alarmin, IL-33 (Komai-Koma et al., 2007). IL-33 is constitutively expressed by various cells, most notably epithelial and endothelial cells, and is only released in its activated form when cells die by necrosis (Lüthi et al., 2009). IL-33 is therefore a crucial signal which alerts the immune system of tissue damage. IL-25/17E is also a potent driver of type 2 responses and is involved in pathology related to dermatitis and asthma (Kim et al., 2002).

Th17 cells are important for defense against extracellular pathogens and fungi, and are commonly associated with aberrant autoimmune responses (Harrington et al., 2005). Th17 cells require IL-6 and TGFß signaling for their differentiation, which drives expression of the orphan nuclear receptor ROR γ t (Zhou et al., 2007; Harrington et al., 2005; Ivanov et al., 2006). This in turn drives expression of the chemokine receptor, CCR6, and the effector cytokines, IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-21 and IL-22 (Liang et al., 2006). Maintenance of Th17 cells requires IL-23 from innate cells (Stritesky et al., 2008). Th17 cells function to drive expression of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF and IL-6, and induce migration of innate cells, such as neutrophils, to sites of inflammation by upregulating the expression of endothelial adhesion ligands (Roussel et al., 2010). Expression of subset-specific chemokine receptors, including CXCR3 and CCR6, are important for T cells to traffic to sites of inflammation. The ligands for CXCR3 and CCR6, include CXCL9, CXCL10 and CCL20, and are expressed by immune cells, endothelial and epithelial cells (Taub et al., 1993; Hirota et al., 2007; Le Borgne et al., 2006). During T cell priming, T cells will also upregulate homing receptors that facilitate migration to specific tissues. Activation of T cells in a skin-draining lymph node causes upregulation of cutaneous lymphocyte antigen (CLA) which binds to E-selectin expressed in the skin (Picker et al., 1993). In contrast, mucosal-activated T cells are imprinted to express the guthoming receptor, CCR9 (Iwata et al., 2004).

Tregs also belong to the CD4 T cell family and are vital for driving tolerogenic response towards self or non-self antigen, and during the resolution phase of immune responses. Tregs can be thymically derived (natural Tregs) or can develop from naïve T cells (inducible Tregs). All Tregs express the transcription factor, Foxp3, and IL2RA which is essential for their differentiation and function (Fontenot et al., 2003; Malek et al., 2002). The mechanism Tregs use to induce tolerance include directly inhibiting T cell activation by binding to CD80/86 on the surface of DCs using the inhibitory receptor, CTLA-4, and by secreting anti-inflammatory cytokines including IL-10 (Rubtsov et al., 2008; Read et al., 2000).

CD8 T cells

CD8 T cells, also known as cytotoxic T cells, mediate direct cell killing of infected cells and 'stressed' cells, including cancer cells, by recognising MHCIendogenous antigen complexes. CD8 T cells are activated in a lymph node by cross-presenting dendritic cells (Haan et al., 2000). CD4 T cells are vital for CD8 T cell activation, by licensing of DCs, which involves simultaneous interaction of CD40 and CD70 on the DC with CD40L on the CD4 T cell, and CD27 on the CD8 T cell, respectively (Taraban et al., 2004). Similar to Th1 cells, CD8 T cell differentiation requires IL-12 which drives expression of Tbet (Takemoto et al., 2006). CD8 T cells kill target cells by releasing granules containing perforin and granzymes or by direct FAS-FASL interaction leading to apoptosis (Henkart & Sitkovsky, 1994). CD8 T cells also express classical type-1 cytokines, including IFNγ and TNF to drive anti-microbial activity in innate cells. In tissues, CD8 T cell can also respond to 'stressed' cells by recognising ligands including major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class 1 related chain (MICA/B) and ULBP binding proteins (Eagle et al., 2009; Bauer et al., 1999). These ligands bind to the natural killer group 2 member D (NKG2D) receptor that is constitutively expressed by human CD8 T cells and NK cells. During inflammatory responses, NKG2D can function as co-stimulation for TCR signaling, and is thought to lower the TCR-activation threshold (Jamieson et al., 2002). NKG2D is also reported to be involved in formation of CD8 T cell memory cells (Wensveen et al., 2013). Furthermore, NKG2D appears to be important for rescuing CD4unhelped CD8 T cells (Zloza et al., 2012). It has also been shown that NKG2D ligation in addition to IL-15 signalling can activate intestinal intraepithelial CD8 T cells from active coeliac (CeD) biopsies in a TCR independent manner (Meresse et al., 2004). Importantly, this is the only setting where TCR-independent NKG2D activation of CD8 T cells has been observed. In the context of autoimmunity, NKG2D is implicated strongly in AA pathogenesis, and in other diseases including vitiligo and T1D (Ogasawara et al., 2004). In these diseases, NKG2D ligands are upregulated by tissue cells, including epithelial cells, which are reported to play a role in the activation of autoreactive T cells.

1.3.2 B cells

B cells are lymphocytes that initially develop in the foetal liver and bone marrow (BM), and then migrate to secondary lymphoid organs for functional maturation. First, V-D-J recombination takes place in multiple steps to produce heavy and light chains that together produce a unique immunoglobulin (Ig) that forms a pre-B cell receptor (BCR). V-D-J recombination is the process mediated by RAG genes which involves combining variable (V), diversity (D) and joining (J) gene segments to form an Ig. This process of randomly selecting and joining V, D and J gene segments produces a repertoire of antibodies which enables the immune system to recognise a huge volume of antigen. Similar to developing T cells, the random process of receptor generation results in a large proportion of BCRs which recognise self. These B cells will then go through receptor-editing which aims to generate a BCR that does not recognise self-antigen. B cells which are still self-reactive are then deleted via apoptosis in response to repetitive self-antigen signaling (Hartley et al., 1993).

Immature IgM⁺ CD19⁺ B cells emerge from the BM and migrate to the spleen. Here the maturation process continues. Immature B cells progress through transitional B cell stages, where they express both IgM and IgD, before differentiating into mature marginal zone and follicular B cells. Upon antigen encounter in a LN, mature follicular B cells move to the T cell zone to search for 'help' from an activated T cell (Garside et al., 1998). With T cell help, via CD40-CD40L ligation, the germinal center forms and somatic hypermutation takes place to generate high affinity antibodies. This process is coupled with class switch recombination, determined by the cytokine milieu generated by the CD4 T cell, to generate antibodies with different constant regions that determine their functional capability (IgG, IgE, IgA) (Stavnezer et al., 2008). B cells with high affinity antibodies then become memory or plasma B cells (Phan et al., 2006). Memory B cells can be identified by expression of CD27. In human peripheral blood, a large population of IgM⁺ memory cell exist, alongside circulating transitional, naïve and memory subsets. The exact developmental trajectory of IgM⁺ memory cells is not fully understood, but it is reported that these cells represent circulating marginal zone B cells which respond to antigen in a T-cell independent manner (Weller, 2004).

The predominant role of B cells is to produce antigen specific antibodies which are particularly important during recall responses, but B cells are also known to function as antigen presenting cells. In the context of CeD, B cells are reported to play an important role in the generation of autoantibodies against the enzyme, tissue transglutaminase (TTG), which modifies gliadin peptides to generate immunogenic epitopes. The current model suggests that TTG acts as a carrier protein for the gliadin peptide. The BCR binds to a TTG-gliadin complex and presents it to gliadin-specific CD4 T cell resulting in the generation of TTG-specific autoantibodies (Dieterich et al., 1997; Sollid et al., 1997). Thus, B cells can contribute to the activation of autoreactive T cells.

1.3.3 Peripheral tolerance

Central tolerance mechanisms which take place in the bone marrow and thymus during B and T cell development will remove the majority of self-reactive lymphocytes. However, a proportion of self-antigens are not expressed during development, in addition to other non-harmful antigens, including dietary peptides. Peripheral tolerance mechanisms are therefore essential for preventing activation of potentially harmful lymphocytes in the periphery.

Peripheral tolerance mechanisms include anergy induction and deletion of lymphocytes upon encounter of cognate antigen. Deletion of peripheral autoreactive T cells is mediated by apoptosis induced by extrinsic pathways, as opposed to clonal deletion which occurs in the thymus as a result of strong affinity for self-antigen. This deletion is caused by excessive exposure to cognate antigen, leading to expression of the FAS ligand (FasL) and subsequent cell-death upon engagement with the Fas receptor (Bonfoco et al., 1998). In contrast, anergy is used to describe a state where immune cells become unresponsive to cognate antigen. T cell anergy can be induced by tolerogenic dendritic cells which do not provide co-stimulatory signals in steady-state conditions. Instead, inhibitory signals, including CTLA-4 and PDL1, are provided (Probst et al., 2005). The lack of co-stimulation prevents proliferation and differentiation of the anergic T cell. Similarly, anergy can be induced in B cells which have bound to antigen but fail to receive signals from T cells (Gauld et al., 2005).

The failure of peripheral tolerance mechanisms substantially contribute to multiple autoimmune diseases. Anergy is reversible and therefore a lack of specific signals can release lymphocytes from this unresponsive state. For example, B cells require chronic antigen binding to maintain anergy (Gauld et al., 2005) and it has been shown that mechanisms maintaining anergy are defective in SLE patients (Malkiel et al., 2016). During chronic inflammation, autoreactive B cells can lead to epitope spreading whereby multiple epitopes of the same antigen or different antigens become pathogenic targets of the immune system. This can occur via different mechanisms including processing of antigen by autoreactive B cells to generate new epitopes which can subsequently drive activation of autoreactive naïve T cells (Cornaby et al., 2015). Defects in apoptosis mechanisms are also linked with development of autoimmunity. Polymorphisms in the PTPN22 gene, which codes for a tyrosine phosphatase protein, is associated with apoptosis resistance in naïve and transitional B cell subsets. Importantly, polymorphisms in PTPN22 are associated with multiple

autoimmune diseases (Habib et al., 2012). Thus, defects in anergy induction and mechanisms involved in deletion of autoreactive lymphocytes underpin pathogenic mechanisms driving autoimmunity.

1.3.4 Innate immune cells

Dendritic cells

Conventional dendritic cells (DCs) are professional antigen presenting cells that are fundamental for connecting the innate to the adaptive immune system. By presenting antigen via MHC, DCs are able to prime naïve T cells and dictate the flavour of the ensuing T cell response by secretion of specific cytokines. DCs are identified as lineage negative (CD3⁻CD19⁻CD56⁻CD15⁻, Lin⁻), MHCII⁺ CD11c⁺ cells. Two broad DC subsets exist, namely cDC1 and cDC2, which in humans are identified by CD141 and CD1c expression, respectively (Villani et al., 2017). cDC1 are responsible for cross-presenting antigen to activate CD8 T cells (Haan et al., 2000). Whereas, cDC2 would appear to be most important for driving CD4 T cell responses (Gao et al., 2013). Notably, transcriptomic analysis has enabled elucidation of how DCs can adapt during inflammation, where cDC2s have been shown to activate both CD4 and CD8 T cell responses (Bosteels et al., 2020). Thus, emerging evidence indicates that DCs adapt in relation to the inflammatory environment.

Plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDC) come from the same lineage precursor as cDCs (common DC precursor) but cannot prime naïve T cells; their main function is to produce type 1 interferon. In humans, pDCs are identified as MHCII⁺ CD11c⁻ Lin⁻ CD123⁺ cells. However, this identification also appears to capture a proportion of AXL⁺ DCs (Villani et al., 2017) that were subsequently shown to represent a circulating pre-DC population (See et al., 2017). pDCs sense danger using toll-like receptors 7 and 9, which specifically detect RNA viruses and DNA viruses (Swiecki & Colonna, 2015). pDCs are implicated in autoimmunity, particularly in the pathogenesis of SLE. Here, immune complexes composed of endogenous DNA and antinuclear antibodies can active pDCs (Means et al., 2005). This mechanism is of clinical importance because pDC activity contributes to refractory responses to glucocorticoids in SLE patients (Guiducci et al., 2010).

Macrophages

Macrophages are tissue-resident innate immune cells that are important for homeostatic and repair processes, but can also play a pathogenic role in the context of inflammation. Macrophages are derived from embryonic precursors arising from the yolk sac and foetal liver, and have the capacity to self-renew (Ginhoux & Guilliams, 2016). Macrophages can also develop from infiltrating monocytes where they adopt a tissue-specific signature based on the surrounding niche (van de Laar et al., 2016).

Activation of macrophages is broadly defined as classical activation or alternative activation. First, macrophages recognise conserved pathogenic signatures using their surface receptors which include toll-like receptors (TLRs). Classical activation occurs when type-1 cytokines, typically IFNγ, are released by other immune cells including NK and T cells. Macrophages are then polarised for microbicidal activity against pathogens and express inflammatory mediators including reactive oxygen species (Ding et al., 1988; Mosser & Edwards, 2008). In contrast, type-2 associated cytokines, IL-4, IL-13 and IL-10, induce alternative macrophage activation. These macrophages are associated with wound healing responses, and express markers such as arginase 1 (Wager & Wormley, 2014). Whilst these terms may be used to characterise macrophages, similar to the 'M1' and 'M2' designation, it is now widely recognised that macrophages are plastic, and that their phenotype and function can vary greatly depending our their surrounding environment (Guilliams & Scott, 2017).

Under homeostatic conditions, the main functions of macrophages include removal of dead cells and debris, and aiding tissue remodelling. Importantly, macrophage tissue residence is associated with the ability to become highly specialised to deal with homeostatic functions and threats associated with specific tissues. For example, alveolar macrophages regulate surfactant levels in the lung (Gautier et al., 2012). Whereas, macrophages in the intestine possess anti-inflammatory properties to maintain a homeostatic environment, and are constantly replaced by infiltrating monocytes (Bain et al., 2014).

In the context of inflammation, macrophages can be harmful because they secrete potent pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF, IL-1ß and IL-6. During

chronic inflammation, problems with pro-inflammatory macrophages are coupled with the effect of an inflammatory environment on homeostatic functions of resident macrophages. Furthermore, macrophages contribute to fibrosis which can also negatively impact organ function (Misharin et al., 2017).

Natural killer cells

Natural killer (NK) cells are innate lymphocytes which function as the innate cytotoxic counterpart to CD8 T cells. Similar to CD8 T cells, they are involved in killing virally infected or transformed cells and are poised to release granules containing perforin and granzymes. NK cells recognise target cells in a non-antigen specific manner using activation or inhibitory receptors (Lanier, 2008). As discussed, activation is mediated by the NKG2D receptor which recognises 'stress' ligands. Whereas, killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs) prevent NK cell activation by recognising MHCI or other 'self' ligands expressed by healthy cells. During type 1 responses, NK cells are an early provider of IFN γ which contributes to the generation of adaptive CD8 T cell and Th1 responses (Biron & Brossay, 2001).

1.4 The hair follicle

The skin is a multifunctional barrier tissue and its primary function is to provide physical protection from external stressors and challenges. The skin is also vital for physiological processes including thermal regulation, water retention and sensory detection of touch and pain. To carry out these functions the skin is home to a collection of mini-organs including sebaceous and eccrine glands, sensory fibers and hair follicles (HFs).

The human skin is home to approximately 5 million HFs. The scalp contains the highest density of HFs where hair primarily acts as a heat insulator. Humans have two different types of hair: scalp HFs grow terminal pigmented hairs, whereas the face and limbs usually grow short vellus hairs. Aside from warmth, hair is also important for protective purposes. Eye lashes and hair in the nose and ears prevent entry of irritants such as dust and potentially harmful microbes.

Each HF is a self-sufficient mini-organ that is situated alongside a sebaceous gland and arrector pili muscle in the skin, as depicted in Figure 1.2. The HF is composed of many specialist structures; the epithelial components include the infundibulum, isthmus, suprabulbar, bulb and bulge and are ectoderm-derived, whereas the dermal papilla is mesoderm-derived (Schneider et al., 2009). The dermal papilla (DP) is composed of fibroblasts which control the hair cycle, and the bulge region is home to hair follicle stem cells (HFSCs) (Yang et al., 2017). The growing hair develops from proliferating keratinocyte cells that migrate from the bulge region into the matrix to form the hair shaft. Melanocytes are also present in the matrix and the outer root sheath, and are responsible for the pigmentation of keratinocytes during anagen (Slominski et al., 2005). Initiation of anagen, the active growth phase, requires contact between the dermal papilla and HFSCs in the bulge region. Once growth is initiated, the dermal papilla controls the duration of anagen, thus dictating hair length, and the diameter of the hair shaft (Stenn & Paus, 2001).



Figure 1.2 The hair follicle

Schematic diagram representing an anagen hair follicle. The four epithelial regions of the HF are highlighted: infundibulum, isthmus, suprabulbar and bulb, alongside important structures involved in hair cycling: the bulge containing hair follicle stem cells and the dermal papilla. Adapted from Schneider et al (2009) and created with BioRender.com

1.4.1 The hair follicle cycle

Hair growth occurs in cycles and each cycle is composed of three main phases: anagen, catagen and telogen (Figure 1.3). During each cycle, the distal region of the HF is effectively regrown by a series of growth and apoptosis driven stages. As mentioned previously, anagen is the active growth phase of the HF cycle. On the human scalp, 80-90% of HFs are in anagen and the rate of hair growth can be up to 20uM per hour (Yang et al., 2017). Anagen is followed by catagen which is an apoptosis driven stage involving regression of the HF, and then a dormant phase called telogen (Stenn & Paus, 2001). Complex molecular pathways are involved in the intricate control of the HF cycle, and a slight disruption in the ratio of anagen/catagen/telogen hairs on the scalp is associated with conditions characterised by hair thinning, known as telogen effluvium or diffuse alopecia (Jain et al., 2000).



Figure 1.3 The hair follicle growth cycle

The HF cycle involved three key phases: anagen, catagen and telogen. Anagen represents the active growth phase and is followed by an apoptotic-driven phase where the distal region of the follicle is removed. The quiescent telogen phase follows before moving back into anagen. Created with BioRender.com

The molecular pathways and signals involved in HFSC activation are well studied due to the accessibility of HFs, and their cyclic regenerative capacity which is of interest in the field of organ regeneration (Toyoshima et al., 2012). Anagen initiation is dependent on interaction between the DP and HFSCs within the bulge region, which causes HFSCs to form a hair matrix. Once the matrix is formed, the matrix cells grow inwards to form the hair shaft which is composed of terminally differentiated keratinocytes. It has been shown that activation of quiescent HFSCs requires inhibition of bone morphogenetic proteins (BMP) and activation of B-catenin via Wnt signalling (Plikus et al., 2008; Celso, 2004; Van Mater et al., 2003). Variation in the expression of BMPs and WNT/B-catenin molecules throughout micro-niches of the DP facilitates the cyclic differentiation and self-renewal capacity of epithelial cells forming the different parts of the HF matrix (Yang et al., 2017). The relationship between Wnt, BMP and B-catenin signalling in relation to HFSC activation is depicted in Figure 1.4. The transcriptional repressor, Blimp-1, is an important regulator of Wnt/B-catenin signalling in the DP which can be induced by TGFB (Telerman et al., 2017). Other appendages in the surrounding skin, including adipocytes (Plikus et al., 2008) and nerve fibres (Brownell et al., 2011) also play a role in maintaining the HFSC niche. Interestingly, adipocytes situated below HFs have the capacity to express BMP molecules, highlighting potential communication between two tissues important for thermal regulation (Plikus et al., 2008).



Figure 1.4 Molecules regulating stem cell activation

Hair follicle stem cells activity is regulated by a complex interplay of molecules. Stem cell quiescence is associated with expression of BMP molecules, whereas WNT/ß-catenin signalling induces stem cell activation. Diagram was adapted from Schneider et al (2009) and created with BioRender.com.

The HF has also been shown to be sensitive to changes in the skin's macroenvironment, particularly in relation to hormonal fluctuations or responses to stress. Oestrogen negatively impacts hair growth by promoting anagen to catagen transition and this mechanism is thought to play a role in hair loss and thinning in pregnant and menopausal women (Hu et al., 2012). In animal models,

stress-inducing stimuli leading to release of substance P causes premature catagen induction indicated by enhanced epithelial apoptosis (Arck et al., 2003). It has also been shown *in vitro* that human HFs can produce cortisol, and that corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH) directly modulates hair growth by influencing keratinocyte activity and catagen onset (Ito et al., 2005).

1.4.2 Hair follicle immune privilege

The HF is regarded as a relative site of immune privilege (IP). HFs were first identified as an IP zone by the observation that HFs survive following allograft transplantation (Billingham & Silvers, 1971). Follicular IP is described as relative because the protection varies throughout the hair cycle, and requires active regulatory mechanisms to be maintained (Paus et al., 2003).

IP is classically associated with organs in the body that can protect grafted tissues (Niederkorn, 2006). Immunological concepts related to IP are reported to involve both passive and active mechanisms. Clonal ignorance describes the model where autoreactive T cells exist in the periphery but do not react to their cognate self-antigen because the tissue is inaccessible to the immune system (Forrester et al., 2008). Whilst immunological ignorance appears to play a role, it is now appreciated that active regulatory mechanisms are in place to maintain tolerance in specific sites. The testis are a well-characterised IP zone, and it appears that both the physiological blood-testis barrier, and expression of antiinflammatory mediators, including cytokines contribute to mechanisms preventing immune-attack (Fijak & Meinhardt, 2006). The eye is also protected by immune-inhibitory mechanisms including expression of ocular FasL which causes apoptosis of immune cells, and the presence of secretory molecules within the anterior chamber including TGFB and α -melanocyte stimulating hormone (α -MSH) (Griffith et al., 1995; Taylor, 1999). It appears that mechanisms protecting HFs are predominantly associated with active regulation.

Hair follicle IP is primarily associated with the anagen bulb and bulge region. IP is reported to exist in these regions to prevent aberrant responses directed against potentially immune-reactive antigen, including melanin-associated peptides that are expressed during anagen (Trautman et al., 2009). Multiple mechanisms maintaining HF-associated IP have been described that involve

direct cell contact or secretory mediators. Direct mechanisms include downregulation of MHCI expression by the follicular epithelium (Christoph et al., 2000; Paus et al., 2005). The follicular epithelium also expresses CD200, which is reported to inhibit myeloid function and therefore contribute to immune regulation (Meyer et al., 2008; Hoek et al., 2000). Secretory immuno-inhibitory molecules associated with HF immune privilege include TGFß, a-MSH, IL-10, idoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) and macrophage migratory inhibitory factor (MIF) (Meyer et al., 2008). Notably, administration of IDO, TGFß or the growth factor, IGF-1, to HFs *in vitro* can reduce expression of MHCI by hair bulbs (Ito et al., 2004). Usually, downregulation of MHCI would drive NK activation, but it is reported that NK cell attack is prevented by low expression of NK cell activating ligands, including MICA, in combination with MIF expression (Ito et al., 2008).

Hormones and neuropeptides have also been shown to contribute to HFassociated IP mechanisms. *In vitro*, calcitonin gene-related peptide (CRGP) causes downregulation of MHCI expression on human hair follicle (Pi et al., 2013). Furthermore, vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) receptor in expressed by the epithelium of normal human HFs and *in vitro*, VIP expression prevents IP collapse (Bertolini et al., 2016). These findings are interesting in the context of the previously discussed influence that stress has of HF growth, and highlight the important balance that must be maintained for normal hair growth.

In the context of AA pathogenesis, HF-associated IP collapse is regarded to be essential for initiation of mechanisms driving hair loss. This relationship will be discussed in section 1.6.

1.4.3 Hair follicle interactions with the immune system

In recent years, research has indicated that the HF interacts with immune cells and that this interaction is fundamental for normal HF function and growth (Rahmani et al., 2020). Understanding of the relationships that exist between HFs and immune cells has stemmed from studies reporting the importance of stem cell and immune interactions for organ morphogenesis and regeneration. Functions of immune cells at regenerative sites may involve the removal of dead cells and debris from the environment, and those involved in angiogenesis. Recent studies have eloquently shown that immune cells, particularly T cells and macrophages, interact with HFs and are critical for controlling hair growth in healthy skin.

In murine skin, T cells have been shown to use the HF to migrate to the epidermis in response to stressful stimuli (Nagao et al., 2012). It has also been shown that resident CD8 and CD4 T cell populations are specifically located at the HF epithelium, and that this tropism is maintained by follicular expression of IL-15 and IL-7 (Adachi et al., 2015). These studies highlight the role that HFs play in skin homeostasis.

In terms of hair follicle cycling, regulatory Tregs are indicated to be crucial. Human skin is home to many resident Tregs that are important for maintaining tolerance against the skin microbiota and for tissue repair processes following injury. In human skin, Tregs are found in close proximity to HFs (Sanchez Rodriguez et al., 2014). In mice, it has been shown that administration of a WNT inhibitor, leading to inhibition of HF morphogenesis, is associated with a significant decrease in Tregs in postnatal skin (Scharschmidt et al., 2017). The direct requirement of Tregs for HF cycling was then eloquently demonstrated by a study where Treg ablation prevented anagen induction (Ali et al., 2017). This study demonstrated that Treg-HF interaction via Jagged-1 is required to drive HFSC differentiation (Ali et al., 2017). Of note, alopecia universalis has been reported to develop in people with the rare genetic condition caused by a FOXP3 mutation (IPEX, immune dysregulation polyendocrinopathy enteropathy X-linked) that causes lethal autoimmunity (Nieves et al., 2004).

It has been known for many years that macrophages interact with the HF at specific stages of the growth cycle (Parakkal, 1969). However, the cruciality of macrophages for hair growth has not been fully appreciated until fairly recently (summarised in Figure 1.5). At present, there do not appear to be any observations that phagocytosis mechanisms play a role in HF-macrophage interaction. However, factors secreted by macrophages do appear to be important. TREM2⁺ macrophages have been shown to directly contribute to HFSC quiescence by secretion of oncostatin M (OSM) (Wang et al., 2019). OSM signals via the JAK-STAT pathway, and JAK-STAT signalling has been shown to be crucial for telogen-associated HFSC quiescence (Harel et al., 2015). Furthermore,

anagen onset is associated with apoptosis-driven reduction in macrophages (Castellana et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2019). Castellana et al (2014) demonstrated that clodronate-induced ablation of macrophages caused release on Wnt ligands, including Wnt7b and Wnt10a, leading to anagen induction. Macrophages have also been shown to partake in the catagen phase via secretion of the fibroblast growth factor, FGF-5 (Suzuki et al., 1998; 2000).



Figure 1.5 Immune interactions with the HF

Schematic diagram highlighting macrophage and Treg mediated functions in hair cycling. Apoptotic macrophage release of Wht ligands and Jagged 1 Treg interaction contribute to anagen onset. Oncostatin M (OSM) release from TREM2⁺ macrophages maintains hair follicle stem cell quiescence via JAK-STAT signalling. Fibroblast growth factor 5 (FGF-5) macrophage production contributes to catagen associated HF regression. Diagram was adapted from Rahmani et al (2020) and created with BioRender.com

The involvement of immune cells in hair growth has also been demonstrated in injury models. It is well known that full-thickness injury to the skin leads to wound induced hair regrowth (WIHG) which is caused by activation of telogen follicles. In a mouse model, it was shown that ASK1-/- wounds were associated
with delayed WIHG which was accompanied with a reduction in macrophage infiltration (Osaka et al., 2007). Subsequently, it was shown that proinflammatory macrophages are essential for hair regeneration following hair plucking. Plucked follicles recruited TNF⁺ macrophages by expression of CCL2 (Chen et al., 2015) and this activated HFSC ß-catenin signalling (Wang et al., 2017). It was then shown that CCR2⁺ CX3CR1hi Ly6Clo TNF⁺ macrophages are involved in WIHG, which was dependent on TGFß and CX3CR1 expression (Rahmani at al., 2018a). Interestingly, applying imiquimod (TLR agonist) to mouse skin led to anagen induction which was associated with infiltration of T cells and an increase in pro-inflammatory macrophages (Amberg et al., 2016).

Taken together, the data from numerous studies highlight that macrophages are essential for homeostatic regulation of HF growth. The current evidence indicates that macrophages contribute to telogen and catagen in normal skin, whereas pro-inflammatory macrophages promote HFSC activation in the context of skin injury.

1.5 Immunopathogenesis of AA

AA is recognised as a T-cell mediated polygenic autoimmune condition. However, the acceptance of AA as a *bona fide* autoimmune disease was somewhat delayed despite early observations indicating dense lymphocytic infiltrate surrounding anagen HFs (Todes-Taylor et al., 1984). Genetic studies, particularly the first GWAS in 2010 (Petukhova et al., 2010), have been fundamental in generating interest in the field of AA immune pathology which have led to critical findings of the immune mechanisms driving hair loss.

1.5.1 Presentation and histopathology of AA

AA primarily presents as circular patches of hair loss. Although the presentation of hair loss dramatically varies between affected individuals, where it can involve one patch, multiple patches or develop to affect the entire scalp (totalis, AT) or body (universalis, AU) (Alkhalifah et al., 2010). Hair lost associated with AA may spontaneously regrow, follow multiple episodes of relapsing-remitting disease, or hair loss may last for a lifetime. AT and AU usually develop quickly and are unlikely to be spontaneously resolved. In comparison to other hair loss conditions, AA is a form of non-scarring hair loss meaning that HFs are not destroyed. In the clinic, AA is usually diagnosed by the characteristic appearance of circular patches, the existence of abnormal hairs in lesional margins (referred to as exclamation point hairs) and an increased catagen-telogen to anagen follicle ratio (Pratt et al., 2017).

Histopathological analysis of AA skin reveals the characteristic lymphocyte infiltration surrounding the bulb region of anagen HFs. Multiple studies have indicated that the follicular infiltrate is composed CD8 T cells, CD4 T cells, mast cells, antigen presenting cells, eosinophils and NK cells (Perret et al., 1984; Fuentes-Duculan et al., 2016; Bertolini et al., 2014; Yoon et al., 2014). Epithelial cells that form the matrix of the HF appear to be the main target of infiltrating immune cells, which leads to hair shaft breakage (Messenger & Bleehan, 1984). The damaging inflammatory response causes the follicle to abandon anagen and prematurely move into catagen and then telogen.

1.5.2 Model of immune privilege collapse

Hair follicle IP collapse is considered to be essential for development of AA (Bertolini et al., 2020; Pratt et al., 2017). Evidence to support this model indicates that hair loss is associated with upregulation of MHCI by the bulbar HF epithelium and MHCII by HF keratinocytes (Paus et al., 1993). Whilst this model is widely accepted to drive initiation of AA, there is still no direct evidence for a role of IP collapse in mechanisms driving hair loss. Nevertheless, it is reported that specific stimuli in the skin, that may be related to stress or infection, can lead to release of inflammatory mediators which drives IP collapse and activation of autoreactive T cells. To date, the self-antigen responsible for driving T cell activation is unknown. However, it is anticipated that the auto-antigen is melanin-associated because remission is often associated with grey hair growth prior to formation of normal pigmented hair shafts (Trautman et al., 2009).

1.5.3 NKG2D⁺ CD8 T cells are essential for AA pathogenesis

CD8 T cells and their production of IFN γ are known to be vital for driving hair loss. Early observations in AA skin indicated a role for CD8 T cells due to their

abundance in follicular infiltrates and the upregulation of MHC I by the follicular epithelium. However, only recently have details of the mechanisms been elucidated.

A significant association between AA and 'stress' ligands including the ULBP locus was observed in the AA GWAS (Petukhova et al., 2010). These ligands are usually regarded as danger signals for NK cells, however in humans, the NKG2D receptor which recognises ULBP ligands is constitutively expressed by CD8 T cells (Prajapati et al., 2018; Eagle et al., 2009). Petukhova et al (2010) observed that expression of the ULBP ligand is upregulated by the HF DP and dermal sheath in early human AA lesions, and that these regions are associated with T cell infiltrates. Furthermore, they observed that the majority of infiltrating NKG2D⁺ cells were T cells, rather than NK cells. These findings were supported by others who observed NKG2D⁺ cells in close proximity with affected HF in lesional human skin (Ito et al., 2008). These findings led to mechanistic T cell studies involving the C3H/Hej mouse models of AA.

The majority of functional studies indicating a direct role for CD8 T cells in AA pathogenesis have been obtained from experiments using mouse models. The most commonly used AA mouse models include the C3H/Hej mice which spontaneously develop hair loss, and the humanised model which involves transplanting normal human scalp onto SCID (severe combined immunodeficient) mice and then injecting stimulated human PBMCs into the skin to drive hair loss (Sundberg et al., 1994; Gilhar et al., 2013).

The C3H/Hej is a mutant strain characterised by a TLR4 mutation. Approximately 20% of ageing C3H/Hej mice spontaneously develop AA (Sundberg et al., 1994). Spontaneous hair loss development takes time and is not guaranteed, thus grafting of lesional skin from mice who spontaneously developed hair loss to 'healthy' 10-week old C3H/Hej mice is used to initiate disease onset (McElwee et al., 1998). This model causes hair loss to develop within 6-10 weeks. Here, we refer to these mice as 'grafted recipients'. The C3H/Hej mouse has been used to demonstrate that subcutaneous injection of CD8 T cells from lymph nodes of affected mice into normal C3H/Hej mice induces localised hair loss (McElwee et al., 2005). In line with observations in human AA lesions, affected HFs in C3H/Hej skin are associated with infiltration of NKG2D⁺ CD8 T cells and upregulation of Rae-1 and H60 by the HF epithelium, ligands which are homologous to human ULBP proteins (Xing at al., 2014b). Importantly, the authors show that transfer of NKG2D⁺ CD8 T cells from cutaneous lymph nodes of grafted recipients into skin of normal C3H/Hej mice caused hair loss onset (Xing et al., 2014). The MICA protein, another ligand of the NKG2D receptor, is genetically associated with AA and in addition to ULBP ligands, is upregulated in human AA lesions (Petukhova et al., 2010; Ito at al., 2008a). However, mechanistic experiments involving MICA-NKG2D engagement cannot be conducted because mice do not express the MICA protein. Nevertheless, these data indicate key milestones which implicated NKG2D⁺ CD8 T cells as pathogenic mediators driving hair loss. CD8 T cell interaction with anagen HFs is illustrated in Figure 1.6.



Figure 1.6 CD8 T cell mechanisms driving hair loss

Schematic diagram highlighting molecules involved in CD8 T cell mediated inflammation against anagen HFs. MHCI and ULBP/MICA ligands expressed by the HF epithelium bind to the CD8 T cell TCR and NKG2D receptors, respectively. IL-15 and IFN γ signal via JAK molecules to drive hair loss. Diagram was adapted from Pratt et al (2017) and created with BioRender.com

1.5.4 CD4 T cells in AA

CD4 T cells are known to be vital for activation of CD8 T cell responses by licensing cDC1s (Smith et al., 2004). Thus, in the context of AA, CD4 T cells must play a role in the mechanisms initiating activation of autoreactive CD8 T cells. Furthermore, a strong genetic linkage exists between HLA-DR loci and AA, implicating APC-CD4 T cell interactions (Betz et al., 2015). Studies in the C3H/Hej AA mouse model indicate that CD4 T cells are particularly important for development of severe AA. Subcutaneous transfer of magnetic bead-purified CD4⁺CD25⁻ T cells and CD8⁺ T cells from lymph nodes of mice with hair loss into normal C3H/Hej mice caused extensive hair loss (McElwee et al., 2005). In contrast, subcutaneous delivery of CD8 T cells alone was only capable of inducing localised hair loss. Collectively, these observations indicate that CD4 T cells are important for the development of AA. It is very likely that CD4 T cells are also important for initial activation of autoreactive CD8 T cells. However, it is difficult to study mechanisms initiating AA because the mouse model involves transfer of previously activated CD8 T cells.

In human AA lesions, CD4 T cells are found in follicular infiltrates, and some reports indicate that they are more abundant than CD8 T cells (Perret et al., 1984). Additionally, histological analysis indicates that IL-17⁺ CD4 T cells are located in the dermis surrounding HFs in human AA skin, but they do not appear to be infiltrating HFs (Tanemura et al., 2013). Microarray transcriptome profiling in AA skin indicated upregulation in genes associated with both Th1 and Th2 responses (Suarez-Farinas et al., 2015). In peripheral blood, the proportion of IL-17⁺ CD4 T cells are elevated in AA compared to HCs (Han et al., 2015). In contrast, the proportions of Tregs (FoxP3⁺ CD4) were found to be significantly reduced in comparison to HCs (Han et al., 2015). Another study profiling circulating T cells did not observe any changes in the frequencies of IL-17⁺ CD4 T cells (Czarnowicki et al., 2017). However, the authors observed an increase in the frequency of IL-13⁺ CD4 T cells (Th2) and central memory CD4 T cells (CD45RO⁺CCR7⁺), alongside a decrease in the frequency of effector memory CD4 T cells (CD45RO⁺CCR7⁻) in AA patients compared to HCs. Collectively, these studies describe an association between AA and changes in Th1, Th2 and Th17 cells. Whilst the importance of CD4 T cells in AA pathogenesis remains to be thoroughly investigated, it is clear that multiple cytokines associated with the generation and activity of specific CD4 T cell populations are dysregulated in AA.

1.5.5 Cytokines in AA

The cytokines which are most commonly associated with AA pathogenesis are IFN γ and IL-15 (illustrated in Figure 1.6). The importance of IFN γ in mechanisms driving hair loss has been demonstrated using the C3H/Hej model. Intravenous administration of IFN γ to C3H/Hej mice causes transient hair loss (Gilhar et al., 2005). In contrast to wild-type grafted recipient C3H/Hej mice, IFN γ knock-out grafted recipient mice do not develop hair loss (Freyschmidt-Paul et al., 2006). Furthermore, intraperitoneal administration of anti-IFN γ antibodies at time of grafting prevents hair loss onset in grafted recipient mice (Xing et al., 2014). This study did not test the effect of IFN γ neutralisation on reversing hair loss. Interestingly, IFN γ potently induces upregulation of follicular MHCI and MHCII expression, and therefore is thought to play an important role in IP collapse (Rückert et al., 1998). Collectively, these observations led to experiments testing the ability of blocking JAK-STAT signalling to prevent hair loss development in the C3H/Hej model, and then in humans.

Oral administration of a JAK 1/2 inhibitor successfully prevented hair loss and associated infiltration of NKG2D⁺ CD8 T cells in grafted recipients (Xing et al., 2014). The authors also demonstrated that topical application of JAK1/2 inhibitors to grafted recipients who had already developed hair loss was able to induce regrowth (Xing et al., 2014). This seminal study led to clinical studies testing the efficacy of Ruxolitinib and Tofacitinib in promoting hair regrowth in AA patients. Various open-label studies have indicated that JAK inhibitors cause hair regrowth (>50%) in between 60-75% of patients (Mackay-Wiggan et al., 2016; Jabbari et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2017). A phase 3 JAK-inhibitor open label trial conducted by Pfizer is now in progress (<u>https://www.pfizer.com/science/find-a-trial/nct04006457</u>).

The clinical studies generated in response to findings by Xing et al (2014) have been fundamental in generating recent pharmaceutical interest in AA. Whilst these data indicate a fundamental role for JAK-STAT signalling in human AA pathogenesis, they do not precisely confirm the importance of IFN γ because of the broad targeting of these small molecule inhibitors. For example, Ruxolitinib in targeting JAK 1 and 2, prevents IFN γ receptor signalling, in addition to the signalling of the common γ chain cytokines, including IL-2, IL-15 and IL-21. Furthermore, the success of JAK-inhibitors is also attributed to promoting factors that directly activate HFSCs (Harel et al., 2015). The broad targeting of JAK inhibitor therapy is related to the occurrence of side-effects in treated individuals, which most commonly include bacterial, fungal and viral infection, thrombocytopenia and neutropenia (Wang et al., 2018).

Assessment of C3H/Hej mice led to the observation that IL-15 and IL-15RB are upregulated by the follicular epithelium (Xing et al., 2014). Thus, it was demonstrated that blocking IL-15 signalling using IL-15RB antibodies prevented development of hair loss in grafted recipients (Xing et al., 2014). Importantly, immunofluorescent staining in affected human skin indicated that IL-15 and IL-15RA are expressed by the HF epithelium (Xing et al., 2014). IL-15 is a cytokine known to play a critical role in survival and generation of CD4 and CD8 memory T cells (van Leeuwen et al., 2009; Richer et al., 2015). As mentioned previously, IL-15 is one of the cytokines that signals through a receptor complex which utilises the common γ receptor chain (Willem W Overwijk, 2009). In the context of CD8 T cell effector function, IL-15 is reported to play a role in NKG2Dmediated activation of CD8 T cells. Liver damage in patients with acute hepatitis A has been reported to be a result of IL-15 mediated bystander activation of non-specific NKG2D⁺ CD8 T cells (Kim et al., 2018). Furthermore, IL-15 has been shown to modulate NKG2D signalling to cause TCR-independent activation of CD8 T cells (Meresse et al., 2004). Interestingly, IL-15 induces upregulation of MICA in biopsies from CeD and HCs (Hüe et al., 2004). As previously noted, it is unclear whether NKG2D and IL-15 can facilitate T cell activation in the absence of TCR stimulation, however these studies indicate that they are important for re-activation of memory T cells and appear to drive an innate-like cytotoxic state in effector T cells. Notably, follicular IL-15 expression has been shown to support CD8 T cell residency, and it's expression is important for T cellmediated responses in the skin (Adachi et al., 2015). Thus, it appears that follicular IL-15 expression is important for dermal immunity, but it's expression in the context of AA promotes autoreactive T cell activity.

Cytokine profiling in human serum has indicated dysregulation in various cytokines associated with specific T-helper subsets. The levels of circulating IL-

17A, IL-21, IL-22 and IL-23 are significantly increased in AA compared to controls (Tembhre & Sharma, 2013; Bilgic et al., 2015; Atwa et al., 2015). In addition, the levels of TNF and IL-6 are elevated (Bilgic et al., 2015; Atwa et al., 2015). IFN γ and IL-15 levels are also elevated in serum of AA cohorts (Ebrahim et al., 2019; Tembhre & Sharma, 2013; Kasumagic-Halilovic et al., 2010). At a tissue level, micro array transcriptome analysis indicates upregulation of IFN γ , in addition to IL-23 and IL-13 in human AA skin (Suarez-Farinas et al., 2015). Thus, published studies indicate broad dysregulation in multiple cytokines that indicate involvement of type 1, type 2 and type 17 responses.

Biologic therapies targeting cytokines are successful in the treatment of multiple inflammatory disorders, including IBD, RA and PsA. Studies highlighting dysregulation of type-17 related cytokines in AA patients prompted studies testing the ability of biologics targeting IL-17A and IL-23 pathways for promoting hair regrowth. Blockade of IL-17A using subcutaneous administration of Secukinumab was not proven to be effective for promoting hair regrowth in a randomised double blinded pilot study (Guttman-Yassky et al., 2018). Eleven AA patients were enrolled, but only one patient experienced partial regrowth out of the 3 patients who remained in the study until the primary end point. Clinical studies testing the efficacy of Ustekinumab, an antibody which targets the p40 subunit which is part of both IL-12 and IL-23, have also been conducted in small AA cohorts. An initial study administered subcutaneous Ustekinumab to three AA patients with varying levels of hair loss (Guttman-Yassky et al., 2016). Impressive hair regrowth was observed in a patient with AT, whereas hair regrowth was marginal in the other patients who had patchy hair loss. Notably, the patient with AT who responded to treatment, had the shortest disease duration. Subsequently, four AA patients with AT who received Ustekinumab did not experience any hair regrowth (Ortolan et al., 2019). At present, the current evidence from human studies is not satisfactory to draw conclusions of the involvement of IL-12 and IL-23 in AA pathogenesis.

1.5.6 The involvement of other immune cells

Few studies have focused on the role of innate immune cells in AA pathogenesis. NK cells are an obvious contender because they are activated by NKG2D ligation (Eagle et al., 2009). In healthy skin, it is peculiar that NK cells do not attack normal HFs because of the absence of MHCI expression. Interestingly, NKG2D⁺ NK cells are not observed in close proximity to HFs in normal skin, but are abundant within follicular infiltrate in AA skin (Ito et al., 2008). IP collapse, with associated downregulation of MIF and upregulation of MICA ligands, are thought to contribute to this aggregation of NK cells (Ito et al., 2008). This study postulates that NK cell activity is suppressed in normal skin and that NK cell contribute to pathology in AA. In contrast, another study using the grafted recipient C3H/Hej model indicated that depletion of NK cells using anti-asialo GM1 caused exacerbation of hair loss, indicated by accelerated hair loss occurrence in comparison to untreated grafted recipients (Kaufman et al., 2010).

Autoantibodies are commonly generated in patients with autoimmune diseases, but their presence does not necessarily indicate their involvement in disease pathology. In the context of lupus and RA, autoantibodies are pathogenic because they activate complement and target citrullinated self-proteins, respectively (Walport, 2002; Dahlqvist et al., 2003). Autoantibodies against follicular antigens have been detected in AA circulation (Tobin et al., 1994). Notably, autoantibodies against follicular antigen were also observed in control sera, but were lower titer compared to AA sera (Tobin et al., 1994).

To our knowledge, conventional DCs have not been profiled in AA patients. However, a study analysing AA skin biopsies indicated that the number of CD1a⁺ cells are increased following application of a contact sensitizing treatment that is commonly used to treat patchy AA (details of this treatment are provided in section 1.6) (Heffler et al., 2002). CD1a is receptor which binds lipids, and is a characteristic marker of Langerhans cells (LCs) (Porcelli et al., 1989). LCs are cells found in the epidermis and have a mixed DC/macrophage transcriptome (Mowat et al., 2017). They are able to migrate to lymph nodes, and in humans are able to cross-present antigen to CD8 T cells, thus functioning similar to cDC1 cells (Artyomov et al., 2015). Whilst the study conducted by Heffler et al (2002) is interesting in the context of response to a contact sensitiser, it does not indicate that LCs are involved in AA pathogenesis. Another study indicated that pDCs are present in perifollicular infiltrates in AA skin (Abou Rahal et al., 2014), but investigation of their role in AA pathology has not been reported. Additionally, despite the important relationship between macrophages and HFs for normal hair growth, macrophages have not been profiled in the context of AA.

1.5.7 Comorbidities

AA is associated with several comorbidities. They most commonly include atopic conditions (asthma, rhinitis, eczema), thyroid problems (under and overactive) and other autoimmune diseases, such as vitiligo, psoriasis, RA and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). Atopy is very common in AA cohorts with an incidence of approximately 38% (Huang et al., 2013). Studies have shown that comorbid atopy is associated with more severe and earlier onset AA suggesting atopic mechanisms may contribute to hair loss (Mohan & Silverberg, 2015; Lee et al., 2014). Furthermore, elevated serum IgE is associated with AA patients who have no history of atopy (Attia et al., 2010; Bakry, 2014). Notably, Ustekinumab was reported to promote hair regrowth in one AA patient, and this patient also had atopic dermatitis (AD), whereas the two non-responders had no history of atopy (Guttman-Yassky et al., 2016). In another study, Ustekinumab did not promote hair regrowth in any of the four patients who were treated, but the authors highlighted that one patient subsequently received JAK inhibitor treatment and experienced hair regrowth. In addition to hair regrowth, the patient's dermatitis improved (Ortolan et al., 2019). Taken together, this evidence indicates crossover between immunological mechanisms driving atopy and AA.

Vitiligo has been significantly associated with AA occurrence in some studies (Chu et al., 2011), but a large-scale meta-analysis did not identify a significant odds ratio connecting the two diseases (Lee et al., 2019). Thyroid conditions are also significantly associated with AA, with a collective incidence of approximately 8-14% in AA cohorts (Huang et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2019). Thyroid conditions related to AA include both Hashimoto's and Grave's disease, with associated prevalence of 2.9% and 1.4%, respectively (Lee et al., 2019). Presence of thyroid disease comorbidity has been associated with increased severity of hair loss, but in contrast to atopy, thyroid conditions appear to be more common in AA patients who develop the disease later in life (Lee et al.,

2014). Interestingly, thyroid dysfunction is also reported to be common in cohorts of vitiligo patients (Díaz-Angulo et al., 2015).

Other autoimmune diseases including IBD and RA have also been linked with AA, with prevalence rates of 2% and 3.9%, respectively (Huang et al., 2013). These estimates are higher that the incidence rates of IBD and RA in the general population, reported to be approximately 1% (Symmons, 2002; Alatab et al., 2020). However, as mentioned previously, a meta-analysis did not identify a significant association between AA and IBD (Lee at al., 2019). The connection between T1D and AA in less clear. Huang et al (2013) report a high prevalence of 11%, whereas the meta-analysis conducted by Lee at al (2019) indicated that T1D was associated with a lower odds ratio. In contrast, AA is associated with higher risk of comorbid hyperinsulinemia and metabolic syndrome (Lee et al., 2019). Lupus erythematosus (SLE) is also a comorbidity associated with AA, however identifying the true incidence rates of a comorbid association is difficult as SLE is known to cause hair loss (Concha & Werth, 2018). Nevertheless, a recent study assessing over 50,000 AA patients indicated that the prevalence of SLE in AA populations is 0.3%, which is higher than the 0.1%prevalence in the general population (Kridin et al., 2020).

Psychological morbidity is also extremely common in AA cohorts and poses a huge burden for many people affected by AA. Strikingly meta-analysis of AA comorbidity studies reported that psychiatric disease in AA patients has a prevalence of 49% (Lee et al., 2019). These data are predominantly associated with anxiety and depression which are reported here to be at a prevalence of 27% and 19%, respectively. At an individual study level, psychiatric morbidity is reported to affect between 60-70% of AA individuals at least once during their lifetime (Ruiz-Doblado et al., 2003; Colón et al., 1991).

1.6 Current treatment strategies for AA

The current therapeutic landscape for AA is bleak. The most common treatments involve steroids (topical or intralesional, IL), diphenylcyclopropenone (DCP) and immunosuppressants. The use of the treatments varies according to hair loss severity. Whilst some of the treatments may provoke hair regrowth in patients with patchy hair loss, they are usually ineffective for those with severe AA (Pratt

et al., 2017). In the clinic, hair loss severity is determined using the Severity of Alopecia Tool (SALT) (Olsen et al., 2004). The SALT score is obtained by combining the percentage of hair loss from the four regions of the scalp: back, front, left side and right side.

Corticosteroids may be administered topically or injected into AA lesions. IL steroids are first line therapy for adults with <50% patchy hair loss. For this treatment, triamcinolone acetonide is injected subcutaneously into lesional scalp. This treatment may also be used to treat eyebrow hair loss. Injections are administered every 4-6 weeks and treatment is stopped at 6 months if no regrowth is observed. IL therapy was shown to be effective in 82% of patients with limited AA (>50% improvement from baseline) (Tan, Tay, Goh, & Giam, 2002b). Skin atrophy is a common side effect of IL steroids, but the skin will recover within months following treatment (Pratt et al., 2017). To date, there have been no randomised controlled trials (RCTs) for the treatment of AA with IL corticosteroids (Spano & Donovan, 2015). Whilst multiple IL steroid injections may promote hair regrowth in those with mild AA, they are ineffective for severe AA (Hull et al., 2003). Topical corticosteroid administration may be used in children with AA. In an RCT, application of topical betamethasone valerate promoted hair regrowth in 60% of patients with mild AA (<26% scalp involvement) (Mancuso et al., 2003).

Diphenylcyclopropenone (DCP) is a topical contact sensitiser used for the treatment of moderate to severe AA (>50% scalp involvement). The treatment involves applying a small amount of DCP to the scalp, and applying more two weeks later with the goal of inducing a dermatitis reaction. No RCTs have been conducted for the use of DCP in AA treatment. However, it is reported that approximately 58% of AA patients respond (Rokhsar et al., 1998). Efficacy is mostly related to those with patchy hair loss, as response rates in AT/AU patients is low (Rokhsar et al., 1998). Furthermore, DCP therapy can be particularly unpleasant because the treatment requires induction of a hypersensitivity reaction.

The mechanism of action involved in DCP induced hair regrowth in not known. Possible mechanisms have been postulated which involve promoting 'antigen competition' (Happle, 1980; Spano & Donovan, 2015). Analysis of inflammatory transcripts following DCP treatment indicate increased expression of IL-10 which may be involved in controlling autoreactive T cell responses (Hoffmann et al., 1994). As previously mentioned, DCP treatment caused an increase in CD1a⁺ cells in AA skin but it is not known how this contributes to hair regrowth (Heffler et al., 2002). Whilst DCP may appear to be successful, a response often takes months, and AA relapse is very common when treatment is stopped (Rokhsar et al., 1998). Unfortunately, relapse has been reported to occur in 62% of patients who previously responded (Wiseman et al., 2001).

A proportion of individuals may be offered systemic treatment with methotrexate or other systemic immunosuppressant but these options are usually a last option for severe refractory AA. Methotrexate is a folic acid antagonist that functions as a broad immunosuppressant which is used for the treatment of various inflammatory conditions, including psoriasis and RA (Haustein & Rytter, 2000; Bedoui et al., 2019). A meta-analysis of studies assessing methotrexate response indicated a complete response (100% regrowth) rate of 35.8% (Phan et al., 2019). Whereas, a mean response rate of 63% was associated with 50-100% regrowth (Phan et al., 2019). The drawbacks of methotrexate treatment include the side effect profile and the relapse rates. The pooled AA relapse rate associated with methotrexate treatment was identified as 47.7% (Phan et al., 2019). Side effects do appear to be rare but can be dangerous, therefore patients require regular monitoring.

1.7 Hypothesis and aims

The current treatment options for AA are severely limited. AA has endured significant neglect in comparison to other autoimmune diseases which can now be treated with a repertoire of sophisticated therapeutics. Thankfully, the emergence of data indicating the immunological mechanisms involved in AA pathogenesis have caused a step-wise change in terms of scientific and pharmaceutical interest, which has led to wide-scale testing of JAK-inhibitor therapy. Whilst small-molecule inhibitors offer promise, they are costly and are associated with side-effects which may impact the uptake of these drugs. It is

also apparent that some individuals with AA do not respond to JAK inhibitor therapy.

CD8 T cells are clearly important for driving hair loss. However, autoimmune diseases often involve dysregulation of many components of the immune system, and at present it is not well understood how other immune cells and inflammatory mediators contribute to AA pathogenesis. It is also not well understood how the acute response driving AA may differ from the response involved in chronic AA. We hypothesise that better characterisation of other immune cells in addition to CD8 T cells will identify novel therapeutic targets.

Thus, the experiments described in this thesis set out to address four key aims:

- 1. To extensively profile the systemic cytokine signature associated with AA
- 2. To characterise the peripheral immunophenotype associated with AA by assessing circulating frequencies of CD8 T cells, CD4 T cells, B cells, dendritic cells and natural killer cell populations
- 3. To identify relationships between circulating immune parameters and clinical features
- 4. To identify key pathways associated with AA at a tissue level using an unbiased transcriptomic approach

2 Materials and methods

2.1 NHS ethical approval process

Research involving human specimens requires ethical approval to safeguard study volunteers by ensuring appropriate measures are in place regarding consent and for the collection, storage and use of samples. The various steps involved in obtaining approval are summarised in Figure 2.1. We first prepared the ethical documents for submission to the West of Scotland Research Ethics Committee (REC). Documents including the study protocol detailing the scope and aims of the project, participant information sheet, participant questionnaires and consent forms were drafted and submitted via the integrated research application system (IRAS). We were then invited to attend a meeting to discuss our study rationale and protocol with the REC committee members and were issued with comments to improve and amend our study documents. Following completion of requested alterations, ethical approval was obtained on the 20th March 2017. Research and development approval was granted shortly after, which allowed us to initiate participant recruitment.



Figure 2.1 Ethical approval process

Timeline representing the various steps involved in obtaining ethical and R&D approval for the AA research clinic. Research ethics committee, REC; research and development, R & D; integrated research application system, IRAS.

2.2 Participant recruitment

Participants with a diagnosis of AA were recruited via the Glasgow hair clinic or through advertisement at the Queen Elizabeth University Hospital, Glasgow

Royal Infirmary or on the Alopecia UK website. Recruitment to the clinic was facilitated by Dr Susan Holmes and Fiona Moffat. Recruited participants were >18 years old and had a confirmed diagnosis of alopecia areata. Participants had no diagnosis of another major inflammatory disease (rheumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease, psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis) but may have had a history of atopy (asthma, eczema or hayfever) or thyroid condition. All participants provided written informed consent in line with research ethics committee approval (West of Scotland REC 1, 17/WS/0029). On providing consent, participants could opt to donating peripheral blood and additional samples including a stool sample and skin biopsy.

Age and sex-matched healthy control (HC) participants were recruited to the AA research clinic to donate blood, stool samples and skin biopsies under the same ethical approval as AA participants (West of Scotland REC 1, 17/WS/0029). HCs were also recruited to donate blood at the clinical facility at the British Heart Foundation building at the University of Glasgow. Ethical approval for volunteers recruited at the University of Glasgow was provided by the College of Medical, Veterinary, & Life Sciences Ethics Committee for Non-Clinical Research involving Human Subjects (project no. 200180145).

Participants with psoriatic arthritis were recruited as part of another crosssectional study under separate ethics at the Universities of Glasgow and Manchester. Data obtained from samples collected from these participants were used for comparison purposes.

The cohorts used in each part of this study are described in detail in the relevant chapters. Here we provide an overview of how the samples contributed to each part of the analyses. The same cohort was used for the cytokine and phenotyping studies described in chapters 3, 4 and 5. A small proportion of samples were not used for the B cell phenotyping analysis due to low number of cells obtained during extraction of PBMCs. In chapter 7, five of the AA skin samples were collected from participants also used in the peripheral blood experiments, whereas the remaining skin samples were collected from participants recruited later in the study. The majority of samples used to measure markers of intestinal inflammation, including calprotectin, zonulin and

TTG IgA, were measured using samples which overlapped with the peripheral blood studies, in addition to a proportion of samples collected later in the study.

2.2.1 Collection of clinical data

Clinical information was recorded on an electronic case report form (eCRF) stored in the Castor EDC database (<u>https://www.castoredc.com</u>). The eCRF was specifically designed for this study according to the REC approved questionnaires. All clinical data was anonymised and associated with participant ID numbers. Clinical information was collected from each AA volunteer as described in Table 2.1. Detailed information regarding the participants' disease status was recorded including disease duration, current treatment, comorbidities and severity of current scalp and body hair loss.

Severity of scalp hair loss was determined using the severity of alopecia tool (SALT) score (Olsen et al., 2004). The SALT score represents the percentage of hair loss which is calculated by estimating the amount of hair loss on the top, back, left side and right side of the scalp. In chapters 3 and 5, AA participants were stratified into four groups based on their SALT score: inactive, <50% hair loss, >50% hair loss and total hair loss (>95%). The inactive group represented individuals who had previously lost hair but were experiencing regrowth when attending the clinic to donate samples. Body hair loss was recorded as no hair loss, partial or total involvement. On attending the clinic, consented participants were also asked to complete the hospital anxiety and depression scale (HADS) questionnaire (Zigmond & Snaith, 1983). This questionnaire was used to generate a score to indicate the participant's current depression and anxiety status (no depression/anxiety, 0-7; mild, 8-10; moderate, 11-14; severe, 15-20).

Table 2.1 Patient information questionnaireAnonymised clinical information was recorded for each participant and recorded electronically inCASTOR EDC.

Participant information Age

52

	Gender	
Alopecia areata	Disease duration	Years since onset of first episode of hair
information		loss
	Current treatment	Topical steroid, intralesional steroid,
		diphenylcyclopropenone, methotrexate
	Comorbidities	Hayfever, asthma, eczema, anaemia,
		vitiligo, thyroid condition, type 2 diabetes,
		coeliac disease
	Severity of alopecia areata	0-100%
	tool (SALT) score	
	Disease severity category	no loss, <50%, >50%, >95% scalp loss
	Facial and body hair loss	no loss, partial loss, total loss
	Current and previous	regrowth, partial regrowth, no regrowth
	episodes of hair loss	
Sample collection	Peripheral blood	27 mL
	Skin biopsy	Location of biopsy- temporal, parietal,
		occipital scalp
	Stool sample	Collection pack provided to participant
Quality of life	Hospital anxiety and	no depression/anxiety (0-7)
questionnaire	depression (HADS) score	mild (8-10)
		moderate (11-14)
		severe (15-20)

2.3 Sample collection and processing

Peripheral blood

Whole blood was collected in two 9mL lithium heparin (LH) vacutainers, one 6mL

EDTA vacutainer and one 3 mL SST vacutainer (BD Biosciences, US). Phlebotomy procedures were carried out by medical practitioners or trained phlebotomists. All blood was processed within two hours of collection. Plasma and serum were isolated from EDTA and SST vacutainers, respectively. Vacutainers were centrifuged at 1200 G for 10 minutes at room temperature (RT). Plasma and serum were aliquoted and stored at -80°C prior to analysis of inflammatory proteins.

Skin biopsies

4mm punch biopsies were excised from the scalp and immediately immersed in 4% formalin for fixation or in RNAlater (Qiagen, Germany) to preserve RNA. Formalin fixed tissue was stored at RT prior to processing for histology as described in section 2.7. Tissue stored in RNAlater was incubated at 4°C for 4 hours and then stored at -80°C prior to extraction of RNA as described in section 2.5.1.

Stool samples

Stool sampling kits were provided to participants to self-collect samples. Collected samples were posted by participants to the laboratory at the New Lister Building, University of Glasgow for processing. On collection, samples were weighed and aliquoted. Aliquots were frozen at -80°C prior to extraction of calprotectin as described in section 2.6.2.

2.4 Flow cytometry

2.4.1 Peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) isolation

Whole blood collected in LH vacutainers was diluted (1:1) in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, Gibco, Life Technologies, UK) and layered onto 4 mL histopaque-1077 (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) in 10 mL aliquots. Optimal separation required blood and histopaque to be at RT. Samples were centrifuged at 2100 rpm for 25 minutes with no brake. Following centrifugation, four layers are formed: plasma, PBMCs, histopaque and red blood cells. The PBMC layer was carefully removed and washed in 30 mL of PBS at 400 G for 10 minutes. The supernatant was removed and PBMCs were washed again with 10 mL of PBS at 200 G for 10 minutes. Cells were resuspended in 1 mL PBS and counted using a haemocytometer. The number of cells per mL of blood was calculated and recorded.

2.4.2 Surface staining and acquiring of cells

Cells were stained for viability (1:1000, fixable viability dye, eBioscience) and FC receptor blocked (1:200, Fc receptor binding inhibitor, eBioscience, US) for 30 minutes at 4°C in the dark. Cells were washed in 1 mL FACS buffer (PBS, 2% foetal calf serum, 2mM EDTA) at 400 G for 10 minutes. The supernatant was removed and cells were incubated with fluorescently labelled antibody panels suspended in 200 μ L of FACS buffer. Antibodies used are depicted in Table 2.2. 30 μ L of brilliant stain buffer (BD Biosciences, US) was added to panels containing both brilliant violet and ultraviolet fluorophores. Cells were incubated with antibodies for 30 minutes at RT in the dark. Cells were washed in 2 mL of FACS buffer at 400 G for 10 minutes. Where appropriate, secondary antibodies were added to cells and incubated for a further 20 minutes at RT in the dark. Cells washed again in 2 mL of FACS buffer at 400 G for 10 minutes. The supernatant was removed and cells were suspended in 500 μ L of fixation buffer (Biolegend, US). Cells in fixation buffer were stored at 4°C overnight.

On the following morning, cells were washed twice in 1 mL of FACS buffer at 400 G for 10 minutes. Samples were filtered and acquired on the LSR Fortessa instrument (BD Biosciences, US) at the Flow Core Facility at the Institute of Infection, Immunity and Inflammation, University of Glasgow. Flow cytometry data were analysed using FlowJo Software (version 10.2). Frequency and cell counts were exported and graphed using GraphPad Prism7 (US).

Table 2.2 Flow cytometry antibodies

PBMCs were isolated from peripheral blood and stained with antibody panels to identify populations of CD8 T cells, CD4 T cells, B cells, natural killer cells and dendritic cells.

Marker	Fluorochrome	Concentration	Clone	Manufacturer
CD1c	PECy7	1/100	L161	Biolegend
CD10	BV605	1/40	HI10a	Biolegend
CD11c	AF700	1/100	Bu15	Biolegend

CD123	BV421	1/66	6H6	Biolegend
CD127	BV421	1/40	A019D5	Biolegend
CD14	Biotin	1/200	HCD14	Biolegend
CD141	PE	1/100	IT2.2	Biolegend
CD15	Biotin	1/200	W6D3	Biolegend
CD16	FITC BUV395	1/200 1/200	3G8 3G8	Biolegend BD Biosciences
CD19	BV510 Biotin	1/100 1/400	HIB19 HIB19	Biolegend Biolegend
CD27	PECy7	1/50	0323	Biolegend
CD3	AF700 Biotin	1/100 1/100	UCHT1 UCHT1	Biolegend Biolegend
CD38	AF700	1/40	HB-7	Biolegend
CD4	FITC BUV395	1/100 1/100	OKT4 RPA-T4	Biolegend BD Biosciences
CD43	FITC	1/40	MEM-59	Biolegend
CD45	BV510	1/100	HI30	Biolegend
CD45RA	PerCP Cy5.5	1/100	HI100	Biolegend
CD45RO	BV605	1/100	UCHL1	Biolegend
CD56	PECy7 Biotin	1/40 1/200	HCD56 M-DC8	Biolegend Miltenyi
CD69	BV605	1/40	FN50	Biolegend
CD8	BUV395	1/100	RPA-T8	BD Biosciences
CCR6	BV605	1/50	G034E3	Biolegend
CCR7	BV421	1/100	G043H7	Biolegend
CCR9	APC	1/40	L053E8	Biolegend
CXCR3	PerCPCy5.5	1/50	G025H7	Biolegend

CX3CR1	APC	1/50	2A9-1	Biolegend
HLA-DR	BV510	1/100	L243	Biolegend
NKG2D	PE	1/50	1D11	Biolegend
CLA	FITC	1/50	HECA-452	Biolegend
lgD	BV421	1/100	IA6-2	Biolegend
lgM	PerCP Cy5.5	1/40	MHM-88	Biolegend
Viability	eFluor 780	1/1000	NA	eBioscience

2.5 RNA sequencing

2.5.1 RNA extraction and library preparation

Whole skin biopsies that had been frozen in RNAlater (ThermoFisher, UK) were disrupted and homogenised using stainless steel beads and QIAzol Lysis Reagent (Qiagen, Germany) in a TissueLyser at 25Hz (Qiagen, Germany) for 5 minutes. RNA was isolated according to manufacturer's protocol (RNeasy Lipid Tissue Mini Kit, Qiagen, Germany) with inclusion of the genomic DNA removal step (RNase-Free DNase set, Qiagen, Germany). RNA quality was assessed using a Fragment Analyser (Agilent Technologies, USA) using an RNA kit (Agilent Technologies, Netherlands).

1000ng of high quality RNA (RIN 8.7 \pm 0.5) from each sample was used for library preparation. Fragmentation (5 minutes at 94°C), conversion to cDNA, adapter ligation (KAPA Dual-Indexed Adapter Kit, KAPA Biosystems, USA) and amplification (9 cycles) were performed according to manufacturer's protocol (mRNA HyperPrep Kit, KAPA Biosystems, USA). Appropriate library fragment size was confirmed on the Fragment Analyser (Agilent Technologies, Netherlands) using the standard sense NGS kit (Agilent Technologies, Netherlands). Sample libraries were pooled at 15 nM. The sample pool was loaded (final loading concentration 1.9pM) onto NextSeq500 instrument (Illumina, USA) according to manufacturer's guide (NextSeq System: Denature and Dilute Libraries, Illumina, USA). Paired end (2x75 bp), dual index sequencing was performed using an Illumina using a mid-output flow cell.

2.5.2 Data processing, alignment and quality control

High quality run was confirmed using Illumina sequencing analysis viewer. A cluster density of 268.5 gave in total 189 million (M) pass filter reads. Data was demultiplexed, resulting in 29.1 - 42.1M (mean 35.1M) paired reads per sample. A standard processing pipeline was used to align and process the RNA-seq data set. The fastQ files were quality controlled using FastQC (v0.11.7, https://www.bioinformatics.babraham.ac.uk/projects/fastqc/) and then aligned to the reference genome and transcriptome GRCh38 (release 91) using STAR (v2.6) with -- quantMode GeneCounts --outFilterMultimapNmax 1 and -- outFilterMatchNmin 35-- (Dobin et al., 2012). We used a Star index with a -- sjdbOverhang of 74. Read counts were then merged and genes with an average of <1 read per sample were excluded from the analysis.

2.5.3 Differential expression analysis

Expression and differential expression (DE) values between AA and HC samples were generated using DESeq2 (v1.24) (Love et al., 2014). Differential expression data were visualised using Searchlight (v2.0.0,

https://github.com/Searchlight2/Searchlight2) conducted by John Cole (Cole et al., 2018), using the GRCh38 (release 91) genome file with an absolute fold cutoff of 1 and an adjusted p value cut-off of 0.05. Benjamini-Hochberg correction was applied to control the false discovery rate. Principal component analysis (PCA) was performed indicating % variation attributed to PC1 and PC2. The heatmap represents differentially expressed genes using Spearman distances, UPMA agglomeration and mean reordering, on pre-scaled (Z-scores) gene expression values. A volcano plot was also generated indicating the relationship between fold change and adjusted p values for each differentially expressed gene.

2.5.4 Gene set enrichment and Cibersort analysis

Hyper-geometric gene-set enrichment analysis (HGSEA) was used to identify gene sets significantly up or down regulated in AA RNA-seq data compared to HCs. We specified the gene ontology (GO) biological process database for overrepresentation analysis with adjusted p value cut-off of 0.05. The most enriched gene sets identified in the upregulated and downregulated DE gene lists were represented in bar charts indicating the -log10 p-value on the x axis and the gene set name on the y axis. For upstream regulator analysis, the TRRUST database (Han et al., 2017) with a z-score cut-off of 2 was used (<u>https://www.grnpedia.org/trrust/</u>). HGSEA and TRRUST interpretation were also visualised using Searchlight (v2.0.0).

Distribution of immune cell types within skin RNAseq datasets were calculated using the de-convolution package Cibersort (<u>https://cibersort.stanford.edu/</u>) (Newman et al., 2015). The LM22 (22 whole blood immune cell types) signature gene file was selected for Cibersort analysis.

2.5.5 Comparison of patchy and severe data sets

Differential expression values comparing patchy (AP), severe (AT) and HC RNAseq datasets were generated using bcbioRNAseq Differential Expression MarkDown (<u>https://github.com/hbc/bcbioRNASeq</u>) using the GRCh38 (release 91) genome file with an absolute fold cut-off of 0.5 and an adjusted p value cutoff of 0.05. The heatmap represents differentially expressed genes between AP and HCs. Data were scaled by row using the ward.d2 method for clustering (Ward, 1963). The Venn diagram was generated using the online Venny (v2.1.0) tool (<u>https://bioinfogp.cnb.csic.es/tools/venny/</u>).

2.6 Measurement of inflammatory proteins

2.6.1 Multiplex U-plex assay

Plasma aliquots from AA patients, PsA patients and HCs were defrosted. Concentration of cytokines were measured using the U-plex proinflammatory combo 1 and U-plex Th17 combo 1 human assay kits according to Manufacturer's protocol (Meso Scale Diagnostics, US). Biotinylated target antibodies were mixed with their associated linkers and pooled. The pooled antibody-linker cocktail (50 μ L) was added to each well of a 96 well plate and incubated with shaking for 1 hour at RT. The plate was washed three times with PBST (PBS with 0.05% TWEEN-20, ThermoFisher UK). Plasma diluted (1:1) with diluent 43 (MSD, US) or calibrator was added to each well. The plate was sealed and incubated with shaking for 1 hour at RT. The plate was washed three times with PBST, and then 50 μ L of the detection antibody solution was added to each well. Plate was sealed and incubated with shaking for 1 hour at RT. The plate was mashed to each well. Plate was added to each well. Plate was added to each well. Plate was added to each well. Plate was sealed and incubated with shaking for 1 hour at RT. The plate was added to each well. Plate was added to each well. Plate was added to each well. The plate was mashed added to each well. The plate was mashed added to each well. The plate was immediately read on an MSD instrument.

2.6.2 ELISA

Zonulin (Elabscience, US) and anti-tissue transglutaminase IgA (BioRad Laboratories, US) levels were measured by ELISA in plasma and serum, respectively, according to manufacturer's protocols. Plasma or serum were defrosted and then centrifuged. The samples and standards were added in 100 μ L aliquots to a pre-coated 96-well plate and incubated for the specified time. Liquid was removed from the wells and washed 3 times with the appropriate wash buffer. Conjugated detection antibodies (100 μ L) were added and incubated for the specified time. The plate was washed again 3 times, and then the substrate was added for the specified time. Incubation steps were carried out at RT or 37°C as specified by manufacturer's protocol. The specified volume of the stop solution was added and the optical density (OD) was measured using a plate reader (Dynex Technologies, US) set to 450nm. Concentration of zonulin or anti-TTG IgA were interpolated from the standard curve in GraphPad Prism7 (US).

Calprotectin was extracted from 100mg of stool by adding 4.9 mL of faecal extraction buffer (Calpro AS, Norway). The samples were placed in a shaker for 30 minutes at 1000 rpm, and then centrifuged for 3 minutes at 6000 G. The supernatant was removed and frozen at -20°C prior to measuring calprotectin. Levels of calprotectin were measured in duplicate by ELISA according to manufacturer's protocol (CALP0170 ALP kit, Calpro AS, Norway). Calprotectin extracts were diluted 1:100 with the appropriate dilution buffer, and ELISA steps

above were followed to measure calprotectin. ODs were measured using a plate reader (Dynex Technologies, US) set to 405 nm. Concentrations of calprotectin were interpolated from the standard curve and values were converted to obtain calprotectin values in mg/kg.

2.7 Histology

Skin biopsies were fixed in 10% formalin for 24 hours. Tissues were processed and embedded in paraffin by Fiona McMonagle at the University of Glasgow, or by Morag McNulty and colleagues at the Core Histology Facility at the Laboratory Medicine Building, Queen Elizabeth University Hospital. Tissue sections were cut using a microtome and stained with Harris haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) using standard protocol.

2.7.1 Immunohistochemistry

Tissue sections were dewaxed using xylene and rehydrated using different concentrations of ethanol (100%, 90%, 70%), prior to rinsing in water. Antigen retrieval was performed by microwaving sections immersed in Tris EDTA buffer (pH8) for 5 minutes in a pressure cooker. Sections were cooled, rinsed in water and then treated with 3% H₂O₂ for 10 minutes to quench endogenous peroxidase. Sections were rinsed in water, and then incubated with casein blocking solution (Vector Laboratories, UK) for 1 hour at RT. Blocking solution was removed, and primary antibodies diluted in antibody diluent (Agilent DAKO, UK) were added to sections for 1 hour at RT. Primary antibodies were mouse anti-human CD68 (clone KP1, 1/200, Agilent DAKO, UK) or mouse anti-human CD3 (clone F7.2.38, 1/100, Agilent DAKO, UK). Isotype antibodies were used as controls (IgG1, kappa, Agilent DAKO, UK). Sections were washed twice in TBST (Tris-buffered saline, 0.05% Tween-20) for 5 minutes. ImmPRESS (anti-mouse Polymer kit, Vector Laboratories, UK) was then added to sections for 30 minutes at RT. Sections were washed again in TBST, and then DAB peroxidase substrate (Vector laboratories, UK) was added and incubated in the dark for 5 minutes. Sections were washed in water for 10 minutes, counterstained with Harris haematoxylin, dehydrated and then mounted using DPX solution. IHC and H&E stains were visualised using a light microscope and images were captured using the Olympus cell^B software.

2.8 Subset linear regression

The model, $Y_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_{1i} + \beta_2 X_{2i} + \beta_3 X_{3i} + \epsilon_i$, was fitted where Y_i represents the dependent variable and X represents the independent variable. The scripts used for this analyses were edited from codes developed by Umer Ijaz, University of Glasgow. Regression models were generated in R using the leaps package (<u>https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/leaps/leaps.pdf)</u> (D'Amore et al., 2016). The leaps package performs a search for the best subsets of the variables in x for predicting y in linear regression. Cross validation was used to assess the predictive accuracy of each model (<u>https://cran.r-</u>

project.org/web/packages/DAAG/DAAG.pdf). Models were ranked according to cross validation error (CVE) which is a value indicating the mean difference between the model's estimated values and the real values. Adjusted R² values were calculated for each model to indicate the proportion of variation in the dependent variable explained by independent variable(s). Variables selected in the models with the lowest CVE were presented in a heatmaps, where positive and negative predictors were indicated in red and blue, respectively, with associated adjusted p values.

2.9 Statistical analysis

Flow cytometry and protein concentration data are individually represented with means. Statistical differences between AA patients and HCs were identified using a Mann-Whitney U test (GraphPad Prism8, U.S). Statistical differences between three or more groups were identified using a Kruskal-Wallis test with a Dunn's test for multiple comparisons (GraphPad Prism8). Correlation coefficients were determined using Pearson correlation with a two-tailed test (GraphPad Prism8, U.S). P values are shown as *<0.05, **<0.01 and ***<0.005.

Statistical analysis of stratified data presented in chapter 5 was performed in R (v 3.6.3). Flow cytometry data were first normalised using the hyperbolic Arcsinh method with a scaling factor of 5 (Amir et al., 2013). This function is similar to biexponential transformation but integrates a scaling factor which accounts for potential negative values obtained in flow cytometry data. Statistical differences between groups were calculated using a one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction. Schematic diagrams were made using Biorender.com.

3 The systemic cytokine signature of AA patients, and the association with comorbidities

3.1 Introduction

Cytokines are protein communicators that dictate immune responses. They are key in driving protective responses against pathogens, promoting immune memory and immune regulation. Their potency can make cytokines dangerous in specific circumstances, such as during aberrant immune responses against selfantigen. Thus, blockade of cytokines is a successful therapeutic strategy for many autoimmune diseases by dampening harmful responses to limit tissue pathology (Rosman et al., 2013).

IFNγ and IL-15 are important cytokines in AA pathogenesis because of their role in driving the cytotoxic function of CD8⁺ T cells against hair follicles (Xing et al., 2014). Systemically, people with AA have increased levels of Th17-assocaited cytokines, namely IL-17A, IL-23, IL-21 and IL-22, in addition to classical proinflammatory cytokines, TNF and IL-6 (Tembhre & Sharma, 2013; Bilgic et al., 2015; Atwa et al., 2015). Transcriptome profiling of AA skin indicates an increase in expression of type-1 cytokines, in addition to an increase in IL-23 (Suarez-Farinas et al., 2015). Together, these studies indicate involvement of type-1 and type-17 cytokine responses in AA pathogenesis.

The complexity of the systemic cytokine signature may be attributed to the relationship between AA and incidence of additional inflammatory comorbidities, most commonly affecting the thyroid and skin (Huang et al., 2013). Psychological illness is also common and poses a huge problem for many with AA (Aghaei et al., 2014; Hunt, 2005). Psychological morbidity is associated with many autoimmune diseases, most notably rheumatic and inflammatory bowel diseases (Nerurkar et al., 2018; Martin-Subero et al., 2015); conditions that are also associated with increased systemic cytokines. These observations are being clinically exploited to identify whether blocking inflammatory cytokines could be effective in immune-mediated depression (Kappelmann et al., 2018). The association between inflammation and depression had not been studied in the context of AA until we published these data (Bain et al., 2019).

The aims of the experiments described in this chapter were to:

- 1. Further elucidate the systemic cytokine signature associated with AA, and compare levels of cytokines in AA with those observed in psoriatic arthritis (PsA).
- 2. Identify associations between circulating inflammatory cytokines, depression and anxiety.

3.2 Participant characteristics

Samples collected from 39 AA patients, 23 PsA patients and 26 healthy controls were used for cytokine analyses (Table 3.1). The AA patient cohort included 4 individuals in remission, 13 with <50% hair loss, 5 with >50% hair loss and 17 with severe hair loss (>95%). Patients experienced AA for between 1 and 55 years, and 20 patients were atopic and 6 had a thyroid-related illness. Additionally, 1 patient had vitiligo, 1 had epilepsy and 1 had pernicious anaemia. One patient had female pattern baldness in addition to AA. Importantly, AA patients had no diagnosis of a major inflammatory disease, including Crohn's disease (CD), ulcerative colitis (UC), rheumatoid arthritis (RA), PsA, psoriasis (PsO), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) or ankylosing spondylitis (AS). Approximately 50% of the AA patients were not receiving treatment at the time of recruitment; 8 were receiving diphenylcyclopropenone (DCP), 8 were receiving intralesional steroid injections and 1 patient was receiving methotrexate. Psychological morbidity was assessed in all AA participants using the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale.

PsA patients were recruited as part of a cross-sectional study ran by the Universities of Manchester and Glasgow. 23 participants from this cohort were included in these analyses for comparison purposes. None of the PsA patients were on biologic treatment. Healthy controls were recruited at the University of Glasgow based on their age and gender to match the patient cohorts.

Table 3.1 Characteristics of participants with alopecia areata, psoriatic arthritis and healthy controls.

Plasma samples collected from these individuals were used for analyses of circulating cytokines. IL steroids; intralesional steroids, SD; standard deviation.

	Alopecia areata	Psoriatic arthritis	Healthy controls
Total	39	23	26
Gender F/M	30/9	16/7	16/9
Age (years) ± SD	Female 45 ± 13.1 Male 37 ± 10.2	Female 40 ± 14.4 Male 43 ± 9.2	Female 46 ± 9.7 Male 37 ± 13.4
Disease duration (years) Average ± SD	1-55 16.6 ± 12.9		
Disease severity Inactive <50% >50% Total loss	4 13 5 17		
Comorbidities Atopic Thyroid illness Vitiligo Epilepsy Pattern baldness Pernicious anaemia	20 6 1 1 1 1		
Treatment None Diphenylcyclopropenone IL steroids Methotrexate	19 8 8 1		

3.3 Pro-inflammatory and type-17 cytokines are increased in AA

The potent pro-inflammatory cytokines, IL-6 and TNF, are increased in other cohorts of AA patients (Atwa et al., 2015). Here, plasma levels of TNF and IL-6 were modestly, but significantly increased in AA patients compared to HCs. IL-1ß was also elevated, whereas, IL-8 was significantly decreased in AA (Figure 3.1A).

Type-1 cytokine responses are proven to be critical in driving hair loss in the skin, but no change was observed in the levels of circulating IFN γ or IL-12p70 (Figure 3.1B). Some patients did have higher levels of IFN γ and IL-12, but the concentrations were not different to a proportion of HCs. IL-15, a driver of cytotoxic T cell activity, was also unchanged in AA patients compared to HCs. Levels of IL-27, a member of the IL-12 family, were also not different from HCs (Figure 3.1B).

Previous reports indicate that type-17 cytokines including IL-17A, IL-21, IL-22 and IL-23 are increased in the circulation of people with AA (Atwa et al., 2015). In our cohort, circulating levels of IL-17A, IL-23 and IL-21 were also significantly elevated (Figure 3.2A, 3.2B). IL-22 was not increased in AA compared to HCs, however the concentration of IL-17F was significantly increased (Figure 3.2A). In attempt to understand the biological relevance of these data, the concentrations of type-17 cytokines in AA plasma were compared to cytokine levels in plasma from PsA patients. PsA is an autoimmune disease affecting the joints and skin where the IL-17/-23 axis is critical for pathology (Suzuki et al., 2014). The levels of IL-17A, IL-17F and IL-23 were not increased in PsA patients, compared to HCs (Figure 3.2A). However, the mean level of IL-17A observed in PsA patients was higher than in the AA cohort, thus a proportion of PsA patients have high levels of IL-17A (Figure 3.2A). IL-21 levels were increased in PsA patients compared to HCs, but the increase was more pronounced in AA (Figure 3.2B).



Figure 3.1 Inflammatory and type 1 cytokine levels.

Cytokines were measured in plasma from alopecia areata (AA) patients and healthy controls (HCs) using a multiplex assay. Means are plotted (pg/mL) and black dotted lines represent the lower limit of detection. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test, *p<0.05, **p<0.01.





3.4 Type-2 associated cytokines are increased in AA

Atopic dermatitis and allergic rhinitis are common comorbidities in people with AA (Huang et al, 2013), and analysis of AA skin has indicated differential expression of type-2 associated genes (Suarez-Farinas et al., 2015). We observed that the levels of the tissue alarmins IL-31 and IL-33 were significantly increased in AA compared to HCs (Figure 3.3A). IL-17E, also known as IL-25, was also raised in AA circulation in comparison to HCs. Levels of IL-31, IL-33 and IL-17E were not altered in PsA patients. IL-13 and IL-4 concentrations were measured but the vast majority of samples were below the limit of detection of the assay (data not shown). The anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 was also measured but was not significantly different from HCs, despite a proportion of AA patients having high circulating levels (Figure 3.3B).

Approximately 50% of this cohort had a history of atopy (eczema, hayfever, asthma). It was hypothesised that the overall increase in type-2 cytokines observed in Figure 3.3A is attributed to patients who are atopic. Thus, patients were stratified to compare levels of cytokines in atopic and non-atopic AA patients (Figure 3.4A). The circulating levels of IL-31, IL-33, IL-17E were significantly elevated in both AA non-atopic and AA atopic patients compared to HCs (Figure 3.4A). Notably, AA patients with the highest levels of IL-31, IL-33 and IL-17E were in the atopic group. The levels of IL-17A and IL-23 were also significantly increased in AA non-atopic and AA atopic patients compared to HCs (Figure 3.4B).



Figure 3.3 Type-2 associated and interleukin-10 cytokine levels Cytokines were measured in plasma from alopecia areata (AA) patients, psoriatic arthritis (PsA) patients and healthy controls (HCs) using a multiplex assay. Means are plotted (pg/mL) and black dotted lines represent the lower limit of detection. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Kruskal-Wallis test followed by a Dunn's multiple comparison test, **p<0.01.



Figure 3.4 Circulating cytokine levels in atopic and non-atopic AA patients. Cytokines were measured in plasma from alopecia areata patients who were atopic (AA atopic) or non-atopic (AA) and healthy controls (HCs) using a multiplex assay. Mean are plotted (pg/mL) and black dotted lines represent the lower limit of detection. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Kruskal-Wallis test followed by a Dunn's multiple comparisons, *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

3.5 Cytokine concentration and disease severity

The AA cohort includes patients with inactive, patchy and severe disease which we hypothesised might contribute to differences in plasma cytokine levels. Severity of hair loss was measured using the severity of alopecia tool (SALT) score which calculates the percentage of hair lost from the scalp. AA patients were then stratified into four groups based on their SALT score: inactive, <50% hair loss, >50% hair loss and total loss (>95% hair loss) (Figure 3.5).

Concentrations of IL-17A and IL-17F were significantly increased in the total loss category compared to HCs (Figure 3.5A), whereas groups of patients with patchy hair loss were not significantly elevated compared to HCs. Notably, the mean levels of IL-17A in those with total loss (1.71pg/mL) and >50% loss (1.76pg/mL) are similar, and the >50% loss cohort lacks sufficient power (n=5). The levels of IL-23 were unchanged between all AA groups and HCs (Figure 3.5A). IL-21 concentration was significantly increased in patients with >50% loss and total loss compared to HCs (Figure 3.5B).

Levels of IL-31 and IL-17E were also significantly elevated in the total loss category compared to HCs (Figure 3.6A), but no change was observed in the other categories compared to HCs. We also observed that the concentration of IL-33 was significantly raised in patients with >50% hair loss compared to HCs, however we reiterate that this group lacks sufficient power (Figure 3.6A). The concentration of IL-10 was unchanged between all groups of patients and HCs (Figure 3.6B).




Cytokines were measured in plasma from alopecia areata (AA) patients and healthy controls (HCs) using a multiplex assay. AA patients were stratified based on severity of alopecia tool (SALT) scores; no loss/inactive, <50% hair loss, >50% hair loss and severe >95% hair loss. Means are plotted (pg/mL) and black dotted lines represent the lower limit of detection. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Kruskal-Wallis test followed by a Dunn's multiple comparison test, *p<0.05.



Figure 3.6 Type-2 associated cytokine levels and disease severity. Cytokines were measured in plasma from alopecia areata (AA) patients and healthy controls (HCs) using a multiplex assay. AA patients were stratified based on severity of alopecia tool (SALT) scores; no loss/inactive, <50% hair loss, >50% hair loss and severe >95% hair loss. Means are plotted (pg/mL) and black dotted lines represent the lower limit of detection. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Kruskal-Wallis test followed by a Dunn's multiple comparison test, *p<0.05.

3.6 Cytokines and the relationship with psychological distress

3.6.1 Depression and anxiety are common in individuals with AA

Depression, anxiety and related conditions affect between 60-70 % of people with AA which can have severe detrimental effects on an individual's well-being (Ruiz-Doblado et al., 2003; Colón et al., 1991). Psychological distress of AA patients enrolled in this study was assessed using the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (Zigmond & Snaith, 1983). Depression and anxiety scores were grouped into four categories: no depression/anxiety (0-7), mild (8-10), moderate (11-14) and severe (15-20).

Within the total cohort of 39 individuals, 18% of patients were experiencing signs of depression (Figure 3.7A, 8% mild, 3% moderate, 8% severe). Of these individuals, 51% indicated behaviours of anxiety (Figure 3.8A, 28% mild, 10% moderate, 13% severe). As in Figures 3.5 and 3.6, AA patients were stratified based on hair loss severity to identify associations between psychological morbidity and severity of hair loss. A higher proportion of individuals with patchy hair loss (Figure 3.7B, 16.7% mild, 5.6% moderate, 11.1% severe) indicated signs of depression, with 55% experiencing anxiety (Figure 3.8B). In contrast, individuals with severe AA were less effected by depressive symptoms (Figure 3.7D). One patient indicated severe signs of anxiety and depression, but the other individuals were not affected by depression despite some mild indication of anxiety (Figure 3.8D). In the clinic, it is apparent that disease duration can associate with incidence of psychological distress. 50% of patients with patchy hair loss with a disease duration of ≤ 10 years experienced depressive symptoms (Figure 3.7C), with 75% experiencing anxiety (Figure 3.8C).





Depression scores were determined using the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale, HADS questionnaire. (A) depression scores for total AA participants. (B) depression scores for AA participants with patchy hair loss (<95%). (C) depression scores for AA participants with patchy hair loss and disease duration of <10 years. (D) depression scores for AA participants with severe hair loss (>95%). Categories were determined as no depression (0-7), mild (8-10), moderate (11-14) and severe (15-20).



Figure 3.8 Anxiety scores of AA patients.

Anxiety scores were determined using the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale, HADS questionnaire. (A) anxiety scores for total AA participants. (B) anxiety scores for AA participants with patchy hair loss (<95%). (C) anxiety scores for AA participants with patchy hair loss and disease duration of <10 years. (D) anxiety scores for AA participants with severe hair loss (>95%). Categories were determined as no anxiety (0-7), mild (8-10), moderate (11-14) and severe (15-20).

3.6.2 Levels of IL-22 and IL-17E positively predict depression score

AA impacts physical appearance which contributes to distress, but depression is multifactorial and inflammatory mediators are now implicated as potential drivers (Dowlati et al., 2010; Farooq et al., 2016). Here, it was hypothesised that the systemic cytokine signature of AA patients is associated with incidence of psychological morbidity. Subset linear regression analysis was therefore used to identify inflammatory cytokine predictors of depression and anxiety scores (Figure 3.9). Subset regression identified IL-22 and IL-17E as positive predictors of depression score. In contrast, IL-31 was a negative predictor of depression score. As shown in Figure 3.6A, IL-17E levels were increased in patients with severe hair loss. However, this finding is not robust as the other groups of AA patients are too small.

Anxiety and depression are often experienced together, and linear regression indicated that IL-22 was also a positive predictor of anxiety score, but the model had a low adjusted correlation coefficient (data not shown, adjR²=0.156). Disease severity and disease duration were negatively associated with anxiety score (data not shown), but no associations were observed between these parameters and depression. No associations between age and depression or anxiety scores were observed.



Figure 3.9 Significant cytokine predictors of depression score

A regression model was fitted where y represents HADS depression score and x represents the circulating cytokine concentration data set. The heatmap represents significant positive (red) and negative (blue) predictors, $adjR^2=0.319$, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

3.7 Discussion

3.7.1 The cytokine signature of people with AA

We sought to fully characterise the circulating cytokine phenotype of individuals with AA. These data indicate that a plethora of cytokines are dysregulated in AA, implicating both type-17 and type-2 immune responses.

Consistent with other studies (Atwa et al., 2015), the levels of TNF, IL-1ß and IL-6 were increased in AA plasma. These cytokines are potent pro-inflammatory proteins primarily produced by innate immune cells and are classically involved in acute responses against pathogens. Collectively, they drive apoptosis, recruitment of leukocytes and contribute to the differentiation of specific adaptive responses, particularly Th17 cells (Zhou et al., 2007; Sedger & McDermott, 2014). TNF is widely implicated in autoimmune diseases, particularly where monocytes and macrophages are involved, and blocking TNF or the receptor is successful in the treatment of diseases including rheumatoid arthritis (Elliott et al., 1994) and IBD (Targan et al., 1997).

In AA, the increases in plasma TNF, IL-1B and IL-6 were modest; on average the concentrations were below 2pg/mL, and limited data exist on the role of TNF, IL-1B and IL-6 in the immune response driving hair loss. Classically-activated macrophages, responding to IFN γ and toll-like receptor stimulation, are strong producers of these cytokines (Murray & Wynn, 2011). Macrophages are known to be important in normal cycling of the hair follicle (Muneeb et al., 2019), but there are limited data describing macrophages in AA pathogenesis. Clinical observations have reported development of AA in patients receiving anti-TNF therapy (Tauber et al., 2014) suggesting that disrupting TNF signalling may be detrimental to hair growth. However, it has been shown that keratinocytes secrete TNF in response to ultraviolet or bacterial stimulus (Nakamura et al., 2002; Bashir et al., 2009), thus damage caused by CD8⁺ T cells may stimulate TNF release. TNF can synergise with IFN γ to drive upregulation of IL-15 in dermal sheath cells, and this cytokine strongly drives CD8⁺ T cell cytotoxicity (Xing et al., 2014). IL-6 can also be released by keratinocytes and its expression is increased in psoriasis plaques. However, in psoriasis IL-6 drives epidermal hyperplasia which is not associated with AA (Goodman et al., 2009). IL-6, in

combination with TGFB, potently drives differentiation of IL-17⁺ CD4 T cells (Zhou et al., 2007); the potential role of Th17 cells in AA pathogenesis is discussed later in this section.

In this cohort, levels of circulating IFN γ and IL-15 were not increased in AA circulation. Other publications report elevated IFN γ in AA patients (Tembhre & Sharma, 2013; Kasumagic-Halilovic et al., 2010). In the C3H Hej mouse model of alopecia areata, NKG2D⁺ CD8⁺ T cells are necessary for inducing hair loss. This study also indicated that blockade of IFN γ or IL-15Rß prevented hair loss (Xing et al., 2014). In humans, JAK inhibitors are effective in promoting hair regrowth, but they suppress multiple gamma chain cytokines in addition to IFN γ and IL-15 signalling pathways (Liu et al., 2017). In our study, a proportion of patients have IFN γ plasma levels above 10pg/mL; these concentrations are consistent with another study (Kasumagic-Halilovic et al., 2010). Patients with high levels did not consistently have more severe disease. The IFN γ concentration was above 40pg/mL for a proportion of the HC cohort, which reduced our ability to detect statistically-significant differences between AA patients and HCs. Additionally, the concentration of IL-12, a key driver of Th1-differentiaion was also unchanged in this AA cohort. These data clearly indicate that type-1 cytokines are not systemically dysregulated in AA despite their importance in the local inflammatory response against hair follicles.

Our data indicate a robust type-17 cytokine response associated with AA patients. IL-17A and IL-23 are significantly elevated in this cohort and these data replicate findings by others. IL-23 is important for the survival and differentiation of Th17 cells (McGeachy et al., 2009), whereas IL-17A is an effector cytokine that recruits neutrophils and monocytes to tissues. In the skin, IL-23 can be produced by immune cells, including dermal dendritic cells and also by keratinocytes in response to toll-like receptor 4 stimulation (Yoon et al., 2016). At present, the role of these cytokines in AA pathogenesis is not well understood. Results from a double-blind randomised pilot study (n=11) indicated that inhibition of IL-17A using Secukinumab is not effective in promoting hair regrowth (Guttman-Yassky et al., 2018). There have also been a handful of small studies assessing the effect of blocking the IL-12/IL-23 p40 subunit, using Ustekinumab, on hair regrowth but the results are inconclusive. A small open-

label study (n=3) indicated that blockade of the IL-12/IL-23 p40 subunit was effective in a patient with severe AA who was treated for one year (Guttman-Yassky et al., 2016), but the same drug was ineffective in promoting hair regrowth in another study of 4 patients with severe AA (Ortolan et al., 2019). Notably, AA has even developed in patients receiving Ustekinumab for treatment of plaque psoriasis (Verros et al., 2012). Micro array profiling indicated that IL-23 transcripts are increased in hairless skin but there were no associated changes in genes specifically associated with Th17 cells (Suarez-Farinas et al., 2015).

To extend on previous studies, we compared concentrations of type-17 cytokines in AA patients with those measured in PsA patients, a disease that is dominated by IL-17 and IL-23 pathology. Interestingly, these analyses revealed that the mean levels of IL-17A in the PsA cohort were not significantly higher than observed in AA despite some PsA patients having high concentrations. Additionally, the levels of IL-23 were not increased in PsA compared to AA or HCs. Taken together, our data and others indicate that IL-17A and IL-23 are increased in AA circulation, and that the concentrations may be clinically relevant based on comparison with those measured in PsA. The results from clinical studies described above are limited because they are extremely small. However the varied response to Ustekinumab (IL-12/IL-23 p40 blocker) may indicate that AA patients of a specific pathotype will respond. The efficacy of Ustekinumab for specific AA patients may be attributed to blockade of IL-12 which contributes to CD8⁺ T cell and Th1 cell responses. In contrast to IL-17A, IL-12 and IL-23 are vital for the generation of Th1 and Th17 cell responses, highlighting that targeting cytokines which drive T cell differentiation may be a better therapeutic strategy for AA, rather than targeting downstream cytokines.

AA patients also had elevated levels of circulating IL-17F and IL-21. Changes in the expression of IL-17F in AA sera have not been reported previously. IL-17F and IL-17A share the same receptor and are 50% homologous (Sarma et al., 2009), but emerging evidence suggests they have different functions in specific situations. They are both produced by Th17 cells, innate lymphoid cells and natural killer cells, but only IL-17F is expressed by mast cells, activated monocytes and specific epithelial cells (Ishigame et al., 2009). Recently, it was shown that blocking IL-17F is protective in a mouse model of colitis, whereas inhibiting IL-17A can exacerbate inflammation (Tang et al., 2018). Similar to AA, IL-17F is increased in serum of psoriatic arthritis and atopic dermatitis patients (Soderstrom et al., 2017; Park et al., 2015). In the skin, IL-17F potently induces human keratinocytes to express IL-6 and IL-8 (Fujishima et al., 2010), but its role in AA has not been studied. The functions of IL-21 are well-understood, and its key functions are in Th17 and follicular T cell development, promoting survival of CD8 T cells and plasma B cell maturation (Spolski & Leonard, 2014). Interestingly, IL-21, in synergy with IL-15, strongly promotes cytotoxic responses of CD8⁺ T cells which may be relevant in AA (Zeng et al., 2005). Notably, IL-21 signals via JAK-STAT signalling pathways (Deenick et al., 2013). In AA serum, autoantibodies against hair follicle antigens are reported to be increased (Tobin et al., 1994), and treatment of AA with DCP reduces the levels of circulating antibodies (Tobin et al., 2002). However, the importance of B cells and potential autoantibodies in mechanisms driving hair loss has not been investigated. Because IL-21 is increased in circulation, it would be interesting to understand if systemic IL-21 is contributing to a potential B cell response in AA patients. In the following chapter, we investigate frequencies of circulating B cell populations in AA patients.

For the first time, we indicate that the concentration of IL-31, IL-33 and IL-17E are increased in AA circulation compared to HCs. These cytokines are associated with type-2 responses, but we did not detect changes in IL-13 or IL-4, however these cytokines were mainly undetected. The high incidence of atopy in AA patients indicates that type 1 and type 2 responses can co-exist in the skin, but we were concerned that our findings may be due to the high levels of atopic individuals in our cohort. Stratification of AA patients led to the rejection of this hypothesis as the levels of IL-31, IL-33 and IL-17E were significantly increased in both atopic and non-atopic AA patients compared to HCs.

IL-31 is released by various immune cells and is involved in the pathogenic mechanisms driving atopic disease (Singh et al., 2016; Dillon et al., 2004). IL-31 is a pruritic cytokine that has been shown to disrupt keratinocyte differentiation (Sonkoly et al., 2006; Cornelissen et al., 2012), but to our knowledge has not been studied in the context of AA. Some studies involving IL-31 have reported

interesting observations; transgenic mice overexpressing IL-31 develop severe pruritis in combination with patchy hair loss (Dillon et al., 2004). Also, perhaps not surprisingly, IL-31 levels are higher in atopic dermatitis lesions compared to AA skin (Hofbauer et al., 2012).

IL-17E/IL-25 is also a driver of type 2 responses, but is a member of the IL-17 family that binds a heteromeric receptor complex composed of IL-17RA and IL-17RB (Rickel et al., 2008). IL-17E is produced by cells associated with atopy, including Th2 and mast cells, and in the skin has been shown to reduce filaggrin expression by keratinocytes which negatively impacts barrier function (Hvid et al., 2011).

On the other hand, IL-33 is a tissue alarmin that is constitutively expressed by epithelial cells and is only released in an activated form when a cell dies via necrosis, and not programmed cell-death. The increased level of IL-33 in AA sera compared to HCs is very modest, especially compared to levels observed in asthma sufferers (Guo et al., 2014). During asthmatic responses, IL-33 drives the expression of fibrotic factors by fibroblasts which causes tissue remodelling. The inflammation caused by T cells against hair follicles is very localised and follows a relapsing-remitting pattern which may explain the low levels of IL-33 observed. Nevertheless, understanding the role of IL-33 in AA may be therapeutically beneficial. The repetitive attack of the hair follicle could be causing fibrosis to the hair follicle, which may be why patients with established long-term disease are less likely to respond to treatment (Renert-Yuval & Guttman-Yassky, 2016).

Previous studies have indicated relationships between circulating cytokines and the severity of hair loss. This cohort were stratified based on their SALT score to compare cytokine levels; no current loss, <50% loss, >50% loss and total loss (>95%). IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-21 IL-31 and IL-17E were significantly increased in patients with severe disease compared to controls. These changes were not observed in the other categories, apart from an increase in IL-21 in the >50% group compared to HCs. As indicated previously, the >50% group was underpowered (n=4). Notably, the mean levels of IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-31 and IL-17E were very similar between the severe and the >50% hair loss category, and there

were also patients in the <50% category with high levels. The severe category was the largest in this cohort (n=17) which influenced our ability to detect significance. We did not identify changes in the levels of IL-23 between the different groups of AA patients and HCs. In another cohort of AA patients, the levels of IL-17A were found to correlate with SALT score (Atwa et al., 2015). However, these findings are not reliable because the categories of patients with more severe disease were not efficiently powered (S3=4, S4a=1, S4b=1, S5=3). These patients had a disease duration of between 0.25 to 60 months, whereas the cohort in our study included a high proportion of patients with a longer disease duration (range, 1-55 years). It is therefore difficult to compare these cohorts because it is anticipated that disease duration will influence changes in the cytokine immunophenotype. More recently, it was reported that the levels of IL-15 correlate with disease severity (Ebrahim et al., 2019). However, we didn't observe IL-15 levels to be different between AA and HCs. In summary, it is not possible to draw conclusions about the relationship between disease severity and circulating cytokines without increasing the size of our cohort. We utilised a power calculation to determine how many samples would be required to determine a significant difference between HCs and the patchy hair loss cohorts. For example, a power calculation based on the IL-31 data set, assuming power of 0.8, indicated that a minimum of 22 patients in the >50% patchy group would be required to determine a significant difference from HCs.

3.7.2 AA and depression

We found that 18% of this cohort experienced depressive symptoms at time of enrolment. This is higher than the point prevalence of depression in the general population which is approximately 12.9% (Lim et al., 2018). Depression is also common in other AA cohorts (Aghaei et al., 2014; Sellami et al., 2014). The known causes of depression are multifactorial; implicating genetics, environmental factors, and in some cases, inflammation (Malhi & Mann, 2018). For decades, peripheral inflammation has been associated with inducing 'sickness behaviour' and more recently, understanding the mechanisms underpinning this relationship have led to targeting major depressive disorder with anti-inflammatory therapies (Raison et al., 2013; Kappelmann et al., 2018). Autoimmune diseases, most notably rheumatic diseases, are highly associated with depression (Nerurkar et al., 2018). To date, circulating IL-1B, TNF and IL-6 have been the main focus of research (Haapakoski et al., 2015; Dowlati et al., 2010).

Circulating cytokines can interfere with neural pathways by crossing the blood brain barrier or by interacting with peripheral nerve endings, including the vagus nerve (Miller & Raison, 2016). Understanding the causative mechanisms between peripheral inflammation and depression is extremely challenging, therefore the current understanding is mainly derived from clinical trials or murine behavioural models of depression. Nevertheless, it's been shown that TNF can disrupt the balance of the neurotransmitter, glutamate, in the brain. TNF does this in many different ways that include inhibiting uptake of glutamate, leading to increased extracellular levels, and by increasing levels of glutaminase (Bortolato et al., 2015). Ultimately, these effects disrupt the balance of glutamate neurotransmission leading to glutamate excitotoxicity (Davies et al., 2011).

The physical aspect of AA is likely a major contributor to depression for patients, but we hypothesised that the inflammatory cytokines elevated in the periphery could also contribute. Linear regression modelling indicated that IL-17E and IL-22 are positive predictors depression score. These cytokines have not been associated with depression, but other type-17 cytokines have been shown to induce depressive behaviour in mouse models of inflammation and in patients (Li et al., 2019). IL-17A release, caused by imiquimod administration, caused depressive behaviours in animals (Nadeem et al., 2017), and the IL-17RA is expressed in the brain during inflammation in humans (Kebir et al., 2007). IL-22 is associated with neuroinflammatory diseases, including multiple sclerosis (Jadidi-Niaragh & Mirshafiey, 2011), and has been shown to disrupt the blood brain barrier, but its potential role in depression has not been studied. Notably, the receptor for IL-22 is expressed by brain endothelial cells (Kebir et al., 2007).

Despite these interesting observations, it is important to emphasise that our data are not able to make causative links between the levels of circulating cytokines and incidence of depression in people with AA. We refer to the cytokines selected in the model as 'predictors' from a mathematical modelling perspective, but we cannot indicate that these cytokines are able to predict incidence of depression. Therefore, these data only indicate an association between cytokine levels and depression score, and at this stage we do not have any causative evidence.

3.7.3 Conclusion

This chapter describes the broad cytokine dysregulation associated with AA, characterised by an increase in both type-17 and type-2 cytokines. Our data complement previous studies, but also extend on the current literature by implicating changes in levels of circulating IL-33, IL-31, IL-17E and IL-17F.

Levels of IL-17A, IL-23, IL-31 and IL-17E appeared to be increased in patients with severe disease, but our study lacked power to successfully determine the association between circulating cytokines and disease severity. At present, no reliable clinical tool other than measuring extent of hair loss exists to measure disease activity in patients, thus making identification of connections between immune parameters and AA disease activity challenging. By stratifying AA patients, we identified that changes in the levels of type-2 associated cytokines are not specifically linked to incidence of atopy, indicating that type 2 responses may be important in the immune-mechanisms driving hair loss.

In this chapter, we also discuss the potentially wider implications of elevated circulating inflammatory cytokines. Depression was common in this cohort, and the levels of IL-22 and IL-17E positively predicted incidence of depressive symptoms. Whilst our data do not directly link circulating cytokines with incidence of depression, it would be interesting to measure the future impact of immune-suppressive treatment on psychological well-being of individuals with AA.

4 Cellular and molecular mechanisms associated with AA pathogenesis

4.1 Introduction

The understanding of the immune mechanisms driving AA is predominantly focused on aberrant CD8⁺ T cell responses (Xing et al., 2014; Petukhova et al., 2010). Immune responses driving organ specific autoimmune diseases may be dominated by a specific immune cell subset, however cells of the immune system do not function in isolation. Identifying how other cells drive and support the T cell response will provide potential avenues for therapeutic investigation. This is particularly important for heterogeneous diseases, such as AA, where investigating alternative aspects of the immune response may reveal different disease pathotypes.

CD4⁺ T cells are critical in the generation of successful CD8⁺ T cell responses. They provide 'help' by licensing dendritic cells to activate cytotoxic T cells (Smith et al., 2004), and are important for robust recall responses (Laidlaw et al., 2016; Janssen et al., 2003). The numbers of CD4⁺ T cells are increased in AA lesions (Ito et al., 2008) and numbers of circulating Th17 cells are elevated in AA patients compared to HCs (Han et al., 2015), but their relevance in AA pathogenesis is yet to be elucidated. Natural killer (NK) cells have also been an area of interest because of their cytotoxic effector function. NK cells do not recognise specific antigen, but instead kill cells which do not express MHC class I and by recognising 'stress' signals using receptors that include NKG2D (Vivier et al., 2008). NK cells are present in AA perifollicular infiltrates alongside CD8⁺ T cells (Ito et al., 2008), however ablation of NK cells led to worsening of hair loss in a mouse model of AA (Kaufman et al., 2010). NK cells are potent producers of IFN γ and act as an important link between innate and adaptive type-1 immune responses (Martín-Fontecha et al., 2004), thus their involvement in AA warrants further investigation.

Having shown that AA is associated with elevated type-17 and type-2 cytokines, we now aimed to characterise the cellular immunophenotype of individuals with AA. To build on previous studies, subsets of circulating CD8⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells and NK cells were analysed. In addition, the proportions of circulating dendritic cells (DCs) and B cell subsets we determined. DCs activate T cells or induce tolerogenic responses (Probst et al., 2005; Jones et al., 2016; Esterházy et al., 2016), and are therefore implicated in T cell driven autoimmunity (Ohnmacht et al., 2009). At present, conventional DCs have not been studied in the context of AA. B cells have also not been a focus of AA research, however aberrant B cell function and particularly the generation of auto-antibodies are implicated in other organ-specific autoimmune responses that share immune mechanisms with AA (Orban et al., 2009). Notably, auto-antibodies specific for follicular antigens are reported to be elevated in AA circulation (Tobin et al., 1994).

One of the objectives of my project was to investigate the link between AA and subclinical intestinal inflammation. AA and intestinal diseases such as coeliac disease (CeD), Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) share genetic risk alleles (Petukhova et al., 2010), and anecdotal evidence describes intestinal discomfort in some individuals with AA. In the clinic, the occurrence of intestinal inflammation is determined by measuring the levels of faecal calprotectin, an inflammatory protein that is released by neutrophils (Voganatsi et al., 2001). Zonulin is an experimental marker of increased intestinal permeability that is elevated in sera of patients with CeD (Fasano et al., 2000) and type 1 diabetes (T1D) (Sapone et al., 2006).

Of note, there is considerable overlap between the immune mechanisms driving CeD and AA (Hüe et al., 2004). Based on this observation, it was hypothesised that AA may be associated with increased incidence of immune-reactivity to gluten. Clinically, occurrence of gluten reactivity is determined by measuring circulating levels of anti-tissue transglutaminase (anti-TTG) IgA (Kaswala et al., 2015).

The aims of the experiments described in this chapter were:

To assess the proportions and numbers of circulating CD8⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, B cells, NK cells and DCs in peripheral blood of AA patients and healthy controls (HCs).

- 2. To assess the proportions and numbers of skin and gut homing T cell subsets in AA patients and HCs.
- 3. To measure circulating levels of zonulin and anti-TTG IgA, and faecal calprotectin levels in AA patients.

4.2 Participant characteristics

Peripheral blood was collected from 38 AA patients and 20 HCs for flow cytometric analysis of circulating CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, NK cells and DCs (Table 4.1). A proportion of these samples were used for each flow cytometry panel as indicated in individual figure legends. The AA cohort included 3 patients in remission, 12 with <50% hair loss, 5 with >50% hair loss and 18 with severe hair loss (>95%). The average disease duration of this AA cohort was 16 years, with a range between 1 and 46 years. 22 patients had a history of atopy, 6 reported thyroid related conditions, 1 had vitiligo, 1 had epilepsy, and 1 had pernicious anaemia. One patient also had female pattern baldness in addition to AA. Importantly, none of the patients had a diagnosis of a major inflammatory disease, including CD, UC, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), psoriatic arthritis (PsA), psoriasis (PsO), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) or ankylosing spondylitis (AS). At the time of recruitment, 17 patients were receiving treatment: 9 patients were receiving intralesional steroid injections, 7 were receiving diphenylcyclopropenone (DCP) treatment and 1 patient was receiving methotrexate. Healthy controls were recruited based on their age and gender to match the AA patient cohort.

Table 4.1 Characteristics of participants with alopecia areata and healthy controls.

Peripheral blood collected from these individuals were used for analyses of circulating immune cells. Subsets of these samples were used for each flow cytometry panel. SD; standard deviation, IL steroids; intralesional steroids.

	Alopecia areata	Healthy controls
Total	38	20
Gender F/M	32/6	16/4
Age (years) ± SD	Female, 45 ± 11.5 Male, 32 ± 7.6	Female, 42 ± 9.5 Male, 28 ± 6.5
Disease duration (years) Average ± SD	1-46 16 ± 11.5	
Disease severity Inactive <50% >50% Total loss >95%	3 12 5 18	
Comorbidities Atopic Thyroid illness Vitiligo Epilepsy Pattern baldness Pernicious anaemia	22 6 1 1 1 1	
Treatment None Diphenylcyclopropenone IL steroids Methotrexate	21 7 9 1	

4.3 Design and optimisation of flow cytometry panels

Flow cytometry antibody panels were designed to quantify and phenotype CD8⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, B cells, DCs and NK cells. In total, 74 immune cell subsets were identified as summarised in Figure 4.1. The T cell and NK panels were designed specifically for this study, whereas the B cell and DC panels were acquired from previous studies in the Milling and Goodyear laboratories. Optimisation of the T and NK cell panels was carried out using peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) collected from healthy control donors. Antibodies were tested on different fluorochromes and their concentrations were titrated

to achieve optimal staining. Isotype or fluorescent minus one (FMO) controls were used for specific markers across all samples to ensure accurate gating throughout the patient and HC cohort. Following successful optimisation, the panels were used to identify immune cells in the cohorts described in Table 4.1. Cell populations were quantified as a percentage of CD45⁺ live cells or as number of cells per ml of peripheral blood. Where appropriate, cell subsets were also analysed as a frequency of the parent population.



Figure 4.1 Overview of the immune cells subsets identified in peripheral blood Five flow cytometry panels were used to phenotype 74 immune cell populations in peripheral blood of AA patients and HCs.

4.4 Circulating T cell subsets

4.4.1 CD8⁺ T cells

CD8⁺ T cells were identified using the gating strategy depicted in Figure 4.2. Side scatter and forward scatter were used to remove debris and doublets from the analysis. Live CD45⁺ leukocytes were gated on prior to identification of CD8⁺ T cells and CD8⁺ T cells expressing the NKG2D receptor. Consistent with previous observations (Prajapati et al., 2018), the majority of CD8 T cells (91.8 - 99.6%) were NKG2D positive. Memory and effector subsets were identified using the lymph-node homing chemokine receptor 7 (CCR7) and CD45RO, to gate naïve, central memory (TCM), effector memory (TEM) and effector subsets (Figure 4.2A).

CD8⁺ T cells were analysed further to assess their tissue homing potential. Upon activation in a lymph node by DCs, T cells upregulate receptors that allow them to preferentially traffic to the tissue where they are required to carry out their effector function (Iwata et al., 2004; Picker et al., 1993). To identify T cells that may be involved in AA pathogenesis, the expression of the skin homing receptor, cutaneous lymphocyte antigen (CLA), was measured (Figure 4.2B). In relation to the hypothesis that AA is linked to the intestine, the expression of the guthoming chemokine receptor, CCR9, on T cells was also analysed (Figure 4.2B) (Mora et al., 2003).



Figure 4.2 Identification of CD8⁺ T cells

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated and stained with the CD8⁺ T cell panel. (A) CD8⁺ T cells were identified as single live CD45⁺ CD3⁺ CD8⁺ cells, NKG2D⁺ CD8 T cells, and naïve, central memory (TCM), effector memory (TEM) and effector (Teff) subsets. (B) Representative plots of cutaneous lymphocyte antigen (CLA) and CCR9 staining of single live CD45⁺ CD3⁺ CD8⁺ cells. Representative staining for the CLA isotype (Rat IgMk) is illustrated.

The numbers of PBMCs per mL of blood from AA patients and HCs were compared, but no difference was observed (Figure 4.3A). There was also no change in the total number of live CD45⁺ leukocytes between AA patients and HCs (Figure 4.3B).

The frequency and number of total CD8⁺ T cells was not changed between AA patients and HCs (Figure 4.4A). It was hypothesised that the proportion of circulating NKG2D⁺ CD8⁺ T cells may be altered due to their importance in driving AA, but no differences were observed (Figure 4.4B).

A # peripheral blood mononuclear cells



B # live leukocytes





(A) Number of total peripheral blood mononuclear cells per mL of blood in AA patients (n=38) and HCs (n=20). (B) Number of live leukocytes (CD45⁺) per mL of blood in AA patients (n=32) and HCs (n=18).

Further analysis of CD8⁺ T cells revealed that there were also no significant changes in the proportion or numbers of circulating naïve, TCM, TEM or effector cell subsets between AA patients and HCs (Figure 4.4C, 4.5). The proportion and number of NKG2D⁺ CD8 memory and effector subsets were also analysed but no differences were found (Figure 4.6). Analysis of skin and gut homing CD8⁺ T cell subsets also revealed no changes (Figure 4.7).

In summary, the proportions and numbers of CD8⁺ T cell subsets are not changed in the circulation of AA patients in this cohort compared to our HC cohort.



Figure 4.4 Comparison of circulating CD8⁺ **T cell subsets between HC and AA cohorts.** Frequencies as a % of CD45⁺ live cells (left) and numbers per mL of blood (right) of (A) CD8⁺ T cells and (C) naïve CCR7⁺ CD45RO⁻ CD8 T cells in AA patients (n=32) and HCs (n=18). B) Frequencies as a % of CD45⁺ live cells (left) and numbers per mL of blood (right) of CD8⁺ T NKG2D⁺ CD8 T cells in AA patients (n=22) and HCs (n=11). Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test.





Frequencies as a % of CD45⁺ live cells (left) and numbers per mL of blood (right) of (A) central memory (CCR7⁺CD45RO⁺), (B) effector memory (CCR7⁻CD45RO⁺) and (C) effector (CCR7⁻CD45RO⁻) CD8 T cells in AA patients (n=31) and HCs (n=18). Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test.

Α



Figure 4.6 Comparison of circulating NKG2D⁺ **CD8 T cell subsets between HC and AA cohorts.** Frequencies as a % of CD45⁺ live cells (left) and numbers per mL of blood (right) of (A) NKG2D⁺ central memory, (B) NKG2D⁺ effector memory and (C) NKG2D⁺ effector CD8 T cells in AA patients (n=21) and HCs (n=11). Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test.





Frequencies as a % of CD45⁺ live cells (left) and numbers per mL of blood (right) of (A) CLA⁺ CD8 T cells and (B) CCR9⁺ CD8 T cells in AA patients (n=31) and HCs (n=18). Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test.

4.4.2 CD4⁺ T cells

CD4⁺ T cells were identified using the gating strategy depicted in Figure 4.8. Side scatter and forward scatter were used to remove debris and doublets from the analysis. Live CD45⁺ leukocytes were gated on prior to identification of CD3⁺ CD4⁺ T cells. Although usually associated with NK and CD8⁺ T cells, the NKG2D receptor can also be expressed by CD4⁺ T cells. In this cohort, 0.62 - 10.8% of CD4⁺ T cells expressed NKG2D. To identify whether AA is associated with specific changes in T-helper subsets, the chemokine receptors CCR6 and CXCR3 were used as surrogate markers to identify Th17 (Hirota et al., 2007) and Th1 (Syrbe et al., 1999) cells, respectively. As before, CLA and CCR9 were used to identify CD4⁺ T cells with potential to home to the skin and gut, respectively (Figure 4.8B). Another CD4⁺ T cell subset (CCR7⁻CD38⁺), shown to be enriched for cells that recognise antigen of mucosal origin (Preacute et al., 2011), was also analysed (Figure 4.8A).



Figure 4.8 Identification of CD4⁺ T cells

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated and stained with the CD4⁺ T cell panel. (A) Cells were identified as single live CD45⁺ CD3⁺ CD4⁺ cells and NKG2D⁺ CD4 T cells. T-helper CD4 subsets were identified as CXCR3⁺, CCR6⁺, double positive (CXCR3⁺CCR6⁺) and double negative (CXCR3⁻CCR6⁻). CD4⁺ T cells reported to recognise antigen of mucosal origin were identified as CCR7⁻CD38⁺. (B) Representative plots of cutaneous lymphocyte antigen (CLA) and CCR9 staining of live CD45⁺ CD3⁺ CD4⁺ cells. Representative staining for the CLA isotype (Rat IgMk) is shown.

The total frequency and numbers of CD4⁺ T cells were unchanged between AA patients and HCs (Figure 4.9A). The proportions and numbers of CXCR3⁺ CD4 T

cells were also unchanged (Figure 4.9B), but the proportion of circulating CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells were increased in AA patients compared to HCs (Figure 4.9C). However, the numbers of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells were not significantly different between AA patients and HC cohorts (p=0.055). CD4⁺ T cells with dual Th1 and Th17 effector function co-express CXCR3 and CCR6 (Duhen & Campbell, 2014; Kamali et al., 2019). However, the frequency or numbers of this population were not altered in AA circulation (plots not shown).





Frequencies as a % of CD45⁺ live cells (left) and numbers per mL of blood (right) of (A) CD4⁺T cells, (B) CXCR3⁺ CD4 T cells and (C) CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells in AA patients (n=32) and HCs (n=16). Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test, *p<0.05.

To analyse the CCR6⁺ T cell subset further, the proportions of CCR6⁺ T cells expressing skin or gut homing markers was determined. On average, 48% and 7% of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells expressed CLA and CCR9, respectively. In contrast, 20% and 4% of CXCR3⁺ CD4 T cells expressed CLA and CCR9, respectively. No differences were observed in the proportions of skin or gut homing CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells between AA patients and HCs (Figure 4.10), despite a trend towards increased CCR9⁺ CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells in AA patients. The frequency of CCR7⁻CD38⁺ CD4 T cells were also not altered in circulation (Figure 4.11).

In summary, $CD4^+$ T cell subsets were modestly altered in AA. A significant increase in the proportion of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells in AA patients was identified, but this increase was not significant (p=0.055) when cell numbers per ml of blood were compared.



Figure 4.10 Comparison of circulating skin and gut homing CCR6+ CD4 T cell subsets between HC and AA cohorts.

Frequencies as a % of CD45⁺ live cells (left) and numbers per mL of blood (right) of (A) CLA⁺ CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells and (B) CCR9⁺ CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells in AA patients (n=32) and HCs (n=15). Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 4.11 Comparison of CD38⁺ CCR7⁻ CD4 T cells between HC and AA cohorts. Frequency as a % of CD45⁺ live cells (left) and numbers per mL of blood (right) of (A) CD38⁺ CCR7⁻ CD4 T cells in AA patients and HCs. Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test.

4.5 Circulating B cells

B cell subsets were identified using the gating strategy depicted in Figure 4.12. Side scatter and forward scatter were used to remove debris and doublets, prior to gating of live CD19⁺ B cells. First, non-transitional B cells were identified by removal of immature B cells that have recently emigrated from the bone marrow (Sims et al., 2005), referred to as transitional B cells (CD10⁺CD38⁺). Mature naïve B cells express IgM and IgD antibody isotypes prior to activation-induced classswitching (Geisberger et al., 2006). Consistent with other studies (Seifert et al., 2015), IgM⁺ IgD^{Io} B cells express the memory marker, CD27, as illustrated in Figure 4.11B. This population also contains CD27⁺ IgM-only B cells. For the purpose of this analysis, this subset will be referred to as IgM memory B cells. The remaining B cells, referred to here as mature B cells, include cells that are naïve (IgD⁺IgM⁺CD27⁻), class-switched (IgD⁻IgM⁻CD27⁺), unswitched B cells (IgD⁺ IgM⁺) that also express CD27, similar to the IgM memory subset and double negative B cells (DN, IgD⁻ CD27⁻). The DN subset are a small population of switched B cells that have previously been described to exhibit an exhausted phenotype in HIV patients (Moir et al., 2008). Subsequently, the proportion of plasma cells (CD38⁺CD43⁺) and activated cells (CD43⁺) within these subsets were identified.



Figure 4.12 Identification of B cells

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated and stained with the B cell panel. (A) Cells are identified as single live CD19⁺ B cells. Transitional and non-transitional B cells were identified, prior to gating of IgM memory and mature B cells. Naïve, un-switched, class-switched and IgD⁻ CD27⁻ were gated prior to identification of memory, activated or plasma B cells. (B) Representative plot highlighting expression of CD27 on mature B cells relative to IgD and IgM expression.

The proportion of total circulating B cells were significantly increased in AA patients compared to HCs (Figure 4.13A), however this increase was not significant in terms of numbers of B cells. A significant increase in the proportion of transitional and non-transitional B cells was also observed (Figure 4.13B, C). The numbers of transitional B cells were also increased, however the change in non-transitional B cells was not reflected in terms of numbers. To analyse the proportional changes further, the frequencies of non-transitional and transitional B cells were analysed as a proportion of total B cells. These data indicate that the proportions of non-transitional B cells are in fact reduced (Figure 4.13D), whereas transitional B cells are increased (Figure 4.13E).

No changes in the proportions or numbers of IgM memory cells were observed (Figure 4.14A). However, the proportion of mature B cells were significantly elevated in AA circulation (Figure 4.14B). This change was not reflected when analysed in cell numbers. As before, we also analysed these subsets as a proportion of total B cells, but no significant differences were indicated (Figure 4.14C,D).



Figure 4.13 Comparison of circulating B cell subsets between HC and AA cohorts. Frequencies as a % of live cells (left) and numbers per mL of blood (right) of (A) B cells, (B) non-transitional and (C) transitional B cells in AA patients (n=24) and HCs (n=17). Frequency as a % of parent population of (D) non-transitional and (E) transitional B cells. Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test, *p<0.05, **p<0.01.





Frequencies as a % of live cells (left) and numbers per mL of blood (right) of (A) IgM memory B cells and (B) mature B cells and in AA patients (n=24) and HCs (n=17). Frequency as a % of parent population of (C) IgM memory and (D) mature B cells. Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test.

The IgM non-memory population was then divided into naïve, unswitched and class-switched cell subsets. There was also a population that did not express IgD, IgM or CD27 (IgM IgD CD27⁻). The proportion of naïve B cells were significantly increased in AA circulation compared to HCs (Figure 4.15A), but again this change was not significant when analysed as cell numbers (p=0.0548). There were no changes in the frequency or number of unswitched, class-switched, or IgD IgM CD27⁻ populations (Figure 4.15B,C,D). Analysis of naïve B cells, as a proportion of the parent population (IgM non-memory) also revealed a significant increase (Figure 4.16A). However, the proportions of resting memory, plasma and activated B cells within each of these four populations indicated no differences between AA and HCs (plots not shown).

In summary, the frequencies of specific B cell subsets are altered in AA circulation. The proportions of total B cells are increased, and this change is associated with an increase in the proportion of transitional B cells and naïve B cells, but with no alterations in the frequencies of plasma or activated B cells.





Frequencies as a % of live cells (left) and numbers per mL of blood (right) of (A) naïve, (B) unswitched, (C) switched and (D) IgM⁻IgD⁻CD27⁻ B cells in AA patients (n=23) and HCs (n=17). Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test, **p<0.01.




Frequency as a % of parent population of (A) naïve, (B) class-switched, (C) unswitched and (D) IgM⁻IgD⁻CD27⁻ B cells in AA patients (n=23) and HCs (n=17). Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test, *p<0.05.

4.6 Circulating natural killer cells

NK cell subsets were identified using the gating strategy depicted in Figure 4.17A. Side scatter and forward scatter were used to remove debris and doublets from the analysis prior to gating of live cells. NK cells were identified as CD56⁺ and negative for CD3 expression, whereas NKT cells were CD3⁺CD56⁺. Four NK cell subsets were identified by differential expression of CD56 and CD16: CD56^{dim}, CD56^{bright}, CD56⁺CD16⁺ and CD56^{dim}CD16⁺. Consistent with other studies (Poli et al., 2009), the average frequency of CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ NK cells as a proportion of live cells was 8.4%, making them the largest NK cell subset in peripheral blood. Cells within the CD56^{dim}, CD56^{bright} and CD56⁺CD16⁺ gates, but not CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ cells, expressed the pan innate lymphoid cell (ILC) marker, CD127 (as illustrated in Figure 4.16B). Thus, these gates likely include some ILCs

because CD127 is known to be expressed by immature NKs cells, and CD56 can be expressed by ILCs (Nagasawa et al., 2019).

NK cells express inhibitory and activation receptors on their surface that include NKG2D, NKp46 and NKp44 (Vivier et al., 2008). NKG2D expression on NK cell subsets was assessed, alongside expression of CLA to identify skin homing NKG2D⁺ NK cells. As reported previously, and illustrated in Figure 4.17C, the majority of mature CD56dimCD16⁺ NK cells express the NKG2D receptor. Whereas, the CD56bright and CD56⁺CD16⁺ populations were found to be most enriched for cells that co-expressed CLA and NKG2D (Figure 4.17C).



Figure 4.17 Identification of natural killer cell populations

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated and stained with the NK cell panel. (A) NK cells were identified as single live CD3⁻ CD56⁺ cells and NKT cells as CD3⁺CD56⁺ cells. NK cell subsets were identified as CD56^{dim}, CD56^{bright}, CD56⁺CD16⁺ and CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ cells. (B) Representative plot highlighting expression of C1D27 on NK cells relative to CD56 and CD16 expression. (C) Representative plots highlighting CLA and NKG2D expression on each subset of NK cells.

Analysis revealed that there were no differences in the proportions or numbers of circulating NK cells or NKT cells in AA patients compared to HCs (Figure 4.18A, B). In addition, the frequencies and numbers of the four NK cell subsets were unchanged in circulation (Figure 4.19). Furthermore, analysis of subsets expressing NKG2D and CLA did not identify any changes (plots not shown). In summary, NK cell subsets are not different between our HC cohort and this cohort of AA patients.



A NK cells

Figure 4.18 Comparison of natural killer cells and NKT cells between HC and AA cohorts. Frequencies as a % of live cells (left) and numbers per mL of blood (right) of (A) NK cells and (B) NKT cells in AA patients (n=32) and HCs (n=17). Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 4.19 Comparison of NK cell subsets between HC and AA cohorts. Frequencies as a % of live cells (left) and numbers per mL of blood (right) of (A) CD56bright, (B) CD56⁺CD16⁺ and (C) CD56dimCD16⁺ cells in AA patients (n=32) and HCs (n=17). Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test.

4.7 Circulating dendritic cells

Dendritic cells were identified using the gating strategy depicted in Figure 4.20. Side scatter and forward scatter were used to remove debris and doublet cells from the analysis prior to gating of live cells. DCs were identified as MHCII⁺CD11c⁺ and negative for lineage markers of other cells: CD3 (T cells), CD19 (B cells), CD15 (neutrophils), CD14 (monocytes) and CD56 (NK cells). Conventional DCs (cDCs) consist of two distinct populations, known as cDC1s and cDC2s, that can be identified by expression of CD141 and CD1c, respectively. Within the MHCII⁺ CD11c⁺ DC population, a myeloid subset exists that expresses CD16 as illustrated in Figure 4.20B. Subsequently, plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) were identified within the CD11c⁻MHCII⁺ gate as CD123⁺ cells.



Figure 4.20 Identification of dendritic cells

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated and stained with the DC panel. (A) DCs were identified as single live lineage negative (CD3⁻CD19⁻CD15⁻CD14⁻CD56⁻) CD11c⁺MHCII⁺ cells. Conventional DC subsets were identified as CD141⁺ (cDC1) or CD1c⁺ (cDC2). Plasmacytoid DCs were identified as CD11c⁻MHCII⁺CD123⁺ cells. (B) Representative plot highlighting expression of CD16 relative to CD11c, CD141 and CD1c expression.

No difference was observed in the proportion or number of circulating total cDCs in AA patients compared to HCs (Figure 4.21A). The proportions and number of cDC1 and cDC2 subsets were also unchanged (Figure 4.21B, C). In addition to cDCs, the CD11c⁻ fraction were analysed. No changes in the proportions or numbers of CD123⁺ pDCs were observed (Figure 4.22B), however the proportion of total MHCII⁺ CD11c⁻ cells was significantly decreased in AA in comparison to HCs (Figure 4.22A). This change was not significant in terms of numbers of cells.

The CD11c⁺MHCII⁺CD16⁺ population was also quantified, but no differences were identified (Figure 4.22C). In summary, conventional and plasmacytoid DCs are not altered in AA circulation.



Figure 4.21 Comparison of cDC subsets between HC and AA cohorts. Frequencies as a % of live cells (left) and numbers per mL of blood (right) of (A) total DCs, (B) cDC1s and (C) cDC2s in AA patients (n=26) and HCs (n=17). Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test.

A MHCII⁺ CD11c⁻



Figure 4.22 Comparison of pDCs and CD16⁺ myeloid subsets between HC and AA cohorts. Frequencies as a % of live cells (left) and numbers per mL of blood (right) of (A) MHCII⁺CD11c⁻ cells, (B) pDCs and (C) CD11c⁺CD16⁺ myeloid cells in AA patients (n=26) and HCs (n=17). Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Mann-Whitney U test, *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

4.8 Markers of intestinal inflammation

The levels of faecal calprotectin and serum zonulin were measured to determine whether AA is associated with raised markers of intestinal inflammation or intestinal permeability, respectively. The samples were collected using the same criteria as described in section 4.2, and the cohorts used for each assay overlapped with samples used for the phenotyping experiments (Table 4.2). For comparison purposes, faecal calprotectin was also measured in a cohort of paediatric CD patients. This data set was obtained from a study led by Professor Konstantinos Gerasimidis at the University of Glasgow.

Table 4.2 Participant cohorts	used for protein assays
-------------------------------	-------------------------

Assay	Number of samples	Gender F/M	Age ± SD
Faecal calprotectin	AA: 21	20/1	47 ± 12
	HC: 3	3/0	45 ± 15.7
Plasma zonulin	AA: 31	27/4	47 ± 12
	HC:27	22/5	40 ± 13.5
Serum TTG IgA	AA: 38	30/8	43.6 ± 13.3

Stool samples and plasma or serum extracted from peripheral blood collected from alopecia areata patients and healthy controls were utilised to measure inflammatory mediators. AA; alopecia areata, HC; healthy controls, CD; Crohn's disease.

Calprotectin levels in AA patient plasma were not indicative of intestinal inflammation (Figure 4.23A). On average, the concentration in AA sera was 58mg/kg. In comparison, the average concentration observed in sera from CD patients was 989 mg/kg. Notably, a small proportion of individuals with AA did have higher levels than the majority of AA patients; 153mg/kg, 158mg/kg and 292mg/kg. Comparison of calprotectin in AA patients with HCs was not possible due to lack of power (n=3).

Zonulin levels were also measured, however the concentrations of zonulin could not be interpolated because the majority of samples were above the maximum range of the manufacturer's standard curve. To provide preliminary evidence, the optical density measurements of zonulin detection were analysed. These data indicate that there is an increased detection of zonulin in AA samples in comparison to HCs (Figure 4.23B).

Additionally, the levels of serum anti-tissue transglutaminase IgA (anti-TTG IgA) were measured in relation to the hypothesis that AA is associated with increased incidence of CeD. These data indicate that 5 patients had TTG IgA levels above the manufacturer's cut-off, indicating that 13% of this cohort have a positive TTG result (Figure 4.23C). Only 4 positive samples are represented in Figure 4.22C because 1 sample was above the limit of detection. To verify these data, patients were contacted by clinical colleagues and TTG-IgA levels were measured clinically in the NHS labs. In contrast to our results, only 1 patient was determined as a positive test result, and the remaining patients were deemed negative (data not shown).



Figure 4.23 Levels of peripheral zonulin and TTG IgA, and faecal calprotectin (A) Levels of calprotectin (mg/kg) were measured in stool samples from AA patients (n=21), HCs (n=3) and pediatric Crohn's disease (CD) patients (n=32) using an ELISA assay. (B) Levels of zonulin were measured in plasma from AA patients (n=31) and HCs (n=27) using an ELISA assay. Data represents optical density due to a large fraction of readings measuring above the limit of detection. (C) Levels of anti-tissue transglutaminase (TTG) IgA (IU/mL) were measured in serum of AA patients (n=38). Dotted line represents the cut-off for a positive result, and positive samples are represented as pink circles. One sample was above the maximum range of the manufacturer's standard curve and is not shown. Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined using a Kruskal-Wallis test, ***p<0.001.

4.9 Discussion

4.9.1The immunophenotype of AA patients

In recent years, AA research has mainly been focused on understanding the mechanisms that drive CD8⁺ T cell cytotoxic activity against hair follicles (Xing et al., 2014; Jabbari et al., 2016). However, at present there is very limited understanding of how other subsets of lymphocytes and myeloid cells contribute to AA pathogenesis. A handful of studies have begun to investigate the role of alternative cell types that are present in follicular infiltrates, but further investigation is required to identify their importance in AA pathology. In this chapter, we sought to characterise the peripheral immunophenotype associated with AA to identify novel immune cell targets. We focused on five key subsets of immune cells; CD8⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, B cells, NK cells and DCs, to generate extensive insight into 74 circulating cell subsets.

Activation of a T cell in a lymph node leads to differentiation of T cells with the same antigen specificity but with different functions in terms of effector and memory capacity (Chang et al., 2014). Effector T cells migrate to tissues, whereas effector memory cells migrate between lymphoid nodes and tissue, and central memory cells circulate between lymph nodes. In this chapter, because of the involvement of CD8 T cells in AA pathogenesis, it was hypothesised that the proportions of CD8⁺ T cell subsets may be altered in the circulation of individuals with AA. However, no differences in the proportions or numbers of total CD8⁺ T cells, or memory and effector subsets were observed. There were also no changes in proportions of NKG2D⁺ CD8 T cells. CLA is upregulated by T cells that have been activated in skin-draining lymph nodes, and thus allows them to migrate into the skin by binding E-selectin expressed by endothelial cells (Picker et al., 1993). It was hypothesised that the circulating skin homing CD8 T cell compartment may be altered in AA patients due to migration of CD8 T cells to the skin. However, analysis of skin-homing CD8⁺ T cell subsets revealed no differences between AA patients and HCs. Few studies analysing peripheral CD8⁺ T cell subsets in other cohorts of AA patients have been conducted. However, a previous study reported increased frequency of TCM CD8⁺ T cells and decreased frequencies of TEM CD8⁺ T cells in AA circulation compared to HCs (Czarnowicki

et al., 2017). This study also identified a decrease in the proportion of circulating skin homing TCM CD8⁺ T cells in AA patients compared to HCs.

Clearly, there are disparities between our study and the study conducted by Czarnowicki *et al* (2017) as we did not identify changes in the frequencies of CD8 T cell populations between our AA cohort and HCs. Importantly, Czarnowicki *et al* (2017) characterised TEM and TCM subsets using the same markers as our study, and the size of the AA patient cohorts used in both studies are the same, despite Czarnowicki *et al* (2017) having more HCs (n=30). Furthermore, the AA cohorts appear to be similar between both studies in terms of disease severity. However, we did observe that the AA cohort utilised by Czarnowicki *et al* (2017) had a higher proportion of males than our study, and the study did not describe the proportion of AA participants with a history of atopy. Importantly, the AA cohort in our study has a mean disease duration of 16 years, whereas the cohort in the Czarnowicki study had low mean duration of 8 years. Taken together, it may be hypothesised that changes in the proportions of circulating CD8 T cell populations may not be associated with chronic AA.

Collectively, our data indicate that circulating CD8 T cell populations are not altered in AA patients. These data are somewhat surprising when considering the importance of CD8⁺ T cells in AA pathogenesis. However, these data only allow us to conclude that the size of the overall peripheral CD8⁺ T cell effector and memory populations are not altered in this cohort of patients, and do not rule out the importance of memory populations in the immune responses taking place in lymph nodes or in the skin. It may be hypothesised that the CD8 $^{+}$ T cell compartment responsible for driving AA may be partly composed of a resident T cell population (Cheuk et al., 2017). Interestingly, it the context of psoriasis, it has been shown that resident T cell populations can generate psoriasis lesions without infiltration of memory T cells. It was demonstrated that transferring non-lesional skin from psoriasis patients onto immunodeficient mice led to development of psoriasis lesions (Boyman et al., 2004), whereas transfer of normal skin did not lead to inflammation. Additionally, this study indicates that resident memory cells with capacity to drive inflammation can be located in non-lesional skin. To our knowledge, the importance of resident memory T cells in AA pathogenesis has not been studied.

CD4⁺ T cells are vital for generating robust CD8⁺ T cells responses. In a mouse model of AA, for instance, CD4⁺ T cells are required to induce severe AA, whereas subcutaneous transfer of CD8⁺ T cells alone induces only localised hair loss (Gilhar et al., 2002; McElwee et al., 2005). CD4⁺ T cells are required for priming of CD8⁺ T cells, by licensing DCs (Smith et al., 2004) and providing IL-2 to drive proliferation. However, once activated, CD8⁺ T cell effector function is not dependent on $CD4^+$ T cell help. The results above indicate that $CD4^+$ T cell help is required for the progression of hair loss in the C3H Hej mouse model. In humans, CD4⁺ T cells are present in the perifollicular region of affected follicles (Ito et al., 2008; Hong et al., 2017), and transcriptome analysis indicates a mixed CD4⁺ T cell profile with upregulation in genes associated with Th2 and Th1 responses (Suarez-Farinas et al., 2015). IL-23 was also upregulated, but no increases in Th17-associated genes were observed. (Suarez-Farinas et al., 2015). However, other studies have reported IL-17⁺ CD4 T cells in close proximity to affected HF (Hong et al., 2017; Tanemura et al., 2013). Together, these data indicate potential involvement of Th1, Th2 and Th17 cells.

To expand on these data, we assessed the levels of circulating CD4⁺ T cells, and the frequencies of Th1 and Th17 subsets using CXCR3 and CCR6 as surrogate markers, respectively. We identified no changes in the total frequency of CD4⁺ T cells or in the proportions or numbers of CXCR3⁺ CD4 T cells in AA patients compared to HCs. However, the proportion of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells was elevated in AA circulation compared to HCs. This increase was not significant in terms of numbers of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells (p=0.055). Nevertheless, these data corroborate another study that reported increased proportions of IL-17⁺ CD4 T cells in AA circulation (Han et al., 2015). In contrast, a more recent study did not identify changes in IL-17⁺ CD4 T cells, but reported altered frequencies within the TEM and TCM CD4⁺ T cell compartment (Czarnowicki et al., 2017). It is important to note that the CCR6⁺ CD4 T cell population does not solely represent Th17 cells, but will also include a proportion of regulatory T cells (Tregs) (Lee et al., 2017). We did not assess Treg proportions here. However two separate studies reported a reduction in the frequencies of circulating Tregs in AA patients (Han et al., 2015; Hamed et al., 2019). Thus, the Treg compartment, if reduced in size, may have decreased the proportion of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells. We did not quantify Tregs in our analyses.

Our data and others suggest that CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells are differentially represented in AA circulation. These data complement our findings in chapter 3 which indicated elevated levels of type-17 cytokines in AA circulation compared to HCs, however the necessity of these cells in AA pathology is yet to be addressed. Th1 cells are classically associated with driving type 1 cytotoxic responses, however responses to infections and those associated with other autoimmune diseases often involve both Th1 and Th17 responses. For example, IL-21, a Th17 derived cytokine is important for CD8⁺ T cell effector function in the context of chronic viral infections (Xin et al., 2015). We reported a systemic increase in IL-21 levels in the previous chapter, and the IL-2/IL-21 locus is significantly associated with AA (Petukhova et al., 2010). In contrast, studies using the AA mouse model indicate that IL-21 blockade was not effective in promoting hair regrowth (Xing et al., 2014). Collectively, these data indicate that Th17-associated responses are often dysregulated in AA, but that they may not be vital for driving hair loss.

We were able to analyse the CCR6⁺ CD4 T cell population further by analysing expression of CLA. However, no changes between AA patients and HCs were observed. One of the aims of this chapter was to assess whether gut homing T cells were altered in AA circulation. Th17 cells are implicated in IBD (Kleinschek et al., 2009), thus it was hypothesised that intestinal involvement may result in alterations in the size of the population of gut-homing CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells. However, no significant differences were identified in the proportions or numbers of gut-homing CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells. However, a fraction of AA patients did have increased proportions and numbers of CCR9⁺ CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells. This observation may indicate that a subset of AA patients are associated with changes in T cell migration to the intestine, suggesting that some patients may be associated with altered intestinal immune responses.

Whilst these data are interesting, our analysis of CD4 T cell populations is somewhat limited due to the use of surrogate chemokine markers to identify Th1 and Th17 cells. Previous studies in our lab and others have indicated that circulating IL-17⁺ CD4 T cells express CCR6 (Hirota et al., 2007). However, we cannot confirm that CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells are *bona fide* Th17 cells without staining for IL-17 expression. These analyses were not conducted as part of our original phenotyping experiments, however we are now measuring expression of IFN γ and IL-17 in CD4 T cell subsets to validate and support our results.

In addition, the frequencies of CCR7⁻CD38⁺ CD4 T cells, a population shown to be enriched for T cells specific for antigen of intestinal origin, were analysed (Preacute et al., 2011). Consistent with other studies, this population represented approximately 6% of circulating CD4⁺ T cells. No differences in the frequencies or numbers of this cell type were observed between AA patients and HCs. However, this finding is perhaps not surprising, because the frequency of this subset was also not altered in CeD patients, despite this population being enriched for cells that were specific for the gluten peptide (Preacute et al., 2011). Thus, the sole quantification of this subset does not appear to be useful and the potential involvement of this population is the context of AA requires functional investigation.

We examined B cell populations in AA circulation. B cells primarily produce antibodies but they can also function as antigen presenting cells (Marino et al., 2012) and secrete cytokines (Barr et al., 2012). B cells are widely implicated in autoimmune diseases (Barr et al., 2012; Brink et al., 2013; Ilonen et al., 2013), typically due to their production of autoreactive antibodies which are often measured clinically for diagnosis and disease monitoring purposes (Hanly et al., 2010). In this cohort of AA patients, the total frequency of B cells was increased in comparison to HCs. Similar to previous analysis in this chapter, the increase in absolute cell numbers did not reach significance. There were also significant increases in the proportions of non-transitional and transitional B cells in AA circulation compared to HCs. However, the increase in transitional B cells was most prominent as we also observed a significant increase when analysing absolute numbers of transitional B cells between AA and HCs. We next assessed B cell subsets within the mature B cell population. The proportion of naïve mature B cells was increased in AA circulation compared to HCs, but again this increase was not significant in terms of absolute numbers (p=0.0548). There were no differences in the frequencies or numbers of unswitched, switched or DN B cell subsets. Analysis of these four subsets (naïve, switched, unswitched and DN) as a frequency of the parent population (IgM non-memory) also indicated an significant increase in the proportion of naïve B cells. Collectively,

analysis of B cells in AA circulation indicates changes in the transitional and naïve B cell compartments. To our knowledge, these observations have not been reported in association with AA.

To date, B cell responses have not been an area of interest in the context of immune responses targeting HFs. However, a collection of studies support the notion of potential B cell involvement. Case studies have reported severe AA in patients with common variable immunodeficiency (CVID) which represent a heterogeneous family of primary deficiencies that are associated with low or absent antibody responses (Bonilla et al., 2016). Furthermore, AA is associated with high incidence of thyroid-related autoimmune disease (Lee et al., 2019) where autoantibodies are known to drive pathology (Chazenbalk et al., 2002). Auto-antibodies against follicular antigen have also been reported to be increased in circulation of AA patients compared to HCs (Tobin et al., 1994).

Transitional B cells represent developmental precursors of mature B cells, that have emigrated from the bone marrow into circulation to migrate to secondary lymphoid organs (Sims et al., 2005). A large proportion of transitional B cells do not reach full maturity because many are deleted during the developmental selection process. Transitional B cells have been studied in the context of other autoimmune diseases, and are found to be increased in the circulation of SLE patients (Sims et al., 2005) and in individuals with immunodeficiency, including X-linked lymphoproliferative disease (Cuss et al., 2006). In normal controls, transitional B cells represent approximately 2-3% of circulating B cells, whereas 6.7% of B cells in SLE circulation have a transitional B cells in AA and HC circulation were 5.7% and 4%, respectively. It can therefore be concluded that the increase in proportions of circulatory transitional cells observed in AA patients may be immunologically relevant, due to similarities with SLE.

Notably, we also observed an increase in the proportion of naïve B cells. In SLE patients, expansion of peripheral transitional B cells is reported to be linked to defects in B cell tolerance that lead to increased levels of circulating autoreactive naïve B cells (Yurasov et al., 2005). Thus, it can be hypothesised that the increase in transitional and naïve B cells indicates an increase in the

autoreactive B cell pool in AA patients. Autoreactive naïve B cells may not be pathogenic, but activation of autoreactive B cells can lead to generation of high affinity antibodies which could contribute to autoimmunity. Notably, we did not identify changes in the frequencies of switched B cell subsets in AA patients. Whilst these data indicate that AA is not associated with increased frequency of activated B cells, our data cannot determine if there is a change in the frequency of activated autoreactive B cells with the switched B cell pool. In the context of SLE, meta-analysis of genetic risk factors indicated a significant association between B cell signaling pathways and SLE risk (Julià et al., 2018). Specific B cell genes have not been associated with AA in genetic wide association studies (GWAS), however the locus containing CTLA-4 is significantly associated with AA (Petukhova et al., 2010), and CTLA-4 is crucial for controlling B cell responses (Sage et al., 2014). The cytokine signature associated with AA, as described in chapter 3 may also play a role in the generation of increased transitional and naïve B cells. Notably, IL-21 was significantly increased in AA circulation compared to HCs, and IL-21 has been shown to influence proliferation and survival of B cells. Interestingly, overexpression of IL-21 in vivo caused increased frequency of transitional splenic B cells in mice (Ozaki et al., 2004). We can speculate that the cytokine milieu associated with AA may impact the autoreactive B cell pool, however further investigation is required to understand the pathological role of B cells in the context of AA.

To complement the analyses of peripheral CD8⁺ T cells subsets, circulating subsets of NK cells were analysed. NK cells are innate lymphocytes that represent the innate cytotoxic counterpart of type 1 responses (Moretta et al., 2008). NK cells mediate cytotoxic activity against abnormal cells and are important during viral infections and for removing malignant cells. The involvement of NK cells in AA pathogenesis has generated curiosity because immune privileged hair follicles are reported to express low levels of MHCI (Ito et al., 2008), which would normally induce NK cell killing of target cells. Additionally, NK cells recognise stress ligands using receptors including NKG2D, and this receptor is strongly associated with AA development (Petukhova et al., 2010). Following collapse of immune privilege, NK cells are present in follicular infiltrates in AA (Ito et al., 2008) and are likely involved in initial IFNγ production prior to CD8⁺ T cell involvement. Furthermore, IL-15 is crucial for NK cells survival, and blocking IL-15RB in the C3H Hej model was successful in promoting hair regrowth (Xing et al., 2014). However, in contrast, it was shown in the AA mouse model that hair loss is exacerbated when NK cells are depleted (Kaufman et al., 2010). Thus, NK cells may play a range of roles in AA pathogenesis.

In human peripheral blood, NK cell subsets are identified by expression of CD56 and CD16. The main subsets are CD56^{bright} and CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ (Angelo et al., 2015). CD56^{dim} NK cells are the largest subset in peripheral blood and exhibit potent cytotoxic activity, whereas the CD56^{bright} population, thought to represent the less mature subset of NK cells are potent cytokine producers (Poli et al., 2009). We measured the proportions and numbers of NK cells but observed no differences between AA and HCs. Specific subsets of NK cells were identified using CD56 and CD16 to identify 4 populations; these included the main CD56^{bright} and CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ populations and the smaller, CD56⁺CD16⁺ and CD56^{dim} subsets. CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells represent approximately 0.3% of the peripheral NK cell population, and are most likely cells that are transitioning from the CD56^{bright} to the large CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ population. Whereas, CD56^{dim} cells that do not express CD16 represent approximately 0.4% of the peripheral NK cells population as have been associated with better outcome of melanoma patients (Vujanovic et al., 2019). However, we did not observe changes in the proportions or numbers of any of the NK cells subsets between AA patients and HCs.

To analyse NK cells further, we assessed whether AA was associated with changes in frequencies of skin homing NK cells or differential expression of the NKG2D receptor. These data indicated that the NK cells that expressed high levels of CD56 (CD56^{bright} and CD56⁺CD16⁺) were most enriched for cells co-expressing CLA and NKG2D. Whereas, the CD56^{dim} subset, the largest subset in peripheral blood with most effective cytolytic capacity, is most enriched with cells that solely express NKG2D. However, we observed no changes in the proportions or numbers of skin homing NK cells, or NKG2D⁺ cells in AA patients compared to HCs.

Finally, the proportions of circulating DCs were assessed in AA circulation. Dendritic cells represent a critical link between the innate and adaptive immune system, and are therefore in a prime position to dictate the flavour of the ensuing immune response. By communicating with T cells, DCs have the capacity to either induce an immune response or tolerogenic responses (Probst et al., 2005; Esterházy et al., 2016; Persson et al., 2013), which are especially relevant for avoiding autoimmune reactions. For these reasons, DCs are thought to play key roles in autoimmune diseases (Ganguly et al., 2013). Conventional DCs are now commonly divided into two populations based on their ontogeny; cDC1s are important for cross-presentation to CD8⁺ T cells (Haan et al., 2000), whereas cDC2s seem more important for driving CD4⁺ helper T cell responses (Gao et al., 2013).

To our knowledge, conventional DCs have not been studied in the context of AA. As previously discussed, genetic locus containing the co-stimulatory receptors, CTLA-4 and ICOS, have been significantly associated with AA (Petukhova et al., 2010). CTLA-4 and ICOS are receptors expressed by T cells and Tregs that bind ligands on the surface of DCs, and contribute to the inhibition or activation of T cells, respectively (Riley et al., 2002; Bour-Jordan et al., 2011). Thus, we hypothesised that DC and T cell interaction is compromised in AA. In this cohort, conventional DC subsets, and plasmacytoid DCs were analysed in blood. A subset of CD16⁺ cells within the CD11c⁺MHCII⁺ population, that did not express CD141 or CD1c, were also analysed. These cells were previously reported to represent a population of DCs characterised by FCGR3A (CD16) expression that are enriched for an IFN signature (Villani et al., 2017). However, more recent analysis has confirmed that these cells are not DCs, and represent a CD14dim monocyte population (Calzetti et al., 2018). Our analyses revealed that total DCs, cDC1s, cDC2s, and MHCII⁺CD16⁺ cells were not found at different frequencies in AA patients compared to our HCs. However, there was a significant decrease in the proportion the MHCII⁺CD11c⁻ compartment, but we observed no change in frequency or numbers of CD123⁺ pDCs.

These data indicate that the proportion and numbers of conventional DCs are not altered in AA circulation. There are also no changes in pDCs, despite a decrease in the frequency of CD11c- cells. The pDC fraction is known to be heterogeneous (Villani et al., 2017) and in this study we could not interrogate this population further due to a lack of markers. Notably, it was found that the CD11c⁻ CD123⁺ compartment includes a proportion of DC precursors (See et al., 2017) Nevertheless, it may be interesting to investigate the pDC population further in future studies. pDCs are potent producers of type 1 interferon (IFN) and are implicated in the pathogenesis of psoriasis (Erkek et al., 2000) and T1D (Ferreira et al., 2014; Stewart et al., 1993). In the context of T1D, activation of pDCs and subsequent release of IFNa is associated with immune complexes composed of DNA from dying β-islet cells and autoantibodies (Diana et al., 2012). Interestingly, pDCs have been observed in close proximity to affected HF in AA lesions (Rahal et al., 2016) but their role has not been investigated. These data indicate that pDCs may be important for potentiating immune activation of autoimmune responses, however their role in chronic disease maintenance is less clear.

It is important to discuss why some of the significant changes in frequencies of specific cell subsets cells were not reflected when calculated as numbers of cells. Possible explanations for this include variability in sample processing that may impact the number of recovered viable cells, that may not impact analysis of frequencies to the same extent. For example, one AA patient had a cell count of 4.9×10^5 cells/mL of blood, which was considerably lower than the average cell count in the AA cohort (1×10^6 cells/mL of blood). This low cell count was reflected when assessing the numbers of specific cell populations. However, the proportions of cell subsets was not affected; 5.24% of this patients leukocytes were CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells, which was similar to the mean frequency of this population in the AA cohort (4.3%).

Based on our data, it is clear that specific B cell and CD4 T cell populations require further investigation to understand their involvement in AA pathogenesis. However, it is important to discuss the limitations of our current analysis. We reported that we did not identify a change in the frequency of plasma B cells between AA patients and HCs. However, this result is not accurate because we did not consider the loss of CD19 expression in the plasma population. Plasma B cells are rare in blood, however future analysis should consider the loss of CD19 expression and incorporate CD138 to accurately identify plasma cells (Halliley et al., 2015). Additionally, our panel was not able to assess specific populations of B cells, including B-1 cells. B-1 cells represent an innate-like B cell population that produce a large amount of polyreactive IgM, referred to as natural antibodies, and these antibodies are vital during the early stages of infection (Choi et al., 2012). In the context of autoimmunity, B-1 cells are of interest because they produce autoantibodies, cytokines and can function as antigen presenting cells. Compared to regular B cells, B-1 cells express high levels of costimulatory ligands, including CD80, and produce large amounts of IL-10 (Duan & Morel, 2006). We therefore propose that future studies should assess the role of B-1 cells in AA pathogenesis because of their potential importance in contributing to autoreactive T cell responses, and autoantibody generation.

In addition, we did not analyse the frequencies of anergic B cells in AA circulation. Here, we have indicated that the proportion of transitional B cells is increased in AA circulation, suggesting an increased egress of immature B cells from the bone marrow which may indicate an increase in circulating autoreactive B cells. It would therefore be interesting to assess the proportions of anergic circulating B cells to investigate the possibility that mechanisms controlling B cell anergy are disrupted in AA patients, as seen in other autoimmune diseases. This could be achieved using our current data by gating IgM^{lo} naïve B cells to identify anergic B cells as indicated in previous studies (Quach et al., 2012).

Throughout this chapter, details have been provided on the choice of markers for assessing specific populations of immune cells, however there are immune cell populations that we did not analyse that are of interest for future studies. Aside from NK cells, we did not analyse other populations of innate lymphocytes, including $\gamma\delta$ T cells. $\gamma\delta$ T cells express a $\gamma\delta$ heterodimeric receptor which recognise a specific repertoire of self and non-self antigen. Unlike conventional T cells, they are not MHC-restricted, and can respond rapidly to antigenic challenge in an unrestricted manner. $\gamma\delta$ T cells predominantly reside at mucosal surfaces and their effector functions include cytokine production and direct cytotoxic killing of target cells. In the context of AA, $\gamma\delta$ T cells are of interest because they respond to 'stress' signals, including MICA (Xu et al., 2011), and are potent producers of proinflammatory cytokines including IFN γ . In the skin, $\gamma\delta$ T cells are essential for maintaining barrier function by functioning as a surveillance system for damaged keratinocytes and for driving keratinocyte differentiation during wound healing (Jameson et al., 2002). In circulation, $\gamma\delta$ T cells are rare, representing approximately 1-10% of circulating lymphocytes which was one of the reasons why we did not focus on this population for our phenotyping experiments. However, it has been shown that a distinct population of CLA+ $\gamma\delta$ T cells exist in peripheral blood, and that this population is reduced in numbers in the circulation of psoriasis patients, but increased in lesional skin (Laggner et al., 2011). Interestingly, this population produce IL-17A. In addition to $\gamma\delta$ T cells, mucosal-associated variant T (MAIT) cells are present in psoriatic skin and are enriched for IL-17 expression (Teunissen et al., 2014). MAIT cells differ from $\gamma\delta$ T cells in that their activation is restricted to major histocompatibility complex class I-related (MR1) gene. MAIT cells can respond to bacterial metabolites, and therefore play an important role in barrier function via interaction with the skin's microbiome (Constantinides et al., 2017). Collectively, these studies provide a rational for investigating innate lymphocytes in circulation and in the skin of AA patients.

4.9.2AA and intestinal-associated markers

People with AA report ongoing intestinal discomfort but there has been limited investigation into a potential link between AA and intestinal inflammation. Beyond anecdotal patient-reported connections, a relationship between AA and the intestine is plausible because AA shares genetic risk factors with inflammatory diseases of intestinal origin including ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD) (Petukhova et al., 2010). Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the inhibitory receptor gene, BTNL2, have been significantly associated with AA (Petukhova et al., 2010), UC (Silverberg et al., 2009) and CD (Yang et al., 2014) in GWAS. HLA regions are also associated with risk of developing these diseases, for example HLA-DQA1 SNPs are significantly associated with both AA and UC (Asano et al., 2009). Notably, faecal microbial transplant induced hair regrowth in two AA patients (Rebello et al., 2017), however analysis of bacterial DNA in stool samples from a small cohort of AA patients did not reveal significant changes in the composition of the microbiome (Arrones et al., 2020).

In this chapter, we report that AA is not associated with significant changes to the proportions or numbers of gut homing T cells. However, the levels of zonulin were increased in AA circulation compared to HCs. Zonulin is a protein that regulates intestinal permeability by modulating tight junctions (Fasano et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2000), and is implicated in autoimmune diseases that are associated with intestinal permeability, including T1D (Sapone et al., 2006) and CeD (Drago et al., 2009). Zonulin is released by intestinal epithelial cells in response to gliadin or bacterial antigen binding the CXCR3 receptor (Lammers et al., 2008; Asmar et al., 2002). This causes the release of zonulin into the lumen, which transactivates the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) in an autocrine manner, leading to tight junction disassembly (Tripathi et al., 2009). Ultimately, these events lead to increased antigen exposure of the immune system which can cause aberrant immune responses. Connecting intestinal permeability with autoimmunity in remote tissues is complex. However it is accepted that aberrant intestinal responses, particularly against the microbiota, impact peripheral tolerance mechanisms and thus can perpetuate reactions to self-antigen (Lee et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2010). Whilst our data provide preliminary evidence that there may be increased intestinal permeability, interpolation of the concentrations of zonulin were not possible, thus the experiment must be repeated.

Faecal calprotectin was also measured, but was not found to be raised in AA patients. These results were expected as none of the AA patients had a diagnosis of IBD. However, a fraction of AA patients did have levels of faecal calprotectin above 150mg/kg; 153mg/kg, 158mg/kg and 292mg/kg. These data may indicate low levels of intestinal inflammation. However, due to the lack of HCs in this data set, it is not possible to understand whether these levels of calprotectin are also observed in the general population.

The observed increase in zonulin led to the hypothesis that AA may be associated with increased reactivity to food antigen. CeD is a disease characterised by immune reactivity to the gliadin peptide and the core immune mechanisms are very similar to AA, including NKG2D activation, IL-15 signalling and cytotoxic lymphocytes (Meresse et al., 2004). Furthermore, AA and CeD disease share genetic risk factors (Petukhova et al., 2010). Regions containing CTLA-4 and IL-21/-2 SNPs are shared genetic risk loci for both AA and CeD (van Heel et al., 2007; Dubois et al., 2010). A small study involving 12 children with AA indicated that five patients had a positive TTG test, and that a gluten-free diet resulted in hair regrowth (Ertekin et al., 2014). However, gluten free diet in adults with CeD and AA had no effect on hair loss (Bardella et al., 2000). We hypothesised that AA may be associated with increased incidence of CeD. Our initial data indicated that 13% of the AA cohort had increased levels of TTG IgA, as indicated by the assay's cut-off. This is approximately 10-fold higher than the global incidence rate (0.5-1%) of CeD (Gujral, 2012).

The TTG IgA assay is used clinically to diagnose CeD, alongside an endoscopy to confirm small intestinal inflammation. To verify our findings, TTG IgA levels were measured clinically in the five patients with high levels of antibodies. These data indicated that only 1 patient had clinically relevant levels of anti-TTG IgA, whereas the other 4 had normal levels. It can be concluded that a fraction of AA patients have raised levels of anti-TTG IgA, but these data are not indicative of levels associated with CeD. Thus, our data indicate that AA may not associated with increased incidence of CeD.

In addition to measuring circulating markers of intestinal inflammation, we sought to investigate the intestinal microbiome of AA patients. Unfortunately, these data could not be included in my thesis, however we can provide detail of our preliminary results. Stool samples were collected from AA patients (n=41) and HCs (n=19), bacterial DNA was extracted and the 16s regions were sequenced to identify the bacterial species in each sample. Our analyses indicated that the composition of the faecal microbiome is not significantly different in comparison to HCs. These data are somewhat disappointing because we hypothesised that the composition of the intestinal microbiome would be altered in AA, as observed in other autoimmune diseases, notably those affecting the skin including psoriasis (Hidalgo-Cantabrana et al., 2019). Despite no change in microbiota diversity, we did identify a significant reduction in Shannon Diversity Index in the AA cohort compared to HCs, indicating that the abundance

of specific bacterial species may be altered. We are now analysing these data further to understand how changes in abundance of specific bacteria are associated with AA, and incorporating clinical data to understand if disease length, disease severity and comorbidity status are associated with changes in bacterial composition.

4.9.3 Conclusion

Extensive analysis of the immunophenotype of individuals with AA has revealed changes in the CD4⁺ T cell and B cell compartments. In agreement with previous studies, AA is associated with an increase in the frequency of circulating CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells. These data also complement our findings in chapter 3 describing the increase in type 17 cytokines in peripheral blood.

This chapter also describes novel findings identifying changes in specific subsets of B cells in AA circulation. Frequencies of B cells in transitional and naïve compartments are elevated, which indicates an increased egress of immature B cells from the bone marrow into the mature naïve B cell pool. Transitional B cell frequencies are raised in patients with other autoimmune diseases and are reported to be enriched for cells that produce autoantibodies (Yurasov et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2019). Although one study has reported that AA is associated with increased levels of follicular autoantibodies (Tobin et al., 1994), the importance of autoantibodies in driving hair loss has not been reported. As discussed, it can by hypothesised that the systemic inflammatory environment, associated with the signature described in chapter 3, may contribute to the observed increase in transitional B cells.

The latter experiments described in this chapter reveal that AA is associated with raised levels of circulating zonulin. Whilst these data are preliminary, they provide novel evidence that intestinal permeability may be increased in people with AA. We also indicated that 13% (5/38) of AA patients have raised levels of anti-TTG IgA, but further investigation revealed that only 1 patient had clinically relevant levels of antibodies. Thus, our data indicate that AA is not associated with increased incidence of clinical CeD.

While examination of peripheral blood has generated some novel observations, it has not enabled us to substantially deepen our understanding of AA pathogenesis. We therefore decided on two approaches to explore this further, patient stratification (Chapter 5), and transcriptome analysis of AA skin (Chapter 6).

5 The relationship between distinct features of the peripheral immunophenotype and clinical parameters

5.1 Introduction

The presentation of hair loss caused by AA is extremely variable amongst affected individuals (Gilhar et al., 2012). The condition can cause a singular patch of hair loss, multiple patches or can become severe to affect the entire scalp. AA can also follow a relapsing-remitting pattern, involve facial and body hair loss, and is commonly associated with the development of other inflammatory diseases affecting the skin.

In the previous chapter, the cellular immunophenotype associated with AA was described in detail highlighting increases in the frequencies of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells and specific B cell subsets. In chapter 3, it was reported that type 17 cytokines, in addition to type 2 cytokines are elevated in AA circulation. Due to the heterogeneity of AA, we hypothesised that changes in the frequencies of specific cell subsets and systemic cytokine concentrations may be associated with specific clinical features. It was anticipated that these analyses would reveal novel aspects of AA pathogenesis, that could inform future clinical studies and treatment strategies. Thus, the aim of the experiments described in this chapter was:

To investigate the relationship between the systemic immunophenotype associated with AA and specific clinical parameters.

5.2 Participant characteristics

The cohort used for the analyses in this chapter was the same as chapter 4, as described in Table 5.1. However, a small proportion of these participants could not be included in the analysis where immunophenotyping datasets were partially incomplete. The AA cohort was stratified based on multiple clinical parameters including extent of hair loss, history of atopy and current treatment. The details of the cohorts used for each analysis are described in the figure legends.

The overall cohort included 39 AA patients: 4 in remission, 11 with <50% hair loss, 6 with >50% hair loss and 18 with total loss (>95% hair loss), and 20 HCs. 22 of the AA patients were atopic (history of hayfever, asthma and/or eczema), 7 had thyroid related illness, 2 had vitiligo, 1 had epilepsy and 1 had pernicious anaemia at time of recruitment. One of the female participants had pattern baldness in addition to a diagnosis of AA. None of the patients had a diagnosis of a major inflammatory disease, including CD, UC, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), psoriatic arthritis (PsA), psoriasis (PsO), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) or ankylosing spondylitis (AS). A proportion of patients were receiving treatment when recruited: 8 patients were receiving intralesional steroid injections, 9 were receiving diphenylcyclopropenone (DCP) treatment and 1 patient was receiving methotrexate. 21 patients (54%) were not receiving any treatment. Healthy controls were recruited to age and gender match the AA patient cohort.

Table 5.1 Characteristics of participants with alopecia areata and healthy controls.

Peripheral blood collected from these individuals were used for analyses of circulating immune cells and cytokines. The cohort was stratified based on specific clinical parameters to assess the relationship between changes in the peripheral immunophenotype and subgroups of AA patients. SD; standard deviation, IL steroids; intralesional steroids.

	Alopecia areata	Healthy controls
Total	39	20
Gender F/M	31/8	16/4
Age (years) ± SD	Female 46 ± 11.6 Male 37 ± 10.3	Female 42 ± 9.5 Male 28 ± 7
Disease duration (years) Average ± SD	1-46 16 ± 11.4	
Disease severity Inactive AP1, <50% scalp hair loss AP2, >50% scalp hair loss AT, >95% scalp hair loss	4 11 6 18	
Comorbidities Atopic Thyroid illness Vitiligo Epilepsy Pattern baldness Pernicious anaemia	22 7 2 1 1 1	
Treatment None Diphencyprone IL steroids Methotrexate	21 9 8 1	

5.3 Processing of data for comparative and subset regression analysis

Frequencies of CD4 T cell, CD8 T cell and B cell subsets as described in chapter 4 were used for stratification analysis conducted in R. Prior to analysis, the frequency data were normalised using 'edgeR' and 'DESeq' packages, and then transformed using the hyperbolic Arcsinh method with a cofactor of 5. This Arcsinh function transforms the flow cytometry data on a linear scale, and then displays data which is beyond the threshold (cofactor) in a log scale (Amir et al.,

2013). This is useful when comparing multiple variables. These data were then analysed using one-way ANOVA to identify significant differences between patient sub-groups.

Subset regression analysis was used to identify positive and negative relationships between cell subsets, cytokines and clinical parameters as described in the following sections. The model, $Y_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_{1i} + \beta_2 X_{2i} + \beta_3 X_{3i} + \epsilon_i$, was fitted where Y_i represents the chosen clinical parameter (dependent variable) and X represents the cell frequency or cytokine concentration data (independent variable). Models were generated using the 'leaps' package (<u>https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/leaps/leaps.pdf</u>) which identifies the best variables in X for predicting Y (D'Amore et al., 2016). Models were then tested for their predictive accuracy and ranked according to cross-validation error (CVE). The CVE represents the average difference between the model's estimated values and the true values. The p-values associated with positive and negative predictors selected by the most accurate model, as indicated by the lowest CVE, are presented in heat maps.

5.4 Relationship between frequencies of circulating CD4 T cells, cytokines and clinical parameters

In chapter 4, it was reported that the frequency of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells was increased in AA circulation compared to HCs. Here we investigate if this observation is associated with extent of scalp hair loss. Patients were stratified based on the Severity of Alopecia Tool (SALT) score into four groups as described in Table 5.1; inactive (SALT 0), AP1 (<50% loss), AP2 (>50% loss) and AT (>95% loss). Only two patients in the CD4 T cell dataset had inactive disease and were therefore removed from the analysis. Stratification indicated that the frequency of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells is specifically increased in the AP1 group in comparison to HCs (Figure 5.1). CXCR3⁺ CCR6⁺ (DP) CD4 T cells and skin homing DP CD4 T cells were significantly increased in the AP1 group compared to HCs and the AT cohort. Whereas, the proportion of CD4 T cells were elevated in AP1 patients compared to HCs. Stratification also indicated a significant increase in the frequencies of skin homing CD4 T cells and gut homing DP CD4 T cells in the AP1 group compared to the AT cohort (Figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1 Comparison of CD4 T cell subsets between HCs and AA cohorts stratified by extent of hair loss

Normalised observed values of frequencies of CD4 T cell subsets in HCs (n=15) and subgroups of AA patients with <50% hair loss (AP1, n=10), >50% hair loss (AP2, n=5), >95% total hair loss (AT, n=17). Means are plotted. DN, double negative CXCR3⁻ CCR6⁻ CD4 T cells. Data were normalised using 'edgeR' and 'DESeq' packages, and then transformed using the hyperbolic Arcsinh method. Statistical differences between groups were determined by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction, *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

Using subset regression analysis, we tested the strength of the relationship between changes in the frequencies of circulating CD4 T cell subsets and patchy

hair loss (AP1 group). The most accurate model indicated that the frequency of CXCR3⁺ CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells positively and significantly predicted AP1 status (adjR²=0.281, Figure 5.2). This model also indicated a weaker, but significant negative association between AP1 status and the frequency of gut homing (CCR9⁺) CD4 T cells.





A regression model was fitted where Yi represents AP1 diagnosis and independent variables represent the CD4 T cell data set. The heatmap represents significant positive (red) and negative (blue) predictors indicated by the model with the lowest cross-validated error (0.337), $adjR^2$ =0.281, *p<0.05, ***p<0.001.

Collectively, these data indicate an association between patchy AA (AP1) and increased frequency of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cell populations, particularly with the double positive, CXCR3⁺ CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells. We hypothesised that there may also be a relationship between patchy AA and circulating type 1 or type 2 cytokines.

However, in chapter 3 it was reported that increased levels of systemic cytokines do not associate with patchy hair loss (Figures 3.5 and 3.6). There was also no association between history of atopy and changes in the proportions of CD4 T cell subsets.

A proportion of participants were receiving treatment when recruited to the study (Table 5.1). Stratification of the cohort based on different treatment types indicated that IL steroid therapy is associated with a significant increase in the frequency of skin homing CD4 T cells, DP CD4 T cells, skin homing DP CD4 T cells and skin homing CXCR3⁺ CD4 T cells compared to HCs and the AA no treatment group (Figure 5.3). There was also a significant increase in the frequency of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells in the IL steroid group, compared to HCs (Figure 5.3).

To investigate the relationship between this therapy and CD4 T cells subsets further, the AP1 cohort was stratified based on IL steroid or no treatment. These analyses indicate that an increase in the frequency of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells is associated with participants with or without IL steroid treatment (Figure 5.4). However, the increase in the frequency of skin homing CD4 T cells, DP CD4 T cells, skin homing DP CD4 T cells, skin homing CXCR3⁺ CD4 T and skin homing DN CD4 T cells were only associated with those receiving IL steroids. There was also a significant decrease in the frequency of DN CD4 T cells and gut homing DN CD4 T cells in AP1 IL steroid group compared to the AP1 no treatment group, however this was not observed when compared to HCs.



Groups 🖷 HC 🖷 None 🖷 DCP 🖷 IL steroid 🕸 Methotrexate

Figure 5.3 Comparison of CD4 T cell subsets between HCs and AA cohorts stratified by treatment

Normalised observed values of frequencies of CD4 T cell subsets in HCs (n=15) and subgroups of AA patients with no treatment or receiving diphencyprone (DCP, n=6), intralesional steroid (IL steroid, n=6) or methotrexate (n=1) treatment. DN, double negative CXCR3⁻ CCR6⁻ CD4 T cells. Means are plotted. Data were normalised using 'edgeR' and 'DESeq' packages, and then transformed using the hyperbolic Arcsinh method. Statistical differences between groups were determined by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction, *p<0.05, **p<0.01.



Groups 🖶 HC 🕸 AP1_none 🕸 AP1_IL_steroid 🕸 NA

Figure 5.4 Comparison of CD4 T cell subsets between HCs and AP1 cohorts stratified by IL steroid treatment

Normalised observed values of frequencies of CD4 T cell subsets in HCs (n=15) and subgroups of AA patients with <50% hair loss with IL steroid treatment (AP1_IL_steroid, n=5) or without treatment (AP1_none, n=4). NA group represents remaining AA patients in the AA cohort. Means are plotted. DN, double negative CXCR3⁻ CCR6⁻ CD4 T cells. Data were normalised using 'edgeR' and 'DESeq' packages, and then transformed using the hyperbolic Arcsinh method. Statistical differences between groups were determined by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, **p<0.001.

5.5 Relationship between frequencies of circulating B cells, cytokines and clinical parameters

In chapter 4, it was reported that frequencies of total B cells, naïve B cells and transitional B cells are elevated in AA circulation compared to HCs. Stratification of AA patients based on extent of hair loss indicated a significant increase in the frequency of total B cells, naïve B cells, total mature B cells and transitional B cells in the AP1 and AT groups in comparison to HCs (Figure 5.5). Thus, in contrast to the CD4 T cell data, the increase in the proportions of B cell subsets are associated with both patchy and severe hair loss, and not specific to a subgroup of patients. Stratification also indicated that the AP1 group is specifically associated with an increase in the frequency of CD43⁺ class-switched B cells, and the AT group is associated with an increase in the frequency of total non-transitional B cells in comparison to HCs (Figure 5.5).










Figure 5.5 Comparison of B cell subsets between HCs and AA cohorts stratified by extent of hair loss

Normalised observed values of frequencies of B cell subsets in HCs (n=16) and subgroups of AA patients with <50% hair loss (AP1, n=8), >50% hair loss (AP2, n=3) and >95% total hair loss (AT, n=9). Means are plotted. Data were normalised using 'edgeR' and 'DESeq' packages, and then transformed using the hyperbolic Arcsinh method. Statistical differences between groups were determined by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction, *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

The known pathogenic link between aberrant B cell responses and allergy, and the high incidence of atopy in AA cohorts, led us to hypothesise that the changes in frequencies of B cell subsets may be attributed to presence of atopy. Stratification of the cohort based on history of atopy indicated that the frequency of B cells, mature B cells, naïve B cells, non-transitional B cells and transitional B cells are significantly elevated in atopic AA patients in comparison to HCs (Figure 5.6). The frequencies of these subsets were not raised in nonatopic AA patients, but there was a significant increase in the frequency of unswitched resting B cells compared to HCs (Figure 5.6).













Normalised observed values of frequencies of B cell subsets in HCs (n=16) and subgroups of AA patients with AA only (AA non-atopic, n=8) and AA in addition to atopy (atopic, n=12). Data were normalised using 'edgeR' and 'DESeq' packages, and then transformed using the hyperbolic Arcsinh method. Means are plotted. Statistical differences between groups were determined by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

We sought to test the relationship between circulating B cell frequencies and atopy further using subset regression analysis (Figure 5.7). The most accurate model implicated nine B cell populations as significant predictors of atopy status ($adjR^2=0.513$). The most significant positive predictors were naïve and IgM memory B cells, whereas the most significant negative predictors were IgM memory resting, CD43⁺ IgM memory and class-switched plasma B cells. 10 B cell populations were implicated as significant predictors of non-atopic AA status ($adjR^2=0.440$). As expected, 6 of the independent variables selected in the nonatopic model overlapped with the atopic model, but in the opposite direction.



Figure 5.7 Significant B cell predictors of atopy and non-atopy

Regression models were fitted where Yi represents AA atopic or AA non-atopic status, and independent variables represent the B cell data set. The heatmap represents significant positive (red) and negative (blue) predictors indicated by the model with the lowest cross-validated error. AA atopic adjR² =0.513 (CVE=0.40), non-atopic adjR²=0.440 (CVE=0.357) *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

The B cell data were stratified based on current treatment (Figure 5.8). The frequency of naïve, total mature and transitional B cells were elevated in groups receiving DCP or IL steroid treatment, and in patients who were not receiving treatment in comparison to HCs. Thus indicating that changes in proportions of naïve, mature and transitional B cells are independent of treatment. However, the frequencies of total B cells and non-transitional B cells were elevated in both the IL steroid and DCP groups, but not in un-treated patients. Furthermore, DCP treatment was specifically associated with increased proportions of DN plasma, switched plasma and unswitched resting populations.











Methotrexate

Figure 5.8 Comparison of B cell subsets between HCs and AA cohorts stratified by treatment Normalised observed values of frequencies of B cell subsets in HCs (n=16) and subgroups of AA patients with no treatment (n=10) or receiving diphencyprone (DCP, n=4), intralesional steroid (IL steroid, n=5) or methotrexate (n=1) treatment. DN plasma; CD27⁻IgD⁻ plasma B cells. Means are plotted. Data were normalised using 'edgeR' and 'DESeq' packages, and then transformed using the hyperbolic Arcsinh method. Statistical differences between groups were determined by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001



B cells *

AA 12 A #12

IgM mem plasma

Naive

A A

Transitional *

AA 143

A 14

DCP'

Methotrexate

IL steroid

None⁷

HC

AA 128

AA 13 AA #118

A

AA .

A 113

1.5

1.0

0.008

0.006

0.004

0.002

1.6

1.2

0.8

0.4

0.25

0.20

0.15

0.10

0.05

0.00

0.20

0.15

0.10 0.05

Observed Values

81 12







5.6 Relationship between frequencies of circulating CD8 T cells, cytokines and clinical parameters

It was reported in chapter 4 that the frequencies of circulating CD8⁺ T cells are not changed in this AA cohort compared to HCs. This was somewhat surprising given the important role of CD8 T cells in driving AA pathogenesis. It was hypothesised that changes in the frequencies of CD8 T cell populations may exist within specific subsets of patients. Stratification of patients based on extent of hair loss revealed that the frequency of skin homing CD8 T cells and skin homing effector memory (TEM) CD8 T cells are significantly reduced in the AT group in comparison to those with patchy hair loss (AP1). However, this decrease was not apparent when compared with HCs (Figure 5.9). These analyses also indicated that the frequency of gut-homing central memory (TCM) CD8 T cells are reduced in the AP1 group when compared to HCs.



Figure 5.9 Comparison of CD8 T cell subsets between HCs and AA cohorts stratified by extent of hair loss

Normalised observed values of frequencies of CD8 T cell subsets in HCs (n=18) and subgroups of AA patients with <50% hair loss (AP1, n=10), >50% hair loss (AP2, n=4) and >95% total hair loss (AT, n=16). Means are plotted. DN, double negative CCR7⁻CD45R0⁻ CD8 T cells; TCM, central memory; TEM, effector memory. Data were normalised using 'edgeR' and 'DESeq' packages, and then transformed using the hyperbolic Arcsinh method. Statistical differences between groups were determined by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction, *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

It was hypothesised that a decrease in the frequency of circulating CD8 T cells in individuals with severe AA is caused by increased egress of cells from blood due to greater surface area of skin involvement. To test this hypothesis, we used subset regression to identify CD8 T cell subsets that are associated with individuals who have lost all body hair. This group of patients had varied SALT scores but had no hair on their face and body. The strongest model implicated total CD8 T cells and gut-homing CD8 TEM cells as negative predictors of total body involvement status. However, this model had a low adjusted correlation coefficient and only described approximately 18% of the variance (data not shown, $adjR^2=0.182$). Importantly, subset regression indicated that changes in these CD8 T cell populations were not associated with having partial or no body hair loss (data not shown).

It was hypothesised that circulating cytokines may also be associated with total body hair loss. However, subset regression did not identify significant cytokine predictors of body involvement.

5.7 Discussion

The data described in chapters 3 and 4 indicated that AA is associated with a complex peripheral cytokine and cellular signature, characterised by elevated concentrations of type 17 and type 2 cytokines, and changes in the frequencies of circulating CD4 T cells and B cell subsets. In this chapter, these data are described in more depth by assessing how changes in the circulating immunophenotype relate to different subgroups of AA patients.

Patient stratification is now used in various fields of medicine to improve clinical care by using molecular biomarkers to predict treatment response, and for identifying patients who are likely to relapse or continue in a state of remission. In the context of autoimmune disease research, stratification is useful for dissecting pathological mechanisms that drive specific disease pathotypes, and often facilitates better translation of findings from basic research to a clinical setting (Delhalle et al., 2018). AA can be stratified based on extent of hair loss into patchy (AP) and severe disease (AT), including alopecia totalis and alopecia universalis. At a cellular level, the current understanding indicates that all forms of acute AA are associated with peribulbar infiltration of lymphocytes (Alkhalifah

et al., 2010). However, there is still a limited understanding of immune mechanisms that define differences between patchy and severe disease states. This has limited development of therapies, especially for refractory AT and AU.

In recent years, a number of studies have begun to characterise differences between AA subgroups. At a histopathological level, chronic and acute AA may be defined by the number of follicles, and the ratio of terminal-vellus hairs (Whiting, 2003). Acute AA is associated with dense follicular infiltration of lymphocytes surrounding anagen hair bulbs. Whereas, in chronic AA, the terminal-vellus ratio is reduced to approximately 1:1 from the normal 7:1, and follicular infiltration is reduced (Whiting, 2003). Microarray analysis of AP and AT biopsies indicates that AT/AU is associated with greater differential expression in immune-related genes when compared to AP disease, and that specific immune gene sets are down regulated in patients of more than 5 years disease duration compared to those of shorter disease duration (Jabbari et al., 2016).

To expand on current knowledge, we sought to investigate how circulating immune cells and cytokines associate with different AA disease states. We first stratified our AA cohort based on extent of hair loss to determine if the changes in frequencies of immune cell subsets are associated with AP or AT. In the previous chapter, it was reported that the frequency of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells are increased in AA patients compared to HCs. Here, we report that the increased proportion of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells is specifically associated with the AP1 group (<50% hair loss). Additionally, AP1 is associated with an increase in the frequency of total CD4 T cells, DP (CCR6⁺ CXCR3⁺) CD4 T cells and skin homing DP (CLA⁺ CCR6⁺ CXCR3⁺) CD4 T cells in comparison to HCs. Furthermore, subset regression indicated that the DP CD4 T cell population is significantly and positively associated with AP1 status.

A published study reported that the frequency of IFN γ^+ CLA⁻ CD4 T cells are decreased and IL-13⁺ CLA⁻ CD4 T cells are increased in people with patchy hair loss when compared to HCs (Czarnowicki et al., 2017), but this study did not compare CCR6⁺ or IL-17⁺ CD4 T cell populations between different AA cohorts and HCs. Another study found that the frequency of Th17 (IL-17⁺) cells were unchanged when comparing mild (<49% loss) with severe AA cohorts (Han et al., 2015), but this study did not compare mild AA with HCs, thus we cannot directly compare their findings with our results. Interestingly, Han et al (2015) did identify an increase in the frequency of Th17 cells in patients described as having 'active' disease with a positive hair pull test (Han et al., 2015), and in those with a disease duration of <6 months compared to >6 months. The hair pull test involves applying force to 10-15 hairs at the margin of a patch, and a positive result is indicated when more than 10% of hairs fall out. In our study, only 9% (3/32) of the AA cohort had a disease duration of 1 year or less, thus it wasn't possible to ascertain if we also see a significant association between frequencies of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells and a short disease duration.

To our knowledge, DP CD4 T cells have not been studied in the context of AA. In this chapter, we report that increased proportions of DP CD4 T cells and skin homing DP CD4 T cells are specifically associated with AP1 status. CD4 T cells that co-express CXCR3 and CCR6 are associated with dual Th1 and Th17 effector function, and therefore have the capacity to produce both IFN γ and IL-17A (Acosta-Rodriguez et al., 2007). Usually, the direction of Th17/1 cell plasticity involves Th17 cells acquiring a Th1 effector function (Nistala et al., 2010; Hirota et al., 2011). Effector T cell plasticity is considered to be important in tissue specific immune responses against pathogens (DuPage & Bluestone, 2016; Geginat et al., 2016), but is also implicated in the pathogenesis of a variety of chronic inflammatory diseases (Harbour et al., 2015; Bending et al., 2009).

In CD patients, a specific population of intestinal memory CXCR3⁺ CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells have been identified, that are hyper-responsive to IL-23 and are resistant to glucocorticoids, highlighting the pathogenic potential of this subset (Ramesh et al., 2014). As discussed previously, blocking IL-17A does not seem to be useful in driving hair regrowth in AA patients (Guttman-Yassky et al., 2018). Therefore, the DP subset is perhaps not interesting from a IL-17A production perspective. However, Th1/17 cells could be an important contributor of IFN γ , and therefore contribute to potentiating the CD8 T cell responses against HFs. Further analysis of this DP CD4 T cell subset is required to confirm they have the capacity to produce IL-17A and IFN γ , and that the cells express Th1 and Th17-associated transcription factors (Wang et al., 2014).

Stratification of cytokine data did not reveal associations between type 17 cytokines and AP1 diagnosis. However, in chapter 3 it was reported that the levels of IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-21, IL-31 and IL-17E are elevated in the AT group, compared to HCs. Collectively, these findings indicate that there is not an obvious correlation between increased proportions of circulating CCR6⁺ CD4 T cell subsets and higher expression of inflammatory cytokines.

The robust association between the AP1 group and increased frequencies of CCR6⁺ and DP CD4 T cell populations may indicate distinct differences between patchy and severe disease. Alternatively, it is plausible that this phenotype is not related to extent of hair loss but is indicative of active disease, as indicated by Han et al (2015). In this case, the association between AP1 disease and CCR6⁺ and DP CD4 T cell populations may be apparent because patients with <50% hair loss are more likely to experience relapsing-remitting AA; these AP1 patients may more closely mirror acute AA in comparison to those with severe disease. It may be the case that CCR6⁺ CD4 T cell populations are crucial for initiating or maintaining CD8 T cell activity against HFs, but are less important once all scalp hair has been lost.

To investigate the relationship between AA and CD4 T cells further, the AA cohort was stratified based on current treatment. IL steroid treatment was associated with enriched frequencies of skin homing CD4 T cells, DP CD4 T cells, skin homing DP CD4 T cells and skin homing CXCR3⁺ CD4 T cells, in comparison to HCs. However, the increase in proportion of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells was observed in both untreated and IL steroid treated AP1 patients. These observations indicate that the increase in CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells in the AP1 group is independent of treatment effect. Whilst these data are interesting, they must be regarded as preliminary because the groups involve low numbers of participants (AP1 IL steroid, n= 5, AP1 no treatment, n=4). Nevertheless, initiation of oral glucocorticoid treatment to patients with inflammatory conditions is known to be associated with causing an increase in circulating PBMCs (Shoenfeld et al., 1981). However, this is reported to be specifically associated with neutrophilia (Liles et al., 1995). We did not measure the proportions of circulating neutrophils, however we did not observe changes in the proportions of other live

leukocytes between treatment groups, thus indicating that IL steroid treatment may be associated with specific changes to CD4 T cell proportions.

Triamcinolone intradermal injections are intended to have local effects, however side effects that are associated with systemic administration of glucocorticoids are also reported to be associated with IL injections, suggesting systemic absorption. There is extensive literature indicating that glucocorticoids directly cause apoptosis of immune cells, including T cells (Herold et al., 2005), but more recently it has been shown that Th17 cells can be resistant to glucocorticoids via inhibition of apoptosis by downstream actions of the transcription factors, BCL-2 and ROR γ t (Banuelos et al., 2016; Ramesh et al., 2014). Furthermore, glucocorticoids have been shown to drive expression of a Th17 cell attractant, CCL20, in the lung epithelium (Zijlstra et al., 2014). Whilst we are unable to confirm that IL steroids used for AA treatment are systemically absorbed, it can be hypothesised that administration of corticosteroids, albeit useful in promoting hair regrowth for some patients, can cause CCR6⁺ CD4 T cell expansion, particularly the DP compartment. It may also be the case that the observed altered CD4 T cell phenotype is independent of the steroids, and can be attributed to effects caused by induction of hair regrowth or relapsing disease occurring in between treatment administration. Longitudinal analysis following relapsing-remitting AA will be required to indicate an association between CD4 T cell proportions and different disease states.

We next assessed the relationship between changes in B cell proportions and extent of hair loss. In contrast to the CD4 T cell findings, the increase in the proportions of B cells, naive B cells, total mature B cells and transitional B cells were associated with both patchy and severe AA. The increase in proportions of these B cell subsets was also observed in the AP2 group compared to HCs, however this result is not reliable as this group is underpowered (n=3). These data suggest that the majority of changes in the frequencies of B cell subsets are not related to extent of hair loss. However, we did observe that non-transitional B cells were specifically enriched in the AT group compared to HCs, whereas CD43⁺ class-switched cells were elevated in the AP1 group compared to HCs. It was hypothesised that changes in proportions of B cells may be attributed to presence of atopic individuals within the AA cohort. ANOVA analysis indicated that elevated proportions of B cells, non-transitional B cells, naïve B cells, total mature B cells and transitional B cells are specifically associated with AA individuals who are atopic in comparison to HCs. Subset regression confirmed this strong relationship, where the model selected 9 B cell subsets as significant predictors of atopic status. The strongest positive predictors of atopy AA were the naive and IgM memory populations. It may be hypothesised that the increased proportion of naïve B cells associated with atopic AA is directly attributed to increased egress of transitional B cells, which may indicate an increased abundance of autoreactive B cells, as discussed in chapter 3. The relationship observed with the increased frequency of the IgM memory population may indicate that atopic AA is associated with elevated T cell-independent B cell responses (Weller, 2004).

Patients with allergic rhinitis also have raised frequencies of B cells in peripheral blood, in addition to CD27⁺ memory B cells (Luo et al., 2018). Furthermore, atopic dermatitis patients have increased proportions of circulating CD27⁺ memory subsets (Czarnowicki et al., 2016). Our ANOVA analysis did not identify changes in proportions of CD27⁺ B cell populations, however regression modelling indicated that CD27⁺ (both unswitched and switched) subsets are indeed predictors of atopy. Further investigation is required to elucidate the true functional relationship between specific B cell populations and atopic AA.

In chapter 3, stratification of the multiplex cytokine data didn't identify any associations between specific cytokines and atopic AA. Instead, the levels of IL-31, IL-33, IL-17E, IL-17A and IL-23 were significantly increased in both AA atopic and AA non-atopic individuals, compared to HCs. Thus, similar to the CD4 T cell analysis, the data indicate that changes in proportions of circulating B cell subsets and cytokines appear to be independent of each other.

We are unable to conclude whether the changes in B cell phenotype are solely related to atopy, or if they are indicative of a specific population of AA patients. To assess this question, comparison of the AA non-atopic and AA atopic data sets with an atopic population is required. However, it is important to highlight that the incidence of atopy in the general population is approximately 20% (Kay et al., 1994; Thomsen, 2015), thus our HC cohort will likely include a proportion of atopic individuals. It is plausible that the atopic AA cohort may represent a distinct pathotype of AA, and better characterisation of this cohort may identify alternative therapeutic options for atopic-AA patients. Interestingly, there are a number of studies suggesting that presence of atopy promotes and potentially exacerbates AA (Zhang & McElwee, 2020). Mutations in filaggrin (FLG), an epidermal protein important for maintaining effective barrier function in the skin, are strong risk factors for atopic disease, and FLG mutations are also associated with severe forms of AA (Betz et al., 2007). Furthermore, elevated serum IgE is associated with non-atopic cohorts of AA patients (Bakry et al., 2014; Attia et al., 2010). Taken together, our data and findings from published studies highlight the importance of understanding how atopic mechanisms may contribute to AA pathology in a large proportion of AA patients.

We also assessed the relationship between treatment and the circulating B cell phenotype. The increase in proportions of naïve, mature and transitional B cells were associated with patients receiving DCP, IL steroid or no treatment, indicating that changes in these populations are not associated with a specific therapy. Interestingly, increased proportions of DN plasma, switched plasma and unswitched resting populations were specifically associated with DCP treatment. No associations were observed between changes in the frequencies of CD4 T cell populations and DCP treatment. DCP drives a delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) reaction, and is arguably one of the most useful treatments for AA (Spano & Donovan, 2015). The mechanisms responsible for efficacy of DCP treatment are not known, but the treatment is reported to increase IL-10 production (Gulati et al., 2014) and is also described to promote 'antigenic competition' which may cause non-specific suppression of AA-associated pathogenic T cells (Singh & Lavanya, 2010). It is particularly interesting that the frequency of switched plasma B cells is elevated in association with DCP treatment. It may be hypothesised that DCP treatment is driving activation and class-switching of B cells. However, based on our data, we cannot conclude whether DCP is specifically driving B cell activation or whether this response may be important for promoting hair regrowth in AA. Further investigation is required in larger AA cohorts to confirm if this B cell phenotype is specifically related to DCP

treatment. Taken together our data indicate that, in contrast to the CD4 T cell data, the changes in proportions of total mature B cells, naïve B cells and transitional B cell subsets appear to be independent of treatment. Whereas, changes in proportions of switched plasma cells are associated with DCP therapy.

Finally, the CD8 T cell data were stratified based on extent of hair loss. The proportions of gut homing TCM CD8 T cells were significantly decreased in the AP1 group in comparison to HCs. It can be hypothesised that this observation indicates increased egress of TCM CD8 T cells from peripheral blood to the intestine. These data are in agreement with the negative association observed between gut homing CD4 T cells and AP1 status by subset regression. Together, these data provide preliminary evidence for potential intestinal involvement in individuals with patchy hair loss.

Interestingly, the proportions of skin homing CD8 T cells and TEM CD8 T cells are significantly reduced in the AT group in comparison to the AP1 cohort. It was hypothesised that increased body involvement, i.e. AA that involves the scalp and the body, is associated with reduction in frequencies of circulating CD8 T cells due to migration of cells from the blood to the skin. Consistent with this hypothesis, regression modelling identified a negative association between CD8 T cells and total body hair loss. However, the model was fairly weak, explaining only 18% of the variability associated with total body involvement.

Based on these data it can be concluded that, as a whole, the proportions of peripheral CD8 T cells are not altered in AA, but there is an association between decreased CD8 T cells and total body involvement. Severe AA is notoriously difficult to treat with available treatments, thus understanding how scalp hair loss develops from a localised CD8 T cell response to effect other areas of the skin will be important for development of novel therapies.

5.7.1 Conclusion

In this chapter, stratification of the AA cohort by extent of hair loss, current treatment and history of atopy has facilitated the identification of specific aspects of the immunophenotype that are associated with subgroups of AA patients. Less than 50% scalp involvement (AP1) is associated with increased

proportion of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cell populations, particularly the DP subset. Whereas, circulating CD8 T cell proportions are not altered when comparing the AA cohorts with HCs, but are significantly reduced in the severe AA subgroup in comparison to the AP1 group. Due to low numbers of samples, it wasn't possible to identify specific changes associated with individuals in the AP2 group. Interestingly, the robust B cell phenotype reported to be associated with AA in chapter 4, is in fact strongly related to individuals with atopic AA. These observations build on pervious published studies that atopic AA represents a distinct form of AA.

Analysis of circulating cytokines in different subgroups of patients indicates that cytokine levels and changes to proportions of immune cell subsets appear to be independent of each other. CCR6⁺ T cells are elevated in AP1 individuals, whereas the type 17 cytokines, IL-17A, IL-17F and IL-21 are elevated in AT individuals. Furthermore, atopy does not appear to be specifically associated with changes in the concentration of circulating cytokines. Instead, the levels of IL-17A, IL-23, IL-31, IL-33 and IL-17E are associated with both atopic and non-atopic AA patients.

The main challenge associated with identifying immune parameters associated with specific disease states is the lack of a marker for disease activity. A hair pull test can be useful in some cases but is not preferred by most patients or dermatologists because it involves pulling hair from the scalp. A molecular tool, referred to as the ALADIN score, has been developed as an indicator of activity (Jabbari et al., 2016). The score measures transcriptome signatures associated with cytotoxic T cells, IFN signalling and keratin pathways (Jabbari et al., 2016). Whilst useful for analysis of transcriptome datasets, this tool doesn't enable stratification of patients based on activity in a clinical setting. Based on our data, we suggest that to identify peripheral activity markers, longitudinal collection of blood samples may be required. This would allow analysis of immune markers between relapsing episodes, and also to assess changes associated with treatment response and relapse post-treatment.

Nevertheless, the analysis described in this chapter provides an in-depth understanding of how the changes in proportions of CD4 T cells, CD8 T cells and B cells in peripheral blood relate to different forms of AA. However, the data described so far have not enabled identification of novel pathways critical for AA pathology. To address this, transcriptome analysis of AA scalp biopsies was conducted and is described in the following chapter.

6 Identification and validation of enriched transcriptomic signatures in AA skin samples

6.1 Introduction

In the previous chapters, the data presented described the complex immunophenotype associated with AA, and how certain features are attributed to specific sub-groups of patients. These data have highlighted novel avenues to explore in AA pathogenesis that may be useful for identifying disease activity markers, and for understanding different AA pathotypes. However, observations obtained from peripheral blood do not necessarily indicate cell types or pathways critical for driving hair loss.

As discussed previously, JAK inhibitors and cytokine-blocking interventions have proven to be useful for some AA patients in clinical studies (Xing et al., 2014; Crispin et al., 2016). However, the current therapeutic landscape for AA remains limited, especially compared to other fields of autoimmunity where immunotherapies are routinely used. To facilitate unbiased identification of key drivers of AA pathology in the affected tissue we performed bulk RNA sequencing of AA scalp biopsies. It was anticipated that this approach would identify important aspects of AA pathology that may have been previously overlooked. Thus, the aims of the experiments described in this chapter were:

- 1. To identify differentially expressed gene sets in AA compared to HC skin
- 2. To identify pathways associated with upregulated and downregulated gene sets in AA compared to HC skin
- 3. To examine enriched immune signatures in AA skin using CIBERSORT
- 4. To validate enriched signatures using immunohistochemistry

6.2 Participant characteristics

Punch biopsies were obtained from 7 AA patients and 3 HCs for transcriptomic analysis using bulk RNA-sequencing (Table 6.1). The AA patients included five with AT disease (>95% hair loss) and two with patchy hair loss (one <50% and the other >50% hair loss). All patient samples were obtained from an AA lesion and not the perilesional region. The age range of the AA participants was between 19 to 70 years, and the disease duration varied greatly, from 1 to 55 years. Three of the AA patients had a diagnosis of a thyroid condition, and four were atopic. No patients had a diagnosis of any major inflammatory disease including CD, UC, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), psoriatic arthritis (PsA), psoriasis (PsO), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) or ankylosing spondylitis (AS). At the time of donating a biopsy, two patients were undergoing treatment with diphenylcyclopropenone (DCP).

For the immunohistochemistry studies, sections from a biopsy obtained from an additional patient, AA194, were utilised. Participant AA194 had <50% hair loss, a history of atopy and was receiving IL steroid treatment at the time of recruitment. Three HCs were recruited to donate a scalp biopsy for comparison purposes.

Table 6.1 Characteristics of AA patients and HCs

Skin samples collected from eleven individuals were used for bulk RNA-sequencing and/or immunohistochemistry experiments. DCP; diphenylcyclopropenone, AA; alopecia areata, HC; healthy control, F; female, SALT; severity of alopecia tool.

Participant ID	Age/Gender	SALT score	Disease duration (years)	Treatment	Comorbidities
AA112	64/F	100	7	DCP	Thyroid condition
AA 131	19/F	96.6	12	-	Atopic
AA 135	55/F	100	30	-	Atopic
AA 136	70/F	32	55	-	-
AA 143	32/F	62.6	20	DCP	Atopic
AA 151	52/F	100	1	-	Thyroid condition
AA 159	39/F	100	10	-	Atopic
AA194	33/F	11.33	1	IL steroid	Atopic
HC 3	27/F	-	-	-	-
HC 4	66/F	-	-	-	-
HC 6	23/F	-	-	-	-

6.3 RNA sequencing quality control

The RNA integrity number (RIN) was above 7 for all AA and HC samples, confirming retrieval of high quality RNA. A representative RIN plot is shown in Figure 6.1A and RIN values for each sample are indicated in Table 6.2. The Phred scores were also high for all of the sample libraries indicating that the accuracy of the base selection during sequencing was optimal (Figure 6.1C). Principal component analysis (PCA) indicated distinct clustering of AA and HC samples, with 20.9% and 20.61% of the variability described by PC1 and PC2, respectively (Figure 6.1B).

Sample ID	Disease group	RIN value	
112	AA	8.9	
131	AA	9.0	
135	AA	7.7	
136	AP	8.6	
143	AP	9.3	
151	AA	8.7	
159	AA	9.7	
3	HC	9.0	
4	НС	8.9	
6	НС	8.9	

Table 6.2 Quality of extracted RNA from AA and HC scalp biopsies.

RNA integrity number (RIN) for all samples as indicated by a fragment analyser. RNA obtained from samples was high quality with RIN values between 7.7-9.7.





6.4 Differential expression analysis

Differential expression (DE) analysis revealed upregulation of 162 and downregulation of 417 genes in AA compared to HC skin, as represented in the hierarchically clustered heatmap and volcano plot (log2fold >1, adjP<0.05, Figure 6.2A, B). The heatmap illustrates distinct clustering of the AA samples indicating that the AA transcriptome is consistently different from HC samples. AA samples did not cluster according to hair loss severity (Figure 6.2A). Six of the most significantly upregulated genes in AA skin are depicted (Figure 6.2C). They include *ppargc1a* (transcriptional coactivator), three immune genes (*hladqa2*, *ccl13*, *lsp1*), *scn7a* (*sodium channel*) and *padi2* (post-translational modification enzyme).





(A) Hierarchically clustered heatmap of differentially expressed genes identified between AA and HC skin samples (log2fold > 1, adjusted P value < 0.05). The x and y axis were clustered using Spearman distances and UPMGA agglomeration, and expression levels are represented as z-scores. (B) Volcano plot indicating log2fold change and p-values of significantly (red) DE genes between AA and HCs. (C) Normalised expression counts of six most upregulated genes in AA compared to HC samples as identified by DE analysis. Log2fold change and adjusted P values are shown. PPARGC1A; peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha, HLA-DQA2; major histocompatibility complex, class II, DQ alpha 2, SCN7A; sodium channel protein type 7 subunit alpha, PADI2; Peptidyl Arginine Deiminase 2, LSP1; lymphocyte-specific protein 1, CCL13; chemokine ligand 13.

6.5 Hypergeometric gene set enrichment analysis (HGSEA)

HGSEA was performed on upregulated and downregulated genes to identify gene sets significantly dysregulated in AA skin (log2fold>1, adjP<0.05). Five gene sets were significantly enriched including three pathways relating to IFN γ signalling (Figure 6.3A). The IFN γ pathways highlighted similar genes (Figure 6.3B) including chemokines (*ccl13* and *ccl18*), *ciita* (trans-activator of MHC class II), MHC class II genes (*hla-dqa2* and *hla-drb5*) and non-classical MHC class I genes (*hla-g* and *hla-h*). Gene sets involved in homeostatic processes in the skin were also enriched, including those associated with body fluid secretion and actomyosin organisation (Figure 6.3C). The body fluid secretion gene set indicated upregulation of genes expressed by secretory cells of eccrine sweat glands; cholinergic muscarinic receptor 3 (*chrm3*) and potassium calciumactivated channel (*kcnn4*).

To investigate upregulated genes in AA skin further, upstream regulator analysis (UREG) was used to determine changes in gene sets controlled by major transcriptional regulators. UREG indicated that the *irf1* pathway was highly activated in AA samples compared to HCs (Figure 6.3D, log2fold>0, adjP<0.05). 29 genes were associated with IRF1 activation, including genes that are altered in response to IFN γ and those involved in apoptotic pathways; *hla-a, ciita, cxcl10, casp7* and *bcl2*. However, only two genes (CIITA, HLA-A) associated with IRF1 activation were DE (log2fold>1, adjP<0.05).



Figure 6.3 Enrichment analysis of significantly upregulated genes in AA compared to HC skin. Pathway analysis was performed on upregulated genes using Hypergeometric Gene Set Enrichment analysis using the GO-BP database. Significant gene sets were identified with log2fold > 0, adjusted P value < 0.05. (A) Most enriched gene sets for significantly upregulated genes. Significant pathways are highlighted in red with -log10 enrichment p value, and the number of significant DE genes implicated in each pathway are indicated. (B, C) Significantly upregulated genes in the 'cellular response to interferon gamma' and 'body fluid secretion' GO gene sets. Expression levels are represented as Z-scores. (D) Upstream regulator analysis (UREG) using the TRUSTT database indicated significant activation of IRF1. Significant gene sets were identified with log2fold > 0, adjusted P value < 0.05 and an absolute activation z-score above 2. Only CIITA and HLA-A are significantly upregulated in IRF1 pathway in AA compared to HCs (log2fold >1, adjusted P value <0.05).

We next used HGSEA analysis to identify significantly down regulated gene sets (log2fold>1, adjP<0.05). 10 gene sets were significantly enriched amongst down regulated genes including 6 overlapping pathways involved in transmembrane transport of amino acids, organic acids and anions (Figure 6.4A). These pathways highlighted downregulation of genes coding for multiple solute carriers,

Α

including *slc16a12*, *slc1a6*, *slc5a8* and *slc7a4*. The other downregulated pathways highlighted dysregulation in genes involved in developmental and homeostatic pathways. 13 genes were significantly down regulated that are involved in epidermal development (Figure 6.4C). Of note, this gene set highlighted downregulation in *cst6* (cathepsin B) which is involved in HF morphogenesis, and several keratins (*krt16*, *krt31*, *krt84*, *krtap5-9*). Other genes that play fundamental roles in hair biology were highlighted by the ontogenesis pathway (Figure 6.4B), including bone morphogenetic protein 2 (*bmp2*), lymphoid enhancer binding factor (*lef1*) and distal-less (*dlx*) genes. We also observed robust down regulation of *fgf18* in AA skin (log2fold=-3.33, P=0.011), an important factor maintaining HFSC quiescence.





Collectively, the HGSEA and UREG gene set analysis indicated that skin from AA patients is enriched for genes involved in regulation of MHC class II expression and those that respond to IFN signalling to drive type 1 responses. Whereas, downregulated pathways are mainly associated with hair follicle processes and skin sub-structures associated with HFs, such as sweat glands.

Expression of genes directly related to CD8 T cell effector function including perforin, granzyme or NKG2D were not DE in AA compared to HC skin. However, DE analysis did indicate that *gnly* (granulysin, log2fold=1.68, adjP=0.035) expression was upregulated in AA compared to HC skin. The NKG2D ligand, *mica*, was also upregulated in AA skin (log2fold=0.78, adjP=0.021). The findings

described in previous chapters, relating to type 17 responses, prompted us to investigate expression of genes related to Th17 effector function. However, we observed no changes in the expression levels of *il-17a*, *ccr6*, *rorc* and *il-23r* in AA compared to HC skin.

6.6 Identification of an enriched macrophage signature in specific AA samples

We hypothesised that the absence of an enriched CD8 T cell signature in AA skin may be due to two possibilities. Either the CD8 T cell response was not detected by bulk transcriptomic methods, or the immune response at the time of collecting skin samples from this cohort is not dominated by CD8 T cells. Because of the robust IFN signature identified in AA skin, we postulated that classically-activated macrophages may be involved in AA pathology.

We found that macrophage and monocyte markers (*cd80*, *nos2*, *fcgr3a*, *il1b*, *cxcl8*) were not DE in AA skin compared to HCs (data not shown). However, there were changes in the expression of gene transcripts associated with a tissue repair or 'M2' macrophage phenotype (Figure 6.5A). The expression of the scavenger receptor (*cd163*) and the mannose receptor (*cd206*), were increased above a log2fold change of 0.8, however this increase was not significant (CD163, adjp=0.0895; CD206, adjp=0.206). Other transcripts for genes expressed by dermal macrophages were also elevated, including the C-type lectin receptor, *cd209* (log2fold=1.11, adjP=0.0654), factor XIIIA, *f13a1* (log2fold=0.69, adjP=0.167) and stabilin1, *stab1* (log2fold=0.84, adjP=0.135). There was no increase in expression *arg1* or *trem2* (Figure 6.5B). The expression of CD68 was also unchanged between AA and HC skin (data not shown).



Figure 6.5 Expression levels of macrophage associated genes in AA and HC skin (A, B) Normalised expression counts of macrophage associated genes from RNA-sequencing data set for AA patients and HCs. (C) Pearson correlation of MRC1 and CD163 normalised expression counts. (D) Pearson correlation of CD8A and CD163 normalised expression counts. A two-tailed test was used to measure statistical significance of Pearson correlations. Adjusted R² and P values are shown.

The expression of *cd163*, *cd209*, *mrc1* and *f13a1* transcripts are variable amongst AA samples (Figure 6.5A) and overall, these markers were not significantly increased in AA compared to HCs. However, the data indicate that this macrophage signature is prominent in some AA samples and not in others. We first confirmed that there is a strong relationship between expression of these markers. Pearson correlation indicated a strong positive relationship between

mrc1 and *cd163* expression ($R^2=0.9193$, P=<0.0001, Figure 6.5C). There was also a positive correlation between *cd163* and *cd209 expression* ($R^2=0.6322$, P=<0.006, data not shown). Despite no change in expression of *CD8a* between AA and HC skin, Pearson correlation also indicated a positive relationship between the expression of *cd8a* and *cd163* ($R^2=0.5917$, P=0.0093, Figure 6.5D). Collectively, these data indicate that the macrophage signature correlates with CD8a expression, and that this signature appears to vary between samples.

6.7 Dysregulation of hair cycling genes

In section 6.5, we highlighted that expression of genes involved in HF morphogenesis are downregulated in AA compared to HC skin (*lef1* and *bmp2*). It was anticipated that the variation of immune signatures described in section 6.6 may also be reflected in expression of HF cycling genes. However, it appears that lef1 and bmp2 are consistently downregulated in skin from all AA participants (Figure 6.6A). Similarly, the expression of *ctnbb1*, another key regulator of HF growth, is consistently downregulated in AA compared to HC skin.

We also observed increased expression of *mica* (log2fold=0.78, adjP=0.021, Figure 6.6B), a gene that codes for a ligand of the NKG2D receptor that is upregulated by stressed epithelial cells. Compared to the expression levels of *lef1*, *bmp2* and *ctnnb1*, *mica* expression varied between the individual AA skin samples (Figure 6.6B). However, we did not observe any correlation between *mica* expression, and *cd163*, *mrc1* or *cd209* (data not shown).

Taken together, these data indicate that genes involved in HF cycling are globally downregulated in all AA patients, whereas the expression of immune-related genes varies between AA samples.





(A, B) Normalised expression counts of hair follicle cycling genes from RNA-sequencing data set for AA patients and HCs. Log2fold change and adjusted P values are indicated.

6.8 Abundance of immune cell types in AA and HC skin

We next sought to understand our analyses by visualising the RNA-sequencing data relative to immune cell proportions using the online CIBERSORT tool (Newman et al., 2015). CIBERSORT calculates the abundance of specific immune cells within a mixed transcriptomic sequencing data set by using a signature gene set representing 22 different immune cell subsets (Newman et al., 2015). The CIBERSORT results are depicted in Figure 6.7.

The 'M2' macrophage signature is not represented in any of the HC samples. However, the relative proportion of the 'M2' signature is increased in all AA samples, apart from AA135. The M1 gene set is also detected in three of the AA samples (AA136, AA131 and AA112), but also in HC3 and HC6, and therefore does not appear to differ between AA and HC samples. Interestingly, the AA samples associated with absent or low M2 signature (AA135 and AA159) have increased abundance of the M0 macrophage gene set, which is also represented in all of the HC samples. The M0 gene set represents un-polarised macrophages and in comparison to the M1 and M2 gene sets is characterised by high expression of *csf1* and *cxcl5*, and low expression of *cd86*, *ccl14* and *ccl8*.

A large proportion of the RNA expression data are associated with DC and CD4 T cell signatures, but the abundance of these cell types does not appear to be different between AA and HC samples. The CD8 T cell signature is detected in HC6, AA112 and AA131 but the signal is very low.

In summary, the CIBERSORT analysis indicated that the 'M2' macrophage signature is enriched in specific AA samples and thus supports our earlier interpretation of the transcriptome data.





6.9 Macrophages are in close proximity to HFs

The data described so far indicate modest upregulation of macrophage markers in specific AA samples, but our RNAseq data do not indicate macrophage interaction with HFs. We sought to visualise if macrophages are in close proximity to HFs to investigate the potential involvement of macrophages in AA pathology. For these experiments, sections from skin biopsies obtained from participants AA143 and AA194 were used.

Immunohistochemical (IHC) staining using the pan-macrophage marker, CD68, revealed that CD68⁺ cells are located within the perifollicular region of two HFs in AA skin (Figure 6.8A-D, horizontal section, red arrows). CD68⁺ cells are also visible in close proximity to HFs in a transverse section of an AA skin biopsy (Figure 6.8E, CD68 isotype shown in Figure 6.8F). In addition to follicular regions, CD68⁺ cells were scattered throughout the upper-dermis and in contact with dermal blood vessels (green arrows, figure 6.8D).

We next sought to visualise if macrophages are located at HFs that are associated with T cell infiltration. To do this, sections from one AA biopsy were stained with CD3 or CD68 antibodies. IHC indicated that both macrophages (Figure 6.9A,B) and T cells (Figure 6.9C,D) are within the perifollicular region of the same HF in AA skin. In comparison to macrophages, T cells tended to form clusters in the dermis beneath the epidermis, or close to HFs (green arrows, figure 6.9C). Importantly, some HFs in AA skin were not associated with immune cell infiltration, with few T cells and macrophages within the perifollicular region (Figure 6.9E,F). Thus, IHC analysis indicates that some HFs in AA skin are associated with mixed infiltration of T cells and macrophages, whereas other HFs appear not to be associated with either cell type.





AA skin sections were stained with CD68 or isotype antibodies, counterstained with haematoxylin and visualised under the light microscope. CD68 staining of vertical sections from sample AA194 at X4 (A,C) and X10 magnification (B,D). CD68 (E) or isotype (F) staining of transverse sections from sample AA143 at X40 magnification. Red and green arrows indicate CD68 positive cells located at hair follicles and blood vessels, respectively.

179



Figure 6.9 Immunohistochemistry staining of CD68 and CD3 in AA skin

AA skin sections were stained with CD68 or CD3 antibodies, counterstained with haematoxylin and visualised under the light microscope. CD68 staining of vertical sections from sample AA194 at X4 (A) and X10 magnification (B). CD3 staining of vertical sections from sample AA194 at X4 (C) and X10 magnification (D). CD68 (E) or CD3 (F) staining of vertical sections from alternative region of sample AA194 at X4 magnification. Red arrows indicate CD68 or CD3 positive cells located at hair follicles. Green arrows indicate clusters of CD3 positive cells.
6.10 Comparison of AP and AT transcriptomes

In the previous chapters, AA patients were stratified to reveal features of the immunophenotype that associate with patchy (AP) or severe (AT) disease. We sought to compare the AP and AT transcriptomes to identify differences between these disease states at a tissue level. However, the transcriptomic data set is composed of only two AP and five AT samples, therefore the findings discussed in this section are preliminary.

DE analysis revealed that 292 genes are upregulated and 434 genes are downregulated in AP samples compared to HCs (log2fold>0.5, adjP<0.05). Whereas, 147 genes are upregulated and 434 genes are downregulated in AT samples compared to HCs (log2fold>0.5, adjP<0.05). Hierarchical clustering of differentially expressed genes associated with AP compared to HCs indicated that AT samples cluster between AP and HC samples (Figure 6.10A). These data indicate that the dysregulated genes associated with AP behave similarly in AT samples, but less strongly (Figure 6.10A).

Comparison of the gene sets upregulated in AP and AT compared to HC skin indicated that 82 of the upregulated genes are shared (Figure 6.10B). Importantly, shared upregulated genes include many of the genes highlighted in the DE analysis described in sections 6.5 and 6.5, *including ccl13, ccl18, hladqa2, lsp1, padi2* and *ppargc1a*.



Figure 6.10 Differential expression analysis of skin from people with AP and AT (A) Hierarchically clustered heatmap of patchy (AP, blue), severe (AT, green) and HC (pink) samples based on differentially expressed genes identified between patchy and HC skin samples (log2fold > 0.5, adjusted P value < 0.05). The x and y axis were clustered using Spearman distances and UPMGA agglomeration, and expression levels are represented as z-scores. (B) Venn diagram indicating the number of upregulated genes specifically associated with AP (210) or AT (65) samples, or upregulated genes that are shared between AP and AT samples (82).

6.11 Discussion

6.11.1 Dysregulated genes and pathways associated with AA

In this chapter, we sought to identify novel drivers of AA at the tissue level using global transcriptome analysis. PCA and hierarchical clustering of DE genes indicated that AA and HC samples cluster separately, confirming that AA skin is transcriptionally distinct from healthy skin. DE analysis indicated that 162 genes are upregulated and 417 genes are downregulated in AA skin compared to HCs. Three of the most upregulated genes in AA skin are involved in immune responses; *hla-dqa2, ccl13* and *lsp1*. HGSEA gene set analysis indicated that AA is associated with enrichment of three overlapping IFN γ response pathways, and pathways involved in body fluid secretion and actomyosin structure organisation. However, IFN γ , NKG2D, CD8a or other CD8 T cell-associated genes were not DE in AA compared to HC skin. Instead, the enrichment of IFN γ -associated pathways indicated upregulation of genes that respond to IFN γ signalling including upregulation of MHC class II expression (*ciita, hla-dqa2, hla-drb5*), non-classical MHC class I expression (*hla-g, hla-h*) and chemokines (*ccl13, ccl18*). Additionally, UREG gene set analysis identified that the IRF1 pathway is significantly

activated, however the majority of the genes highlighted in this pathway were not individually DE between AA and HCs.

The MHC class II genes, *hla*-dqa2 and *hla*-drb5, have both been associated with AA previously. HLA-DQA2 was identified as a genetic risk factor for AA development in the first genome-wide association study (GWAS), alongside other HLA genes including HLA-DRA, HLA-DQA1, and HLA-DQB2 (Petukhova et al., 2010). Whereas, a significant association between HLA-DRB5 and severe AA was identified in a small genetic-association study, but has not been linked with AA at a GWAS level (Lee et al., 2013). The upregulation of MHC class II observed in AA skin could be an artifact of the strong linkage between HLA genes and AA development. However, DE analysis also indicated upregulation of *ciita*, a gene which codes for the co-activator of MHC class II expression, induced by IFN γ signalling (Steimle et al., 1994). CIITA is also a genetic locus associated with AA development (Betz et al., 2015). Taken together, these data indicate strong linkage between AA and specific HLA genes, and that lesional AA skin is associated with upregulation of MHC class II. MHCII expression is predominantly associated with dendritic cells, macrophages and Langerhans cells in the skin (Haniffa et al., 2009; Henri et al., 2009). However, keratinocytes can also express MHCII, and it has been shown that MHCII⁺ keratinocytes are important for generating microbiota-specific CD4 T cell responses in murine skin, indicating a role for keratinocytes in immune surveillance (Tamoutounour et al., 2019). In our data, HGSEA analysis clearly indicated dysregulation of keratin genes, which will mainly be associated with the lack of hair growth. However, it can also be anticipated that MHCII expression by keratinocytes may be important for driving and exacerbating aberrant immune responses against HFs.

Pathway analysis also indicated upregulation of *hla-g* and *hla-h* in AA skin. HLA-G is a non-classical MHC class I gene, known as Qa-2 in mice (Comiskey et al., 2003), that is the ligand for ILT-2, ILT-4 and KIR2DL4 inhibitory receptors (LeMaoult et al., 2005). In normal conditions, HLA-G is reported to be an immuno-inhibitory molecule expressed by trophoblasts (Kovats et al., 1990) and is thought to play an important role in maintaining immune privilege between the mother and foetus (Rizzo et al., 2007). It functions by preventing activation of NK cells (Rouas-Freiss et al., 1997) and CD8 T cells (Contini et al., 2003), and

HLA-G can even be transferred to T cells by trogocytosis to induce tolerogenic responses (LeMaoult et al., 2006). The receptors, ILT-2 and ILT-4, have highest affinity for HLA-G, but they can also compete for MHCI binding, thus directly blocking CD8 T cell activation (Shiroishi et al., 2003). HLA-G expression is also associated with inflammation; virally infected and cancer cells upregulate it to avoid the immune system, and HLA-G expression is upregulated in inflamed tissues of psoriasis (Cardili et al., 2010) and CeD patients (Torres et al., 2006). The murine homolog, Qa-2, is expressed by the HF epithelium (Paus et al., 1994), but to our knowledge HLA-G expression has yet to be investigated in human HFs or in the context of AA pathology. Notably, we observed upregulation in the expression of *mica* in AA skin, another non-classical MHCI molecule that is genetically associated with AA (Petukhova et al., 2010). In contrast to HLA-G, MICA promotes NK and CD8 T cell activation via NKG2D engagement, and is reported to be crucial for driving CD8 T cell activity in AA pathology (Ito et al., 2008).

HLA-H was initially discovered as a non-classical MHCI molecule due to its structure, however further investigation revealed that it does not present peptide, and that specific HLA-H (HFE) mutations cause hereditary haemochromatosis, a condition characterised by excessive iron absorption (Feder et al., 1996). This observation led to studies discovering that under normal circumstances, HFE binds to the transferrin receptor and is involved in production of the iron storage hormone, hepcidin (Gao et al., 2009; Elizabeta Nemeth, 2009). To our knowledge, HLA-H/HFE has not been associated with AA pathology.

Collectively, our data, and findings from other studies indicate a robust connection between the non-classical MHCI locus and AA pathogenesis (Petukhova et al., 2010). Further investigation is required to understand the importance of HLA-G in HF IP mechanisms, and whether the upregulation of this molecule is an important part of AA pathogenesis. The potential involvement of HLA-H in AA is less clear. Interestingly, a meta-analysis study of comorbidities associated with AA indicated high incidence of iron-deficiency anemia (Lee at al., 2019), however a potential relationship between iron storage and hair loss caused by AA has not been investigated. The expression of specific type-2 associated chemokines, *ccl13* and *ccl18*, were also enriched in AA skin. CCL13 is produced by epithelial and innate cells to induce migration of monocytes, dendritic cells, eosinophils and T cells (Garcia-Zepeda et al., 1996; Uguccioni et al., 1996). Whereas, CCL18 is only expressed by innate cells and causes migration of T and B cells (Vulcano et al., 2003; Hieshima et al., 1997). CCL13 is reported to be increased in serum of asthmatic patients (Kalayci et al., 2004) and cartilage of RA patients (Iwamoto et al., 2005). Interestingly, CCL13 and CCL18 are both upregulated in AD skin lesions, but not in psoriasis lesions, emphasising that these chemokines are specifically important for polarising type-2 driven tissue responses (Günther et al., 2005; Nomura et al., 2003). In the context of AA, CCL13 and CCL18 transcripts have been shown to be upregulated in AA skin by micro array analysis (Suarez-Farinas et al., 2015; Jabbari et al., 2016), and CCL13 is also elevated in non-atopic AA serum (Song et al., 2018). In the previous chapters, the high incidence of atopy in AA cohorts was discussed, suggesting that type-2 responses may be propathogenic for a proportion of AA patients. Notably, a previous study reported that CCL13 mRNA levels in non-lesional AA skin positively correlated with SALT score (Song et al., 2018). These data suggest that type-2 chemokines are upregulated even in un-affected skin of AA patients, and therefore may precede CD8 T cell-driven responses. However, it is also possible that non-lesional scalp represents tissue in remission, and that a type-2 response is associated with hair regrowth.

In chapter 3, we observed an increase in the circulating concentration of type-2 associated cytokines, IL-31 and IL-33 in AA patients. In AA skin, we did not observe DE of il31, il33, il31ra or il1rl1 (ST2) transcripts or in other type-2 associated genes (*il13, gata3*). Thus, our data indicate a robust increase in type-2 chemokines, but not in Th2-associated genes, suggesting that other cells associated with type-2 responses may be involved in AA pathology.

LSP1 (lymphocyte specific protein 1) expression was also highly upregulated in AA compared to HC skin. LSP1 regulates cell motility and its expression requires careful control to ensure successful immune responses. Studies have demonstrated that LSP1 overexpression causes dysfunctional neutrophil responses during infection (Howard et al., 1994), whereas peripheral T cells of RA patients have reduced expression of LSP1 which is reported to increase migration of T cells to inflamed tissue (Hwang et al., 2015). LSP1 also has a role in macrophage function, specifically during FC γ receptor mediated phagocytosis, because of its pivotal role in rearranging the cytoskeleton for phagocytic cup formation (Maxeiner et al., 2015). In the skin, LSP1, and FMO1, have been identified as markers of fibroblast populations in the human dermis. This subset of fibroblasts express CXCL12 and the authors suggest that they may behave similarly to bone marrow stromal cells to retain CXCR4⁺ cells in the dermis (Tabib et al., 2018). We are unable to localise the increased expression of LSP1 to a particular cell type, but it is clear that dysregulation of LSP1 impacts multiple immune pathways and therefore this molecule could be an important driver maintaining the inflammatory environment in AA skin.

In addition to immune-related genes, scn7a, padi2 and ppargc1a were amongst the most upregulated genes in AA skin. SCN7A codes for a sodium sensor expressed by neural cells (Hiyama et al., 2002). However, recent studies have shown that SCN7A sensors are also expressed in the epidermis and SCN7A blockade prevents inflammation in the imiquimod-psoriasis mouse model (Zhao et al., 2019). PADI2 is a peptidyl arginine deiminase enzyme that catalyses arginine conversion to citrulline during post-translational modification of proteins (Vossenaar et al., 2003). PAD enzymes are implicated in autoimmune pathologies, particularly RA, because citrullinated proteins are targets of autoantibodies (Darrah et al., 2018; Foulguier et al., 2007). In addition to upregulation in PADI2, DE analysis indicated significant downregulation PADI1 and PADI3 in AA skin. These findings may be more interesting because PAD1 and PAD3 are expressed by the epidermis and HFs (Nachat et al., 2005; Guerrin et al., 2003). PAD1 and PAD3 co-localise with structural proteins, filaggrin and trichohyalin respectively, which are involved in keratin filament formation (Nachat et al., 2005; Senshu et al., 1996). PAD3 and trichohyalin are expressed specifically by HFs, thus the downregulation of PAD3 is likely a direct result of inactive HFs in AA skin. However, intriguingly it can be hypothesised that dysregulation in PAD1, because of its relationship with filaggrin, could be impacting epidermal barrier function which may be linked to the high incidence of atopy in AA cohorts.

PPARGC1A (PGC-1a) was originally discovered as the co-activator of PPAR γ , as a major driver of mitochondrial biogenesis to increase energy expenditure (Puigserver et al., 1998), but has since been shown to co-activate a multitude of transcription factors including thyroid hormone, glucocorticoid, androgen and oestrogen nuclear receptors (Cantó & Auwerx, 2009). Usually, PGC-1a expression is associated with tissues of high energy demand including heart, skeletal muscle and the brain, and therefore dysregulation in its expression is associated with metabolic disorders including type 2 diabetes (Patti et al., 2003; Mootha et al., 2003). PPAR γ is expressed by the HF dermal papilla, outer root sheath and matrix during anagen, and follicular stem cell knock-out of PPAR γ causes scarring (irreversible damage to HF) alopecia in mice (Karnik et al., 2009). A direct role for PGC-1a in hair pathology has been shown in the context of male-pattern baldness, also known as androgenetic alopecia (AGA), where PGC-1a expression is upregulated by the outer root sheath of miniaturised HFs (Ho et al., 2019). The direct involvement of PGC-1a in AGA pathogenesis makes sense because of the importance of androgen signalling in mechanisms driving AGA, but the involvement of PGC1a in inflammatory driven AA has not been studied.

HGSEA gene set analysis also highlighted DE of genes involved in homeostatic and developmental pathways in AA skin. Many of the downregulated genes, including *cst6*, *bmp2*, *lef1* and *dlx2*, are essential for control of HFSC activity during normal HF cycling (Stenn & Paus, 2001; Rouzankina et al., 2004; Yang et al., 2017). Notably, BMP2 was downregulated in AA skin compared to HCs (log2fold=-2.77, P=1.69E-10), an important regulator of HFSC quiescence during telogen (Plikus et al., 2008). We also observed robust down-regulation of *fgf18* in AA skin. FGF18 is a fibroblast growth factor that is also important for maintaining quiescence during the telogen phase (Kimura-Ueki et al., 2012). In contrast, we did not observe DE of foxp1, an upstream regulator of FGF18 expression (Leishman et al., 2013). Taken together, these data indicate that factors involved in maintaining the quiescence of HFSCs are robustly downregulated compared to HC skin, and therefore appropriate control of HFSCs is not maintained in AA skin.

In previous chapters, specific aspects of the circulating immunophenotype were associated with AP or AT disease. The RNA-sequencing data set consisted of two AP and five AT samples, thus we sought to compare the transcriptomes of both diseases states. However, due to the low numbers of AP samples, we did not conduct in depth analysis and these findings are considered to be preliminary. DE analysis indicated that AP, in comparison to HCs, was associated with a greater number of upregulated genes than AT compared to HCs. This was somewhat surprising because other gene expression studies have reported severe disease to be associated with greater dysregulation in gene expression (Suarez-Farinas et al., 2015; Jabbari et al., 2016). However, the study conducted by Suarez et al (2015) compared AA patients with <25% hair loss with >25%, with only 3/22 patients with 100% scalp-hair loss. This contrasts our study, where all five AT patients had >96% scalp hair loss. However, a larger micro array data set (20 AP and 20 AT patients) also found that severe disease is associated with a greater number of DE genes (Jabbari et al., 2016). There are also discrepancies between this study and ours because the AP samples collected by Jabbari et al (2016) were perilesional, and ours were collected from the centre of a patch or stable disease area in the context of AT samples. It is clear that our data cannot be used to identify differences between AT and AP samples, however we were able to conclude that genes highly upregulated in AA skin, including ppargc1a, lsp1, ccl13, padi2 and hla-dqa2 were consistently upregulated across all AP and AT skin samples.

6.11.2 The potential involvement of macrophages in AA pathology

It was surprising that we did not observe enrichment of a CD8 T cell signature in AA skin, despite clear upregulation of genes downstream of IFN γ signalling. To our knowledge, our study is the first to conduct global transcriptome analysis of AA skin biopsies, however other large microarray data sets exist which indicate enrichment of CD8 T cell associated genes (Suarez-Farinas et al., 2015; Jabbari et al., 2016). In section 6.6, we suggest that the lack of enrichment of a CD8 T cells localised with affected HFs may comprise a small population and therefore total T cell-associated signatures were unchanged between bulk AA and HC transcriptome data sets, or the mechanisms dominating AA pathogenesis at the time of sample collection are not attributed to T cells. The latter explanation could also be associated with the location that the biopsies were taken, or the

long disease duration associated with the majority of our AA cohort which may impact disease activity. We could not address these questions directly, however we were able to utilise the transcriptome data set to investigate the roles of other immune cells in AA pathology.

We observed that the expression of genes associated with a 'tissue repair' or alternatively activated macrophage phenotype were modestly elevated in AA skin; *cd163, cd209 and mrc1*. We also observed elevated expression of *f13a1*, a marker of dermal macrophages, in specific AA samples (Haniffa et al., 2009). The expression levels of these genes were clearly variable between AA samples, but we confirmed that they are enriched in specific samples. The enrichment of a macrophage signature in specific AA samples was confirmed using the CIBERSORT tool. We also indicate preliminary evidence that macrophages are located in the perifollicular region of HFs in AA skin. However, we must acknowledge that the IHC data were mainly generated using sections from participant AA194. From a clinical perspective, this patient does not correspond to the majority of AA samples used for the transcriptomic part of the study because the participant has a low SALT score (11.33) and was receiving IL steroid treatment at time of recruitment. Although, we were able to identify CD68⁺ cells in the perifollicular region of a sample from participant AA143.

Nevertheless, the IHC data indicate macrophage interaction with HFs in hairless AA skin. Our findings are supported by data presented in a recent open-access preprint which indicated increased abundance of a 'macrophage 2' signature in an AA skin sample, indicated by single cell RNA sequencing (Hughes et al., 2019). This macrophage 2 subset was characterised by expression of CD163, F13A1 and STAB1. Furthermore, we observed a positive correlation between *cd163* and *Cd8a* expression and our IHC data indicate that macrophages are located alongside T cells at affected HFs. We therefore propose that macrophages are involved in AA pathology.

In connection with our findings, we assessed whether the expression of genes associated with HF cycling correlated with expression of macrophage-associated genes. We found that expression of *lef1*, *bmp2* and *ctnnb1* are consistently downregulated in all AA samples, indicating that follicular genes are still

inactivated even in samples with reduced expression of macrophage markers (AA135, AA151). Other mediators discussed earlier, particularly the upregulation of *ccl18* and *ccl13* transcripts in AA skin, support the involvement of macrophages with a tissue-repair phenotype. *In vitro* exposure of monocytes with CCL18 causes upregulation of CD206 (Schraufstatter et al., 2012) and CD163⁺ CD209⁺ cells express CCL18 in skin of patients with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (Günther et al., 2011). Furthermore, *in vitro* polarisation of 'M2' cells using IL-4 and M-CSF is associated with upregulation of CCL13 mRNA levels (Martinez et al., 2006).

To date, macrophages have not been a focus of AA research, however there are a collection of studies describing the involvement of macrophages in normal HF cycling and morphogenesis. In murine skin, it was shown that oncostatin M (OSM) secretion from a specific population of TREM⁺ macrophages is responsible for maintaining HFSC quiescence, and that these cells reduce in numbers via apoptosis prior to anagen (Wang et al., 2019; Castellana et al., 2014). Notably, OSM signals via the JAK-STAT pathway, indicating another mechanism that may be attributed to the efficacy of JAK-STAT inhibition for driving hair regrowth (Harel et al., 2015). Interestingly, ablation of macrophages during telogen using clodronate was associated with increased secretion of Wnt ligands, and subsequent activation of B-catenin pathways in HFSCs (Castellana et al., 2014). In the context of inflammation, macrophages also appear to be crucial for driving wound-induced hair regrowth following injury (Rahmani et al., 2018), and hair regeneration induced by mechanical stretch is associated with macrophage production of growth factors, HGF and IGF-1 (Chu et al., 2019). Taken together, these studies illustrate that HF-associated macrophage functions are consistent with the widely recognised homeostatic roles that macrophages play in tissue remodelling and regeneration in multiple areas of the body.

From the data described in this chapter, we cannot determine the phenotype of follicular macrophages in AA skin. Various studies have elegantly shown that macrophages owe their development of specialised functional properties to their surrounding niche (Guilliams & Scott, 2017; van de Laar et al., 2016), and it is clear from the various studies described above that the HF region represents a distinct niche that is associated with cyclic fluctuations in macrophages numbers

that vary in function. It is important to indicate that our bulk RNA sequencing data set represents a mixture of macrophage signatures from multiple niches within the skin, related to both HF and dermal macrophage populations. In contrast to our findings, we expected that genes associated with pro-inflammatory macrophage function would be enriched in AA skin. Interestingly, it has been shown that CD163⁺ macrophages are present in psoriatic skin lesions, and that macrophages with this phenotype can in fact be generated *in vitro* when exposed to IFN γ (Fuentes-Duculan et al., 2010). Therefore, it is feasible that macrophages with a 'M2' phenotype could be generated in AA skin. Alternatively, our data may be indicative of an immune response associated with chronic or established AA, which could be associated with a switch from a type 1 response to a type 2 response, associated with alternatively activated macrophages.

6.11.3 Conclusion

The experiments described in this final results chapter sought to identify novel drivers of AA pathology at the tissue level. Upregulated genes sets in AA skin are associated with responses to IFN γ signalling, characterised by upregulation in MHCII genes, non-classical MHCI genes and chemokines associated with type-2 responses. Only 5 pathways, that accounted for 17 genes, were significantly enriched in AA skin. This was surprising given that 162 genes were upregulated in AA skin, and may suggest that changes in gene sets associated with AA are novel and not well-annotated in the gene ontology database. This observation in combination with no change in T cell-associated gene sets led us to investigate other immune cell signatures.

Further interpretation of the transcriptomic data indicated that specific samples in our AA cohort are enriched with a specific macrophage signature, characterised by *cd163*, *cd209*, *f13a1 and mrc1*. In light of findings describing the role of macrophages in normal HF cycling (Castellana et al., 2014; Rahmani et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2017), we propose that the inflammatory milieu associated with affected HFs is disrupting the niche that supports the homeostatic function of HF-associated macrophages. It is also probable that the macrophages surrounding the HFs, alongside CD8 T cells, are pro-pathogenic and may even play a role in fibrotic responses that are detrimental to promoting hair regrowth, especially in patients with severe disease.

In this chapter, the cohort was from a mixture of patients with varied disease severity and disease duration. Four of the AA individuals were also atopic, and one was receiving treatment when recruited to the study. These factors will be likely to influence the transcriptome of AA skin, but due to the size of this cohort we were not able to stratify the patients to elucidate the relationship between clinical parameters and AA pathogenesis. Furthermore, our preliminary IHC analysis indicated that not all HFs in AA skin are associated with infiltration of T cells or macrophages. This is partially attributed to the cycling of HFs, which dictates the expression of antigen required to drive HF-targeted immune responses. This also may be a reason why bulk transcriptome analysis is not ideal for assessing AA skin because it doesn't account for the HF numbers or HFs actively associated with immune infiltration at the time of biopsy collection.

In this chapter, we also provided histological analysis of CD3 and CD68 expression in AA biopsies. This analysis is particularly limited and in future studies we plan to extensively expand on this part of the study. We are specifically interested in understanding how macrophages, in addition to T cells, are interacting with HFs. We therefore plan to expand this analyses in the following ways. First, we aim to better characterise follicular macrophages in control and AA biopsies, by staining for markers identified in the RNAseq. These include the scavenger receptor, CD163, and pathogen recognition receptors, CD209 and CD206. We then aim to characterise the function of these cells, again informed by the transcriptome data sets, by staining for factors produced by these cells, including cytokines (TNF) and enzymes (arginase 1), in addition to pro-fibrotic factors (platelet derived growth factor). To complement these studies, we will also perform co-expression immunofluorescence staining to confirm that macrophages express the markers of interest. It is possible that other antigen presenting cells in the skin, including Langerhans cells, may be responsible for the upregulation of genes of interest identified in the RNAseq data set. Finally, we plan to stain for markers expressed by the follicular epithelium, including MICA, in addition to markers of keratinocyte differentiation to better characterise the HFs which immune cells are interacting with. Collectively, these experiments will better characterise follicular associated macrophages, and indicate factors expressed by these cells which may be modulating HF behaviour.

In the previous chapters, we described data indicating upregulation of type 17 and type 2 cytokines, and increased frequency of circulating CCR6⁺ T cells in AA circulation. However, overall, our data clearly indicate that the peripheral and tissue responses associated with AA are distinct, highlighting the complexity of this multifactorial autoimmune disease.

7 General discussion

The aim of this study was to identify novel immune mechanisms driving AA. NKG2D⁺ CD8 T cells are known to be essential for driving hair loss, but other immune cells and mediators which contribute to this response have not been well characterised. This lack of understanding is directly reflected in the limited therapeutic options available for the treatment of AA. To address our aim, we first sought to broadly characterise the circulating immune profile of AA patients. While these data are informative, the systemic immunophenotype does not indicate the responses important for driving AA in the skin. We therefore analysed affected skin at a transcriptome level to identify novel pathways and mediators driving hair loss. To facilitate these experiments, we set up a dedicated research clinic in Glasgow to collect blood and skin samples from volunteers with AA. By doing this, we have generated data sets from peripheral blood and skin that provide an insight into the broad immune dysregulation associated with AA.

Our data obtained from peripheral blood indicates that AA is associated with enriched type 17 and type 2 cytokine responses. In the previous chapters, it was discussed that comorbid atopy is common in AA cohorts, indicating that pathogenic responses which are dominated by type 1 and type 2 responses can coexist in the skin. Based on our data and others, we suggest that atopic AA represents a distinct disease pathotype, and that atopic immune mechanisms may exacerbate AA. This is supported by studies indicating that atopy is associated with severe forms of AA (Betz et al., 2007; Bakry et al., 2014; Zhang & McElwee, 2020).

Increased levels of type 17 and type 2 systemic cytokines were found to be associated with both atopic and non-atopic AA cohorts, however the increase in transitional B cells was specifically associated with atopic AA. Based on current evidence, it is unlikely that pathogenic responses driving AA are attributed to autoantibodies. Instead, B cells may be important for presenting autoreactive antigen, and therefore directly contribute to the generation of autoreactive T cell responses (Rawlings et al., 2017). We suggest that the increase in frequency of circulating transitional B cells is indicative of increased egress of immature B cells from the bone marrow. Based on data from other diseases, particularly SLE (Yurasov et al., 2005; Sims et al., 2005), this phenotype suggests that atopic AA may be associated with increased levels of circulating autoreactive B cells.



Figure 7.1 Atopic B cell mechanisms and AA

B cells are often implicated in autoimmunity. Comorbid atopy is associated with AA, and we propose that atopic AA represents a distinct disease pathotype. The frequency of transitional B cells is elevated in atopic AA individuals, and in cohorts of atopic patients. We propose that transitional B cells feed the autoreactive naïve B cell pool and may contribute to breaking T cell tolerance and therefore contribute to autoreactive T cell responses. These mechanisms may be propagated by increased systemic cytokines and genetic predisposition associated with polymorphisms in B cell stimulating molecules. Diagram adapted from Rawlings et al (2017) and created with Biorender.com.

This phenomenon could be driven by molecular defects in B cell tolerance, which have previously been associated with atopy. In support of this, polymorphisms in ICOS and the IL-2/21 locus are genetic risk loci for AA (Petukhova et al., 2010); molecules which are involved in B cell and T cell interaction. As discussed previously, it is also plausible that increased peripheral cytokines contribute to elevated egress of transitional B cells, including IL-21 (Ozaki et al., 2004). We therefore suggest that B cells contribute to breaking T cell tolerance which drives AA. We did not observe any change in the frequency of switched B cells between atopic AA patients and HCs, but this finding does not indicate that the proportion of activated autoreactive B cells within the switched B cell pool is not altered. In addition, autoreactive B cells may contribute to epitope spreading as hair loss progresses (Rawlings et al., 2017). It is anticipated that stratification of atopic and non-atopic AA patients will be useful in future clinical studies to elucidate differential immune mechanisms associated with each pathotype. Proposed mechanisms involved in B cell and T cell interactions in the context of AA are represented in Figure 7.1.

The relationship between AA and a type 17 immune response appear to be complex. The levels of type 17 cytokines and frequency of CCR6⁺ CD4 T cells are increased in AA circulation, indicating a potential role for Th17 cells in AA pathogenesis. Further analyses revealed that changes in CCR6⁺ CD4 T cell populations, particularly CCR6⁺ CXCR3⁺ (DP) CD4 T cells, are associated with mild disease (<50% hair loss). This may indicate differences between extensive and patchy hair loss. However, as suggested in chapter 5, we hypothesise that this T cell phenotype is indicative of active disease. This 'active' phenotype may be observed in this patient group because the mild disease cohort often represent individuals most likely to experience relapsing-remitting hair loss, and therefore may mirror acute hair loss. If this were true, how is a Th17 response contributing to CD8 T cell mediated pathology? If DP CD4 T cells are bona fide Th1/17 cells, they may contribute to IFN γ production, which directly drives CD8 T cell activity. Thus, CD4 T cells may be important for driving the development of AA. This is supported by studies in the C3H Hej model of AA, which indicated that intradermal transfer of CD4 T cells in addition to CD8 T cells is required to drive extensive AA (McElwee et al., 2005).

Notably, we found that DP CD4 T cells and skin homing DP CD4 T cells appear to be specifically increased in patients with mild disease (<50%) who were on IL steroid treatment. This raises the question of whether CCR6⁺ T cells are elevated in response to treatment, and are not directly related to AA pathology. In chapter 5, we discussed that Th17 cells can be resistant to glucocorticoids, and it has been proposed that steroid treatment in patients with autoimmune diseases may drive enrichment of pathogenic and drug resistant Th17 cells (Ramesh et al., 2014). Notably, Guttman Yassky et al (2016) noted that the patients (2/3) who responded poorly to Ustekinumab (anti-IL-12/23p40 antibody) treatment were refractory to previous treatment with IL steroids. Thus, it may be speculated that refractory response to IL steroid therapy is associated with a poor response to type-17 cytokine blockade. Further studies with larger cohorts are now required to identify whether a specific pathotype of AA may benefit from type-17 blocking therapies.

We next used transcriptome analysis to identify novel pathways critical for AA pathogenesis. The data indicated that AA skin is associated with a macrophage signature, characterised by CD163, CD209, CD206 and F13A1 expression, markers which are indicative of an alternatively activated or wound healing phenotype. Initially, this was surprising because AA skin is enriched with genes responding to IFN γ . However, it has been shown that macrophages with an alternatively activated phenotype are present in psoriasis lesions, and that they can be present within an IFN γ -rich environment (Fuentes-Duculan et al., 2010). Macrophages are known to interact with follicles following inflammation to drive HF regeneration (Rahmani et al., 2018), and they secrete molecules which have been shown to influence normal hair cycling (Wang et al., 2019; Castellana et al., 2014). We therefore propose that the inflammatory environment impacts the local niche maintaining follicular macrophage function, and that altered macrophages contribute to mechanisms causing hair loss.

Furthermore, our data and others suggest that the acute response associated with AA appears to differ from that of stable disease. Most of the studies analysing gene expression have been obtained from perilesional skin which is reported to represent active disease (Xing et al., 2014), whereas the samples used for our study were collected from the middle of stable regions. During stable disease, a high proportion of HFs in AA lesions are in telogen or catagen, and because inflammation is associated with anagen associated antigen, inactive follicles are not reported to drive CD8 T cell effector function until they re-enter anagen. Thus, during stable disease we anticipate that macrophages are key pathogenic cells which maintain immune responses preventing hair regrowth. The proposed differences between active and stable AA immune mechanisms are depicted in Figure 7.2.



Figure 7.2 Proposed immune mechanisms driving active and stable AA

AA is known to be driven by NKG2D⁺ CD8 T cells which express IFN γ . Follicular inflammation is generated against hair follicles in anagen (a), which leads to premature catagen and telogen entry. We propose that this environment disrupts the activity of homeostatic follicular-associated macrophages. Transcriptomic profiling of stable AA skin indicated enrichment of a alternatively activated macrophage signature (b). We propose that pathogenic macrophages contribute to preventing hair loss by secreting molecules which inhibit anagen entry and promote T cell mediated inflammation. Created with Biorender.com.

Future therapeutic strategies for AA

The field of dermatology is gradually moving from the use of broad spectrum immune suppressants towards using targeted therapies, most notably for the treatment of psoriasis. In recent years, clinical studies have indicated that AA may be targeted with currently available immune-modulating therapies, and JAK inhibitors are proven to be particularly useful (Jabbari et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018). From a mechanistic point of view, the broad targeting of JAK inhibition does not facilitate better understanding of the specific cytokines important for driving AA. Interestingly, it is becoming apparent that successful treatment of AA requires promotion of anagen in addition to blocking harmful inflammation. This may be especially true for severe and refractory AA, and these patients represent the cohort who are most likely to be eligible to receive targeted therapies.

Notably, it has been shown that JAK inhibition induces anagen by activating hair follicle progenitor cells (Harel et al., 2015). These data indicate that JAK inhibitor therapy, in the context of AA, has a dual function, and may indicate why this therapeutic strategy is particularly effective for a large proportion of patients. Aside from the side effect profile, a major problem associated with JAK therapy is that disease relapse is common following treatment cessation (Yael Renert-Yuval, 2017). Thus, better understanding of the mechanisms modulating JAK-STAT mediated HF control are required to design novel therapeutic strategies. Recent investigation has indicated that macrophages present during telogen can inhibit anagen entry, and that this mechanism involves JAK-STAT signalling, via OSM secretion (Wang et al., 2019). This mechanism appears to be important during normal hair cycling. We now ask how this knowledge can be exploited to better target mechanisms driving AA?

We propose that targeting macrophages offers a tangible therapeutic option for AA. In normal human skin, macrophage numbers decline during early catagen, however during late catagen follicular macrophages adopt a phenotype similar (CD206⁺) to the signature observed in lesional AA skin (Hardman et al., 2019). Furthermore, the OSM secreting macrophage population observed in mice, which inhibit anagen entry, express CD163 (Wang et al., 2019). We therefore hypothesise that CD206⁺ macrophages in AA skin contribute to AA pathogenesis and inhibit hair growth. These functions may involve secretion of factors that have already been associated with macrophages, including OSM or cytokines (Figure 7.2). Further investigation is required to characterise the macrophage phenotype in lesional AA skin, and to identify functions of macrophage behaviour which contribute to hair loss.

Our data clearly highlight that AA represents a heterogenous autoimmune disease, and that AA is associated with distinct tissue and systemic inflammatory signatures. From a clinical perspective, AA is not directly life threatening and affected individuals are generally regarded as healthy by the dermatology community. However, the increased incidence of inflammatory comorbidities among patient cohorts may indicate that the immune dysregulation associated with AA should be taken more seriously. Importantly, affected individuals are often concerned about how AA-driven hair loss may lead to the development of other inflammatory illnesses. Notably, we observed that the number of circulating CCR9⁺ CCR6 CD4 T cells are elevated in a selection of AA patients, and preliminary evidence indicates that zonulin levels are raised. Thus, the type 17 signature could be related to sub-clinical intestinal inflammation, which would corroborate with patient reported intestinal discomfort. Furthermore, we found that levels of circulating IL-22 and IL-17E are positive predictors of depression score. Whilst these data do not indicate that cytokines drive depression in AA, we suggest that they may contribute based on studies describing the link between peripheral inflammation and depressive effects on the brain (Bain et al., 2019). Based on these observations, we propose that the systemic inflammatory signature associated with AA provides a rationale connecting follicular associated pathology and wider tissue involvement.

7.1 Final conclusions

The data described in this thesis provide better understanding of the immune dysregulation associated with AA. The systemic signature of AA is characteristic of a polygenic autoimmune condition, and provides insight into different disease pathotypes that will be useful for informing future mechanistic and clinical studies. We also suggest that macrophages represent a novel pathogenic driver of AA, and that future investigations are required to identify mechanisms which could be therapeutically targeted in the future.

- Abou Rahal, J., Kurban, M., Kibbi, A.G. & Abbas, O. (2014) Plasmacytoid dendritic cells in alopecia areata: missing link? *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*. 30 (1), 119-123.
- Acosta-Rodriguez, E.V., Rivino, L., Geginat, J., Jarrossay, D., Gattorno, M., Lanzavecchia, A., Sallusto, F. & Napolitani, G. (2007) Surface phenotype and antigenic specificity of human interleukin 17-producing T helper memory cells. *Nature Immunology*. 8 (6), 639-646.
- Adachi, T., Kobayashi, T., Sugihara, E., Yamada, T., Ikuta, K., Pittaluga, S., Saya, H., Amagai, M. & Nagao, K. (2015) Hair follicle-derived IL-7 and IL-15 mediate skin-resident memory T cell homeostasis and lymphoma. *Nature Medicine*. 21 (11), nm.3962-1279.
- Aghaei, S., Saki, N., Daneshmand, E. & Kardeh, B. (2014) Prevalence of Psychological Disorders in Patients with Alopecia Areata in Comparison with Normal Subjects. *International Scholarly Research Notices*. 2014 (2), 1-4.
- Akar, A., Arca, E., Erbil, H., Akay, C., Sayal, A. & Gür, A.R. (2002) Antioxidant enzymes and lipid peroxidation in the scalp of patients with alopecia areata. *Journal of Dermatological Science*. 29 (2), 85-90.
- Alatab, S., Sepanlou, S.G., Ikuta, K., Vahedi, H., Bisignano, C., Safiri, S., Sadeghi, A., Nixon, M.R., Abdoli, A., Abolhassani, H., Alipour, V., Almadi, M.A.H., Almasi-Hashiani, A., Anushiravani, A., Arabloo, J., Atique, S., Awasthi, A., Badawi, A., Baig, A.A.A., et al. (2020) The global, regional, and national burden of inflammatory bowel disease in 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. The lancet. Gastroenterology & hepatology. 5 (1), 17-30.
- Ali, N., Zirak, B., Rodriguez, R.S., Pauli, M.L., Truong, H.-A., Lai, K., Ahn, R., Corbin, K., Lowe, M.M., Scharschmidt, T.C., Taravati, K., Tan, M.R., Ricardo-Gonzalez, R.R., Nosbaum, A., Bertolini, M., Liao, W., Nestle, F.O., Paus, R., Cotsarelis, G., et al. (2017) Regulatory T Cells in Skin Facilitate Epithelial Stem Cell Differentiation. *Cell*. 169 (6), 1119-1129.e11.
- Alkhalifah, A., Alsantali, A., Wang, E., McElwee, K.J. & Shapiro, J. (2010) Alopecia areata update: part I. Clinical picture, histopathology, and pathogenesis. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. 62 (2), 177-88- quiz 189-90.
- Amberg, N., Holcmann, M., Stulnig, G. & Sibilia, M. (2016) Effects of Imiquimod on Hair Follicle Stem Cells and Hair Cycle Progression. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 136 (11), 2140-2149.
- Amir, E.-A.D., Davis, K.L., Tadmor, M.D., Simonds, E.F., Levine, J.H., Bendall, S.C., Shenfeld, D.K., Krishnaswamy, S., Nolan, G.P. & Pe'er, D. (2013) viSNE enables visualization of high dimensional single-cell data and reveals phenotypic heterogeneity of leukemia. *Nature biotechnology*. 31 (6), 545-552.

- Anderson, G. & Takahama, Y. (2012) Thymic epithelial cells: working class heroes for T cell development and repertoire selection. *Trends in Immunology*. 33 (6), 256-263.
- Andrade, M. de, Jackow, C.M., Dahm, N., Hordinsky, M., Reveille, J.D. & Duvic, M. (1999) Alopecia Areata in Families: Association with the HLA Locus. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology Symposium Proceedings*. 4 (3), 220-223.
- Angelo, L.S., Banerjee, P.P., Monaco-Shawver, L., Rosen, J.B., Makedonas, G., Forbes, L.R., Mace, E.M. & Orange, J.S. (2015) Practical NK cell phenotyping and variability in healthy adults. *Immunologic research*. 62 (3), 341-356.
- Arck, P.C., Handjiski, B., Peters, E.M.J., Peter, A.S., Hagen, E., Fischer, A., KLAPP, B.F. & Paus, R. (2003) Stress Inhibits Hair Growth in Mice by Induction of Premature Catagen Development and Deleterious Perifollicular Inflammatory Events via Neuropeptide Substance P-Dependent Pathways. *The American Journal of Pathology*. 162 (3), 803-814.
- Arrones, O.M.M., Villar, S.S., Brocal, V.P., Corralo, D.S., Raya, C.M., Barata, R.R., Moya, A., Olasolo, P.J. & Galvan, S.V. (2020) Analysis of the gut microbiota in alopecia areata: identification of bacterial biomarkers. *Journal* of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology. 34 (2), 400-405.
- Artyomov, M.N., Munk, A., Gorvel, L., Korenfeld, D., Cella, M., Tung, T. & Klechevsky, E. (2015) Modular expression analysis reveals functional conservation between human Langerhans cells and mouse cross-priming dendritic cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 212 (5), 743-757.
- Asano, K., Matsushita, T., Umeno, J., Hosono, N., Takahashi, A., Kawaguchi, T., Matsumoto, T., Matsui, T., Kakuta, Y., Kinouchi, Y., Shimosegawa, T., Hosokawa, M., Arimura, Y., Shinomura, Y., Kiyohara, Y., Tsunoda, T., Kamatani, N., Iida, M., Nakamura, Y., et al. (2009) A genome-wide association study identifies three new susceptibility loci for ulcerative colitis in the Japanese population. *Nature Genetics*. 41 (12), 1325-1329.
- Asmar, R.E., Panigrahi, P., Bamford, P., Berti, I., Not, T., Coppa, G.V., Catassi, C. & Fasano, A. (2002) Host-dependent zonulin secretion causes the impairment of the small intestine barrier function after bacterial exposure. *Gastroenterology*. 123 (5), 1607-1615.
- Attia, E.A.S., Shennawy, El, D. & Sefin, A. (2010) Serum Interleukin-4 and Total Immunoglobulin E in Nonatopic Alopecia Areata Patients and HLA-DRB1 Typing. *Dermatology research and practice*. 2010 (4), 1-6.
- Atwa, M.A., Youssef, N. & Bayoumy, N.M. (2015) T-helper 17 cytokines (interleukins 17, 21, 22, and 6, and tumor necrosis factor-α) in patients with alopecia areata: association with clinical type and severity. *International Journal of Dermatology*. 55 (6), 666-672.
- Bain, C.C., Bravo-Blas, A., Scott, C.L., Perdiguero, E.G., Geissmann, F., Henri, S., Malissen, B., Osborne, L.C., Artis, D. & Mowat, A.M. (2014) Constant

replenishment from circulating monocytes maintains the macrophage pool in adult intestine. *Nature Immunology*. 15 (10), 929-937.

- Bain, K.A., McDonald, E., Moffat, F., Tutino, M., Castelino, M., Barton, A., Cavanagh, J., Ijaz, U.Z., Siebert, S., McInnes, I.B., Astrand, A., Holmes, S. & Milling, S.W.F. (2019) Alopecia areata is characterised by dysregulation in systemic type 17 and type 2 cytokines, which may contribute to diseaseassociated psychological morbidity. *British Journal of Dermatology*. 182 (1), 15-16
- Bakry, O., Basha, M., Shazly, El, R.M. & Mostafa, H. (2014) Total serum immunoglobulin E in patients with alopecia areata. *Indian Dermatology* Online Journal. 5 (2), 122.
- Ballesteros-Tato, A., Randall, T.D., Lund, F.E., Spolski, R., Leonard, W.J. & León, B. (2016) T Follicular Helper Cell Plasticity Shapes Pathogenic T Helper 2 Cell-Mediated Immunity to Inhaled House Dust Mite. *Immunity*. 44 (2), 259-273.
- Banuelos, J., Shin, S., Cao, Y., Bochner, B.S., Nebreda, L.M., Budinger, G.R.S., Zhou, L., Li, S., Xin, J., Lingen, M.W., Dong, C., Schleimer, R.P. & Lu, N.Z. (2016) BCL-2 protects human and mouse Th17 cells from glucocorticoidinduced apoptosis. *Allergy*. 71 (5), 640-650.
- Barahmani, N., de Andrade, M., Slusser, J.P., Zhang, Q. & Duvic, M. (2006) Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I Chain-Related Gene A Polymorphisms and Extended Haplotypes Are Associated with Familial Alopecia Areata. *Journal* of Investigative Dermatology. 126 (1), 74-78.
- Bardella, M.T., Marino, R., Barbareschi, M., Bianchi, F., Faglia, G. & Bianchi, P. (2000) Alopecia areata and coeliac disease: no effect of a gluten-free diet on hair growth. *Dermatology*. 200 (2), 108-110.
- Barr, T.A., Shen, P., Brown, S., Lampropoulou, V., Roch, T., Lawrie, S., Fan, B., O'Connor, R.A., Anderton, S.M., Bar-Or, A., Fillatreau, S. & Gray, D. (2012) B cell depletion therapy ameliorates autoimmune disease through ablation of IL-6-producing B cells. - PubMed - NCBI. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 209 (5), 1001-1010.
- Bashir, M.M., Sharma, M.R. & Werth, V.P. (2009) UVB and pro-inflammatory cytokines synergistically activate TNF-α production in keratinocytes through enhanced gene transcription. *The Journal of investigative dermatology*. 129 (4), 994-1001.
- Bauer, S., Groh, V., Wu, J., Steinle, A., Phillips, J.H., Lanier, L.L. & Spies, T. (1999) Activation of NK Cells and T Cells by NKG2D, a Receptor for Stress-Inducible MICA. Science. 285 (5428), 727-729.
- Bedoui, Y., Guillot, X., Sélambarom, J., Guiraud, P., Giry, C., Jaffar-Bandjee,
 M.C., Ralandison, S. & Gasque, P. (2019) Methotrexate an Old Drug with New
 Tricks. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 20 (20), 5023.
- Bending, D., La Peña, De, H., Veldhoen, M., Phillips, J.M., Uyttenhove, C.,Stockinger, B. & Cooke, A. (2009) Highly purified Th17 cells from BDC2.5NOD

mice convert into Th1-like cells in NOD/SCID recipient mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 119 (3), 565-572.

- Benigno, M., Anastassopoulos, K.P., Mostaghimi, A., Udall, M., Daniel, S.R., Cappelleri, J.C., Chander, P., Wahl, P.M., Lapthorn, J., Kauffman, L., Chen, L. & Peeva, E. (2020) A Large Cross-Sectional Survey Study of the Prevalence of Alopecia Areata in the United States. *Clinical, Cosmetic and Investigational Dermatology*. 13259-266.
- Bertolini, M., McElwee, K., Gilhar, A., Bulfone-Paus, S. & Paus, R. (2020) Hair follicle immune privilege and its collapse in alopecia areata. *Experimental Dermatology*. exd.14155.
- Bertolini, M., Pretzlaff, M., Sulk, M., Bähr, M., Gherardini, J., Uchida, Y., Reibelt, M., Kinori, M., Rossi, A., Bíró, T. & Paus, R. (2016) Vasoactive intestinal peptide, whose receptor-mediated signalling may be defective in alopecia areata, provides protection from hair follicle immune privilege collapse. *British Journal of Dermatology*. 175 (3), 531-541.
- Bertolini, M., Zilio, F., Rossi, A., Kleditzsch, P., Emelianov, V.E., Gilhar, A., Keren, A., Meyer, K.C., Wang, E., Funk, W., McElwee, K. & Paus, R. (2014) Abnormal Interactions between Perifollicular Mast Cells and CD8+ T-Cells May Contribute to the Pathogenesis of Alopecia Areata Richard L Eckert (ed.). *PLoS ONE*. 9 (5), e94260.
- Betz, R.C., Petukhova, L., Ripke, S., Huang, H., Menelaou, A., Redler, S.,
 Becker, T., Heilmann, S., Yamany, T., Duvic, M., Hordinsky, M., Norris, D.,
 Price, V.H., Mackay-Wiggan, J., de Jong, A., DeStefano, G.M., Moebus, S.,
 Böhm, M., Blume-Peytavi, U., et al. (2015) Genome-wide meta-analysis in
 alopecia areata resolves HLA associations and reveals two new susceptibility
 loci. Nature Communications. 6 (1), 628.
- Betz, R.C., Pforr, J., Flaquer, A., Redler, S., Hanneken, S., Eigelshoven, S., Kortüm, A.-K., Tüting, T., Lambert, J., De Weert, J., Hillmer, A.M., Schmael, C., Wienker, T.F., Kruse, R., Lutz, G., Blaumeiser, B. & Nöthen, M.M. (2007) Loss-of-Function Mutations in the Filaggrin Gene and Alopecia Areata: Strong Risk Factor for a Severe Course of Disease in Patients Comorbid for Atopic Disease. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 127 (11), 2539-2543.
- Bhat, M.Y., Solanki, H.S., Advani, J., Khan, A.A., Prasad, T.S.K., Gowda, H., Thiyagarajan, S. & Chatterjee, A. (2018) Comprehensive network map of interferon gamma signaling. *Journal of Cell Communication and Signaling*. 12 (4), 745-751.
- Bilgic, O., Sivrikaya, A., Unlu, A. & Altinyazar, H.C. (2015) Serum cytokine and chemokine profiles in patients with alopecia areata. *Journal of Dermatological Treatment*. 27 (3), 260-263.
- Billingham, R.E. & Silvers, W.K. (1971) A Biologist'S Reflections on Dermatology. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 57 (4), 227-240.

- Biron, C.A. & Brossay, L. (2001) NK cells and NKT cells in innate defense against viral infections. *Current Opinion in Immunology*. 13 (4), 458-464.
- Bonfoco, E., Stuart, P.M., Brunner, T., Lin, T., Griffith, T.S., Gao, Y., Najajima, H., Henkart, P.A., Ferguson, T.A. & Green D.R. (1998) Inducible
 Nonlymphoid Expression of Fas Ligand Is Responsible for Superantigen-Induced Peripheral Deletion of T cells. *Immunity*. (9) 5, 711-720.
- Bonilla, F.A., Barlan, I., Chapel, H., Costa-Carvalho, B.T., Cunningham-Rundles, C., la Morena, de, M.T., Espinosa-Rosales, F.J., Hammarström, L., Nonoyama, S., Quinti, I., Routes, J.M., Tang, M.L.K. & Warnatz, K. (2016)
 International Consensus Document (ICON): Common Variable
 Immunodeficiency Disorders. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice.* 4 (1), 38-59.
- Borde, A. & Åstrand, A. (2018) Alopecia areata and the gut—the link opens up for novel therapeutic interventions. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets*. 22 (6), 503-511.
- Bortolato, B., Carvalho, A.F., Soczynska, J.K., Perini, G.I. & McIntyre, R.S. (2015) The Involvement of TNF-α in Cognitive Dysfunction Associated with Major Depressive Disorder: An Opportunity for Domain Specific Treatments. *Current Neuropharmacology*. 13 (5), 558-576.
- Bosteels, C., Neyt, K., Vanheerswynghels, M., van Helden, M.J., Sichien, D., Debeuf, N., De Prijck, S., Bosteels, V., Vandamme, N., Martens, L., Saeys, Y., Louagie, E., Lesage, M., Williams, D.L., Tang, S.-C., Mayer, J.U., Ronchese, F., Scott, C.L., Hammad, H., et al. (2020) Inflammatory Type 2 cDCs Acquire Features of cDC1s and Macrophages to Orchestrate Immunity to Respiratory Virus Infection. *Immunity*. 52 (6), 1039-1056.e9.
- Bour-Jordan, H., Esensten, J.H., Martinez-Llordella, M., Penaranda, C., Stumpf,
 M. & Bluestone, J.A. (2011) Intrinsic and extrinsic control of peripheral T-cell tolerance by costimulatory molecules of the CD28/B7 family. *Immunological Reviews*. 241 (1), 180-205.
- Boyman, O., Hefti, H.P., Conrad, C., Nickoloff, B.J., Suter, M. & Nestle, F.O. (2004) Spontaneous Development of Psoriasis in a New Animal Model Shows an Essential Role for Resident T Cells and Tumor Necrosis Factor-α. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 199 (5), 731-736.
- Brajac, I., Tkalčić, M., Dragojević, D.M. & Gruber, F. (2003) Roles of Stress, Stress Perception and Trait-Anxiety in the Onset and Course of Alopecia Areata. *The Journal of Dermatology*. 30 (12), 871-878.
- Brink, M., Hansson, M., Mathsson, L., Jakobsson, P.-J., Holmdahl, R., Hallmans, G., Stenlund, H., Rönnelid, J., Klareskog, L. & Rantapää-Dahlqvist, S. (2013)
 Multiplex Analyses of Antibodies Against Citrullinated Peptides in Individuals
 Prior to Development of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Arthritis and rheumatism*. 65 (4), 899-910.

- Brownell, I., Guevara, E., Bai, C.B., Loomis, C.A. & Joyner, A.L. (2011) Nervederived Sonic hedgehog defines a niche for hair follicle stem cells capable of becoming epidermal stem cells. *Cell stem cell*. 8 (5), 552-565.
- Brunson, K.L., Avishai-Eliner, S., Hatalski, C.G. & Baram, T.Z. (2001) Neurobiology of the stress response early in life: evolution of a concept and the role of corticotropin releasing hormone. *Molecular Psychiatry*. 6 (6), 647-656.
- Calzetti, F., Tamassia, N., Micheletti, A., Finotti, G., Bianchetto-Aguilera, F. & Cassatella, M.A. (2018) Human dendritic cell subset 4 (DC4) correlates to a subset of CD14dim/-CD16++ monocytes. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. 141 (6), 2276-2279.e3.
- Cantó, C. & Auwerx, J. (2009) PGC-1α, SIRT1 and AMPK, an energy sensing network that controls energy expenditure. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*. 20 (2), 98-105.
- Cardili, R.N., Alves, T.G., Freitas, J.C.O.C., Soares, C.P., Junior, C.T.M., Soares, E.G., Donadi, E.A. & Souza, C.S. (2010) Expression of human leucocyte antigen-G primarily targets affected skin of patients with psoriasis. *British Journal of Dermatology*. 163 (4), 769-775.
- Castellana, D., Paus, R. & Perez-Moreno, M. (2014) Macrophages Contribute to the Cyclic Activation of Adult Hair Follicle Stem Cells Roel Nusse (ed.). *PLoS Biology*. 12 (12), e1002002.
- Celso, C.L. (2004) Transient activation of -catenin signalling in adult mouse epidermis is sufficient to induce new hair follicles but continuous activation is required to maintain hair follicle tumours. *Development*. 131 (8), 1787-1799.
- Cemil, B.Ç., Canpolat, F., Yılmazer, D., Eskioğlu, F. & Alper, M. (2012) The association of PASI scores with CRH-R1 expression in patients with psoriasis. *Archives of Dermatological Research*. 304 (2), 127-132.
- Chang, J.T., Wherry, E.J. & Goldrath, A.W. (2014) Molecular regulation of effector and memory T cell differentiation. *Nature Immunology*. 15 (12), 1104-1115.
- Chazenbalk, G.D., Pichurin, P., Chen, C.-R., Latrofa, F., Johnstone, A.P., McLachlan, S.M. & Rapoport, B. (2002) Thyroid-stimulating autoantibodies in Graves disease preferentially recognize the free A subunit, not the thyrotropin holoreceptor. - PubMed - NCBI. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 110 (2), 209-217.
- Chen, C.-C., Wang, L., Plikus, M.V., Jiang, T.X., Murray, P.J., Ramos, R., Guerrero-Juarez, C.F., Hughes, M.W., Lee, O.K., Shi, S., Widelitz, R.B., Lander, A.D. & Chuong, C.M. (2015) Organ-level quorum sensing directs regeneration in hair stem cell populations. *Cell*. 161 (2), 277-290.
- Cheuk, S., Schlums, H., Sérézal, I.G., Martini, E., Chiang, S.C., Marquardt, N., Gibbs, A., Detlofsson, E., Introini, A., Forkel, M., Höög, C., Tjernlund, A., Michaëlsson, J., Folkersen, L., Mjösberg, J., Blomqvist, L., Ehrström, M.,

Ståhle, M., Bryceson, Y.T., et al. (2017) CD49a Expression Defines Tissue-Resident CD8+ T Cells Poised for Cytotoxic Function in Human Skin. *Immunity*. 46 (2), 287-300.

- Chinen, T., Kannan, A.K., Levine, A.G., Fan, X., Klein, U., Zheng, Y., Gasteiger, G., Feng, Y., Fontenot, J.D. & Rudensky, A.Y. (2016) An essential role for IL-2 receptor in regulatory T cell function. *Nature Immunology*. 17 (11), 1322-1333.
- Choi, Y.S., Dieter, J.A., Rothaeusler, K., Luo, Z. and Baumgarth, N. (2012) B-1 cells in the bone marrow are a significant source of natural IgM. European Journal of Immunology. 42 (1), 120-129.
- Christoph, T., Röver, S.M., Audring, H., Tobin, D.J., Hermes, B., Cotsarelis, G., Rückert, R. & Paus, R. (2000) The human hair follicle immune system: cellular composition and immune privilege. *British Journal of Dermatology*. 142 (5), 862-873.
- Chu, C.-H., Cheng, Y.-P. & Chan, J.-Y.L. (2016) Alopecia Areata After Vaccination: Recurrence with Rechallenge. *Pediatric Dermatology*. 33 (3), e218-e219.
- Chu, S.-Y., Chen, Y.-J., Tseng, W.-C., Lin, M.-W., Chen, T.-J., Hwang, C.-Y., Chen, C.-C., Lee, D.-D., Chang, Y.-T., Wang, W.-J. & Liu, H.-N. (2011) Comorbidity profiles among patients with alopecia areata: The importance of onset age, a nationwide population-based study. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. 65 (5), 949-956.
- Chu, S.-Y., Chou, C.-H., Huang, H.-D., Yen, M.-H., Hong, H.-C., Chao, P.-H., Wang, Y.-H., Chen, P.-Y., Nian, S.-X., Chen, Y.-R., Liou, L.-Y., Liu, Y.-C., Chen, H.-M., Lin, F.-M., Chang, Y.-T., Chen, C.-C. & Lee, O.K. (2019) Mechanical stretch induces hair regeneration through the alternative activation of macrophages. *Nature Communications*. 10 (1), 1-11.
- Clark, E.A. & Ledbetter, J.A. (1994) How B and T cells talk to each other. *Nature*. 367 (6462), 425-428.
- Colombe, B.W., Lou, C.D. & Price, V.H. (1999) The Genetic Basis of Alopecia Areata: HLA Associations with Patchy Alopecia Areata Versus Alopecia Totalis and Alopecia Universalis. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology Symposium Proceedings*. 4 (3), 216-219.
- Colón, E.A., Popkin, M.K., Callies, A.L., Dessert, N.J. & Hordinsky, M.K. (1991) Lifetime prevalence of psychiatric disorders in patients with alopecia areata. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*. 32 (3), 245-251.
- Comiskey, M., Goldstein, C.Y., De Fazio, S.R., Mammolenti, M., Newmark, J.A. & Warner, C.M. (2003) Evidence that HLA-G is the functional homolog of mouse Qa-2, the ped gene product. *Human Immunology*. 64 (11), 999-1004.
- Concha, J.S.S. & Werth, V.P. (2018) Alopecias in lupus erythematosus. *Lupus Science & Medicine*. 5 (1), e000291.

- Constantinides, M.G., Linehan, J.L., Sen, S., Shaik, J., Roy, S., LeGrand, J.L., Bouladoux, N., Adams, E.J. & Belkaid, Y. (2017) Mucosal-associated invariant T cells respond to cutaneous microbiota. The Journal of Immunology. 198 (1), 218.
- Contini, P., Ghio, M., Poggi, A., Filaci, G., Indiveri, F., Ferrone, S. & Puppo, F. (2003) Soluble HLA-A,-B,-C and -G molecules induce apoptosis in T and NK CD8+ cells and inhibit cytotoxic T cell activity through CD8 ligation. *European journal of immunology*. 33 (1), 125-134.
- Cornaby, C., Gibbons, L., Mayhew, V., Sloan, C.S., Welling, A. and Poole, B.D. (2015) B cell epitope spreading: Mechanisms and contribution to autoimmune diseases. *Immunology Letters*. 163 (1), 56-68.
- Cornelissen, C., Marquardt, Y., Czaja, K., Wenzel, J., Frank, J., Lüscher-Firzlaff, J., Lüscher, B. & Baron, J.M. (2012) IL-31 regulates differentiation and filaggrin expression in human organotypic skin models. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. 129 (2), 426-433.e8.
- Crispin, M.K., Ko, J.M., Craiglow, B.G., Li, S., Shankar, G., Urban, J.R., Chen, J.C., Cerise, J.E., Jabbari, A., Winge, M.C.G., Marinkovich, M.P., Christiano, A.M., Oro, A.E. & King, B.A. (2016) Safety and efficacy of the JAK inhibitor tofacitinib citrate in patients with alopecia areata. JCI Insight. 1 (15).
- Cuss, A.K., Avery, D.T., Cannons, J.L., Yu, L.J., Nichols, K.E., Shaw, P.J. & Tangye, S.G. (2006) Expansion of functionally immature transitional B cells is associated with human-immunodeficient states characterized by impaired humoral immunity. - PubMed - NCBI. *The Journal of Immunology*. 176 (3), 1506-1516.
- Czarnowicki, T., Gonzalez, J., Bonifacio, K.M., Shemer, A., Xiangyu, P., Kunjravia, N., Malajian, D., Fuentes-Duculan, J., Esaki, H., Noda, S., Estrada, Y., Xu, H., Zheng, X., Krueger, J.G. & Guttman-Yassky, E. (2016) Diverse activation and differentiation of multiple B-cell subsets in patients with atopic dermatitis but not in patients with psoriasis. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. 137 (1), 118-129.e5.
- Czarnowicki, T., He, H.Y., Wen, H.C., Hashim, P.W., Nia, J.K., Malik, K., Estrada, Y., Kimmel, G.W., Taliercio, M., Krueger, J.G. & Guttman-Yassky, E. (2017) Alopecia areata is characterized by expansion of circulating Th2/Tc2/Th22, within the skin-homing and systemic T-cell populations. *Allergy.* 73 (3), 713-723.
- Dahlqvist, S.R., Ben A W de Jong, Berglin, E., Hallmans, G., Wadell, G., Stenlund, H., Sundin, U. & van Venrooij, W.J. (2003) Antibodies against cyclic citrullinated peptide and IgA rheumatoid factor predict the development of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and rheumatism*. 48 (10), 2741-2749.
- Darrah, E., Giles, J.T., Davis, R.L., Naik, P., Wang, H., Konig, M.F., Cappelli, L.C., Bingham, C.O., III, Danoff, S.K. & Andrade, F. (2018) Autoantibodies to Peptidylarginine Deiminase 2 Are Associated With Less Severe Disease in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Frontiers in Immunology*. 9573.

- Davies, Christmas, D. & Potokar, J. (2011) A biological pathway linking inflammation and depression: activation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*. 431.
- Decker, T., Stockinger, S., Karaghiosoff, M., Müller, M. & Kovarik, P. (2002) IFNs and STATs in innate immunity to microorganisms. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 109 (10), 1271-1277.
- Deenick, E.K., Avery, D.T., Chan, A., Berglund, L.J., Ives, M.L., Moens, L., Stoddard, J.L., Bustamante, J., Boisson-Dupuis, S., Tsumura, M., Kobayashi, M., Arkwright, P.D., Averbuch, D., Engelhard, D., Roesler, J., Peake, J., Wong, M., Adelstein, S., Choo, S., et al. (2013) Naive and memory human B cells have distinct requirements for STAT3 activation to differentiate into antibody-secreting plasma cells. - PubMed - NCBI. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 210 (12), 2739-2753.
- Delhalle, S., Bode, S.F.N., Balling, R., Ollert, M. & He, F.Q. (2018) A roadmap towards personalized immunology. *npj Systems Biology and Applications*. 4 (1), 1-14.
- Diana, J., Simoni, Y., Furio, L., Beaudoin, L., Agerberth, B., Barrat, F. & Lehuen, A. (2012) Crosstalk between neutrophils, B-1a cells and plasmacytoid dendritic cells initiates autoimmune diabetes. - PubMed - NCBI. *Nature Medicine*. 19 (1), 65-73.
- Dieterich, W., Ehnis, T., Bauer, M., Donner, P., Volta, U., Riecken, E.O. & Schuppan, D. (1997) Identification of tissue transglutaminase as the autoantigen of celiac disease. *Nature Medicine*. 3 (7), 797-801.
- Dillon, S.R., Sprecher, C., Hammond, A., Bilsborough, J., Rosenfeld-Franklin, M., Presnell, S.R., Haugen, H.S., Maurer, M., Harder, B., Johnston, J., Bort, S., Mudri, S., Kuijper, J.L., Bukowski, T., Shea, P., Dong, D.L., Dasovich, M., Grant, F.J., Lockwood, L., et al. (2004) Interleukin 31, a cytokine produced by activated T cells, induces dermatitis in mice. *Nature Immunology*. 5 (7), 752-760.
- Ding, A.H., Nathan, C.F. & Stuehr, D.J. (1988) Release of reactive nitrogen intermediates and reactive oxygen intermediates from mouse peritoneal macrophages. Comparison of activating cytokines and evidence for independent production. *The Journal of Immunology*. 141 (7), 2407-2412.
- Díaz-Angulo, S., López-Hoyos, M., Muñoz-Cacho, P., López-Escobar, M. & González-López, M.A. (2015) High Prevalence of Thyroid Autoimmunity in Patients with Alopecia Areata and Vitiligo: A Controlled Study. *Australasian Journal of Dermatology*. 56 (2), 142-143.
- Dobin, A., Davis, C.A., Schlesinger, F., Drenkow, J., Zaleski, C., Jha, S., Batut, P., Chaisson, M. & Gingeras, T.R. (2012) STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. *Bioinformatics*. 29 (1), 15-21.
- Dowlati, Y., Herrmann, N., Swardfager, W., Liu, H., Sham, L., Reim, E.K. & Lanctôt, K.L. (2010) A Meta-Analysis of Cytokines in Major Depression. *Biological Psychiatry*. 67 (5), 446-457.

- Drago, S., Asmar, El, R., Di Pierro, M., Grazia Clemente, M., Sapone, A.T.A., Thakar, M., Iacono, G., Carroccio, A., D'Agate, C., Not, T., Zampini, L., Catassi, C. & Fasano, A. (2009) Gliadin, zonulin and gut permeability: Effects on celiac and non-celiac intestinal mucosa and intestinal cell lines. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology*. 41 (4), 408-419.
- Duan, B & Morel, L (2006) Role of B-1a cells in autoimmunity. *Autoimmunity Reviews*. 5(6), 403-408.
- Dubois, P.C., Trynka, G., Franke, L., Hunt, K.A., Romanos, J., Curtotti, A., Zhernakova, A., Heap, G.A., Ádány, R., Aromaa, A., Bardella, M.T., van den Berg, L.H., Bockett, N.A., la Concha, de, E.G., Dema, B., Fehrmann, R.S., Fernández-Arquero, M., Fiatal, S., Grandone, E., et al. (2010) Multiple common variants for celiac disease influencing immune gene expression. *Nature Genetics*. 42 (4), 295-302.
- Duhen, T. & Campbell, D.J. (2014) IL-1B promotes the differentiation of polyfunctional human CCR6+CXCR3+ Th1/17 cells that are specific for pathogenic and commensal microbes. - PubMed - NCBI. The Journal of Immunology. 193 (1), 120-129.
- DuPage, M. & Bluestone, J.A. (2016) Harnessing the plasticity of CD4 + T cells to treat immune-mediated disease. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. 16 (3), 149-163.
- D'Amore, R., Ijaz, U.Z., Schirmer, M., Kenny, J.G., Gregory, R., Darby, A.C., Shakya, M., Podar, M., Quince, C. & Hall, N. (2016) A comprehensive benchmarking study of protocols and sequencing platforms for 16S rRNA community profiling. *BMC Genomics*. 17 (1), 1-20.
- Eagle, R.A., Traherne, J.A., Hair, J.R., Jafferji, I. & Trowsdale, J. (2009) ULBP6/RAET1L is an additional human NKG2D ligand. *European journal of immunology*. 39 (11), 3207-3216.
- Ebrahim, A.A., Salem, R.M., Fallah, El, A.A. & Younis, E.T. (2019) Serum Interleukin-15 is a Marker of Alopecia Areata Severity. *International Journal of Trichology*. 11 (1), 26-30.
- Elizabeta Nemeth, T.G. (2009) The Role of Hepcidin in Iron Metabolism. Acta Haematologica. 122 (2-3), 78-86.
- Elliott, M.J., Maini, R.N., Feldmann, M., Kalden, J.R., Antoni, C., Smolen, J.S., Leeb, B., Breedveld, F.C., Macfarlane, J.D., Bijl, J.A. & Woody, J.N. (1994) Randomised double-blind comparison of chimeric monoclonal antibody to tumour necrosis factor α (cA2) versus placebo in rheumatoid arthritis. *The Lancet*. 344 (8930), 1105-1110.
- Erkek, E., Karaduman, A., Akcan, Y., Sökmensüer, C. & Bükülmez, G. (2000) Psoriasis associated with HCV and exacerbated by interferon alpha: complete clearance with acitretin during interferon alpha treatment for chronic ... -PubMed - NCBI. *Dermatology*. 201 (2), 180-181.
- Ertekin, V., Tosun, M.S. & Erdem, T. (2014) Screening of Celiac Disease in Children with Alopecia Areata. *Indian Journal of Dermatology*. 59 (3), 317.

- Esterházy, D., Loschko, J., London, M., Jove, V., Oliveira, T.Y. & Mucida, D. (2016) Classical dendritic cells are required for dietary antigen-mediated induction of peripheral Treg cells and tolerance. *Nature Immunology*. 17 (5), 545-555.
- Farooq, R.K., Asghar, K., Kanwal, S. & Zulqernain, A. (2016) Role of inflammatory cytokines in depression: Focus on interleukin-18. *Biomedical Reports*. 6 (1), 15-20.
- Fasano, A., Not, T., Wang, W., Uzzau, S., Berti, I., Tommasini, A. & Goldblum, S.E. (2000) Zonulin, a newly discovered modulator of intestinal permeability, and its expression in coeliac disease. - PubMed - NCBI. *The Lancet*. 355 (9214), 1518-1519.
- Feder, J.N., Gnirke, A., Thomas, W., Tsuchihashi, Z., Ruddy, D.A., Basava, A., Dormishian, F., Domingo, R., Ellis, M.C., Fullan, A., Hinton, L.M., Jones, N.L., Kimmel, B.E., Kronmal, G.S., Lauer, P., Lee, V.K., Loeb, D.B., Mapa, F.A., McClelland, E., et al. (1996) A novel MHC class I-like gene is mutated in patients with hereditary haemochromatosis. *Nature Genetics*. 13 (4), 399-408.
- Ferreira, R.C., Guo, H., Coulson, R.M.R., Smyth, D.J., Pekalski, M.L., Burren, O.S., Cutler, A.J., Doecke, J.D., Flint, S., McKinney, E.F., Lyons, P.A., Smith, K.G.C., Achenbach, P., Beyerlein, A., Dunger, D.B., Clayton, D.G., Wicker, L.S., Todd, J.A., Bonifacio, E., et al. (2014) A type I interferon transcriptional signature precedes autoimmunity in children genetically at risk for type 1 diabetes. PubMed NCBI. *Diabetes*. 63 (7), 2538-2550.
- Fijak, M. & Meinhardt, A. (2006) The testis in immune privilege. *Immunological Reviews*. 213 (1), 66-81.
- Fontenot, J.D., Gavin, M.A. & Rudensky, A.Y. (2003) Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4 + CD25 + regulatory T cells. *Nature Immunology*. 4 (4), 330-336.
- Forrester, J.V., Xu, H., Lambe, T. & Cornall, R. (2008) Immune privilege or privileged immunity? *Mucosal Immunology*. 1 (5), 372-381.
- Foulquier, C., Sebbag, M., Clavel, C., Chapuy-Regaud, S., Badine, Al, R., Méchin, M.-C., Vincent, C., Nachat, R., Yamada, M., Takahara, H., Simon, M., Guerrin, M. & Serre, G. (2007) Peptidyl arginine deiminase type 2 (PAD-2) and PAD-4 but not PAD-1, PAD-3, and PAD-6 are expressed in rheumatoid arthritis synovium in close association with tissue inflammation. Arthritis and rheumatism. 56 (11), 3541-3553.
- Freyschmidt-Paul, P., McElwee, K.J., Hoffmann, R., Sundberg, J.P., Vitacolonna, M., Kissling, S. & Zoller, M. (2006) Interferon-gamma-deficient mice are resistant to the development of alopecia areata. - PubMed - NCBI. British Journal of Dermatology. 155 (3), 515-521.
- Fuentes-Duculan, J., Gulati, N., Bonifacio, K.M., Kunjravia, N., Zheng, X., Suarez-Farinas, M., Shemer, A., Guttman-Yassky, E. & Krueger, J.G. (2016)

Biomarkers of alopecia areata disease activity and response to corticosteroid treatment. *Experimental Dermatology*. 25 (4), 282-286.

- Fuentes-Duculan, J., Suarez-Farinas, M., Zaba, L.C., Nograles, K.E., Pierson, K.C., Mitsui, H., Pensabene, C.A., Kzhyshkowska, J., Krueger, J.G. & Lowes, M.A. (2010) A Subpopulation of CD163-Positive Macrophages Is Classically Activated in Psoriasis. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 130 (10), 2412-2422.
- Fujishima, S., Watanabe, H., Kawaguchi, M., Suzuki, T., Matsukura, S., Homma, T., Howell, B.G., Hizawa, N., Mitsuya, T., Huang, S.-K. & Iijima, M. (2010) Involvement of IL-17F via the induction of IL-6 in psoriasis. - PubMed - NCBI. Archives of Dermatological Research. 302 (7), 499-505.
- Ganguly, D., Haak, S., Sisirak, V. & Reizis, B. (2013) The role of dendritic cells in autoimmunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. 13 (8), 566-577.
- Gao, J., Chen, J., Kramer, M., Tsukamoto, H., Zhang, A.-S. & Enns, C.A. (2009) Interaction of the Hereditary Hemochromatosis Protein, HFE, with Transferrin Receptor 2 Is Required for Transferrin-Induced Hepcidin Expression. *Cell metabolism*. 9 (3), 217-227.
- Gao, Y., Nish, S.A., Jiang, R., Hou, L., Licona-Limón, P., Weinstein, J.S., Zhao, H. & Medzhitov, R. (2013) Control of T Helper 2 Responses by Transcription Factor IRF4-Dependent Dendritic Cells. *Immunity*. 39 (4), 722-732.
- Garcia-Zepeda, E.A., Combadiere, C., Rothenberg, M.E., Sarafi, M.N., Lavigne, F., Hamid, Q., Murphy, P.M. & Luster, A.D. (1996) Human monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-4 is a novel CC chemokine with activities on monocytes, eosinophils, and basophils induced in allergic and nonallergic inflammation that signals through the CC chemokine receptors (CCR)-2 and -3. *The Journal of Immunology*. 157 (12), 5613-5626.
- Garside, P., Ingulli, E., Merica, R.R., Johnson, J.G., Noelle, R.J. & Jenkins, M.K. (1998) Visualization of Specific B and T Lymphocyte Interactions in the Lymph Node. *Science*. 281 (5373), 96-99.
- Gauld, S.B., Benschop, R.J., Merrell, K.T. & Cambier, J.C. (2005) Maintenance of B cell anergy requires constant antigen receptor occupancy and signalling. *Nature Immunology*. 6(11), 1160-1167.
- Gautier, E.L., Shay, T., Miller, J., Greter, M., Jakubzick, C., Ivanov, S., Helft, J., Chow, A., Elpek, K.G., Gordonov, S., Mazloom, A.R., Ma'ayan, A., Chua, W.-J., Hansen, T.H., Turley, S.J., Merad, M. & Randolph, G.J. (2012) Gene-expression profiles and transcriptional regulatory pathways that underlie the identity and diversity of mouse tissue macrophages. *Nature Immunology*. 13 (11), 1118-1128.
- Gebhardt, T., Wakim, L.M., Eidsmo, L., Reading, P.C., Heath, W.R. & Carbone, F.R. (2009) Memory T cells in nonlymphoid tissue that provide enhanced local immunity during infection with herpes simplex virus. *Nature Immunology*. 10 (5), 524-530.

- Geginat, J., Paroni, M., Kastirr, I., Larghi, P., Pagani, M. & Abrignani, S. (2016) Reverse plasticity: TGF-B and IL-6 induce Th1-to-Th17-cell transdifferentiation in the gut. *European journal of immunology*. 46 (10), 2306-2310.
- Geisberger, R., Lamers, M. & Achatz, G. (2006) The riddle of the dual expression of IgM and IgD. *Immunology*. 118 (4), 429-???
- Gilhar, A., Etzioni, A. & Paus, R. (2012) Alopecia Areata. New England Journal of Medicine. 366 (16), 1515-1525.
- Gilhar, A., Kam, Y., Assy, B. & Kalish, R.S. (2005) Alopecia Areata Induced in C3H/HeJ Mice by Interferon-Gamma: Evidence for Loss of Immune Privilege. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 124 (1), 288-289.
- Gilhar, A., Keren, A., Shemer, A., D'Ovidio, R., Ullmann, Y. & Paus, R. (2013) Autoimmune Disease Induction in a Healthy Human Organ: A Humanized Mouse Model of Alopecia Areata. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 133 (3), 844-847.
- Gilhar, A., Landau, M., Assy, B., Shalaginov, R., Serafimovich, S. & Kalish, R.S. (2002) Mediation of Alopecia Areata by Cooperation Between CD4+ and CD8+ T Lymphocytes. *Archives of Dermatology*. 138 (7).
- Ginhoux, F. & Guilliams, M. (2016) Tissue-Resident Macrophage Ontogeny and Homeostasis. *Immunity*. 44 (3), 439-449.
- Gip, L., Lodin, A. & Molin, L. (1969) Alopecia areata. A follow-up investigation of outpatient material. *Acta Dermato Venereologica*. 49 (2), 180-188.
- Goodman, W.A., Levine, A.D., Massari, J.V., Sugiyama, H., McCormick, T.S. & Cooper, K.D. (2009) IL-6 Signaling in Psoriasis Prevents Immune Suppression by Regulatory T Cells. *The Journal of Immunology*. 183 (5), 3170-3176.
- Grakoui, A., Bromley, S.K., Sumen, C., Davis, M.M., Shaw, A.S., Allen, P.M. & Dustin, M.L. (1999) The Immunological Synapse: A Molecular Machine Controlling T Cell Activation. *Science*. 285 (5425), 221-227.
- Griffith, T.S., Brunner, T., Fletcher, S.M., Green, D.R. & Ferguson, T.A. (1995) Fas Ligand-Induced Apoptosis as a Mechanism of Immune Privilege. *Science*. 270 (5239), 1189-1192.
- Guerrin, M., Ishigami, A., Méchin, M.-C., Nachat, R., Valmary, S., Sebbag, M., Simon, M., Senshu, T. & Serre, G. (2003) cDNA cloning, gene organization and expression analysis of human peptidylarginine deiminase type I. *Biochemical Journal*. 370 (Pt 1), 167-174.
- Guiducci, C., Gong, M., Xu, Z., Gill, M., Chaussabel, D., Meeker, T., Chan, J.H., Wright, T., Punaro, M., Bolland, S., Soumelis, V., Banchereau, J., Coffman, R.L., Pascual, V. & Barrat, F.J. (2010) TLR recognition of self nucleic acids hampers glucocorticoid activity in lupus. *Nature*. 465 (7300), 937-941.

- Guilliams, M. & Scott, C.L. (2017) Does niche competition determine the origin of tissue-resident macrophages? *Nature Reviews Immunology*. 17 (7), 451-460.
- Gujral, N. (2012) Celiac disease: Prevalence, diagnosis, pathogenesis and treatment. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*. 18 (42), 6036.
- Gulati, N., Suarez-Farinas, M., Fuentes-Duculan, J., Gilleaudeau, P., Sullivan-Whalen, M., da Rosa, J.C., Cueto, I., Mitsui, H. & Krueger, J.G. (2014)
 Molecular characterization of human skin response to diphencyprone at peak and resolution phases: therapeutic insights. *The Journal of investigative dermatology*. 134 (10), 2531-2540.
- Guo, Z., Wu, J., Zhao, J., Liu, F., Chen, Y., Bi, L., Liu, S. & Dong, L. (2014) IL-33 promotes airway remodeling and is a marker of asthma disease severity. *Journal of Asthma*. 51 (8), 863-869.
- Guttman-Yassky, E., Nia, J.K., Hashim, P.W., Mansouri, Y., Alia, E., Taliercio, M., Desai, P.N. & Lebwohl, M.G. (2018) Efficacy and safety of secukinumab treatment in adults with extensive alopecia areata. Archives of Dermatological Research. 310 (8), 607-614.
- Guttman-Yassky, E., Ungar, B., Noda, S., Suprun, M., Shroff, A., Dutt, R., Khattri, S., Min, M., Mansouri, Y., Zheng, X., Estrada, Y.D., Singer, G.K., Suarez-Farinas, M., Krueger, J.G. & Lebwohl, M.G. (2016) Extensive alopecia areata is reversed by IL-12/IL-23p40 cytokine antagonism. *Journal of Allergy* and Clinical Immunology. 137 (1), 301-304.
- Günther, C., Bello-Fernandez, C., Kopp, T., Kund, J., Carballido-Perrig, N.,
 Hinteregger, S., Fassl, S., Schwärzler, C., Lametschwandtner, G., Stingl, G.,
 Biedermann, T. & Carballido, J.M. (2005) CCL18 Is Expressed in Atopic
 Dermatitis and Mediates Skin Homing of Human Memory T Cells. *The Journal* of Immunology. 174 (3), 1723-1728.
- Günther, C., Zimmermann, N., Berndt, N., Großer, M., Stein, A., Koch, A. & Meurer, M. (2011) Up-Regulation of the Chemokine CCL18 by Macrophages Is a Potential Immunomodulatory Pathway in Cutaneous T-Cell Lymphoma. *The American Journal of Pathology*. 179 (3), 1434-1442.
- Haan, den, J.M.M., Lehar, S.M. & Bevan, M.J. (2000) Cd8+ but Not Cd8– Dendritic Cells Cross-Prime Cytotoxic T Cells in Vivo. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 192 (12), 1685-1696.
- Haapakoski, R., Mathieu, J., Ebmeier, K.P., Alenius, H. & Kivimäki, M. (2015) Cumulative meta-analysis of interleukins 6 and 1B, tumour necrosis factor α and C-reactive protein in patients with major depressive disorder. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity. 49206-215.
- Habib, T., Funk, F., Rieck, M., Brahmandam, A., Dai, X., Panigrahi, A.K., Luning Prak, E.T., Meyer-Bahlburg, A., Sanda, A., Greenbaum, C., Rawlings, D.J. & Buckner, J.H. (2012) Altered B cell homesostasis is associated with Type I diabetes and carriers of the PTPN22 allelic variant. *Journal of Immunology*. 188 (1), 487-496.

- Halliley, J.L., Tipton, C., Liesveld, J., Rosenberg, A.F., Darce, J., Gregoretti, I.V., Popova, L., Kaminiski, D., Fucile, D.F., Albizua-Santin, I., Kyu, S., Chiang, K., Bradley, K.T., Burack, R., Slifka, M., Hammarlund, E., Wu, H., Zhao, L., Walsh, E.E., Falsey, A.R., Randall, T.D., Cheung, W.C., Sanz, I & F.E Lee. (2015) Long-lived Plasma Cells Are Contained Within the CD19⁻CD38^{hi}CD138⁺ Subset in Human Bone Marrow. *Immunity*. 43(1), 132-145.
- Hamed, F.N., Åstrand, A., Bertolini, M., Rossi, A., Maleki-Dizaji, A., Messenger, A.G., McDonagh, A.J.G. & Tazi-Ahnini, R. (2019) Alopecia areata patients show deficiency of FOXP3+CD39+ T regulatory cells and clonotypic restriction of Treg TCRB-chain, which highlights the immunopathological aspect of the disease Francesco Ria (ed.). *PLoS ONE*. 14 (7), e0210308.
- Han, H., Cho, J.-W., Lee, S., Yun, A., Kim, H., Bae, D., Yang, S., Kim, C.Y., Lee, M., Kim, E., Lee, S., Kang, B., Jeong, D., Kim, Y., Jeon, H.-N., Jung, H., Nam, S., Chung, M., Kim, J.H., et al. (2017) TRRUST v2: an expanded reference database of human and mouse transcriptional regulatory interactions. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 46 (D1), D380-D386.
- Han, Y.-M., Sheng, Y.-Y., Xu, F., Qi, S.-S., Liu, X.-J., Hu, R.-M., Miao, Y., Huang, G.-Q. & Yang, Q.-P. (2015) Imbalance of T-helper 17 and regulatory T cells in patients with alopecia areata. *The Journal of Dermatology*. 42 (10), 981-988.
- Haniffa, M., Ginhoux, F., Wang, X.-N., Bigley, V., Abel, M., Dimmick, I., Bullock, S., Grisotto, M., Booth, T., Taub, P., Hilkens, C., Merad, M. & Collin, M. (2009) Differential rates of replacement of human dermal dendritic cells and macrophages during hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 206 (2), 371-385.
- Hanly, J.G., Thompson, K., McCurdy, G., Fougere, L., Theriault, C. & Wilton, K. (2010) Measurement of autoantibodies using multiplex methodology in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. - PubMed - NCBI. *Journal of Immunological Methods*. 352 (1-2), 147-152.
- Happle, R. (1980) Antigenic competition as a therapeutic concept for alopecia areata. *Archives of Dermatological Research*. 267 (1), 109-114.
- Harbour, S.N., Maynard, C.L., Zindl, C.L., Schoeb, T.R. & Weaver, C.T. (2015) Th17 cells give rise to Th1 cells that are required for the pathogenesis of colitis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 112 (22), 7061-7066.
- Hardman, J.A., Muneeb, F., Pople, J., Bhogal, R., Shahmalak, A. & Paus, R. (2019) Human Perifollicular Macrophages Undergo Apoptosis, Express Wnt Ligands, and Switch their Polarization during Catagen. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 139 (12), 2543-2546.e9.
- Harel, S., Higgins, C.A., Cerise, J.E., Dai, Z., Chen, J.C., Clynes, R. & Christiano, A.M. (2015) Pharmacologic inhibition of JAK-STAT signaling promotes hair growth. *Science Advances*. 1 (9), e1500973.

- Harrington, L.E., Hatton, R.D., Mangan, P.R., Turner, H., Murphy, T.L., Murphy, K.M. & Weaver, C.T. (2005) Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nature Immunology*. 6 (11), 1123-1132.
- Hartley, S.B., Cooke, M.P., Fulcher, D.A., Harris, A.W., Cory, S., Basten, A. & Goodnow, C.C. (1993) Elimination of self-reactive B lymphocytes proceeds in two stages: Arrested development and cell death. *Cell*. 72 (3), 325-335.
- Haustein, U.F. & Rytter, M. (2000) Methotrexate in psoriasis: 26 years' experience with low-dose long-term treatment. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*. 14 (5), 382-388.
- Hedrick, S.M., Cohen, D.I., Nielsen, E.A. & Davis, M.M. (1984) Isolation of cDNA clones encoding T cell-specific membrane-associated proteins. *Nature*. 308 (5955), 149-153.
- Heffler, L.C., Kastman, A.L., Ekman, G.J., Scheynius, A. & Fransson, J. (2002) Langerhans cells that express matrix metalloproteinase 9 increase in human dermis during sensitization to diphenylcyclopropenone in patients with alopecia areata. *British Journal of Dermatology*. 147 (2), 222-229.
- Henkart, P.A. & Sitkovsky, M.V. (1994) Cytotoxic Lymphocytes: Two ways to kill target cells. *Current Biology*. 4 (10), 923-925.
- Henri, S., Poulin, L.F., Tamoutounour, S., Ardouin, L., Guilliams, M., de Bovis, B., Devilard, E., Viret, C., Azukizawa, H., Kissenpfennig, A. & Malissen, B. (2009) CD207+ CD103+ dermal dendritic cells cross-present keratinocyte-derived antigens irrespective of the presence of Langerhans cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 207 (1), 189-206.
- Herold, M.J., McPherson, K.G. & Reichardt, H.M. (2005) Glucocorticoids in T cell apoptosis and function. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*. 63 (1), 60-72.
- Hidalgo-Cantabrana, C., Gomez, J., Delgado, S., Requena-Lopez, S., Queiro-Silva, R., Margolles, A., Coto, E., Sanchez, B & Coto-Segura, P. (2019) Gut microbiota dysbiosis in a cohort of patients with psoriasis. 181 (6), 1287-1295.
- Hieshima, K., Imai, T., Baba, M., Shoudai, K., Ishizuka, K., Nakagawa, T., Tsuruta, J., Takeya, M., Sakaki, Y., Takatsuki, K., Miura, R., Opdenakker, G., Van Damme J, Yoshie, O. & Nomiyama, H. (1997) A novel human CC chemokine PARC that is most homologous to macrophage-inflammatory protein-1 alpha/LD78 alpha and chemotactic for T lymphocytes, but not for monocytes. *The Journal of Immunology*. 159 (3), 1140-1149.
- Hirota, K., Duarte, J.H., Veldhoen, M., Hornsby, E., Li, Y., Cua, D.J., Ahlfors, H., Wilhelm, C., Tolaini, M., Menzel, U., Garefalaki, A., Potocnik, A.J. & Stockinger, B. (2011) Fate mapping of IL-17-producing T cells in inflammatory responses. *Nature Immunology*. 12 (3), 255-263.
- Hirota, K., Yoshitomi, H., Hashimoto, M., Maeda, S., Teradaira, S., Sugimoto,
 N., Yamaguchi, T., Nomura, T., Ito, H., Nakamura, T., Sakaguchi, N. &
 Sakaguchi, S. (2007) Preferential recruitment of CCR6-expressing Th17 cells
to inflamed joints via CCL20 in rheumatoid arthritis and its animal model. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 204 (12), 2803-2812.

- Hiyama, T.Y., Watanabe, E., Ono, K., Inenaga, K., Tamkun, M.M., Yoshida, S. & Noda, M. (2002) Nax channel involved in CNS sodium-level sensing. *Nature Neuroscience*. 5 (6), 511-512.
- Ho, B.S.-Y., Vaz, C., Ramasamy, S., Chew, E.G.Y., Mohamed, J.S., Jaffar, H., Hillmer, A., Tanavde, V., Bigliardi-Qi, M. & Bigliardi, P.L. (2019) Progressive expression of PPARGC1α is associated with hair miniaturization in androgenetic alopecia. *Scientific Reports*. 9 (1), 1359.
- Hoek, R.M., Ruuls, S.R., Murphy, C.A., Wright, G.J., Goddard, R., Zurawski,
 S.M., Blom, B., Homola, M.E., Streit, W.J., Brown, M.H., Barclay, A.N. &
 Sedgwick, J.D. (2000) Down-Regulation of the Macrophage Lineage Through Interaction with OX2 (CD200). Science. 290 (5497), 1768-1771.
- Hofbauer, G., Nobbe, S., Dziunycz, P., Mühleisen, B., Bilsborough, J., Dillon,
 S.R. & French, L.E. (2012) IL-31 Expression by Inflammatory Cells is
 Preferentially Elevated in Atopic Dermatitis. *Acta Dermato Venereologica*. 92 (1), 24-28.
- Hoffmann, R., Wenzel, E., Huth, A., Van der Steen, P., Schaufele, M., Henninger, H.P and & Happle, R. (1994) Cytokine mRNA levels in Alopecia areata before and after treatment with the contact allergen diphenylcyclopropenone. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 103 (4), 530-533.
- Holley, J.E., Newcombe, J., Winyard, P.G. & Gutowski, N.J. (2007) Peroxiredoxin V in multiple sclerosis lesions: predominant expression by astrocytes. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*. 13 (8), 955-961.
- Hong, J.-W., Lee, C.-Y., Ha, S.-M., Choi, S.-H., Kim, T.-H., Song, K.-H. & Kim, K.-H. (2017) The Contributory Roles of Th17 Lymphocyte and Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte at the Hair Bulge Region as Well as the Hair Bulb Area in the Chronic Alopecia Areata Patients. *Annals of Dermatology*. 29 (2), 156-166.
- Howard, T., Li, Y., Torres, M., Guerrero, A. & Coates, T. (1994) The 47-kD protein increased in neutrophil actin dysfunction with 47- and 89-kD protein abnormalities is lymphocyte-specific protein. *Blood*. 83 (1), 231-241.
- Hu, H.-M., Zhang, S.-B., Lei, X.-H., Deng, Z.-L., Guo, W.-X., Qiu, Z.-F., Liu, S., Wang, X.-Y., Zhang, H. & Duan, E.-K. (2012) Estrogen Leads to Reversible Hair Cycle Retardation through Inducing Premature Catagen and Maintaining Telogen Jean-Marc A Lobaccaro (ed.). *PLoS ONE*. 7 (7), e40124.
- Huang, K.P., Mullangi, S., Guo, Y. & Qureshi, A.A. (2013) Autoimmune, Atopic, and Mental Health Comorbid Conditions Associated With Alopecia Areata in the United States. *JAMA Dermatology*. 149 (7), 789-794.
- Hughes, T.K., Wadsworth, M.H., Gierahn, T.M., Do, T., Weiss, D., Andrade, P.R.,
 Ma, F., de Andrade Silva, B.J., Shao, S., Tsoi, L.C., Ordovas-Montanes, J.,
 Gudjonsson, J.E., Modlin, R.L., Love, J.C. & Shalek, A.K. (2019) Highly

Efficient, Massively-Parallel Single-Cell RNA-Seq Reveals Cellular States and Molecular Features of Human Skin Pathology. *bioRxiv*. 25689273.

- Hull, S.P.M., Wood, M.L., Hutchinson, P.E., Sladden, M. & Messenger, A.G. (2003) Guidelines for the management of alopecia areata. *British Journal of Dermatology*. 149 (4), 692-699.
- Hunt, N. (2005) The psychological impact of alopecia. BMJ. 331 (7522), 951-953.
- Hüe, S., Mention, J.-J., Monteiro, R.C., Zhang, S., Cellier, C., Schmitz, J., Verkarre, V., Fodil, N., Bahram, S., Cerf-Bensussan, N. & Caillat-Zucman, S. (2004) A direct role for NKG2D/MICA interaction in villous atrophy during celiac disease. - PubMed - NCBI. *Immunity*. 21 (3), 367-377.
- Hvid, M., Vestergaard, C., Kemp, K., Christensen, G.B., Deleuran, B. & Deleuran, M. (2011) IL-25 in atopic dermatitis: a possible link between inflammation and skin barrier dysfunction? - PubMed - NCBI. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 131 (1), 150-157.
- Hwang, S.-H., Jung, S.-H., Lee, S., Choi, S., Yoo, S.-A., Park, J.-H., Hwang, D., Shim, S.C., Sabbagh, L., Kim, K.-J., Park, S.H., Cho, C.-S., Kim, B.-S., Leng, L., Montgomery, R.R., Bucala, R., Chung, Y.-J. & Kim, W.-U. (2015) Leukocyte-specific protein 1 regulates T-cell migration in rheumatoid arthritis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 112 (47), E6535-E6543.
- Ilonen, J., Hammais, A., Laine, A.P., Lempainen, J., Vaarala, O., Veijola, R., Simell, O. & Knip, M. (2013) Patterns of B-cell autoantibody appearance and genetic associations during the first years of life. - PubMed - NCBI. *Diabetes*. 62 (10), 3636-3640.
- Ishigame, H., Kakuta, S., Nagai, T., Kadoki, M., Nambu, A., Komiyama, Y.,
 Fujikado, N., Tanahashi, Y., Akitsu, A., Kotaki, H., Sudo, K., Nakae, S.,
 Sasakawa, C. & Iwakura, Y. (2009) Differential Roles of Interleukin-17A and 17F in Host Defense against Mucoepithelial Bacterial Infection and Allergic Responses. *Immunity*. 30 (1), 108-119.
- Ito, N., Ito, T., Kromminga, A., Bettermann, A., Takigawa, M., Kees, F., Straub, R.H. & Paus, R. (2005) Human hair follicles display a functional equivalent of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and synthesize cortisol. *The FASEB Journal*. 19 (10), 1332-1334.
- Ito, T., Ito, N., Bettermann, A., Tokura, Y., Takigawa, M. & Paus, R. (2004) Collapse and Restoration of MHC Class-I-Dependent Immune Privilege. *The American Journal of Pathology*. 164 (2), 623-634.
- Ito, T., Ito, N., Saatoff, M., Hashizume, H., Fukamizu, H., Nickoloff, B.J., Takigawa, M. & Paus, R. (2008) Maintenance of Hair Follicle Immune Privilege Is Linked to Prevention of NK Cell Attack. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 128 (5), 1196-1206.
- Ivanov, II, BS, M., L, Z., CE, T., A, L., JJ, L., DJ, C. & DR, L. (2006) The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell*. 126 (6), 1121-1133.

- Iwamoto, T., Okamoto, H., Iikuni, N., Takeuchi, M., Toyama, Y., Tomatsu, T., Kamatani, N. & Momohara, S. (2005) Monocyte chemoattractant protein-4 (MCP-4)/CCL13 is highly expressed in cartilage from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology*. 45 (4), 421-424.
- Iwata, M., Hirakiyama, A., Eshima, Y., Kagechika, H., Kato, C. & Song, S.-Y. (2004) Retinoic Acid Imprints Gut-Homing Specificity on T Cells. *Immunity*. 21 (4), 527-538.
- Jabbari, A., Cerise, J.E., Chen, J.C., Mackay-Wiggan, J., Duvic, M., Price, V., Hordinsky, M., Norris, D., Clynes, R. & Christiano, A.M. (2016) Molecular signatures define alopecia areata subtypes and transcriptional biomarkers. *EBioMedicine*. 7240-247.
- Jabbari, A., Sansaricq, F., Cerise, J., Chen, J.C., Bitterman, A., Ulerio, G., Borbon, J., Clynes, R., Christiano, A.M. & Mackay-Wiggan, J. (2018) An Open-Label Pilot Study to Evaluate the Efficacy of Tofacitinib in Moderate to Severe Patch-Type Alopecia Areata, Totalis, and Universalis. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 138 (7), 1539-1545.
- Jadidi-Niaragh, F. & Mirshafiey, A. (2011) Th17 cell, the new player of neuroinflammatory process in multiple sclerosis. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*. 74 (1), 1-13.
- Jagielska, D., Redler, S., Brockschmidt, F.F., Herold, C., Pasternack, S.M., Garcia Bartels, N., Hanneken, S., Eigelshoven, S., Refke, M., Barth, S., Giehl, K.A., Kruse, R., Lutz, G., Wolff, H., Blaumeiser, B., Böhm, M., Blume-Peytavi, U., Becker, T., Nöthen, M.M., et al. (2012) Follow-up study of the first genome-wide association scan in alopecia areata: IL13 and KIAA0350 as susceptibility loci supported with genome-wide s... - PubMed - NCBI. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 132 (9), 2192-2197.
- Jain, V.K., Kataria, U. & Dayal, S. (2000) Study of diffuse alopecia in females. Indian journal of dermatology, venereology and leprology. 66 (2), 65-68.
- Jameson, J., Ugarte, K., Chen, N., Yachi, P., Fuchs, E., Boismenu, R & Havran,W.L. (2002). A role for skin gammadelta T cells in wound repair. Science.296(5568), 747-749.
- Jamieson, A.M., Diefenbach, A., McMahon, C.W., Xiong, N., Carlyle, J.R. & Raulet, D.H. (2002) The Role of the NKG2D Immunoreceptor in Immune Cell Activation and Natural Killing. *Immunity*. 17 (1), 19-29.
- Janssen, E.M., Lemmens, E.E., Wolfe, T., Christen, U., Herrath, von, M.G. & Schoenberger, S.P. (2003) CD4 + T cells are required for secondary expansion and memory in CD8 + T lymphocytes. *Nature*. 421 (6925), 852-856.
- Jia, W.-X., Mao, Q.-X., Xiao, X.-M., Li, Z.-L., Yu, R.-X. & Li, C.-R. (2014) Patchy alopecia areata sparing gray hairs: a case series. *Advances in Dermatology and Allergology/Postępy Dermatologii i Alergologii*. 31 (2), 113-116.
- Cole, J.J., Faydaci, B., Megalios, A., Shaw, R., Robertson, N., Maciewicz, R., Goodyear, C.S. Searchlight 2: fast, convenient and comprehensive RNA-seq

data exploration and communication for differential datasets. 2018-2019. https://github.com/Searchlight2/Searchlight2/

- Jones, A., Bourque, J., Kuehm, L., Opejin, A., Teague, R.M., Gross, C. & Hawiger, D. (2016) Immunomodulatory Functions of BTLA and HVEM Govern Induction of Extrathymic Regulatory T Cells and Tolerance by Dendritic Cells.
 PubMed - NCBI. *Immunity*. 45 (5), 1066-1077.
- Juhasz, M., Chen, S., Khosrovi-Eghbal, A., Ekelem, C., Landaverde, Y., Baldi, P. & Mesinkovska, N.A. (2020) Characterizing the Skin and Gut Microbiome of Alopecia Areata Patients. SKIN The Journal of Cutaneous Medicine. 4 (1), 23-30-30.
- Julià, A., López-Longo, F.J., Venegas, J.J.P., Bonàs-Guarch, S., Olivé, À.,
 Andreu, J.L., Aguirre-Zamorano, M.Á., Vela, P., Nolla, J.M., la Fuente, de,
 J.L.M., Zea, A., Pego-Reigosa, J.M., Freire, M., Díez, E., Rodríguez-Almaraz,
 E., Carreira, P., Blanco, R., Taboada, V.M., López-Lasanta, M., et al. (2018)
 Genome-wide association study meta-analysis identifies five new loci for
 systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Research & Therapy. 20 (1), 1-10.
- Kakourou, T., Karachristou, K. & Chrousos, G. (2007) A case series of alopecia areata in children: impact of personal and family history of stress and autoimmunity. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*. 21 (3), 356-359.
- Kalayci, O., Sonna, L.A., Woodruff, P.G., Camargo, C.A., Luster, A.D. & Lilly, C.M. (2004) Monocyte chemotactic protein-4 (MCP-4; CCL-13): a biomarker of asthma. The Journal of asthma : official journal of the Association for the Care of Asthma. 41 (1), 27-33.
- Kamali, A.N., Noorbakhsh, S.M., Hamedifar, H., Jadidi-Niaragh, F., Yazdani, R., Bautista, J.M. & Azizi, G. (2019) A role for Th1-like Th17 cells in the pathogenesis of inflammatory and autoimmune disorders. *Molecular Immunology*. 105107-115.
- Kappelmann, N., Lewis, G., Dantzer, R., Jones, P.B. & Khandaker, G.M. (2018) Antidepressant activity of anti-cytokine treatment: a systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials of chronic inflammatory conditions. *Molecular Psychiatry*. 23 (2), 335-343.
- Karnik, P., Tekeste, Z., McCormick, T.S., Gilliam, A.C., Price, V.H., Cooper, K.D. & Mirmirani, P. (2009) Hair Follicle Stem Cell-Specific PPARγ Deletion Causes Scarring Alopecia. *The Journal of investigative dermatology*. 129 (5), 1243-1257.
- Kasumagic-Halilovic, E., Prohic, A. & Karamehic, J. (2010) Serum concentrations of interferon-gamma (IFN-g) in patients with alopecia areata: correlation with clinical type and duration of the disease. *Medicinski arhiv.* 64 (4), 212-214.
- Kaswala, D., Veeraraghavan, G., Kelly, C. & Leffler, D. (2015) Celiac Disease: Diagnostic Standards and Dilemmas. *Diseases*. 3 (2), 86-101.

- Katsarou-Katsari, A., Singh, L.K. & Theoharides, T.C. (2001) Alopecia areata and affected skin CRH receptor upregulation induced by acute emotional stress. *Dermatology*. 203 (2), 157-161.
- Kaufman, G., D'Ovidio, R., Kaldawy, A., Assy, B., Ullmann, Y., Etzioni, A., Paus, R. & Gilhar, A. (2010) An unexpected twist in alopecia areata pathogenesis: are NK cells protective and CD49b+ T cells pathogenic? *Experimental Dermatology*. 19 (8), e347-e349.
- Kay, J., Gawkrodger, D.J., Mortimer, M.J. & Jaron, A.G. (1994) The prevalence of childhood atopic eczema in a general population. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. 30 (1), 35-39.
- Kebir, H., Kreymborg, K., Ifergan, I., Dodelet-Devillers, A., Cayrol, R., Bernard, M., Giuliani, F., Arbour, N., Becher, B. & Prat, A. (2007) Human TH17
 lymphocytes promote blood-brain barrier disruption and central nervous system inflammation. *Nature Medicine*. 13 (10), 1173-1175.
- Kim, H.S., Cho, D.H., Kim, H.J., Lee, J.Y., Cho, B.K. & Park, H.J. (2006) Immunoreactivity of corticotropin-releasing hormone, adrenocorticotropic hormone and α-melanocyte-stimulating hormone in alopecia areata. *Experimental Dermatology*. 15 (7), 515-522.
- Kim, J., Chang, D.-Y., Lee, H.W., Lee, H., Kim, J.H., Sung, P.S., Kim, K.H., Hong, S.-H., Kang, W., Lee, J., Shin, S.Y., Yu, H.T., You, S., Choi, Y.S., Oh, I., Lee, D.H., Lee, D.H., Jung, M.K., Suh, K.-S., et al. (2018) Innate-like Cytotoxic Function of Bystander-Activated CD8+ T Cells Is Associated with Liver Injury in Acute Hepatitis A. *Immunity*. 48 (1), 161-173.e5.
- Kim, M.R., Manoukian, R., Yeh, R., Silbiger, S.M., Danilenko, D.M., Scully, S., Sun, J., DeRose, M.L., Stolina, M., Chang, D., Van, G.Y., Clarkin, K., Nguyen, H.Q., Yu, Y.B., Jing, S., Senaldi, G., Elliott, G. & Medlock, E.S. (2002) Transgenic overexpression of human IL-17E results in eosinophilia, Blymphocyte hyperplasia, and altered antibody production. *Blood*. 100 (7), 2330-2340.
- Kimura-Ueki, M., Oda, Y., Oki, J., Komi-Kuramochi, A., Honda, E., Asada, M., Suzuki, M. & Imamura, T. (2012) Hair Cycle Resting Phase Is Regulated by Cyclic Epithelial FGF18 Signaling. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 132 (5), 1338-1345.
- Kleinschek, M.A., Boniface, K., Sadekova, S., Grein, J., Murphy, E.E., Turner, S.P., Raskin, L., Desai, B., Faubion, W.A., de Waal Malefyt, R., Pierce, R.H., McClanahan, T. & Kastelein, R.A. (2009) Circulating and gut-resident human Th17 cells express CD161 and promote intestinal inflammation. *The Journal* of Experimental Medicine. 206 (3), 525-534.
- Komai-Koma, M., Xu, D., Li, Y., McKenzie, A.N.J., McInnes, I.B. & Liew, F.Y. (2007) IL-33 is a chemoattractant for human Th2 cells. *European journal of immunology*. 37 (10), 2779-2786.

- Kovats, S., Main, E.K., Librach, C., Stubblebine, M., Fisher, S.J. & DeMars, R. (1990) A class I antigen, HLA-G, expressed in human trophoblasts. *Science*. 248 (4952), 220-223.
- Kridin, K., Shalom, G., Comaneshter, D. & Cohen, A.D. (2020) Is there an association between alopecia areata and systemic lupus erythematosus? A population-based study. *Immunologic research.* 68 (1), 1-6.
- Laggner, U., Di Meglio, P., Perera, G.K., Hundhausen, C., Lacy, K.E., Ali, N., Smith, C.H., Hayday, A.C., Nickoloff, B.J. & Nestle, F.O. (2011) Identification of a novel pro-inflammatory human skin-homing $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T cell subset with a potential role in psoriasis. Journal of Immunology. 187(5), 2783-2793.
- Laidlaw, B.J., Craft, J.E. & Kaech, S.M. (2016) The multifaceted role of CD4T cells in CD8 T cell memory. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. 16 (2), 102-111.
- Lammers, K.M., Lu, R., Brownley, J., Lu, B., Gerard, C., Thomas, K., Rallabhandi, P., Shea-Donohue, T., Tamiz, A., Alkan, S., Netzel Arnett, S., Antalis, T., Vogel, S.N. & Fasano, A. (2008) Gliadin Induces an Increase in Intestinal Permeability and Zonulin Release by Binding to the Chemokine Receptor CXCR3. *Gastroenterology*. 135 (1), 194-204.e3.
- Langenkamp, A., Messi, M., Lanzavecchia, A. & Sallusto, F. (2000) Kinetics of dendritic cell activation: impact on priming of TH1, TH2 and nonpolarized T cells. *Nature Immunology*. 1 (4), 311-316.
- Lanier, L.L. (2008) Up on the tightrope: natural killer cell activation and inhibition. *Nature Immunology*. 9 (5), 495-502.
- Le Borgne, M., Etchart, N., Goubier, A., Lira, S.A., Sirard, J.C., van Rooijen, N., Caux, C., Aït-Yahia, S., Vicari, A., Kaiserlian, D. & Dubois, B. (2006) Dendritic Cells Rapidly Recruited into Epithelial Tissues via CCR6/CCL20 Are Responsible for CD8+ T Cell Crosspriming In Vivo. *Immunity*. 24 (2), 191-201.
- Lee, Jang-Jaer, Kao, K.-C., Chiu, Y.-L., Jung, C.-J., Liu, C.-J., Cheng, S.-J., Chang, Y.-L., Ko, J.-Y. & Chia, J.-S. (2017) Enrichment of Human CCR6+ Regulatory T Cells with Superior Suppressive Activity in Oral Cancer. *The Journal of Immunology*. 199 (2), 467-476.
- Lee, Noo Ri, Kim, B.-K., Yoon, N.Y., Lee, S.-Y., Ahn, S.-Y. & Lee, W.-S. (2014) Differences in Comorbidity Profiles between Early-Onset and Late-Onset Alopecia Areata Patients: A Retrospective Study of 871 Korean Patients. *Annals of Dermatology*. 26 (6), 722-726.
- Lee, Seungbok, Paik, S.H., Kim, H.-J., Ryu, H.H., Cha, S., Jo, S.J., Eun, H.C., Seo, J.-S., Kim, J.-I. & Kwon, O.S. (2013) Exomic Sequencing of Immune-Related Genes Reveals Novel Candidate Variants Associated with Alopecia Universalis Amanda Ewart Toland (ed.). *PLoS ONE*. 8 (1), e53613.
- Lee, Solam, Lee, H., Lee, C.H. & Lee, W.-S. (2019) Comorbidities in alopecia areata: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. 80 (2), 466-477.e16.

- Lee, Yun Kyung, Menezes, J.S., Umesaki, Y. & Mazmanian, S.K. (2011) Colloquium Paper: Proinflammatory T-cell responses to gut microbiota promote experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 108 (Suppl 1), 4615-4622.§
- Leishman, E., Howard, J.M., Garcia, G.E., Miao, Q., Ku, A.T., Dekker, J.D., Tucker, H. & Nguyen, H. (2013) Foxp1 maintains hair follicle stem cell quiescence through regulation of Fgf18. *Development*. 140 (18), 3809-3818.
- LeMaoult, J., Caumartin, J., Daouya, M., Favier, B., Rond, S.L., Gonzalez, A. & Carosella, E.D. (2006) Immune regulation by pretenders: cell-to-cell transfers of HLA-G make effector T cells act as regulatory cells. *Blood*. 109 (5), 2040-2048.
- LeMaoult, J., Zafaranloo, K., Le Danff, C. & Carosella, E.D. (2005) HLA-G upregulates ILT2, ILT3, ILT4, and KIR2DL4 in antigen presenting cells, NK cells, and T cells. *The FASEB Journal*. 19 (6), 1-23.
- Li, Y.-C., Chou, Y.-C., Chen, H.-C., Lu, C.-C. & Chang, D.-M. (2019) Interleukin-6 and interleukin-17 are related to depression in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases*. 22 (6), 980-985.
- Liang, S.C., Tan, X.-Y., Luxenberg, D.P., Karim, R., Dunussi-Joannopoulos, K., Collins, M. & Fouser, L.A. (2006) Interleukin (IL)-22 and IL-17 are coexpressed by Th17 cells and cooperatively enhance expression of antimicrobial peptides. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 203 (10), 2271-2279.
- Liao, W., Lin, J.-X., Wang, L., Li, P. & Leonard, W.J. (2011) Modulation of cytokine receptors by IL-2 broadly regulates differentiation into helper T cell lineages. *Nature Immunology*. 12 (6), 551-559.
- Liles, W.C., Dale, D.C. & Klebanoff, S.J. (1995) Glucocorticoids inhibit apoptosis of human neutrophils. *Blood.* 86 (8), 3181-3188.
- Lim, G.Y., Tam, W.W., Lu, Y., Ho, C.S., Zhang, M.W. & Ho, R.C. (2018) Prevalence of Depression in the Community from 30 Countries between 1994 and 2014. *Scientific Reports*. 8 (1), 2861.
- Liu, L.Y., Craiglow, B.G., Dai, F. & King, B.A. (2017) Tofacitinib for the treatment of severe alopecia areata and variants: A study of 90 patients. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. 76 (1), 22-28.
- Love, M.I., Huber, W. & Anders, S. (2014) Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome biology*. 15 (12), 1-21.
- Lundin, M., Chawa, S., Sachdev, A., Bhanusali, D., Seiffert-Sinha, K. & Sinha, A.A. (2014) Gender differences in alopecia areata. *Journal of drugs in dermatology : JDD.* 13 (4), 409-413.
- Luo, J., Guo, H., Liu, Z., Peng, T., Hu, X., Han, M., Yang, X., Zhou, X. & Li, H. (2018) Analysis of Peripheral B Cell Subsets in Patients With Allergic Rhinitis. *Allergy, Asthma & Immunology Research*. 10 (3), 236-243.

- Lüthi, A.U., Cullen, S.P., McNeela, E.A., Duriez, P.J., Afonina, I.S., Sheridan, C., Brumatti, G., Taylor, R.C., Kersse, K., Vandenabeele, P., Lavelle, E.C. & Martin, S.J. (2009) Suppression of Interleukin-33 Bioactivity through Proteolysis by Apoptotic Caspases. *Immunity*. 31 (1), 84-98.
- Macatonia, S.E., Hosken, N.A., Litton, M., Vieira, P., Hsieh, C.S., Culpepper, J.A., Wysocka, M., Trinchieri, G., Murphy, K.M. & O'Garra, A. (1995)
 Dendritic cells produce IL-12 and direct the development of Th1 cells from naive CD4+ T cells. *The Journal of Immunology*. 154 (10), 5071-5079.
- Mackay-Wiggan, J., Jabbari, A., Nguyen, N., Cerise, J.E., Clark, C., Ulerio, G., Furniss, M., Vaughan, R., Christiano, A.M. & Clynes, R. (2016) Oral ruxolitinib induces hair regrowth in patients with moderate-to-severe alopecia areata. *JCI Insight*. 1 (15).
- Malek, T.R., Yu, A., Vincek, V., Scibelli, P. & Kong, L. (2002) CD4 Regulatory T Cells Prevent Lethal Autoimmunity in IL-2RB-Deficient Mice. *Immunity*. 17 (2), 167-178.
- Malhi, G.S. & Mann, J.J. (2018) Depression. The Lancet. 392 (10161), 2299-2312.
- Malkiel, S., Jeganathan, V., Wolfson, S., Orduno, N.M., Marasco, E.M., Aranow, C., Mackay, M., Gregersen, P.K. & Diamond. B. (2016) Checkpoints for Autoreactive B Cells in the Peripheral Blood of Lupus Patients Assessed by Flow Cytometry. Arthritis & Rheumatology. 68(9), 2210-2220.
- Mancuso, G., Balducci, A., Casadio, C., Farina, P., Staffa, M., Valenti, L. & Milani, M. (2003) Efficacy of betamethasone valerate foam formulation in comparison with betamethasone dipropionate lotion in the treatment of mild-to-moderate alopecia areata: A multicenter, prospective, randomized, controlled, investigator-blinded trial. *International Journal of Dermatology*. 42 (7), 572-575.
- Marino, E., Tan, B., Binge, L., Mackay, C.R. & Grey, S.T. (2012) B-cell crosspresentation of autologous antigen precipitates diabetes. - PubMed - NCBI. *Diabetes.* 61 (11), 2893-2905.
- Martin-Subero, M., Anderson, G., Kanchanatawan, B., Berk, M. & Maes, M. (2015) Comorbidity between depression and inflammatory bowel disease explained by immune-inflammatory, oxidative, and nitrosative stress; tryptophan catabolite; and gut-brain pathways. *CNS Spectrums*. 21 (02), 184-198.
- Martinez, F.O., Gordon, S., Locati, M. & Mantovani, A. (2006) Transcriptional Profiling of the Human Monocyte-to-Macrophage Differentiation and Polarization: New Molecules and Patterns of Gene Expression. *The Journal of Immunology*. 177 (10), 7303-7311.
- Martín-Fontecha, A., Thomsen, L.L., Brett, S., Gerard, C., Lipp, M., Lanzavecchia, A. & Sallusto, F. (2004) Induced recruitment of NK cells to lymph nodes provides IFN-γ for T H 1 priming. *Nature Immunology*. 5 (12), 1260-1265.
- Maxeiner, S., Shi, N., Schalla, C., Aydin, G., Hoss, M., Vogel, S., Zenke, M. & Sechi, A.S. (2015) Crucial role for the LSP1-myosin1e bimolecular complex in

the regulation of Fcγ receptor-driven phagocytosis Laurent Blanchoin (ed.). *Molecular Biology of the Cell*. 26 (9), 1652-1664.

- McElwee, K.J., Boggess, D., Sundberg, J.P. & King, L.E., Jr (1998) Experimental Induction of Alopecia Areata-Like Hair Loss in C3H/HeJ Mice Using Full-Thickness Skin Grafts. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 111 (5), 797-803.
- McElwee, K.J., Freyschmidt-Paul, P., Hoffmann, R., Kissling, S., Hummel, S., Vitacolonna, M. & Zöller, M. (2005) Transfer of CD8+ Cells Induces Localized Hair Loss Whereas CD4+/CD25- Cells Promote Systemic Alopecia Areata and CD4+/CD25+ Cells Blockade Disease Onset in the C3H/HeJ Mouse Model. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 124 (5), 947-957.
- McGeachy, M.J., Chen, Y., Tato, C.M., Laurence, A., Joyce-Shaikh, B., Blumenschein, W.M., McClanahan, T.K., O'Shea, J.J. & Cua, D.J. (2009) The interleukin 23 receptor is essential for the terminal differentiation of interleukin 17-producing effector T helper cells in vivo. - PubMed - NCBI. *Nature Immunology*. 10 (3), 314-324.
- Means, T.K., Latz, E., Hayashi, F., Murali, M.R., Golenbock, D.T. & Luster, A.D. (2005) Human lupus autoantibody-DNA complexes activate DCs through cooperation of CD32 and TLR9. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 115 (2), 407-417.
- Meresse, B., Chen, Z., Ciszewski, C., Tretiakova, M., Bhagat, G., Krausz, T.N., Raulet, D.H., Lanier, L.L., Groh, V., Spies, T., Ebert, E.C., Green, P.H. & Jabri, B. (2004) Coordinated Induction by IL15 of a TCR-Independent NKG2D Signaling Pathway Converts CTL into Lymphokine-Activated Killer Cells in Celiac Disease. *Immunity*. 21 (3), 357-366.
- Messenger, A.G. & Bleehan, S.S. (1984) Alopecia areata: light and electron microscopic pathology of the regrowing white hair. *British Journal of Dermatology*. 110 (2), 155-162.
- Meyer, K.C., Klatte, J.E., Dinh, H.V., Harries, M.J., Reithmayer, K., Meyer, W., Sinclair, R. & Paus, R. (2008) Evidence that the bulge region is a site of relative immune privilege in human hair follicles. *British Journal of Dermatology*. 159 (5), 1077-1085.
- Michie, C.A., McLean, A., Alcock, C. & Beverley, P.C.L. (1992) Lifespan of human lymphocyte subsets defined by CD45 isoforms. *Nature*. 360 (6401), 264-265.
- Miller, A.H. & Raison, C.L. (2016) The role of inflammation in depression: from evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. 16 (1), 22-34.
- Mirzoyev, S.A., Schrum, A.G., Davis, M.D.P. & Torgerson, R.R. (2014) Lifetime Incidence Risk of Alopecia Areata Estimated at 2.1% by Rochester Epidemiology Project, 1990-2009. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 134 (4), 1141-1142.
- Misharin, A.V., Morales-Nebreda, L., Reyfman, P.A., Cuda, C.M., Walter, J.M., McQuattie-Pimentel, A.C., Chen, C.-I., Anekalla, K.R., Joshi, N., Williams,

K.J.N., Abdala-Valencia, H., Yacoub, T.J., Chi, M., Chiu, S., Gonzalez-Gonzalez, F.J., Gates, K., Lam, A.P., Nicholson, T.T., Homan, P.J., et al. (2017) Monocyte-derived alveolar macrophages drive lung fibrosis and persist in the lung over the life span. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 214 (8), 2387-2404.

- Miteva, M. & Villasante, A. (2015) Epidemiology and burden of alopecia areata: a systematic review. *Clinical, Cosmetic and Investigational Dermatology*. 397.
- Mohan, G.C. & Silverberg, J.I. (2015) Association of Vitiligo and Alopecia Areata With Atopic Dermatitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Dermatology.* 151 (5), 522-528.
- Moir, S., Ho, J., Malaspina, A., Wang, W., DiPoto, A.C., O'Shea, M.A., Roby, G., Kottilil, S., Arthos, J., Proschan, M.A., Chun, T.-W. & Fauci, A.S. (2008)
 Evidence for HIV-associated B cell exhaustion in a dysfunctional memory B cell compartment in HIV-infected viremic individuals. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 205 (8), 1797-1805.
- Mootha, V.K., Lindgren, C.M., Eriksson, K.-F., Subramanian, A., Sihag, S., Lehar, J., Puigserver, P., Carlsson, E., Ridderstråle, M., Laurila, E., Houstis, N., Daly, M.J., Patterson, N., Mesirov, J.P., Golub, T.R., Tamayo, P., Spiegelman, B., Lander, E.S., Hirschhorn, J.N., et al. (2003) PGC-1α-responsive genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation are coordinately downregulated in human diabetes. *Nature Genetics.* 34 (3), 267-273.
- Mora, J.R., Bono, M.R., Manjunath, N., Weninger, W., Cavanagh, L.L., Rosemblatt, M. & Andrian, von, U.H. (2003) Selective imprinting of guthoming T cells by Peyer's patch dendritic cells. *Nature*. 424 (6944), 88-93.
- Moretta, A., Marcenaro, E., Parolini, S., Ferlazzo, G. & Moretta, L. (2008) NK cells at the interface between innate and adaptive immunity. *Cell Death & Differentiation*. 15 (2), 226-233.
- Mosmann, T.R. & Sad, S. (1996) The expanding universe of T-cell subsets: Th1, Th2 and more. *Immunology Today*. 17 (3), 138-146.
- Mosser, D.M. & Edwards, J.P. (2008) Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. 8 (12), 958-969.
- Mowat, A.M., Scott, C.L. & Bain, C.C. (2017) Barrier-tissue macrophages: functional adaptation to environmental challenges. *Nature Medicine*. 23 (11), 1258-1270.
- Mueller, D.L., Jenkins, M.K. & Schwartz, R.H. (1989) An accessory cell-derived costimulatory signal acts independently of protein kinase C activation to allow T cell proliferation and prevent the induction of unresponsiveness. *The Journal of Immunology*. 142 (8), 2617-2628.
- Muneeb, F., Hardman, J.A. & Paus, R. (2019) Hair growth control by innate immunocytes: Perifollicular macrophages revisited. *Experimental Dermatology*. 28 (4), 425-431.

- Murray, P.J. & Wynn, T.A. (2011) Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. 11 (11), 723-737.
- Nachat, R., Méchin, M.-C., Charveron, M., Serre, G., Constans, J. & Simon, M. (2005) Peptidylarginine Deiminase Isoforms Are Differentially Expressed in the Anagen Hair Follicles and Other Human Skin Appendages. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 125 (1), 34-41.
- Nadeem, A., Ahmad, S.F., Al-Harbi, N.O., Fardan, A.S., El-Sherbeeny, A.M., Ibrahim, K.E. & Attia, S.M. (2017) IL-17A causes depression-like symptoms via NFκB and p38MAPK signaling pathways in mice: Implications for psoriasis associated depression. *Cytokine*. 9714-24.
- Nagao, K., Kobayashi, T., Moro, K., Ohyama, M., Adachi, T., Kitashima, D.Y., Ueha, S., Horiuchi, K., Tanizaki, H., Kabashima, K., Kubo, A., Cho, Y.-H., Clausen, B.E., Matsushima, K., Suematsu, M., Furtado, G.C., Lira, S.A., Farber, J.M., Udey, M.C., et al. (2012) Stress-induced production of chemokines by hair follicles regulates the trafficking of dendritic cells in skin. *Nature Immunology*. 13 (8), 744-752.
- Nagasawa, M., Heesters, B.A., Kradolfer, C.M.A., Krabbendam, L., Martinez-Gonzalez, I., de Bruijn, M.J.W., Golebski, K., Hendriks, R.W., Stadhouders, R., Spits, H. & Bal, S.M. (2019) KLRG1 and NKp46 discriminate subpopulations of human CD117+CRTH2– ILCs biased toward ILC2 or ILC3. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 216 (8), 1762-1776.
- Nakamura, Y., Kano, R., Hasegawa, A. & Watanabe, S. (2002) Interleukin-8 and Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha Production in Human Epidermal Keratinocytes Induced by Trichophyton mentagrophytes. *Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology*. 9 (4), 935-937.
- Neis, M.M., Peters, B., Dreuw, A., Wenzel, J., Bieber, T., Mauch, C., Krieg, T., Stanzel, S., Heinrich, P.C., Merk, H.F., Bosio, A., Baron, J.M. & Hermanns, H.M. (2006) Enhanced expression levels of IL-31 correlate with IL-4 and IL-13 in atopic and allergic contact dermatitis. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. 118 (4), 930-937.
- Nerurkar, L., Siebert, S., McInnes, I.B. & Cavanagh, J. (2018) Rheumatoid arthritis and depression: an inflammatory perspective. *The Lancet Psychiatry*.
- Newman, A.M., Liu, C.L., Green, M.R., Gentles, A.J., Feng, W., Xu, Y., Hoang, C.D., Diehn, M. & Alizadeh, A.A. (2015) Robust enumeration of cell subsets from tissue expression profiles. *Nature Methods*. 12 (5), 453-457.
- Niederkorn, J.Y. (2006) See no evil, hear no evil, do no evil: the lessons of immune privilege. *Nature Immunology*. 7 (4), 354-359.
- Nieves, D.S., Phipps, R.P., Pollock, S.J., Ochs, H.D., Zhu, Q., Scott, G.A., Ryan, C.K., Kobayashi, I., Rossi, T.M. & Goldsmith, L.A. (2004) Dermatologic and Immunologic Findings in the Immune Dysregulation, Polyendocrinopathy, Enteropathy, X-linked Syndrome. Archives of Dermatology. 140 (4), 466-472.

- Nistala, K., Adams, S., Cambrook, H., Ursu, S., Olivito, B., de Jager, W., Evans, J.G., Cimaz, R., Bajaj-Elliott, M. & Wedderburn, L.R. (2010) Th17 plasticity in human autoimmune arthritis is driven by the inflammatory environment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 107 (33), 14751-14756.
- Nomura, I., Gao, B., Boguniewicz, M., Darst, M.A., Travers, J.B. & Leung, D.Y.M. (2003) Distinct patterns of gene expression in the skin lesions of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis: A gene microarray analysis. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. 112 (6), 1195-1202.
- Ogasawara, K., Hamerman, J.A., Ehrlich, L.R., Bour-Jordan, H., Santamaria, P., Bluestone, J.A. & Lanier, L.L. (2004) NKG2D Blockade Prevents Autoimmune Diabetes in NOD Mice. *Immunity*. 20 (6), 757-767.
- Ohnmacht, C., Pullner, A., King, S.B.S., Drexler, I., Meier, S., Brocker, T. & Voehringer, D. (2009) Constitutive ablation of dendritic cells breaks selftolerance of CD4 T cells and results in spontaneous fatal autoimmunity. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 206 (3), 549-559.
- Olsen, E.A., Hordinsky, M.K., Price, V.H., Roberts, J.L., Shapiro, J., Canfield, D., Duvic, M., King, L.E., Jr, McMichael, A.J., Randall, V.A., Turner, M.L., Sperling, L., Whiting, D.A. & Norris, D. (2004) Alopecia areata investigational assessment guidelines--Part II. National Alopecia Areata Foundation. PubMed NCBI. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 51 (3), 440-447.
- Orban, T., Sosenko, J.M., Cuthbertson, D., Krischer, J.P., Skyler, J.S., Jackson, R., Yu, L., Palmer, J.P., Schatz, D., Eisenbarth, G.for the Diabetes Prevention Trial-Type 1 Study Group (2009) Pancreatic Islet Autoantibodies as Predictors of Type 1 Diabetes in the Diabetes Prevention Trial-Type 1. *Diabetes Care*. 32 (12), 2269-2274.
- Ortolan, L.S., Kim, S.R., Crotts, S., Liu, L.Y., Craiglow, B.G., Wambier, C., Paschoal, R.S., King, B.A. & Jabbari, A. (2019) IL-12/IL-23 neutralization is ineffective for alopecia areata in mice and humans. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. 144 (6), 1731-1734.e1.
- Osaka, N., Takahashi, T., Murakami, S., Matsuzawa, A., Noguchi, T., Fujiwara, T., Aburatani, H., Moriyama, K., Takeda, K. & Ichijo, H. (2007) ASK1dependent recruitment and activation of macrophages induce hair growth in skin wounds. *Journal of Cell Biology*. 176 (7), 903-909.
- Ozaki, K., Spolski, R., Ettinger, R., Kim, H.-P., Wang, G., Qi, C.-F., Hwu, P., Shaffer, D.J., Akilesh, S., Roopenian, D.C., Morse, H.C., Lipsky, P.E. & Leonard, W.J. (2004) Regulation of B Cell Differentiation and Plasma Cell Generation by IL-21, a Novel Inducer of Blimp-1 and Bcl-6. *The Journal of Immunology*. 173 (9), 5361-5371.
- Pan, F., Yu, H., Dang, E.V., Barbi, J., Pan, X., Grosso, J.F., Jinasena, D., Sharma, S.M., McCadden, E.M., Getnet, D., Drake, C.G., Liu, J.O., Ostrowski, M.C. & Pardoll, D.M. (2009) Eos Mediates Foxp3-Dependent Gene Silencing in CD4+ Regulatory T Cells. Science. 325 (5944), 1142-1146.

- Parakkal, P.F. (1969) Role of macrophages in collagen resorption during hair growth cycle. *Journal of Ultrastructure Research*. 29 (3-4), 210-217.
- Park, Y.A., Kim, Y.H., Sol, I.S., Yoon, S.H., Hong, J.Y., Kim, M.N., Lee, K.E., Kim, K.W., Kim, K.-E. & Sohn, M.H. (2015) Relationship Between Serum Interleukin-17F Level and Severity of Atopic Dermatitis in Children. PubMed NCBI. *Pediatric Allergy, Immunology, and Pulmonology*. 28 (2), 112-116.
- Patti, M.E., Butte, A.J., Crunkhorn, S., Cusi, K., Berria, R., Kashyap, S., Miyazaki, Y., Kohane, I., Costello, M., Saccone, R., Landaker, E.J., Goldfine, A.B., Mun, E., DeFronzo, R., Finlayson, J., Kahn, C.R. & Mandarino, L.J. (2003) Coordinated reduction of genes of oxidative metabolism in humans with insulin resistance and diabetes: Potential role of PGC1and NRF1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 100 (14), 8466-8471.
- Paus, R., Eichmuller, S., Hofmann, U., Czarnetzki, B.M. & Robinson, P. (1994) Expression of classical and non-classical MHC class I antigens in murine hair follicles. *British Journal of Dermatology*. 131 (2), 177-183.
- Paus, R., Ito, N., Takigawa, M. & Ito, T. (2003) The Hair Follicle and Immune Privilege. Journal of Investigative Dermatology Symposium Proceedings. 8 (2), 188-194.
- Paus, R., Nickoloff, B.J. & Ito, T. (2005) A 'hairy' privilege. *Trends in Immunology*. 26 (1), 32-40.
- Paus, R., Slominski, A. & CZARNETZKI, B.M. (1993) Is alopecia areata an autoimmune-response against melanogenesis-related proteins, exposed by abnormal MHC class I expression in the anagen hair bulb? The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine. 66 (6), 541-554.
- Perkins, A., Nelson, K.J., Parsonage, D., Poole, L.B. & Karplus, P.A. (2015) Peroxiredoxins: Guardians Against Oxidative Stress and Modulators of Peroxide Signaling. *Trends in biochemical sciences*. 40 (8), 435-445.
- Perret, C., Wiesner-Menzel, L. & Happle, R. (1984) Immunohistochemical analysis of T-cell subsets in the peribulbar and intrabulbar infiltrates of alopecia areata. *Acta Dermato Venereologica*. 64 (1), 26-30.
- Persson, E.K., Uronen-Hansson, H., Semmrich, M., Rivollier, A., Hägerbrand, K., Marsal, J., Gudjonsson, S., Håkansson, U., Reizis, B., Kotarsky, K. & Agace, W.W. (2013) IRF4 Transcription-Factor-Dependent CD103+CD11b+ Dendritic Cells Drive Mucosal T Helper 17 Cell Differentiation. *Immunity*. 38 (5), 958-969.
- Petukhova, L., Duvic, M., Hordinsky, M., Norris, D., Price, V., Shimomura, Y., Kim, H., Singh, P., Lee, A., Chen, W.V., Meyer, K.C., Paus, R., Jahoda, C.A.B., Amos, C.I., Gregersen, P.K. & Christiano, A.M. (2010) Genome-wide association study in alopecia areata implicates both innate and adaptive immunity. *Nature*. 466 (7302), 113-117.
- Phan, K., Ramachandran, V. & Sebaratnam, D.F. (2019) Methotrexate for alopecia areata: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. 80 (1), 120-127.e2.

- Phan, T.G., Paus, D., Chan, T.D., Turner, M.L., Nutt, S.L., Basten, A. & Brink, R. (2006) High affinity germinal center B cells are actively selected into the plasma cell compartment. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 203 (11), 2419-2424.
- Pi, L.-Q., Jin, X.-H., Hwang, S.T. & Lee, W.-S. (2013) Effects of calcitonin generelated peptide on the immune privilege of human hair follicles. *Neuropeptides*. 47 (1), 51-57.
- Picker, L.J., Treer, J.R., Ferguson-Darnell, B., Collins, P.A., Bergstresser, P.R. & Terstappen, L.W. (1993) Control of lymphocyte recirculation in man. II. Differential regulation of the cutaneous lymphocyte-associated antigen, a tissue-selective homing receptor for skin-homing T cells. *The Journal of Immunology*. 150 (3), 1122-1136.
- Piehler, D., Stenzel, W., Grahnert, A., Held, J., Richter, L., Köhler, G., Richter, T., Eschke, M., Alber, G. & Müller, U. (2011) Eosinophils Contribute to IL-4 Production and Shape the T-Helper Cytokine Profile and Inflammatory Response in Pulmonary Cryptococcosis. *The American Journal of Pathology*. 179 (2), 733-744.
- Pielberg, G.R., Golovko, A., Sundström, E., Curik, I., Lennartsson, J.,
 Seltenhammer, M.H., Druml, T., Binns, M., Fitzsimmons, C., Lindgren, G.,
 Sandberg, K., Baumung, R., Vetterlein, M., Strömberg, S., Grabherr, M.,
 Wade, C., Lindblad-Toh, K., Pontén, F., Heldin, C.-H., et al. (2008) A cis acting regulatory mutation causes premature hair graying and susceptibility
 to melanoma in the horse. *Nature Genetics.* 40 (8), 1004-1009.
- Plikus, M.V., Mayer, J.A., la Cruz, de, D., Baker, R.E., Maini, P.K., Maxson, R. & Chuong, C.M. (2008) Cyclic dermal BMP signalling regulates stem cell activation during hair regeneration. *Nature*. 451 (7176), 340-344.
- Poli, A., Michel, T., Thérésine, M., Andrès, E., Hentges, F. & Zimmer, J. (2009) CD56bright natural killer (NK) cells: an important NK cell subset. *Immunology*. 126 (4), 458-465.
- Porcelli, S., Brenner, M.B., Greenstein, J.L., Terhorst, C., Balk, S.P. & Bleicher,
 P.A. (1989) Recognition of cluster of differentiation 1 antigens by human CD4
 CD8 >- cytolytic T lymphocyte. *Nature*. 341 (6241), 447-450.
- Preacute, du, M.F., van Berkel, L.A., ki, M.R.A., van Leeuwen, M.A., de Ruiter, L.F., Broere, F., Borg, ter, M.E.T.N.D., Lund, F.E., Escher, J.C., Lundin, K.E.A., Sollid, L.M., Kraal, G., Nieuwenhuis, E.E.S. & Samsom, J.N. (2011) CD62LnegCD38+ Expression on Circulating CD4+ T Cells Identifies Mucosally Differentiated Cells in Protein Fed Mice and in Human Celiac Disease Patients and Controls. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology*. 106 (6), 1147-1159.
- Prajapati, K., Perez, C., Rojas, L.B.P., Burke, B. & Guevara-Patino, J.A. (2018) Functions of NKG2D in CD8+ T cells: an opportunity for immunotherapy. *Cellular & Molecular Immunology*. 15 (5), 470-479.

- Pratt, C.H., King, L.E., Messenger, A.G., Christiano, A.M. & Sundberg, J.P. (2017) Alopecia areata. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*. 31-17.
- Probst, H.C., McCoy, K., Okazaki, T., Honjo, T. & van den Broek, M. (2005) Resting dendritic cells induce peripheral CD8 + T cell tolerance through PD-1 and CTLA-4. *Nature Immunology*. 6 (3), 280-286.
- Puigserver, P., Wu, Z., Park, C.W., Graves, R., Wright, M. & Spiegelman, B.M. (1998) A Cold-Inducible Coactivator of Nuclear Receptors Linked to Adaptive Thermogenesis. *Cell*. 92 (6), 829-839.
- Putterman, E. & Castelo-Soccio, L. (2018) Seasonal patterns in alopecia areata, totalis, and universalis. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. 79 (5), 974-975.
- Quach, T.D., Manjarrez-Orduno, N., Adlowitz, D.G., Silver, L., Yang, H., Wei, C., Milner, E.C.B. & Sanz, I. (2011) Anergic Responses Characterize a Large Fraction of Human Autoreactive Naïve B Cells Expressing Low Levels of Surface IgM. Journal of Immunology. 186 (8), 4640-4648.
- Rahal, J.A., Kurban, M., Kibbi, A.G. & Abbas, O. (2016) Plasmacytoid dendritic cells in alopecia areata: missing link? *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*. 30 (1), 119-123.
- Rahmani, W., Liu, Y., Rosin, N.L., Kline, A., Raharjo, E., Yoon, J., Stratton, J.A., Sinha, S. & Biernaskie, J. (2018) Macrophages Promote Wound-Induced Hair Follicle Regeneration in a CX3CR1- and TGF-B1-Dependent Manner. -
- Rahmani, W., Sinha, S. & Biernaskie, J. (2020) Immune modulation of hair follicle regeneration. *npj Regenerative Medicine*. 5 (1), 1-13.
- Raison, C.L., Rutherford, R.E., Woolwine, B.J., Shuo, C., Schettler, P., Drake, D.F., Haroon, E. & Miller, A.H. (2013) A Randomized Controlled Trial of the Tumor Necrosis Factor Antagonist Infliximab for Treatment-Resistant Depression. JAMA Psychiatry. 70 (1), 31.
- Ramesh, R., Kozhaya, L., McKevitt, K., Djuretic, I.M., Carlson, T.J., Quintero, M.A., McCauley, J.L., Abreu, M.T., Unutmaz, D. & Sundrud, M.S. (2014) Proinflammatory human Th17 cells selectively express P-glycoprotein and are refractory to glucocorticoids. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 211 (1), 89-104.
- Rawlings, D.J., Metzler, G., Wray-Dutra, M. & Jackson, S.W. (2017) Altered B cell signalling in autoimmunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. 17 (7), 421-436.
- Skinner, R.B., Light, W.H., Leonardi, C., Bale, G.F \$ Rosenberg, E.W. (1995) A molecular approach to alopecia areata. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 104 (5 Suppl), 3-4.
- Read, S., Malmström, V. & Powrie, F. (2000) Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte-Associated Antigen 4 Plays an Essential Role in the Function of Cd25+Cd4+ Regulatory Cells That Control Intestinal Inflammation. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 192 (2), 295-302.

- Rebello, D., Wang, E., Yen, E., Lio, P.A. & Kelly, C.R. (2017) Hair Growth in Two Alopecia Patients after Fecal Microbiota Transplant. ACG Case Reports Journal. 4 (1), e107.
- Renert-Yuval, Y. & Guttman-Yassky, E. (2016) A novel therapeutic paradigm for patients with extensive alopecia areata. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy*. 16 (8), 1005-1014.
- Richer, M.J., Pewe, L.L., Hancox, L.S., Hartwig, S.M., Varga, S.M. & Harty, J.T. (2015) Inflammatory IL-15 is required for optimal memory T cell responses. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 125 (9), 3477-3490.
- Rickel, E.A., Siegel, L.A., Yoon, B.-R.P., Rottman, J.B., Kugler, D.G., Swart, D.A., Anders, P.M., Tocker, J.E., Comeau, M.R. & Budelsky, A.L. (2008)
 Identification of Functional Roles for Both IL-17RB and IL-17RA in Mediating IL-25-Induced Activities. *The Journal of Immunology*. 181 (6), 4299-4310.
- Riley, J.L., Mao, M., Kobayashi, S., Biery, M., Burchard, J., Cavet, G., Gregson, B.P., June, C.H. & Linsley, P.S. (2002) Modulation of TCR-induced transcriptional profiles by ligation of CD28, ICOS, and CTLA-4 receptors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 99 (18), 11790-11795.
- Rizzo, R., Melchiorri, L., Stignani, M. & Baricordi, O.R. (2007) HLA-G Expression is a Fundamental Prerequisite to Pregnancy. *Human Immunology*. 68 (4), 244-250.
- Robinson, D.S., Hamid, Q., Ying, S., Tsicopoulos, A., Barkans, J., Bentley, A.M., Corrigan, C., Durham, S.R. & Kay, A.B. (2010) Predominant TH2-like Bronchoalveolar T-Lymphocyte Population in Atopic Asthma. *dx.doi.org.* 326 (5), 298-304.
- Rodriguez, T.A. & Duvic, M. (2008) Onset of alopecia areata after Epstein-Barr virus infectious mononucleosis. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. 59 (1), 137-139.
- Rodriguez, T.A., Fernandes, K.E., Dresser, K.L. & Duvic, M. (2010) Concordance rate of alopecia areata in identical twins supports both genetic and environmental factors. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. 62 (3), 525-527.
- Rokhsar, C.K., Shupack, J.L., Vafai, J.J. & Washenik, K. (1998) Efficacy of topical sensitizers in the treatment of alopecia areata. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. 39 (5), 751-761.
- Rosman, Z., Shoenfeld, Y. & Zandman-Goddard, G. (2013) Biologic therapy for autoimmune diseases: an update. *BMC Medicine*. 11 (1), 755.
- Rouas-Freiss, N., Marchal, R.E., Kirszenbaum, M., Dausset, J. & Carosella, E.D. (1997) The α1 domain of HLA-G1 and HLA-G2 inhibits cytotoxicity induced by natural killer cells: Is HLA-G the public ligand for natural killer cell inhibitory receptors? *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 94 (10), 5249-5254.

- Roussel, L., Houle, F., Chan, C., Yao, Y., Bérubé, J., Olivenstein, R., Martin, J.G., Huot, J., Hamid, Q., Ferri, L. & Rousseau, S. (2010) IL-17 Promotes p38
 MAPK-Dependent Endothelial Activation Enhancing Neutrophil Recruitment to Sites of Inflammation. *The Journal of Immunology*. 184 (8), 4531-4537.
- Rouzankina, I., Abate-Shen, C. & Niswander, L. (2004) Dlx genes integrate positive and negative signals during feather bud development. *Developmental Biology*. 265 (1), 219-233.
- Rubtsov, Y.P., Rasmussen, J.P., Chi, E.Y., Fontenot, J., Castelli, L., Ye, X., Treuting, P., Siewe, L., Roers, A., Henderson, W.R., Jr., Muller, W. & Rudensky, A.Y. (2008) Regulatory T Cell-Derived Interleukin-10 Limits Inflammation at Environmental Interfaces. *Immunity*. 28 (4), 546-558.
- Ruiz-Doblado, S., Carrizosa, A. & García-Hernández, M.J. (2003) Alopecia areata: psychiatric comorbidity and adjustment to illness. *International Journal of Dermatology*. 42 (6), 434-437.
- Rückert, R., Hofmann, U., van der Veen, C., Paus, R. & Bulfone-Paus, S. (1998)
 MHC Class I Expression in Murine Skin: Developmentally Controlled and
 Strikingly Restricted Intraepithelial Expression During Hair Follicle
 Morphogenesis and Cycling, and Response to Cytokine Treatment In Vivo.
 Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 111 (1), 25-30.
- Safavi, K.H., Muller, S.A., Suman, V.J., Moshell, A.N. & Melton, L.J., III (1995) Incidence of Alopecia Areata in Olmsted County, Minnesota, 1975 Through 1989. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*. 70 (7), 628-633.
- Sage, P.T., Paterson, A.M., Lovitch, S.B. & Sharpe, A.H. (2014) The coinhibitory receptor CTLA-4 Controls B cell Responses by Modulating T Follicular Helper, T Follicular Regulatory and T Regulatory Cells. *Immunity*. 41 (6), 1026-1039.
- Sallusto, F., Lenig, D., Förster, R., Lipp, M. & Lanzavecchia, A. (1999) Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. *Nature*. 401 (6754), 708-712.
- Sanchez Rodriguez, R., Pauli, M.L., Neuhaus, I.M., Yu, S.S., Arron, S.T., Harris, H.W., Yang, S.H.-Y., Anthony, B.A., Sverdrup, F.M., Krow-Lucal, E., MacKenzie, T.C., Johnson, D.S., Meyer, E.H., Löhr, A., Hsu, A., Koo, J., Liao, W., Gupta, R., Debbaneh, M.G., et al. (2014) Memory regulatory T cells reside in human skin. JCI Insight. 124 (3), 1027-1036.
- Sapone, A., de Magistris, L., Pietzak, M., Clemente, M.G., Tripathi, A., Cucca, F., Lampis, R., Kryszak, D., Carteni, M., Generoso, M., Iafusco, D., Prisco, F., Laghi, F., Riegler, G., Carratu, R., Counts, D. & Fasano, A. (2006) Zonulin Upregulation Is Associated With Increased Gut Permeability in Subjects With Type 1 Diabetes and Their Relatives. *Diabetes*. 55 (5), 1443-1449.
- Sarma, Das, J., Ciric, B., Marek, R., Sadhukhan, S., Caruso, M.L., Shafagh, J., Fitzgerald, D.C., Shindler, K.S. & Rostami, A.M. (2009) Functional interleukin-17 receptor A is expressed in central nervous system glia and upregulated in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*. 6 (1), 14.

- Scerri, L. & Pace, J.L. (1992) Identical twins with identical alopecia areata. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 27 (5), 766-767.
- Scharschmidt, T.C., Vasquez, K.S., Pauli, M.L., Leitner, E.G., Chu, K., Truong, H.-A., Lowe, M.M., Sanchez Rodriguez, R., Ali, N., Laszik, Z.G., Sonnenburg, J.L., Millar, S.E. & Rosenblum, M.D. (2017) Commensal Microbes and Hair Follicle Morphogenesis Coordinately Drive Treg Migration into Neonatal Skin. *Cell Host & Microbe*. 21 (4), 467-477.e5.
- Schneider, M.R., Schmidt-Ullrich, R. & Paus, R. (2009) The Hair Follicle as a Dynamic Miniorgan. *Current Biology*. 19 (3), R132-R142.
- Schraufstatter, I.U., Zhao, M., Khaldoyanidi, S.K. & DiScipio, R.G. (2012) The chemokine CCL18 causes maturation of cultured monocytes to macrophages in the M2 spectrum. *Immunology*. 135 (4), 287-298.
- Schroder, K., Hertzog, P.J., Ravasi, T. & Hume, D.A. (2004) Interferon-γ: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. 75 (2), 163-189.
- Sedger, L.M. & McDermott, M.F. (2014) TNF and TNF-receptors: From mediators of cell death and inflammation to therapeutic giants past, present and future. *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews*. 25 (4), 453-472.
- See, P., Dutertre, C.-A., Chen, J., Günther, P., McGovern, N., Irac, S.E., Gunawan, M., Beyer, M., Händler, K., Duan, K., Bin Sumatoh, H.R., Ruffin, N., Jouve, M., Gea-Mallorquí, E., Hennekam, R.C.M., Lim, T., Yip, C.C., Wen, M., Malleret, B., et al. (2017) Mapping the human DC lineage through the integration of high-dimensional techniques. *Science*. 356 (6342), eaag3009.
- Seifert, M., Przekopowitz, M., Taudien, S., Lollies, A., Ronge, V., Drees, B., Lindemann, M., Hillen, U., Engler, H., Singer, B.B. & Küppers, R. (2015) Functional capacities of human IgM memory B cells in early inflammatory responses and secondary germinal center reactions. - PubMed - NCBI. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 112 (6), E546-E555.
- Sellami, R., Masmoudi, J., Ouali, U., Mnif, L., Amouri, M., Turki, H. & Jaoua, A. (2014) The relationship between alopecia areata and alexithymia, anxiety and depression: A case-control study. *Indian Journal of Dermatology*. 59 (4), 421.
- Senshu, T., Kan, S., Ogawa, H., Manabe, M. & Asaga, H. (1996) Preferential Deimination of Keratin K1 and Filaggrin during the Terminal Differentiation of Human Epidermis. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. 225 (3), 712-719.
- Shiroishi, M., Tsumoto, K., Amano, K., Shirakihara, Y., Colonna, M., Braud, V.M., Allan, D.S.J., Makadzange, A., Rowland-Jones, S., Willcox, B., Jones, E.Y., van der Merwe, P.A., Kumagai, I. & Maenaka, K. (2003) Human inhibitory receptors Ig-like transcript 2 (ILT2) and ILT4 compete with CD8 for MHC class I binding and bind preferentially to HLA-G. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 100 (15), 8856-8861.

- Shoenfeld, Y., Gurewich, Y., Gallant, L.A. & Pinkhas, J. (1981) Prednisoneinduced leukocytosis: Influence of dosage, method and duration of administration on the degree of leukocytosis. *The American Journal of Medicine*. 71 (5), 773-778.
- Silverberg, M.S., Cho, J.H., Rioux, J.D., McGovern, D.P.B., Wu, J., Annese, V., Achkar, J.-P., Goyette, P., Scott, R., Xu, W., Barmada, M.M., Klei, L., Daly, M.J., Abraham, C., Bayless, T.M., Bossa, F., Griffiths, A.M., Ippoliti, A.F., Lahaie, R.G., et al. (2009) Ulcerative colitis-risk loci on chromosomes 1p36 and 12q15 found by genome-wide association study. *Nature Genetics*. 41 (2), 216-220.
- Sims, G.P., Ettinger, R., Shirota, Y., Yarboro, C.H., Illei, G.G. & Lipsky, P.E. (2005) Identification and characterization of circulating human transitional B cells. *Blood*. 105 (11), 4390-4398.
- Singh, B., Jegga, A.G., Shanmukhappa, K.S., Edukulla, R., Khurana, G.H., Medvedovic, M., Dillon, S.R. & Madala, S.K. (2016) IL-31-Driven Skin Remodeling Involves Epidermal Cell Proliferation and Thickening That Lead to Impaired Skin-Barrier Function Michel Simon (ed.). *PLoS ONE*. 11 (8), e0161877.
- Singh, G. & Lavanya, M.S. (2010) Topical immunotherapy in alopecia areata. International Journal of Trichology. 2 (1), 36.
- Slominski, A., Wortsman, J., Plonka, P.M., Schallreuter, K.U., Paus, R. & Tobin, D.J. (2005) Hair Follicle Pigmentation. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 124 (1), 13-21.
- Smith, C.M., Wilson, N.S., Waithman, J., Villadangos, J.A., Carbone, F.R., Heath, W.R. & Belz, G.T. (2004) Cognate CD4 + T cell licensing of dendritic cells in CD8 + T cell immunity. *Nature Immunology*. 5 (11), 1143-1148.
- Soderstrom, C., Berstein, G., Zhang, W., Valdez, H., Fitz, L., Kuhn, M. & Fraser,
 S. (2017) Ultra-Sensitive Measurement of IL-17A and IL-17F in Psoriasis
 Patient Serum and Skin. *The AAPS Journal*. 19 (4), 1218-1222.
- Sollid, L., Molberg, O., McAdam, S. & Lundin, K. (1997) Autoantibodies in coeliac disease: tissue transglutaminase—guilt by association? *Gut.* 41 (6), 851-852.
- Song, T., Pavel, A.B., Wen, H.-C., Malik, K., Estrada, Y., Gonzalez, J., Hashim, P.W., Nia, J.K., Baum, D., Kimmel, G., Singer, G.K., Krueger, J.G. & Guttman-Yassky, E. (2018) An integrated model of alopecia areata biomarkers highlights both TH1 and TH2 upregulation. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. 142 (5), 1631-1634.e13.
- Sonkoly, E., Müller, A., Lauerma, A.I., Pivarcsi, A., Soto, H., Kemeny, L., Alenius, H., Dieu-Nosjean, M.-C., Meller, S., Rieker, J., Steinhoff, M., Hoffmann, T.K., Ruzicka, T., Zlotnik, A. & Homey, B. (2006) IL-31: A new link between T cells and pruritus in atopic skin inflammation. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. 117 (2), 411-417.
- Spano, F. & Donovan, J.C. (2015) Alopecia areata: Part 2: treatment. *Canadian family physician Medecin de famille canadien*. 61 (9), 757-761.

- Spolski, R. & Leonard, W.J. (2014) Interleukin-21: a double-edged sword with therapeutic potential. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*. 13 (5), 379-395.
- Stavnezer, J., Guikema, J.E.J. & Schrader, C.E. (2008) Mechanism and Regulation of Class Switch Recombination. Annual Review of Immunology. 26 (1), 261-292.
- Steimle, V., Siegrist, C.A., Mottet, A., Lisowska-Grospierre, B. & Mach, B. (1994) Regulation of MHC class II expression by interferon-gamma mediated by the transactivator gene CIITA. Science. 265 (5168), 106-109.
- Stenn, K.S. & Paus, R. (2001) Controls of Hair Follicle Cycling. *Physiological Reviews*. 81 (1), 449-494.
- Stewart, T.A., Hultgren, B., Huang, X., Pitts-Meek, S., Hully, J. & MacLachlan, N.J. (1993) Induction of type I diabetes by interferon-alpha in transgenic mice. Science. 260 (5116), 1942-1946.
- Stritesky, G.L., Yeh, N. & Kaplan, M.H. (2008) IL-23 promotes maintenance but not commitment to the Th17 lineage. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.* : 1950). 181 (9), 5948-5955.
- Suarez-Farinas, M., Ungar, B., Noda, S., Shroff, A., Mansouri, Y., Fuentes-Duculan, J., Czernik, A., Zheng, X., Estrada, Y.D., Xu, H., Peng, X., Shemer, A., Krueger, J.G., Lebwohl, M.G. & Guttman-Yassky, E. (2015) Alopecia areata profiling shows TH1, TH2, and IL-23 cytokine activation without parallel TH17/TH22 skewing. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. 136 (5), 1277-1287.
- Sundberg, J.P., Cordy, W.R. & King, L.E., Jr (1994) Alopecia Areata in Aging C3H/HeJ Mice. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 102 (6), 847-856.
- Sundberg, J.P., Silva, K.A., Zhang, W., Sundberg, B.A., Edwards, K., King, L.E., Davis, R.L. & Black, S. (2009) Recombinant Human Hepatitis B Vaccine Initiating Alopecia Areata: Testing the Hypothesis Using the C3H/HeJ Mouse Model. Veterinary dermatology. 20 (2), 99-104.
- Suzuki, E., Mellins, E.D., Gershwin, M.E., Nestle, F.O. & Adamopoulos, I.E. (2014) The IL-23/IL-17 axis in psoriatic arthritis. *Autoimmunity Reviews*. 13 (4-5), 496-502.
- Suzuki, S., Kato, T., Takimoto, H., Masui, S., Oshima, H., Ozawa, K., Suzuki, S. & Imamura, T. (1998) Localization of Rat FGF-5 Protein in Skin Macrophagelike Cells and FGF-5S Protein in Hair Follicle: Possible Involvement of twoFgf-5 Gene Products in Hair Growth Cycle Regulation. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 111 (6), 963-972.
- Suzuki, S., Ota, Y., Ozawa, K. & Imamura, T. (2000) Dual-Mode Regulation of Hair Growth Cycle by Two Fgf-5 Gene Products. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 114 (3), 456-463.
- Swiecki, M. & Colonna, M. (2015) The multifaceted biology of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. 15 (8), 471-485.

- Symmons, D. (2002) The prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis in the United Kingdom: new estimates for a new century. *Rheumatology*. 41 (7), 793-800.
- Syrbe, U., Siveke, J. & Hamann, A. (1999) Th1/Th2 subsets: distinct differences in homing and chemokine receptor expression? *Springer Seminars in Immunopathology*. 21 (3), 263-285.
- Szabo, S.J., Kim, S.T., Costa, G.L., Zhang, X., Fathman, C.G. & Glimcher, L.H. (2000) A Novel Transcription Factor, T-bet, Directs Th1 Lineage Commitment. *Cell*. 100 (6), 655-669.
- Tabib, T., Morse, C., Wang, T., Chen, W. & Lafyatis, R. (2018) SFRP2/DPP4 and FMO1/LSP1 Define Major Fibroblast Populations in Human Skin. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 138 (4), 802-810.
- Takemoto, N., Intlekofer, A.M., Northrup, J.T., Wherry, E.J. & Reiner, S.L. (2006) Cutting Edge: IL-12 Inversely Regulates T-bet and Eomesodermin Expression during Pathogen-Induced CD8+ T Cell Differentiation. *The Journal* of Immunology. 177 (11), 7515-7519.
- Tamoutounour, S., Han, S.-J., Deckers, J., Constantinides, M.G., Hurabielle, C., Harrison, O.J., Bouladoux, N., Linehan, J.L., Link, V.M., Vujkovic-Cvijin, I., Perez-Chaparro, P.J., Rosshart, S.P., Rehermann, B., Lazarevic, V. & Belkaid, Y. (2019) Keratinocyte-intrinsic MHCII expression controls microbiota-induced Th1 cell responses. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences. 116 (47), 23643-23652.
- Tan, E., Tay, Y.K., Goh, C.L. & Giam, Y.C. (2002a) The pattern and profile of alopecia areata in Singapore - a study of 219 Asians. *International Journal of Dermatology*. 41 (11), 748-753.
- Tan, E., Tay, Y.K., Goh, C.L. & Giam, Y.C. (2002b) The pattern and profile of alopecia areata in Singapore - a study of 219 Asians. *International Journal of Dermatology*. 41 (11), 748-753.
- Tanemura, A., Oiso, N., Nakano, M., Itoi, S., Kawada, A. & Katayama, I. (2013) Alopecia Areata: Infiltration of Th17 Cells in the Dermis, Particularly around Hair Follicles. *Dermatology*. 226 (4), 333-336.
- Tang, C., Kakuta, S., Shimizu, K., Kadoki, M., Kamiya, T., Shimazu, T., Kubo, S., Saijo, S., Ishigame, H., Nakae, S. & Iwakura, Y. (2018) Suppression of IL-17F, but not of IL-17A, provides protection against colitis by inducing T reg cells through modification of the intestinal microbiota. *Nature Immunology*. 19 (7), 755-765.
- Taraban, V.Y., Rowley, T.F. & Al-Shamkhani, A. (2004) Cutting Edge: A Critical Role for CD70 in CD8 T Cell Priming by CD40-Licensed APCs. *The Journal of Immunology*. 173 (11), 6542-6546.
- Targan, S.R., Hanauer, S.B., van Deventer, S.J.H., Mayer, L., Present, D.H., Braakman, T., DeWoody, K.L., Schaible, T.F. & Rutgeerts, P.J. (1997) A Short-Term Study of Chimeric Monoclonal Antibody cA2 to Tumor Necrosis Factor α for Crohn's Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 337 (15), 1029-1036.

- Taub, D.D., Lloyd, A.R., Conlon, K., Wang, J.M., Ortaldo, J.R., Harada, A., Matsushima, K., Kelvin, D.J. & Oppenheim, J.J. (1993) Recombinant human interferon-inducible protein 10 is a chemoattractant for human monocytes and T lymphocytes and promotes T cell adhesion to endothelial cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 177 (6), 1809-1814.
- Tauber, M., Buche, S., Reygagne, P., Berthelot, J.-M., Aubin, F., Ghislain, P.-D., Cohen, J.-D., Coquerelle, P., Goujon, E., Jullien, D., Brixi, H., Jeudy, G., Guennoc, X., Martin, A., Brénaut, E., Hoppé, E., Bertolotti, A., Bardin, T., Delaporte, E., et al. (2014) Alopecia areata occurring during anti-TNF therapy: A national multicenter prospective study. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. 70 (6), 1146-1149.
- Taylor, A.W. (1999) 'Ocular Immunosuppressive Microenvironment', in *Immune Response and the Eye*. Chemical Immunology and Allergy. [Online]. Basel: Karger Publishers. pp. 72-89.
- Telerman, S.B., Rognoni, E., Sequeira, I., Pisco, A.O., Lichtenberger, B.M., Culley, O.J., Viswanathan, P., Driskell, R.R. & Watt, F.M. (2017) Dermal Blimp1 Acts Downstream of Epidermal TGFB and Wnt/B-Catenin to Regulate Hair Follicle Formation and Growth. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 137 (11), 2270-2281.
- Tembhre, M.K. & Sharma, V.K. (2013) T-helper and regulatory T-cell cytokines in the peripheral blood of patients with active alopecia areata. *British Journal of Dermatology*. 169 (3), 543-548.
- Teunissen, M.B.M., Yeremenko, N.G., Baeten, D.L.P., Chielie, S., Spuls, P.I., de Rie, M.A., Lantz, O. & Res, P.C.M. (2014) The IL-17A-Producing CD8+ T cell Population in Psoriatic Lesional Skin Comprises Mucosa-Associated Invariant T Cells and Conventional T cells. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. (12), 2898-2907.
- Thomsen, S.F. (2015) Epidemiology and natural history of atopic diseases. *European Clinical Respiratory Journal*. 2 (1), 24642.
- Tobin, D.J., Gardner, S.H., Lindsey, N.J., Hoffmann, R., Happle, R. & Freyschmidt-Paul, P. (2002) Diphencyprone immunotherapy alters anti-hair follicle antibody status in patients with alopecia areata. *European journal of dermatology* : *EJD*. 12 (4), 327-334.
- Tobin, D.J., Orentreich, N., Bystryn, J.-C. & Fenton, D.A. (1994) Antibodies to Hair Follicles in Alopecia Areata. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 102 (5), 721-724.
- Todes-Taylor, N., Turner, R., Wood, G.S., Stratte, P.T. & Morhenn, V.B. (1984) T cell subpopulaions in alopecia areata. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. 11 (2), 216-223.
- Torres, M.I., López-Casado, M.A., Luque, J., Peña, J. & Ríos, A. (2006) New advances in coeliac disease: serum and intestinal expression of HLA-G. *International Immunology*. 18 (5), 713-718.

- Tosti, A., Bellavista, S. & Iorizzo, M. (2006) Alopecia areata: A long term followup study of 191 patients. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. 55 (3), 438-441.
- Tosti, A., La Placa, M., Placucci, F., Gentilomi, G., Venturoli, S., Zerbini, M. & Musiani, M. (1996) No Correlation Between Cytomegalovirus and Alopecia Areata. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 107 (3), 443.
- Toyoshima, K.-E., Asakawa, K., Ishibashi, N., Toki, H., Ogawa, M., Hasegawa, T., Irié, T., Tachikawa, T., Sato, A., Takeda, A. & Tsuji, T. (2012) Fully functional hair follicle regeneration through the rearrangement of stem cells and their niches. *Nature Communications*. 3 (1), 1-12.
- Trautman, S., Thompson, M., Roberts, J. & Thompson, C.T. (2009) Melanocytes: A possible autoimmune target in alopecia areata. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. 61 (3), 529-530.
- Tripathi, A., Lammers, K.M., Goldblum, S., Shea-Donohue, T., Netzel-Arnett, S., Buzza, M.S., Antalis, T.M., Vogel, S.N., Zhao, A., Yang, S., Arrietta, M.C., Meddings, J.B. & Fasano, A. (2009) Identification of human zonulin, a physiological modulator of tight junctions, as prehaptoglobin-2. - PubMed -NCBI. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 106 (39), 16799-16804.
- Uguccioni, M., Loetscher, P., Forssmann, U., Dewald, B., Li, H., Lima, S.H., Li, Y., Kreider, B., Garotta, G., Thelen, M. & Baggiolini, M. (1996) Monocyte chemotactic protein 4 (MCP-4), a novel structural and functional analogue of MCP-3 and eotaxin. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 183 (5), 2379-2384.
- van de Laar, L., Saelens, W., De Prijck, S., Martens, L., Scott, C.L., Van Isterdael, G., Hoffmann, E., Beyaert, R., Saeys, Y., Lambrecht, B.N. & Guilliams, M. (2016) Yolk Sac Macrophages, Fetal Liver, and Adult Monocytes Can Colonize an Empty Niche and Develop into Functional Tissue-Resident Macrophages. *Immunity*. 44 (4), 755-768.
- van der Steen P, Boezeman, J., Duller, P. & Happle, R. (1992) Can alopecia areata be triggered by emotional stress? An uncontrolled evaluation of 178 patients with extensive hair loss. *Acta Dermato Venereologica*. 72 (4), 279-280.
- van Heel, D.A., Franke, L., Hunt, K.A., Gwilliam, R., Zhernakova, A., Inouye, M., Wapenaar, M.C., Barnardo, M.C.N.M., Bethel, G., Holmes, G.K.T., Feighery, C., Jewell, D., Kelleher, D., Kumar, P., Travis, S., Walters, J.R., Sanders, D.S., Howdle, P., Swift, J., et al. (2007) A genome-wide association study for celiac disease identifies risk variants in the region harboring IL2 and IL21. *Nature Genetics*. 39 (7), 827-829.
- van Leeuwen, E.M., Sprent, J. & Surh, C.D. (2009) Generation and maintenance of memory CD4+ T Cells. *Current Opinion in Immunology*. 21 (2), 167-172.
- Van Mater, D., Kolligs, F.T., Dlugosz, A.A. & Fearon, E.R. (2003) Transient activation of beta -catenin signaling in cutaneous keratinocytes is sufficient

to trigger the active growth phase of the hair cycle in mice. *Genes & Development*. 17 (10), 1219-1224.

- van Panhuys, N., Tang, S.-C., Prout, M., Camberis, M., Scarlett, D., Roberts, J., Hu-Li, J., Paul, W.E. & Le Gros, G. (2008) In vivo studies fail to reveal a role for IL-4 or STAT6 signaling in Th2 lymphocyte differentiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 105 (34), 12423-12428.
- Verros, C., Rallis, E. & Crowe, M. (2012) Alopecia areata during ustekinumab administration: Co-existence or an adverse reaction? *Dermatology Online Journal*. 18 (7).
- Villani, A.-C., Satija, R., Reynolds, G., Sarkizova, S., Shekhar, K., Fletcher, J., Griesbeck, M., Butler, A., Zheng, S., Lazo, S., Jardine, L., Dixon, D., Stephenson, E., Nilsson, E., Grundberg, I., McDonald, D., Filby, A., Li, W., De Jager, P.L., et al. (2017) Single-cell RNA-seq reveals new types of human blood dendritic cells, monocytes, and progenitors. *Science*. 356 (6335), eaah4573.
- Vivier, E., Tomasello, E., Baratin, M., Walzer, T. & Ugolini, S. (2008) Functions of natural killer cells. *Nature Immunology*. 9 (5), 503-510.
- Voganatsi, A., Panyutich, A., Miyasaki, K.T. & Murthy, R.K. (2001) Mechanism of extracellular release of human neutrophil calprotectin complex. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. 70 (1), 130-134.
- Vossenaar, E.R., Zendman, A.J.W., van Venrooij, W.J. & Pruijn, G.J.M. (2003) PAD, a growing family of citrullinating enzymes: genes, features and involvement in disease. *BioEssays*. 25 (11), 1106-1118.
- Vujanovic, L., Chuckran, C., Lin, Y., Ding, F., Sander, C.A., Santos, P.M., Lohr, J., Mashadi-Hossein, A., Warren, S., White, A., Huang, A., Kirkwood, J.M. & Butterfield, L.H. (2019) CD56dim CD16– Natural Killer Cell Profiling in Melanoma Patients Receiving a Cancer Vaccine and Interferon-α. Frontiers in Immunology. 101233.
- Vulcano, M., Struyf, S., Scapini, P., Cassatella, M., Bernasconi, S., Bonecchi, R., Calleri, A., Penna, G., Adorini, L., Luini, W., Mantovani, A., Van Damme, J. & Sozzani, S. (2003) Unique Regulation of CCL18 Production by Maturing Dendritic Cells. *The Journal of Immunology*. 170 (7), 3843-3849.
- Wager, C.M.L. & Wormley, F.L. (2014) Classical versus alternative macrophage activation: the Ying and the Yang in host defense against pulmonary fungal infections. *Mucosal Immunology*. 7 (5), 1023-1035.
- Walport, M.J. (2002) Complement and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Research*. 4 (Suppl 3), S279.
- Wang, E.C.E, Dai, Z., Ferrante, A.W., Drake, C.G. & Christiano, A.M. (2019) A Subset of TREM2+ Dermal Macrophages Secretes Oncostatin M to Maintain Hair Follicle Stem Cell Quiescence and Inhibit Hair Growth. *Cell stem cell*. 24 (4), 654-669.e6.

- Wang, E.H.C., Sallee, B.N., Tejeda, C.I. & Christiano, A.M. (2018) JAK Inhibitors for Treatment of Alopecia Areata. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 138 (9), 1911-1916.
- Wang, S., Ratnaparkhi, R., Piliang, M. & Bergfeld, W.F. (2018) Role of family history in patchy alopecia areata. *Dermatology Online Journal*. 24 (10).
- Wang, T., Marken, J., Chen, J., Tran, V.B., Li, Q.-Z., Li, M., Cerosaletti, K., Elkon, K.B., Zeng, X. & Giltiay, N.V. (2019) High TLR7 Expression Drives the Expansion of CD19+CD24hiCD38hi Transitional B Cells and Autoantibody Production in SLE Patients. *Frontiers in Immunology*. 10586.
- Wang, W., Uzzau, S., Goldblum, S.E. & Fasano, A. (2000) Human zonulin, a potential modulator of intestinal tight junctions. *J Cell Sci*. 113 Pt 244435-4440.
- Wang, X., Chen, H., Tian, R., Zhang, Y., Drutskaya, M.S., Wang, C., Ge, J., Fan, Z., Kong, D., Wang, X., Cai, T., Zhou, Y., Wang, J., Wang, J., Wang, S., Qin, Z., Jia, H., Wu, Y., Liu, J., et al. (2017) Macrophages induce AKT/B-catenin-dependent Lgr5 + stem cell activation and hair follicle regeneration through TNF. *Nature Communications*. 8 (1), 1-14.
- Wang, Y., Godec, J., Ben-Aissa, K., Cui, K., Zhao, K., Pucsek, A.B., Lee, Y.K., Weaver, C.T., Yagi, R. & Lazarevic, V. (2014) The Transcription Factors T-bet and Runx Are Required for the Ontogeny of Pathogenic Interferon-γ-Producing T Helper 17 Cells. *Immunity*. 40 (3), 355-366.
- Ward, J.H. (1963) Hierarchical Grouping to Optimize an Objective Function. Journal of the American Statistical Association. 58 (301), 236.
- Weller, S. (2004) Human blood IgM 'memory' B cells are circulating splenic marginal zone B cells harboring a prediversified immunoglobulin repertoire. *Blood.* 104 (12), 3647-3654.
- Wensveen, F.M., Lenartić, M., Jelenčić, V., Lemmermann, N.A.W., Brinke, ten, A., Jonjić, S. & Polić, B. (2013) NKG2D Induces Mcl-1 Expression and Mediates Survival of CD8 Memory T Cell Precursors via Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase. The Journal of Immunology. 191 (3), 1307-1315.
- Whiting, D.A. (2003) Histopathologic Features of Alopecia Areata: A New Look. *Archives of Dermatology*. 139 (12), 1555-1559.
- Willem W Overwijk, K.S.S. (2009) Functions of γC cytokines in immune homeostasis: current and potential clinical applications. *Clinical immunology* (*Orlando, Fla.*). 132 (2), 153-165.
- Williams, M.A., Tyznik, A.J. & Bevan, M.J. (2006) Interleukin-2 signals during priming are required for secondary expansion of CD8+ memory T cells. *Nature*. 441 (7095), 890-893.
- Wing, K., Onishi, Y., Prieto-Martin, P., Yamaguchi, T., Miyara, M., Fehervari, Z., Nomura, T. & Sakaguchi, S. (2008) CTLA-4 Control over Foxp3+ Regulatory T Cell Function. Science. 322 (5899), 271-275.

- Wise, R.P., Kiminyo, K.P. & Salive, M.E. (1997) Hair Loss After Routine Immunizations. JAMA. 278 (14), 1176-1178.
- Wiseman, M.C., Shapiro, J., MacDonald, N. & Lui, H. (2001) Predictive Model for Immunotherapy of Alopecia Areata With Diphencyprone. *Archives of Dermatology*. 137 (8), 1063-1068.
- Wu, H.-J., Ivanov, I.I., Darce, J., Hattori, K., Shima, T., Umesaki, Y., Littman, D.R., Benoist, C. & Mathis, D. (2010) Gut-Residing Segmented Filamentous Bacteria Drive Autoimmune Arthritis via T Helper 17 Cells. *Immunity*. 32 (6), 815-827.
- Xin, G., Schauder, D.M., Lainez, B., Weinstein, J.S., Dai, Z., Chen, Y., Esplugues, E., Wen, R., Wang, D., Parish, I.A., Zajac, A.J., Craft, J. & Cui, W. (2015) A Critical Role of IL-21-Induced BATF in Sustaining CD8-T-Cell-Mediated Chronic Viral Control. *Cell Reports*. 13 (6), 1118-1124.
- Xing, L., Dai, Z., Jabbari, A., Cerise, J.E., Higgins, C.A., Gong, W., de Jong, A., Harel, S., DeStefano, G.M., Rothman, L., Singh, P., Petukhova, L., Mackay-Wiggan, J., Christiano, A.M. & Clynes, R. (2014) Alopecia areata is driven by cytotoxic T lymphocytes and is reversed by JAK inhibition. *Nature Medicine*. 20 (9), 1043-1049.
- Xu, B., Pizarro, J.C., Holmes, M.A., McBeth, C., Groh, V., Spies, T & Strong, R.K. (2011) Crystal structure of a γδ T-cell receptor specific for the human MHC class I homolog MICA. PNAS. 108(6), 2414-2419.
- Yael Renert-Yuval, E.G.Y. (2017) The Changing Landscape of Alopecia Areata: The Therapeutic Paradigm. *Advances in Therapy*. 34 (7), 1594-1609.
- Yamamoto, J., Adachi, Y., Onoue, Y., Adachi, Y.S., Okabe, Y., Itazawa, T., Toyoda, M., Seki, T., Morohashi, M., Matsushima, K. & Miyawaki, T. (2000) Differential expression of the chemokine receptors by the Th1- and Th2-type effector populations within circulating CD4+ T cells. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. 68 (4), 568-574.
- Yamashita, M., Ukai-Tadenuma, M., Miyamoto, T., Sugaya, K., Hosokawa, H., Hasegawa, A., Kimura, M., Taniguchi, M., DeGregori, J. & Nakayama, T. (2004) Essential Role of GATA3 for the Maintenance of Type 2 Helper T (Th2) Cytokine Production and Chromatin Remodeling at the Th2 Cytokine Gene Loci. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 279 (26), 26983-26990.
- Yang, H., Adam, R.C., Ge, Y., Hua, Z.L. & Fuchs, E. (2017) Epithelial-Mesenchymal Micro-Niches Govern Stem Cell Lineage Choices. Cell. 169 (3), 483-496.e13.
- Yang, S.-K., Hong, M., Zhao, W., Jung, Y., Baek, J., Tayebi, N., Kim, K.M., Ye, B.D., Kim, K.-J., Park, S.H., Lee, I., Lee, E.-J., Kim, W.H., Cheon, J.H., Kim, Y.-H., Jang, B.I., Kim, H.-S., Choi, J.H., Koo, J.S., et al. (2014) Genome-wide association study of Crohn's disease in Koreans revealed three new susceptibility loci and common attributes of genetic susceptibility across ethnic populations. *Gut.* 63 (1), 80-87.

- Yano, M., Kuroda, N., Han, H., Meguro-Horike, M., Nishikawa, Y., Kiyonari, H., Maemura, K., Yanagawa, Y., Obata, K., Takahashi, S., Tomokatsu, I., Satoh, R., Kawamoto, H., Mouri, Y. & Matsumoto, M. (2008). Aire controls the differentiation program of thymic epithelial cells in the medulla for the establishment of self-tolerance. Journal of Experimental Medicine. 205 (12), 2827-2838.
- Yoon, J., Leyva-Castillo, J.M., Wang, G., Galand, C., Oyoshi, M.K., Kumar, L., Hoff, S., He, R., Chervonsky, A., Oppenheim, J.J., Kuchroo, V.K., van den Brink, M.R.M., Malefyt, R.D.W., Tessier, P.A., Fuhlbrigge, R., Rosenstiel, P., Terhorst, C., Murphy, G. & Geha, R.S. (2016) IL-23 induced in keratinocytes by endogenous TLR4 ligands polarizes dendritic cells to drive IL-22 responses to skin immunization. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 213 (10), 2147-2166.
- Yoon, T.Y., Lee, D.Y., Kim, Y.J., Lee, J.Y. & Kim, M.K. (2014) Diagnostic Usefulness of a Peribulbar Eosinophilic Infiltrate in Alopecia Areata. JAMA Dermatology. 150 (9), 952-956.
- Yurasov, S., Wardemann, H., Hammersen, J., Tsuiji, M., Meffre, E., Pascual, V. & Nussenzweig, M.C. (2005) Defective B cell tolerance checkpoints in systemic lupus erythematosus. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 201 (5), 703-711.
- Zeng, R., Spolski, R., Finkelstein, S.E., Oh, S., Kovanen, P.E., Hinrichs, C.S., Pise-Masison, C.A., Radonovich, M.F., Brady, J.N., Restifo, N.P., Berzofsky, J.A. & Leonard, W.J. (2005) Synergy of IL-21 and IL-15 in regulating CD8+ T cell expansion and function. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 201 (1), 139-148.
- Zhang, X. & McElwee, K.J. (2020) Allergy promotes alopecia areata in a subset of patients. *Experimental Dermatology*. 29 (3), 239-242.
- Zhao, J., Xie, P., Galiano, R.D., Qi, S., Mao, R., Mustoe, T.A. & Hong, S.J. (2019) Imiquimod-induced skin inflammation is relieved by knockdown of sodium channel Nax. *Experimental Dermatology*. 28 (5), 576-584.
- Zhou, L., Ivanov, I.I., Spolski, R., Min, R., Shenderov, K., Egawa, T., Levy, D.E., Leonard, W.J. & Littman, D.R. (2007) IL-6 programs TH-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. *Nature Immunology*. 8 (9), 967-974.
- Zigmond, A.S. & Snaith, R.P. (1983) The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta psychiatrica Scandinavica. 67 (6), 361-370.
- Zijlstra, G.J., Fattahi, F., Rozeveld, D., Jonker, M.R., Kliphuis, N.M., van den Berge, M., Hylkema, M.N., Hacken, ten, N.H.T., van Oosterhout, A.J.M. & Heijink, I.H. (2014) Glucocorticoids induce the production of the chemoattractant CCL20 in airway epithelium. *European Respiratory Journal*. 44 (2), 361-370.
- Zloza, A., Kohlhapp, F.J., Lyons, G.E., Schenkel, J.M., Moore, T.V., Lacek, A.T., O'Sullivan, J.A., Varanasi, V., Williams, J.W., Jagoda, M.C., Bellavance, E.C.,

Marzo, A.L., Thomas, P.G., Zafirova, B., Polić, B., Al-Harthi, L., Sperling, A.I. & Guevara-Patino, J.A. (2012) NKG2D signaling on CD8+ T cells represses T-bet and rescues CD4-unhelped CD8+ T cell memory recall but not effector responses. *Nature Medicine*. 18 (3), 422-428.